# Investigating early life microbial and host transcriptomic dynamics in the bovine gastrointestinal tract

by

# Eóin O'Hara

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

# **Doctor of Philosophy**

in

**Animal Science** 

Department of Agriculture, Food, and Nutritional Science

University of Alberta

© Eóin O'Hara, 2019

#### <u>Abstract</u>

There is increasing concern surrounding the ability of livestock industries to meet the needs of the rising global population. The gastrointestinal microbiota of ruminants plays a critical role in feed degradation, host energy supply, but is also a substantial source of anthropogenic greenhouse gas emissions. It is proposed that dietary intervention during the first weeks of life may offer an opportunity to permanently manipulate microbial colonisation patterns of the rumen, with a view to enhancing host performance whilst mitigating climatic impacts. However, the optimum window for intervention remains to be elucidated. Despite the close relationship between the rumen and its microbes, understanding of the molecular controls of rumen development during early life is limited. In mature animals, microbial fermentation in the rumen is the principle host energy source, but the hindgut and its microbiome may play of increased importance while the rumen develops during early life. However, little is known of the hindgut microbiota and its contribution to animal growth. Study 1 investigated the temporal dynamics of the rumen microbiota in beef calves during early life using 16S rRNA sequencing, to characterise the patterns of microbial establishment in the rumen and identify the most favourable timeframe for dietary manipulation. The microbial community displayed an ordered pattern of succession during the first 3 weeks of life, but settled by day 21, indicating that this may be the limit of any timeframe for early life manipulation. Study 1 also revealed a substantial farm effect on the colonisation of certain microbial groups, including Methanobrevibacter smithii (P<0.05) and Dialister (P<0.05). Such an effect has not been reported previously and may have substantial implications in future manipulation efforts. Study 2 characterised the transcriptomic profile of rumen tissue from birth to post weaning, revealing significant enrichment in immune related genes (e.g. TLR5, LAP, TAP) and processes following birth (P<0.05). This was not associated with any depression in known tight junction genes (P > 0.05), indicating that rumen permeability was not compromised. Further exploring the relationship between microbial colonisation and rumen immune function may offer an opportunity to manipulate the establishment of certain taxa. Solid

feed allocation was associated with enhanced expression of genes involved in Volatile Fatty Acid (VFA) absorption (MCT1; P<0.05) and metabolism (BDH1, ACAT; P<0.05). Understanding the mechanistic control of VFA absorption and how it changes during the life-cycle of the animal will be key for the design of optimal calf nutrition strategies. Study 3 characterised the hindgut microbiota of young ruminants, and its response to fortification of milk replacer with sodium butyrate (SB). The trophic effect of butyrate on calf growth and feed efficiency (P < 0.1) was associated with increased concentrations of total VFA, propionate and acetate (P<0.05) in the hindgut. Native butyrogenic bacteria Butyrivibrio and Shuttleworthia were decreased by SB (P<0.05), while the proportion of the propionate producer Phascolarctobacterium was higher (P<0.05). Mogibacterium is associated with impaired gut health and was reduced in the cecum of SB calves (P < 0.05). These data show that the beneficial effects of SB on growth and performance occur in tandem with changes in the abundance of important SCFA producing and health-associated bacteria in the hindgut in milk-fed calves, and that SB supplementation may suppress butyrate biosynthesis in the gut. Therefore, efforts to improve animal performance via early life manipulation should also consider the hindgut compartments, as this may offer a method to improve animal performance during the milk-feeding period. In summary, the data presented in this thesis contributes to understanding of rumen microbial composition and molecular development during early life and shows that enhanced activity of the hindgut microbiota may contribute to early life calf growth.

# **Preface**

This thesis is an original work by Eóin O'Hara and is part of a collaborative initiative between Prof. Leluo Guan at the University of Alberta and Dr. Sinéad Waters of Teagasc, Ireland. The Teagasc Animal Ethics Committee (RMIS 6341) and the Irish Health Products Regulatory Authority (AE19132/Po16) granted ethical approval for all experimental procedures described in Chapters Two and Three, while the University College Dublin Animal Research Ethics Committee granted approval for the study described in Chapter Four.

Chapter 4 of this thesis has been published as "Effect of a butyrate-fortified milk replacer on gastrointestinal microbiota and products of fermentation in artificially reared dairy calves at weaning. Sci Rep. 2018 Oct 8;8(1):14901". I was responsible for laboratory and data analysis as well as manuscript writing. M.S. McCabe assisted with laboratory analysis. A. Kelly and D.A. Kenny devised the study, supervised data collection and contributed to manuscript writing. L.L. Guan contributed to manuscript writing. S.M. Waters was the supervisory author responsible for concept formation and contributed to manuscript writing.

# **Acknowledgements**

The work presented in this thesis would not have been possible without the support, assistance, and advice of countless people in both Teagasc and the University of Alberta. They are too numerous to thank individually here, but a few people deserve a special mention.

First to my co-supervisors, Dr. Sinéad Waters and Dr. Leluo Guan, for their dedication, mentoring, advice, and patience during my program, thank you both. You provided me with opportunities to learn and grow that few students get during their PhD. I have learned so much from both of you; you were the perfect supervisory team.

To my committee members: Dr. Paul Stothard, for his advice on matters big and trivial, I am grateful. To Dr. David Kenny: two Mayo men soldiering together for a bit longer than we would have hoped, but hopefully it might be a portent for a September Sunday in the not-too-distant future! Thanks for your patience, help and advice. You were always the calm head in stormy seas.

To the many people at Teagasc Grange and Athenry, and DAFM Longtown, who helped and advised throughout the trial: Prof. Michael Diskin, Dr. Mervyn Parr, Dr. Federico Randi, Dr. Paul Cormican, Dr. Bernadette Earley, Robert Fisk, Ann Gilsenan, Peter Grimes, and all the technical staff, I am very grateful. To Dr. Matthew McCabe: as the latest in a long line of students who owe much of their thesis work to you, I thank you sincerely for your knowledge, advice, dedication, and patience.

Thank you to all the graduate students in both Ireland and Canada who helped in so many different ways: the original office team Clare and Emily, Mick, Colin, Declan, and Kevin. My friends in Edmonton, especially JP, John, Janelle, André, Mimi, Junhong and Biba, thank you all for your friendship, help, and advice. A special word of thanks to Yanhong Chen for being a wizard at all things molecular biology.

To Rebecca, my roommate with ulterior motives, thank you for being there.

Finally, to my parents for their unwavering support throughout my studies. I hope that this thesis will provide you with the tools to explain to people what I actually do ("something with cows I think...?"). And please don't call in the tab.

Abstract	
Preface	iv
Acknowledge	entsv
Table of conte	svi
List of tables.	xii
List of figures	xiii
Abbreviations	XV
Chapter 1:	iterature Review1
1.1	ntroduction1
1.2	he ruminant digestive tract 2
	.2.1 Development of the rumen during early life
13	umen microbial diversity
	.3.1 Rumen bacteria
	.3.2 Rumen archaea
	.3.3 Rumen protozoa
	.3.4 Rumen fungi 11
	.3.5 Rumen viruses12
	.3.6 Hindgut microbiota in ruminants13
1.4	cole of the rumen microbiome in animal production14
	.4.1 The rumen microbiome and feed efficiency14
	.4.2 The rumen microbiome and methane production15

# **Table of Contents**

1.5	Early life – the "window of opportunity" for effective manipulation of the rumen microbiome?		
	1.5.1 Microbial colonisation of the pre-functional rumen		
	1.5.2 Early life rumen microbial dynamics18		
	1.5.3 Functional achievement of the rumen microbiota in early life 21		
	1.5.4 Factors influencing rumen microbial colonisation and development in early life		
1.6	Methods to study the rumen microbiome23		
	1.6.1 Terminology 23		
	1.6.2 Classic cultivation-based methods		
	1.6.3 Molecular methods to evaluate the rumen microbiome		
	1.6.4 Pioneer molecular techniques25		
	1.6.5 Modern technologies to study the rumen microbiome		
	1.6.5.1 Amplicon sequencing27		
	1.6.5.2 Metagenomic shotgun sequencing		
	1.6.5.3 New frontiers in omics technologies to study the rumen		
1.7	Knowledge gaps, hypotheses, and objectives		
1.8	Literature cited		
1.9	Figures55		
Chapter 2:	Diet, age, and farm environment influence rumen microbial		
	establishment patters during early life57		
2.1	Introduction57		
2.2	Materials and methods58		
	2.2.1 Ethical statement		

Chapter 3:	-	ooral dynamics of the rumen transcriptome of beef calves from to post-weaning96
2.7	Tables	and figures
2.6	Litera	ture cited76
2.5	Conclu	usion
2.4	Discus	ssion 69
	2.3.6	Influence of farm on microbial community composition in the rumen during early life
		2.3.5.2 Rumen solid digesta67
		2.3.5.1 Rumen liquid digesta
	2.3.5	Temporal development of the rumen microbiota during early life 64
	2.3.4	Effect of rumen fraction on microbial composition during early life 63
	2.3.3	Microbial composition in the rumen digesta during early life
		2.3.2.2 β-Diversity
		2.3.2.1 α-Diversity
	2.3.2	Rumen microbial diversity and structure during early life
	2.3.1	Sequence data information
2.3	Result	<u>-</u> s
	2.2.6	Statistical analysis61
	2.2.5	Bioinformatic analysis60
	2.2.4	16S rRNA gene amplicon library preparation and sequencing60
	2.2.3	DNA isolation59
	2.2.2	Experimental animal trial 58

	3.1	Introd	luction
	3.2	Materi	ials and methods97
		3.2.1	Ethical statement97
		3.2.2	Experimental animal model97
		3.2.3	Rumen tissue sampling
		3.2.4	RNA isolation
		3.2.5	RNA-seq library construction and sequencing
		3.2.6	Bioinformatic and statistical analysis
	3.3	Result	s and Discussion 100
		3.3.1	Mechanisms underpinning physical development of the rumen 101
		3.3.2	Transcriptional dynamics of genes and pathways underpinning VFA absorption in the rumen103
		3.3.3	Genes and pathways involved in the host immune response are enriched in the rumen during early life
		3.3.4	Upregulation of genes involved in stress response and collagen formation in the rumen of naturally delivered calves compared to calves delivered via elective caesarean section
	3.4	Conclu	usions and summary 112
	3.5	Literat	ture cited 113
	3.6	Tables	and figures117
Chapt	ter 4:	Effect	t of a butyrate-fortified milk replacer on gastrointestinal
			bbiota and products of fermentation in artificially reared dairy s at weaning144
	4.1		luction
	4.1		ials and methods145

	4.2.1	Ethical statement145	
	4.2.2	Animal study145	
	4.2.3	DNA isolation146	
	4.2.4	Microbial profiling using amplicon sequencing146	
	4.2.5	Sequence data quality control and pre-processing147	
	4.2.6	Bioinformatic analysis147	
	4.2.7	Statistical analysis148	
4.3	Results148		
	4.3.1	Animal performance148	
	4.3.1	Fermentation profiles in the rumen and hindgut at weaning148	
	4.3.3	Microbial structure and diversity in the rumen and hindgut in response to SB	
	4.3.4	Microbial composition in the rumen and hindgut in response to SB149	
		4.3.4.1 Rumen149	
		4.3.4.2 Hindgut149	
4.4	Discus	ssion150	
	4.4.1	Sodium butyrate does not induce substantial changes in the rumen microbiota or fermentation profile151	
	4.4.2	Sodium butyrate modifies the hindgut microbiota and fermentation profiles in early life	
	4.4.3	The rumen and hindgut harbour significantly different microbial	
		communities at weaning154	
4.5	Concl	usions155	
4.6	Litera	ture cited156	

	4.7	Tables and figures 162	
Chapt	er 5:	General Discussion168	
	5.1	Background168	
	5.2	Understanding microbial establishment and development in the developing rumen169	
		5.2.1 Does mode of delivery influence the rumen and its resident microbes?.169	
		5.2.2 Understanding colonisation and succession among the early rumen microbiota	
		5.2.3 Understanding ruminal transcriptomic dynamics during early life169	
		5.2.4 Butyrate supplementation modifies hindgut microbiota and fermentation	
	5.3	Caveats, implications, and future directions173	
	5.4	Literature cited 177	
Biblio	graph	7	
Apper	ndices		
	Appendix A 205		
	Appendix B 20		
	Appendix C20		
	Appendix D		
	Appen	lix E219	
	Appen	lix F 229	

# List of Tables

	ERMANOVA results based on Bray-Curtis dissimilarities for bacterial and chaeal communities during early life81
	etails of differentially abundant taxa according to rumen digesta fraction during rly life
Table 3.1 De	etails of selected DEG within each statistical contrast performed in EdgeR117
Table 3.2 To	op Gene Ontology (GO) terms enriched among the DEG in each contrast122
Table 3.3 To	op Canonical Pathways enriched among the DEG using Ingenuity Pathway
An	nalysis126
Table 3.4 To	op Molecular and Cellular Functions of the DEG predicted by Ingenuity Pathway
An	nalysis
-	ne effect of SB inclusion in milk replacer on SCFA profiles in the rumen and lon
-	omparisons of alpha diversity metrics in the rumen, cecum, and colon of calves weaning
	omparing microbial communities between treatments and gastrointestinal gion in the rumen, cecum and colon using PERMANOVA164

# List of Figures

Figure 1.1	Schematic representation of the gastrointestinal tract of ruminant animals55
Figure 1.2	Rumen epithelial structure and major pathways of rumen microbial
	fermentation56
Figure 2.1	Experimental animal trial design and calf management
Figure 2.2	Temporal dynamics of bacterial and archaeal alpha diversity metrics during early life
Figure 2.3	Effect of farm environment on bacterial and archaeal alpha diversity during early life
Figure 2.4	NMDS plots of bacterial and archaeal communities during early life
Figure 2.5	Effect of farm environment on bacterial and archaeal community composition and beta-dispersion
Figure 2.6	Stacked barchart of bacterial phyla composition in the rumen solid and liquid digesta during early life
Figure 2.7	Details of the 10 most abundant bacterial taxa detected in rumen liquid and rumen solid digesta during early life
Figure 2.8	Barcharts depicting relative abundances of bacterial genera and archaeal species across age, fraction and farm during early life
Figure 2.9	Line charts showing temporal dynamics of selected transient taxa in the rumen liquid and rumen solid digesta during early life91
Figure 2.10	Line charts depicting the predominance of <i>Prevotella</i> and the decline of <i>Bacteroides</i> in the rumen from day 7 onward, and the dynamics of lactate-producing and -utilising bacteria in the rumen digesta during early life
Figure 2.11	Line charts depicting temporal dynamics of selected VFA producers and starch- utilising groups during early life in the rumen digesta
Figure 2.12	Line charts depicting temporal dynamics of selected fibrolytic taxa during early life in the rumen digesta

Figure 2.13	Visual representation of taxa influenced by farm during early life95
Figure 3.1	Venn diagram showing numbers of expressed genes in the rumen wall in each age group, and numbers of DEG in each statistical contrast
Figure 3.2	Cluster analysis plots generated using the Bray-Curtis Dissimilarity matrix136
Figure 3.3	Volcano plots of differential gene expression profiles within each statistical contrast
Figure 3.4	Boxplots depicting the expression profiles of selected genes involved in the cell cycle process in the rumen wall during early life
Figure 3.5	Boxplots depicting the expression profiles of VFA transporter genes in the rumen wall during early life
Figure 3.6	Boxplots depicting the expression profiles of genes involved in ketogenesis detected in the rumen wall during early life
Figure 3.7	Boxplots depicting the expression profiles of tight junction protein genes detected in the rumen wall during early life
Figure 3.8	Boxplots depicting the expression profiles of pattern recognition receptor genes detected in the rumen wall during early life
Figure 3.9	Boxplots depicting the expression profiles of defensin-encoding genes detected in the rumen wall during early life
Figure 4.1	PCA and cluster dendrogram generated based on the Bray-Curtis dissimilarity matrix of operational taxonomic units (OTUs) present in the rumen, cecum, and colon at weaning
Figure 4.2	Stacked bar chart of microbial abundances at the phylum level, calculated as a percentage of total 16S rRNA reads within each group
Figure 4.3	Phylogenetic Trees of rumen, cecum, and colon microbiota, built from a multiple sequence alignment generated in QIIME

# **Abbreviations**

- 3-NOP 3-Nitroproxypropanol
- AMP Antimicrobial peptides
- ANOVA Analysis of variance
- BAM Binary alignment map
- BCM Bromochloromethane
- BHBA  $\beta$ -hydroxybutyrate
- CASP Caspase gene family
- CCN Cyclin gene family
- CDK Cyclin dependant kinase gene family
- CH<sub>4</sub> Methane
- CLD Claudin gene family
- CO<sub>2</sub> Carbon dioxide
- DAFM Irish Department of Agriculture, Food, and the Marine
- DEF Defensin gene family
- DEG Differentially expressed gene(s)
- DGGE Denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis
- ECS Elective caesarean section
- FAO Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations
- FCR Feed conversion ratio
- FDR False discovery rate
- FE Feed efficiency
- FKBP5 FK506-binding protein 51 gene

- GALT Gut-associated lymphoid tissue
- GH Glycoside hydrolase
- GHG Greenhouse gas
- GIT Gastrointestinal tract
- GO Gene ontology
- GR Glucocorticoid receptor
- GWP Global warming potential
- $H_2$  Hydrogen
- HPRA Health Products Regulatory Authority
- Ig Immunoglobulin
- IL Interleukin family
- IPA Ingenuity pathway analysis
- IPCC United Nations Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
- ITS Internal transcribed spacer gene
- LAP Lingual antimicrobial peptide
- LPS Lipopolysaccharide
- MALT Mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue
- MCR Methyl coenzyme-M reductase
- MCT Monocarboxylic transporter gene family
- N<sub>2</sub>O Nitrous oxide
- NES Normalised enrichment score
- OCLD Occludin gene
- OTU Operational taxonomic unit

P4HA3 - Prolyl 4-hydroxylase subunit A3

- PCA Principle component analysis
- PCR Polymerase chain reaction
- PEG Partial efficiency of growth
- PERMANOVA Permutational analysis of variance
- PICRUSt Phylogenetic investigation of communities by reconstruction of unobserved states
- PRID Progesterone-releasing intravaginal device
- PRR Pattern recognition receptor
- QIIME Quantitative insights into molecular ecology
- qPCR Quantitative polymerase chain reaction
- RFI Residual feed intake
- RIM-DB Rumen and intestinal methanogens database
- RIN RNA integrity
- rRNA/DNA ribosomal RNA/DNA gene
- SB Sodium butyrate
- SCFA Short chain fatty acid
- SLC Solute carrier gene family
- SNP Single nucleotide polymorphism
- STAR Spliced transcripts alignment to a reference
- TAEC Teagasc Animal Ethics Committee
- TAP Tracheal antimicrobial peptide
- TJP Tight junction protein
- TLR Toll-like receptor

TMM – Trimmed mean of m-values

VFA – Volatile fatty acids

## Chapter 1

### **Literature Review**

# 1.1. Introduction

Ruminants are characterised by the presence of a specialised pre-gastric fermentation chamber which has evolved over millennia to facilitate feed degradation via its diverse consortium of resident microorganisms (Mackie, 2002). This symbiotic relationship offers an environment conducive to microbial growth and activity and allows the ruminant to harvest the nutritional value of recalcitrant plant fibres (Mackie, 2002, Mao et al., 2015).

Domesticated ruminant production systems occupy around 30% of the global landmass, and use around 30% of cropping output as feed (Aschenbach et al., 2011). The 3.9 billion ruminants estimated to exist today are important in sustainable agricultural practices, as they can synthesise energy from low-quality forages for high-quality milk and meat production (Cammack et al., 2018). With the global population expected to grow to 9.15 billion by the year 2050, the issue of world-wide food security – "adequate access to safe and nutritious food for all people always" – has become increasingly topical (FAO, 2013). This rapid population expansion brings with it a sharp increase in projected demands for animal products, with meat consumption expected to increase by 75% in the next three decades (Duthie et al., 2017). Provision of adequate nutrition to this growing population is estimated to require a 70% increase in food production from 2007 levels in developed countries, and perhaps a doubling of output from developing nations (FAO, 2013).

Compounding this increased pressure on food production, concerns about the environmental footprint of ruminant production are also increasing. The livestock sector contributes around 14.5% of anthropogenic greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions annually, with enteric emissions from ruminants accounting for 39.1% of these (FAO, 2013, Veneman et al., 2015). Recent legislative agreements have mandated substantial reductions in global GHG emissions, including those derived from agricultural practices, and increased food outputs (e.g. Kyoto Protocol, Paris Agreement, Foodwise 2020, Food Harvest 2025). Methane ( $CH_4$ ) is the most prominent GHG associated with ruminant production, synthesised in the rumen and lower gut by methanogenic archaea, and has a global warming potential (GWP) around 28 times greater than carbon dioxide (IPCC, 2014). Furthermore, the loss of gross dietary energy to the animal via enteric methanogenesis is estimated at 2-12%, and is therefore a major contributor to reduced

host feed energy utilisation efficiency (Johnson and Johnson, 1995). The economic and environmental concerns outlined here suggest that improving the efficiency of ruminant production is of paramount importance.

Studies of the rumen microbial community as an avenue to improve cattle production efficiency has been ongoing for many decades (Hungate, 1960). The advent of high throughput sequencing technologies in the last number of years has generated a large amount of data on the structure and function of the bovine rumen microbiota, across a range of hosts and environments (Henderson et al., 2015, McCann et al., 2014a). It has become apparent that the highly individualised and resilient nature of the adult rumen microbiome may preclude persistent manipulation in older animals (Weimer, 2015). In contrast, the rumen microbiome in early life appears far more dynamic and malleable to change, and therefore has emerged as a target for manipulations that may persist into adulthood (Yanez-Ruiz et al., 2015). However, little is known regarding the dynamics of the rumen microbiome in early life, and how patterns of microbial development may impact on animal productivity throughout life. Thus, improved understanding of the temporal dynamics of the rumen microbiome throughout life may facilitate opportunities to enhance animal performance via dietary intervention, or direct manipulation of the microbiota.

This literature review consists of four main sections. The first will detail the digestive structure and rumen microbial population and fermentation of cattle. The second section relates to contribution of the rumen microbiome to livestock production. The third focusses on the temporal patterns of physical and functional maturation of the rumen and its microbiota from, while the final section reviews methods for investigating the rumen microbiome.

## 1.2. The ruminant digestive tract

In ruminants, the pre-gastric digestive tract is divided into four chambers; the rumen, reticulum, omasum, and abomasum (Fig. 1.1). The reticulum is often regarded as the anterior sac of the rumen, and hence the term reticulorumen is often used in reference to both (Harfoot, 1978), representing around 70% of the total gastrointestinal tract (GIT) size in adult cattle (Warner et al., 1956). The rumen comprises the dorsal and ventral sacs, which are laterally divided by a series of pillar-like columns (Harfoot, 1978).

The rumen itself is characterised by the presence of a stratified squamous epithelium consisting of four layers (Fig. 1.2), which is also present in the omasum. The apical epithelial surface (the stratum corneum) is covered in small finger-like projections called papillae, which

increase the surface area available for nutrient and volatile fatty acid absorption (Steele et al., 2016). Over 75% of the volatile fatty acids (VFA) produced in the rumen are absorbed through the rumen epithelium, and less than 10% reach the small intestine (Harfoot, 1978). Additionally, this layer protects the host animal from potentially pathogenic rumen microorganisms, toxins and other harmful chemicals found in the lumen, preventing their unregulated movement into host circulatory systems (Chaucheyras-Durand and Fonty, 2002). Temperature, pH, buffering capacity, osmotic pressure, and redox potential all contribute to the maintenance of ruminal homeostasis (Castillo-Gonzales, et al., 2014), and are highly regulated within the rumen (Firkins and Yu, 2015, Aschenbach et al., 2011, Krause and Oetzel, 2006). Maintaining optimum biochemical conditions in the rumen is important, as perturbations in any of the above factors can have severe implications for animal health and production (Krause and Oetzel, 2006, Owens et al., 1998).

#### 1.2.1 Development of the rumen during early life

At birth, the rumen is little more than an under-developed and non-functioning pouch. Rumen development is an important physiological milestone in the life-cycle of a ruminant (Jiao et al., 2015b), entailing cellular growth and differentiation, and a significant shift in nutrients being delivered to host peripheral tissues (Baldwin et al., 2004). Three important processes contribute to rumen development (Yanez-Ruiz et al., 2015); (i) rumen muscularisation, enlargement, and papillae growth (Reynolds et al., 2004), (ii) anaerobic microbial colonization (Fouts et al., 2012, Fonty et al., 1987), and (iii) the associated establishment of active microbial fermentation and enzymatic action (Rey et al., 2012, Faubladier et al., 2013). Proper development of the rumen at weaning is crucial in ensuring a smooth transition from milk-based to solid-based diets (Heinrichs, 2005). Inadequate rumen development can affect host nutrient utilisation (Baldwin et al. 2004), and complete maturation is required to facilitate the microbial digestion and subsequent absorption of feed components (Yanez-Ruiz et al., 2015). Therefore, the appropriate feeding and management regimen is crucial, as rumen development is crucial to for optimum calf growth and subsequent animal production in later life.

There are several phases of physical development of the rumen, from the non-functioning period in the first weeks of life when the animal operates as a nominal monogastric, through the transition from milk- to solid-based diets, and full rumination in the post-weaned animal (Wardrop and Coombe, 1960; Lane et al., 2002). Microbial colonisation, starter feed consumption, and fermentation and absorption processes are all crucial in triggering and

accelerating rumen development (Baldwin et al., Khan et al., 2011a). In the first weeks of life, the calf receives its energy requirements in the form of milk or milk replacer, which is routed directly to the abomasum by oesophageal groove action (Castro et al., 2016). Milk feeding does not directly stimulate rumen growth, as activation of the reticular groove shunts liquid feed directly to the abomasum (Black & Sharkey, 1970). This can be seen in the stagnation of rumen development in calves maintained solely on milk compared to those fed with grain or hay (Tamate et al., 1962). However, the amount of milk fed may indirectly influence rumen development in dairy calves. Traditionally, milk allowance was restricted to around 10% of body-weight daily, as higher milk intake causes supressed calf starter intake (Khan et al., 2011b). However, a body of evidence has emerged more recently showing that feeding elevated amounts of milk is beneficial for calf growth, and calves fed higher amounts of milk can still digest feed and grow sufficiently well despite reduced levels of solid feed intake (Liang et al., 2016, Bach et al., 2013). Feeding unrestricted amounts of milk replacer in early life, followed by gradual reduction, improved animal growth and rumen development (Schaff et al., 2017). When infused directly into the rumen, milk stimulated papillary growth, which was also observed following direct infusion of VFAs (Lane and Jesse, 1997, Tamate et al., 1962). This indicates that the production of VFAs, and thus the acquisition of an active microbial community, is essential for maturation of the rumen. Feeding calves solid feed should therefore stimulate rumen development via VFA production (Tamate et al., 1962).

The nature of solid diet offered (concentrate or forage) affects the pattern of VFA production and subsequently the rate of rumen development (Brownlee, 1956). Forages are usually a minor component of the pre-weaned diet, with cereal based calf starters widely used (Nocek and Kesler, 1984), though this varies across production systems. A recent study compared the provision of grain, forage, and no solid feed in conjunction with milk replacer feeding. The results showed that cereal-based calf starters resulted in rapid papillae development, while hay had little impact on papillary growth, and that the provision of solid feed had a major bearing on gene expression profiles in the rumen epithelium (Connor et al., 2013). Thus, it is important to note that simply offering low quality forage to growing calves may not be sufficient to propagate rumen development during the first weeks of life.

# 1.3. Rumen microbial diversity

The rumen microbiota comprises highly anaerobic bacteria, fungi, methanogenic archaea, ciliate protozoa, and viruses, which are central players in ruminant production. This microbial

consortium contains cellulolytic, hemicellulolytic, amylolytic, proteolytic, and biohydrogenating (lipolytic) species, exhibiting a high level of functional redundancy (Firkins and Yu, 2015, Hobson and Stewart, 1997). Thus, the rumen microbiota is well equipped to digest the varied diets of ruminant animals. The ruminal microorganisms are spatially organised into three fractions; free in the rumen fluid, attached to ingested feed particles, and adherent to the rumen wall – epimural (Stewart et al., 1988, Cheng et al., 1979). The prokaryotes which are directly associated with the eukaryotic members of the microbiota have also been proposed to constitute a fourth rumen fraction (Miron et al., 2001), but this is not consistently recognised in the literature. Studies comparing microbial communities across these fractions have found that the epimural microbiota differs significantly from that of the digesta, and may be more closely controlled by the host (Sadet et al., 2007, Malmuthuge et al., 2014). The ingested fibre, carbohydrates, protein, lipids and lignin are (except for lignin) hydrolysed first to monomers (e.g. glucose, amino acids) by the microbiota (Millen et al., 2016). Investigation of the temporal colonisation of ingested feed by the rumen microbiota showed divergent taxonomic and functional profiles among the primary and secondary colonisers, pointing to variation in their role(s) and/or substrate specificity (Wilkinson et al., 2018, Huws et al., 2016).

Unlike in monogastrics, ruminally-derived glucose is not available to the animal as a direct source of energy and is instead used by the microbiota to produce VFAs (Aschenbach et al., 2011, Aschenbach et al., 2010), so a certain amount enters the lower intestinal tract as bypassstarch. The rumen VFAs (mainly acetate, propionate, and butyrate), are absorbed and utilised as energy sources by the host animal (Jami et al., 2013). Acetate is primarily used for fat synthesis in adipose tissue and is also used as energy substrate by all extrahepatic tissues of the ruminant (Baldwin and Connor, 2017). Propionate produced in the rumen is largely used as a substrate for gluconeogenesis in the liver, which can account for 60% of the glucose used by the host animal (Baldwin and Connor, 2017, Harfoot, 1978, Purushe et al., 2010b). Butyrate is a significant energy source for the growth and maintenance of rumen epithelial cells (Donohoe et al., 2011). VFAs synthesised in the rumen can provide up to 70% of the host energy requirement (Bergman, 1990), and thus their production is essential to host performance. Metabolism of nitrogen-containing compounds (i.e. peptides) by the microbiota is also vital in the provision of microbial protein to the host animal for muscle and milk production (Bach et al, 2005). Other products of rumen microbial fermentation include carbon dioxide, methane, ammonia, and lactic acid (Mackie et al., 2001a). A schematic of major pathways of ruminal fermentation is presented in Fig. 1.2.

Many factors are postulated to influence microbial composition and activity in the rumen, and these are disseminated further in section 1.4.2 of this chapter. It is recognised that the rumen microbiota becomes more stable with age, and inter-animal variation decreases (Jami et al., 2013). Host genetics, age, diet, and geography (Hernandez-Sanabria et al., 2013, Jami et al., 2013, Henderson et al., 2015, Goodrich et al., 2016, Roehe et al., 2016) are among the determinants of rumen microbial composition and activity, and diet is the best studied to date. Interestingly, while diet has a major bearing on the digesta-associated microbiota, the epimural community is less affected, suggesting a stronger host influence on the epithelial-associated microbiota (Sadet-Bourgeteau et al., 2010, Sadet et al., 2007). Microbial composition in the rumen is also associated with variations in feed efficiency (Jami et al., 2014, Carberry et al., 2014b, Li and Guan, 2017), intensity of methane emissions (Kittelmann et al., 2014), health (Silberberg et al., 2013), and milk composition (Jami et al., 2014). More recently, heritability of certain groups of rumen bacteria in individuals has been investigated (Sasson et al., 2017), but the extent of the heritability of the rumen microbiota is not yet clear. Furthering our understanding of this complex microbial community throughout the life cycle of the animal will be critical in meeting future environmental and socioeconomic targets. The next sections will discuss in depth the microbial membership of the rumen and their functions.

### 1.3.1. Rumen bacteria

Bacteria are the most widely studied group of rumen microbes as they are the primary contributors to feed degradation and fermentation, thus underpinning the majority of VFA and microbial protein synthesis. The viable bacterial cell count has been estimated at 10<sup>11</sup> cells / gram of rumen content (Mackie et al., 2001b), and bacteria can account for up to 95% of the rumen microbial community (Choudhury et al., 2015). The rumen bacteria are dominated by members of the *Firmicutes, Bacteroidetes* and *Proteobacteria* phyla, which can collectively account for >90% of bacterial abundance (McCabe et al., 2015, Henderson et al., 2015, Fouts et al., 2012). Bacteria in the rumen can be tightly or loosely attached to ingested feed particles, and digesta-associated bacteria are the most numerous among the four microbial fractions (McAllister et al., 1994). The liquid-based (planktonic) fraction are free in the rumen liquor and comprise around 30% of the rumen bacterial population (Millen et al., 2016). The digesta-associated bacteria ferment ingested feed or utilise the end-products of this fermentation and thus are dominated by fermentative species. The epimural bacteria, on the other hand, are often facultative anaerobes, producing urease and scavenging oxygen to assist in the maintenance of ruminal anaerobiosis (Liu et al., 2016).

The rumen bacteria can be further described based on their substrate preference. As outlined above, many rumen bacteria can metabolise several different substrates. While a range of plant components can be utilised by the rumen microbiota, many ruminal bacteria are not primary utilisers of plant biomass, and instead use as substrate the monomers or oligomers released from plant fibre by other members of the microbial consortia (Hobson and Stewart, 1997). Cellulose is a major constituent of forage and is the most abundant organic polymer on earth (Klemm et al., 2005). The primary cellulolytic bacteria of the rumen include *Fibrobacter succinogenes, Ruminococcus flavefaciens*, and *Ruminococcus albus* (Shi and Weimer, 1997). Hemicellulose comprises a significant proportion of polysaccharides in forage-heavy diets (Dehority, 1973) and is degraded by a range of bacteria including *Butyrivibrio fibrosolvens, Prevotella ruminocola, R. flavefaciens,* and *R. albus* (Zhou et al., 2015). Pectin is also present in forages, though to a lesser degree than cellulose and hemicellulose, and may be fermented by *B. fibrosolvens, P. ruminocola,* and *Lachnospira multiparus* among others.

The diet fed to ruminant livestock varies across production systems. While forage/pasture based diets are rich in fibre, high-energy grain-rich diets contain high amounts of starch, which can be fermented by a range of bacteria, including *P. ruminocola, Clostridium spp., B. fibrosolvens, Ruminobacter amylophilius* (Zhou et al., 2015). While fibres and starch generally are the predominant components of ruminant feeds, proteins are also degraded, usually by species of the *Prevotella* genus. *Prevotella* accounts for up to 70% of rumen bacterial abundance as identified by both enumeration and molecular techniques (van Gylswyk, 1990, Jami and Mizrahi, 2012). As well as peptides, *Prevotella* are also capable of metabolising starch and other simple sugars, producing succinate as the major fermentation product (Hobson and Stewart, 1997). The varied fermentative roles of *Prevotella* species mean they are usually the predominant rumen bacterium regardless of diet and other factors (Henderson et al., 2015).

While culture-based approaches and pioneer molecular techniques have identified between 200-400 distinct bacterial species within the rumen (Fouts et al., 2012) only a small fraction of the rumen bacterial community can be recovered using these methods. The application of deep sequencing technology has revealed that over 3,000 microbial species may inhabit the rumen (Denman and McSweeney, 2015), but many of these putative ruminal species have not been definitively identified. In a global census of rumen bacterial membership carried out in 2015, of 742 rumen content samples collected from 32 ruminant species across 35 countries, 30 dominant genus-level bacteria groups were found in over 90% of animals and represented 89.4% of all generated sequence data (Henderson et al., 2015). This suggests that current technologies have probably defined the dominant groups of rumen bacteria. The same study also revealed the existence of a "core" group of rumen microbes, ubiquitous to ruminants worldwide, containing many of the notable ruminal species described above such as *Prevotella spp., Butyrivibrio spp.,* and *Ruminococcus spp.* (Henderson et al., 2015).

However, this core group also contained large amount of bacterial sequences that could not be classified below the family level (e.g. members of the *Lachnospiraceae* & *Ruminococcaceae*), indicative of the significant extent of uncharacterised diversity within the rumen. The high abundance of poorly characterised bacteria in the rumen, including the presence of putative species that do not have reliable phylogeny, particularly at the genus level (Kim et al., 2011, Creevey et al., 2014) highlights that whilst we may now detect the dominant ruminal bacteria, continued identification of novel members using both modern sequencing approaches and traditional culturing efforts will be required to fully characterise the composition and function of the rumen bacteriome. An example of such an initiative is the Hungate1000 Project (http://www.rmgnetwork.org/hungate1000.html), which aimed to provide a reference set of 1000 rumen-specific microbial genomes (Seshadri et al., 2018). While ultimately this project did not meet its initial goal, the novel rumen microbial genomes it produced have already shown their worth in facilitating significantly improved classification rates of rumen metagenomic sequences (Stewart et al., 2018).

It must also be noted that that among the thousands of bacterial species postulated to exist in the rumen, only 7 groups have been identified as core in ruminants globally, indicative of large variation between species and between individual animals. However, despite many years of research, the factors which contribute to large scale differences in bacterial diversity in the rumen, and how these differences impact on animal performance remains largely unknown.

# 1.3.2 Rumen archaea

Archaea, represented by the phylum *Euryarchaeota*, are methanogenic prokaryotes present in the rumen. Archaea account for 0.3-3.3% of the rumen microbial population, based on 16S rRNA gene analysis (Janssen and Kirs, 2008). These microorganisms scavenge hydrogen, formate, and methyl-containing compounds from the rumen environment to produce  $CH_4$  gas. The rumen methanogens may be divided into three groups, according to the metabolic pathway by which they produce methane; (i) hydrogenotrophs which use  $H_2$  as electron donors to reduce  $CO_2$  to  $CH_4$  (formate can also be used as an electron donor and may contribute to the production of up to 18% of ruminal methane (Hungate, 1967) (ii) methylotrophs, which use methylamines or methanol, and (iii) acetoclastics (*Methanosarcinales*) which can use acetate and hydrogen to produce  $CH_4$ , making them the most metabolically diverse of the ruminal methanogens (Leahy et al., 2013).

Hydrogen is a by-product of normal rumen fermentation, and is a regulator of methane production in ruminants (Hegarty et al., 2007), whereby methanogens consume ruminal H<sub>2</sub> in the terminal step of carbohydrate fermentation (Deppenmeier, 2002). The volume of H<sub>2</sub> generated depends on the pathway of fermentation employed other members of the microbiota. For example, the conversion of a molecule of glucose to acetate will yield 8 hydrogen atoms, while the conversion of glucose to propionate consumes hydrogen (Deppenmeier, 2002). The build-up of H<sub>2</sub> in the rumen has been long thought to inhibit microbial metabolism and function (Sharp et al., 1998), though this has been questioned recently (Hristov et al., 2015). Hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis is the predominant pathway in the rumen, and is carried out mainly by Methanobrevibacter species, which typically account for over 90% of archaeal 16S rRNA reads (Hristov et al., 2012). This genus is divided into two subgroups; The SBGT clade contains M. gottshalkii, M. thauri, M. Millerae, and M. smithii, while M. ruminantium, and M. ollayae are contained in the RO clade (Janssen and Kirs, 2008, Kittelmann et al., 2013). Species of Methanosphaera, Methanimicrococcus, and Methanobacterium also utilise H<sub>2</sub> to produce CH<sub>4</sub> (Tapio et al., 2017). The less abundant methylotrophic methanogens include members of the Methanosarcinales, Thermoplasmatales, Methanophaera, and Methanomassillicoccaceae (Tapio et al., 2017, Janssen and Kirs, 2008, Poulsen et al., 2013).

Due to the environmental concerns outlined previously, the rumen archaea have been closely studied for their role in methanogenesis. Interestingly, it does not appear that the total abundance of rumen archaea is directly related to the intensity of methane emissions (Zhou et al., 2011, Danielsson et al., 2012). Rather, it seems that the expression of certain archaeal genes may be a more measurable predictor of rumen methanogenesis (Roehe et al., 2016), as the transcription of methanogenesis pathway genes within the rumen microbiome is greater in high-methane emitting animals (Shi et al., 2014). Methods of reducing methane emissions in livestock are discussed further in section 1.4.2 of this chapter.

#### 1.3.3 Rumen protozoa

Protozoa were the first microorganisms described in the rumen, when Gruby & Delafond (1893) observed "animalcules" through their microscope. Despite many years of study, the role(s) of the protozoa within the rumen is still unclear (Newbold et al., 2015). Protozoa contribute to rumen function via digestion of structural and storage carbohydrates, oxygen scavenging, and regulate prokaryotic populations via predation and sequestration of carbohydrates (Hobson and Stewart, 1997). Some protozoa produce large amounts of  $H_2$  during fermentation, and thus may contribute to  $CH_4$  production via interspecies hydrogen transfer (Hobson and Stewart, 1997, Kittelmann et al., 2015, Gijzen et al., 1988).

Morphological studies have identified over 250 ciliate species in a range of ruminant hosts, represented by around 40 genera, and present at concentrations of  $10^3 - 10^6$  cells/ml of rumen fluid (Veira, 1986, Williams and Coleman, 1997). Rumen protozoa are currently assigned to two orders; the *Entodiniomorphids* and the *Vestibuliferida* (also referred to as the holotrichs) (Yohe et al., 2017). The *Entodiniomorphids* are smaller and highly abundant, and are dominated by the *Ophryoscolecidae* family, which contains more than 50% of the known rumen ciliates (Wright and Lynn, 1997). These ciliates are capable of degrading structural carbohydrates, starches, simple sugars and proteins, therefore providing an abundance of energy substrate and protein to the host (Williams and Coleman, 1992). *Entodinium spp.* are the most abundant protozoa in the rumen, and other common genera include *Polyplastron, Epidinium* and *Eudiplodinium* (Kittelmann et al., 2013, Carberry et al., 2012, Sylvester et al., 2004). Members of this order can absorb soluble compounds, but feed mainly by engulfment of feed particulate and the attached microbes, with bacteria as their main protein source (Williams and Coleman, 1997). They help stabilise fermentation in the rumen by storing starch grains in an amylopectin-like storage polysaccharide (Williams and Coleman, 1992).

The holotrich protozoa are less abundant, with *Isotricha*, *Dasytricha* and *Oligoiscotricha* being the most frequently occurring genera (Williams and Coleman, 1997). These ciliates primarily utilise easily soluble carbohydrates in the rumen, with specific sugar preference varying across genera (Williams, 1986). *Isotricha* and *Dasytricha* have a high abundance of storage polysaccharides in their endoplasm. They protect easily fermentable sugars from bacteria, and utilise them more slowly thus contributing to pH regulation in the rumen (Williams and Coleman, 1997, Dehority, 2003). Sequestration of carbohydrates by rumen ciliates may also confer a competitive advantage over the other microbial groups (Denton et al., 2015).

The importance of the protozoa in rumen microbial metabolism is still a point of debate. Protozoa are not essential for animal survival, and therefore defaunation (removal of protozoa by chemical or physical means) has been used to study their role in the rumen (Qin et al., 2012, Sahoo et al., 2005, Veira, 1986, Belanche et al., 2012). A recent meta-analysis examining the effects of defaunation in ruminants found that rumen organic matter digestibility and protein degradation were reduced in defaunated animals (Newbold et al., 2015). Defaunation also increases bacterial abundance in the rumen, likely due to niche and substrate availability in the absence of protozoa (Johnson & Coleman, 1992). Protozoa sequester protein in the rumen, as only about 50% of bacterial nitrogen gained from predation can be converted to protozoan protein for host utilisation, and are also capable of self-retaining in the rumen (Coleman, 1975, Abe et al., 1981). Their contribution to methanogenesis is also of interest with protozoa-associated methanogens estimated to generate up to 37% of total ruminal CH<sub>4</sub> (Finlay et al., 1994; Hegarty, 1999). In vivo defaunation has reduced methane emissions by around 11% (Morgavi et al., 2012, Newbold et al., 2015). Presently there is no suitable farm-scale method for defaunation, and the associated effects can be inconsistent. Though not essential for host function, protozoa make important contributions to feed digestion and ruminal fermentation stability, but their role in methanogenesis and protein sequestration may be detrimental to the host.

### 1.3.4 Rumen fungi

The presence of anaerobic fungi in the rumen was first documented by Colin Orpin over 40 years ago. Fungi had been observed in the rumen as early as 1910, but were classified as being a type of flagellate protozoa, *Callimastix* (Liebetanz, 1910). Orpin's work showed that those microbes previously thought to be flagellate protozoa were in fact fungal zoospores (Orpin, 1975, Orpin, 1974). Even after Orpin's identification of the motile fungal zoospores (1975), acceptance of the presence of a fungal population in the rumen was slow, due to the long-held belief that all fungi were obligate aerobes. However, Orpin (1977) subsequently demonstrated the presence of chitin in the cell walls of the these "flagellates", which rubberstamped their place among the fungi.

Fungi are the least numerous microbial group in the rumen (around 10% of the microbial biomass, with variation according to diet and host) but are effective fibre degraders (Krause et al., 2013, Abecia et al., 2017). Fungi are among the initial colonisers of ingested feedstuff in ruminants, attracted via chemotaxis of sugar or phenolic constituents of plant fibre (Wubah and Kim, 1996, Theodorou MK, 2005), and harbour a vast repertoire of glycoside hydrolase (GH) enzymes including cellulases, hemicellulose, proteases, pectinases and amylases (Choudhury et

al., 2015). Degradation of plant cell walls is carried out both via rhizoidal invasion, growth and the complementary enzymatic secretion of hydrolytic enzymes (Orpin, 1977). Fungal metabolism of feed pentoses or hexoses results in the production of acetate, formate, lactate, ethanol,  $CO_2$ , and  $H_2$  (Patra et al., 2017). The rich repertoire of fungal lignocellulosic enzymes detected within the rumen metagenome indicates the importance of these species in fibre degradation (Yousuf et al., 2013).

The anaerobic fungi differ from their aerobic relatives, and are characterised by the presence of a hydrogenosome in place of mitochondria, for energy production. Anaerobic fungi have their own distinct taxonomic clade, confined to the order *Neocallimastigales*, part of the phylum *Neocallimastimycota*, and containing 6 genera (Hibbett et al., 2007, Gruninger et al., 2014). However, as with the other microbial groups found in the rumen, modern high-throughput molecular analysis suggests that there is a large proportion of the rumen fungi that remain uncharacterised (Fouts et al., 2012). Furthermore, variation in rumen fungal composition across individuals appears to be greater than for the other microbial groups (Kittelmann et al., 2013, Kittelmann et al., 2012). Like the protozoa, the overall contribution of the fungi to feed digestion remains to be elucidated. Much diversity of the rumen fungi remains unknown and more studies are required to properly characterise the role of these eukaryotes in ruminal ecology and feed digestion.

# 1.3.5 Rumen viruses

The rumen virome is the most recent of the major rumen microbial sub-populations to be studied. Despite the existence of approximately 10 viral cells for each bacterium in a given ecosystem, the virome has been neglected in studies of the rumen microbiota to date, due mainly to the absence of suitable marker genes (Wallace et al., 2014) . Viruses are important regulators of microbial populations and facilitators of horizontal gene transfer (Duthie et al., 2017, Berg Miller et al., 2012). An abundant cohort of bacteriophages and archaeaphages live within the rumen, but their ecological role is poorly understood (Chaucheyras-Durand and Ossa, 2014). The first report of bacteriophage recovery from the rumen came in the 1960s (Duffield et al., 2012). The development of electron microscopes and subsequent analysis of rumen fluid confirmed the presence of a diverse virome in the rumen, dominated by members of the order *Caudovirales* (He et al., 2013).

The rapid development of deep genomic and metagenomic sequencing technologies in the last decade has revolutionised our understanding of the rumen phage community. A pioneer metagenome study examined the phage composition in the rumen of dairy cows using pyrosequencing (Berg Miller et al., 2012). Over 28,000 distinct viral genotypes were recovered, indicating large viral diversity in the rumen, in contrast to the 40 species postulated to exist using electron microscopy. Unsurprisingly, the most abundant bacteriophage and prophage genomes were associated with the major rumen bacterial groups; Firmicutes, Bacteroidetes, and Proteobacteria, but 78% of sequences recovered from the rumen did not match a previously described virus (Miller et al., 2012). A 2013 study examined the rumen virome of dairy cattle using shotgun metagenomic sequencing, and reported that though taxonomic divergence of the rumen virome was observed between animals housed together and those housed individually, the functional profile of the rumen virome is highly conserved between individuals, and different to that of the rumen bacteriome (Ross et al., 2013). The generation of more information by deep sequencing of the virome will aid such studies, allowing the proper elucidation of the roles played by the virome in the maintenance of rumen microbial balance, and its influence on ruminant nutrition. While a small number of studies have investigated the viral community of adult ruminants, there is no currently available information concerning the temporal dynamics of the rumen virome during early life.

# 1.3.6 Hindgut microbiota in ruminants

Though the rumen is the major site of microbial fermentation and nutrient absorption in cattle, a substantial amount of rumen undigested organic matter may pass to the hindgut regions (cecum, colon, rectum, Fig. 1.1) for digestion (Moss et al., 2000). As with the rumen, the hindgut regions contain a diverse microbial community (though protozoa are absent) capable of hydrolysing fibres, carbohydrates and peptides to produce  $CH_4$ , VFA and microbial proteins (Gressley et al., 2011). Hindgut fermentation is generally less effective than that of the rumen however, due to poor quality substrates which have already been partially metabolised by the ruminal and intestinal microbiota, and lower particle retention time in the hindgut than in the rumen (13h vs. 30h) (Vanhatalo and Ketoja, 1995, Yang et al., 2002). The contribution of the hindgut and its microbiota to ruminant production remains poorly understood. Up to 10% of ingested feed may be metabolised in the hindgut regions (Gressley et al., 2011), and the microbiota of the cecum and colon have been related to feed efficiency in steers (Myer et al., 2015c, Myer et al., 2015b). Moreover, the hindgut microbiota is speculated to play an elevated role in organic matter digestion during the pre-weaning period (Castro et al., 2016). Further research is needed

to accurately define the role(s) of the hindgut and its microorganisms in ruminant digestion and production.

# 1.4 Role of the rumen microbiome in animal production

# 1.4.1 The rumen microbiome and feed efficiency

The projected increases in food demands outlined in introduction of this chapter mean the efficiency of food production, both animal and crop derived, must be improved (Berry and Crowley, 2013). The term feed efficiency (FE) describes the efficacy at which the conversion of feed to useable product occurs, and it is a moderately heritable trait in cattle (Cammack et al., 2018, Berry and Crowley, 2013). Feed inputs account for up to 75% of variable costs in beef operations, and 40-60% of those in dairy systems (Finneran et al., 2010, Bach, A., 2012), and so improving feed efficiency is a means of increasing output while minimizing costs. Several measurements of FE have been used in cattle (e.g. feed conversion ratio (FCR) (Sherman et al., 2008) and partial efficiency of growth (PEG) (Lucila Sobrinho et al., 2011)), but residual feed intake (RFI) is the most commonly used today. First proposed in 1963, RFI is defined as the difference between actual and predicted feed intake of an animals for maintenance of body weight and for weight gain (Koch et al., 1963). Genetically independent of growth, animals may be classified as Low-RFI (efficient) or High-RFI (inefficient) (Alemu et al., 2017, Kong et al., 2016, Carberry et al., 2014b).

While a range of physiological processes contribute to divergence in FE within a population (Richardson and Herd, 2004) the fact that the conversion of ingested feedstuff to energy substrate (e.g. VFA) is dependent on the rumen microorganisms suggests that the rumen microbiome may play an important role in determining an animal's efficiency status. Several studies have shown associations between rumen microbial profiles and FE (Shabat et al., 2016, Guan et al., 2008, McCann et al., 2014b, Carberry et al., 2014a, Carberry et al., 2014b, Carberry et al., 2012, Li and Guan, 2017). In a landmark study, Guan and colleagues (Guan et al., 2008) demonstrated that rumen microbial ecology of efficient (L-RFI) cattle differed from that of their inefficient (H-RFI) counterparts, and there was also a greater similarity in microbial profiles among the efficient animals. More recently, the use of high throughput sequencing technologies demonstrated that efficient animals had lower rumen microbial diversity and richness, both in terms of microbial species and gene content (Shabat et al., 2016, Li and Guan, 2017), and metabolic profile (Roehe et al., 2016). This suggests that the rumen microbiome of efficient

animals contains less non-essential microbes, though it is unclear if this is a cause or result of the efficiency phenotype. Variation in VFA concentration according to RFI classification has also been reported, but these differences appear to be diet-dependent (Hernandez-Sanabria et al., 2012, Shabat et al., 2016, Guan et al., 2008).

A range of microbial groups, from phylum to species level, have been associated with FE in the literature, including associations between improved FE and the abundances of the bacterial Lachnospiraceae and Veillonellaceae families (Myer et al., 2015a, Li and Guan, 2017), and a number of archaeal taxa (Carberry et al., 2014a, Carberry et al., 2014b, Li and Guan, 2017). However, there are some inconsistencies in these reports; for instance, while the ruminal abundance of *Dialister* was associated with improved FE in steers (Myer et al., 2015a), species belonging to this genus were associated with reduced efficiency in lambs (Ellison et al., 2017). As the rumen microbiome is influenced by diet composition (Henderson et al., 2015), and FE classification is rarely consistent in individuals across diets (Durunna et al., 2011), associations between the rumen microbiota and FE may be driven, partially at least, by diet. However several studies have demonstrated diet-independent effects of FE on the rumen microbiota (Hernandez-Sanabria et al., 2012, Ellison et al., 2017, Carberry et al., 2012), indicating that a core group of microbes associated with variation in FE could be used to identify efficient animals irrespective of diet (Cammack et al., 2018). Furthermore, there is evidence that selection for improved FE may also contribute to reduction in ruminant methanogenesis, as discussed in the next section (Basarab et al., 2013, Shabat et al., 2016).

# 1.4.2 The rumen microbiome and methane production

Livestock industries are a significant source of environmentally harmful GHG, with carbon dioxide ( $CO_2$ ), methane ( $CH_4$ ), and nitrous oxide ( $N_2O$ ) the major GHG emitted from food and agriculture chains. The potent GWP of  $CH_4$  means it is the most extensively studied GHG in terms of ruminant production emissions, and reducing levels of  $CH_4$  formation in the rumen is desirable in terms of both improved animal productivity and environmental stability. The biochemical pathways underpinning ruminal methanogenesis have been described in section 1.3.2 of this chapter.

There are many factors which underly the rate of intensity of rumen methanogenesis. Dietary composition can have a major effect on the volume of measurable ruminal  $CH_4$ ; high forage diets favour microbial acetate synthesis in the rumen, leading to increased  $H_2$  and

consequentially more CH<sub>4</sub> production than under concentrate-rich diets, where starch is mainly metabolised to propionate (Wolin, 1960). While it may seem profitable to simply move away from feeding forages to cattle, reduced rumen pH under high-starch diets may contribute to imbalance of the microbial community and fermentation, and lead to subacute ruminal acidosis (Plaizier et al., 2008). Furthermore, given that the majority of global livestock rely on forage sources for growth, different strategies for reducing methane formation across a range of diets are needed. A variety of methods of reducing ruminal methane emissions have been investigated, and work either by directly targeting the methanogen community or attempting to reduce/redirect hydrogen flow in the rumen, thus providing less substrate for archaeal metabolism. These mitigation strategies have been comprehensively described elsewhere (Hristov et al., 2013, McAllister et al., 2015, Martin et al., 2010, Knapp et al., 2014, Kumar et al., 2014, Cammack et al., 2018, Pickering et al., 2015), and include dietary manipulation, plant lipid feeding, synthetic methanogen inhibitor supplementation, and genetic selection for low-emitting animals. Methanogens may also acquire H<sub>2</sub> via interspecies hydrogen transfer, particularly from protozoan populations, as some methanogens are symbiotically associated with protozoan cells (Janssen and Kirs, 2008). Consequentially, some studies have examined the significance of defaunation on methane production (Qin et al., 2012), finding that defaunation results in an average of 11% reduction in CH4 emissions (Newbold et al., 2015). However, as discussed in an earlier section, options for farm-scale defaunation are limited.

Arguably the most effective mitigation strategy demonstrated to date is basal dietary supplementation with 3-nitroproxypropanol (3-NOP). 3-NOP was developed in 2012 (Duval, 2012), and acts by inhibiting the methyl coenzyme-M reductase (MCR) enzyme in the terminal step of methanogenesis. Supplementation of 3-NOP has been shown to dramatically reduce ruminal  $CH_4$  production in lactating dairy cows, and crucially does not have any adverse effect on milk yield (Hristov et al., 2015), though an increase in milk fat has been reported (Lopes et al., 2016). It has also proven an effective methane inhibitor in sheep (Martínez-Fernández et al., 2014) and beef cattle (Romero-Perez et al., 2015). Furthermore, there is no current evidence of microbial adaptation to the feed additive, as has been observed when other MCR inhibitors such as bromoethanesulfonate were added to the basal diet (Immig et al., 1996). Yet, with a large proportion of the world's domesticated ruminants existing in open pasture, the practicalities and economics of continued supplementation with 3-NOP (or any dietary additive) are unclear, and the compound has not yet been approved for commercial use. It should also be noted that total inhabitation of methanogen growth in the rumen is not necessary, as a 50% reduction in their growth rate appears sufficient to cause their washout from the rumen (Tapio et al., 2017).

A critical aspect of an effective methane abatement strategy (or indeed any intervention which aims to elicit a change in rumen microbial composition or function) is the persistence of such changes in the long term. Thus, in recent years, there has been much focus on the early life colonization of the rumen, in the hope that gaining insights into the patterns of microbial establishment may offer a "window of opportunity" for effective, persistent management or dietary interventions to permanently modify the rumen microbiota towards a more desirable composition. The current state of the art and knowledge gaps concerning this early life paradigm are presented in the following sections.

# **1.5** Early life – the "window of opportunity" for effective manipulation of the rumen microbiome?

While some of the strategies to manipulate rumen fermentation outlined in section 1.4 of this chapter have been successful in the short term, it has proven difficult to permanently modify the established microbiota of the mature rumen, which generally reverts to the original composition following the cessation of treatment/supplementation (Weimer, 2015, Weimer et al., 2010). This is less evident, however, in the first weeks of life, when the rumen community is highly dynamic and variable across individuals, as discussed below (Yanez-Ruiz et al., 2015). This has given rise to the notion of "microbial programming" of the rumen microbiota - dietary or management interventions in early life that will imprint a desirable and persistent microbial pattern on the rumen, before the microbiota becomes fully established – as a means of improving ruminant production (Yanez-Ruiz et al., 2015). There is evidence that such interventions during early life may have long-lasting effects on rumen microbial composition, but few long-term studies have been conducted to date (Yanez-Ruiz et al., 2010, Veneman et al., 2015, Krause et al., 2003). To effectively discern the optimal time for manipulation/intervention, the temporal sequence of rumen microbial colonisation, and the factors which influence it, must be fully defined. Accordingly, recent years have seen renewed interest in the patterns of microbial colonisation of the rumen during the first days and weeks of life (Jami et al., 2013, Li et al., 2012a, Jiao et al., 2015a). A number of studies using deep sequencing approaches have characterised microbial progression in rumen fluid recently (Malmuthuge et al., 2014, Rey et al., 2013, Jiao et al., 2015a, Jiao et al., 2015b), but there has not been a comprehensive study to determine microbial colonisation and succession across all ruminal niches. Early life experience has been shown to have a lasting effect on gut microbial communities in humans (Koenig et al., 2011), and feeding different diets prior weaning promoted divergent bacterial establishment in the rumen of bull calves (Eadie et al., 1959). The role of the birthing process in shaping this microbial community

also remains elusive. There is some, albeit conflicting, evidence concerning *in utero* microbial colonisation on the perinatal GI microbiota in humans (Mao et al., 2015), but it is unclear if the same may occur in ruminants, due to differences in placentome architecture (Steele et al., 2016). The following sections will discuss physical and microbial co-development of the rumen, the factors which influence it, and attempts to redirect rumen microbial metabolism via interventions in the first weeks of life.

# 1.5.1 Microbial colonisation of the pre-functional rumen

It has been commonly accepted for many years that the mammalian gastrointestinal tract is sterile at birth, devoid of microbial life (Escherich, 1885). Recently however, this long-held dogma has come under scrutiny as evidence of *in utero* colonisation of the human foetal GIT has come to light (Jimenez et al., 2008, Aagaard et al., 2014). Yet this remains a point of intense debate. In a recent critical review, Perez-Muñoz et al. (2017) examined all existing data relating to microbial colonisation of the mammalian GIT *in utero* and concluded, that based on currently available information, there is insufficient evidence to conclusively support the idea of GIT microbial colonisation of the developing foetus. Furthermore, there is at present no evidence of *in utero* colonisation of the ruminant GIT, and it is unknown if ruminant placentome structure would precludes the passage of any maternal microorganisms to the developing calf during gestation (Steele et al., 2016). Moreover, in a recent study, Malmuthuge and colleagues (2018) demonstrated the sterility of the foetal bovine GIT during the third trimester of pregnancy. Therefore, for the purposes of this review we accept the hypothesis of a sterile rumen prior to birth, which is rapidly colonised by a complex microbiota from the surrounding environment and other animals during or following delivery.

### 1.5.2 Early life rumen microbial dynamics

The dynamics of microbial establishment in the rumen were first scrutinised in the 1940's using microscopy (Pounden and Hibbs, 1948), but knowledge of the pattern of microbial development in the rumen was limited until the 1980s. Gerald Fonty performed a series of landmark studies using gnotobiotic lamb models (Fonty et al., 1987, Fonty et al., 1983a, Fonty et al., 1983b, Fonty et al., 1989), extensively characterising the establishment and development of the prokaryotic and eukaryotic populations in the first days and weeks of life of the young ruminant using culture-based approaches. These studies showed that microorganisms colonise the rumen in an ordered and sequential manner soon after birth, and that the major functional
groups of taxa including fibrolytic bacteria and methanogenic archaea, become established within the first week of life (Anderson et al., 1987). The initial colonisers of rumen are aerobes and facultative anaerobes (e.g. Streptococcus and Lactobacillus species (Fonty et al., 1987)). By the second day of life, anaerobic bacterial concentrations in the rumen of lambs reared with their mothers reached levels of 10<sup>9</sup> cells/ml, and strictly anaerobic bacteria predominated over facultative anaerobes to the order of 10-100-fold. However, this anaerobic population did not have the same characteristics as that of the adult ruminant, harbouring *Propionibacterium*, Clostridium, Peptostreptococcus and Bifidobacterium as dominant members. These genera are usually not major contributors to bacterial diversity in the adult rumen (Fonty et al., 1987). Fonty's work also demonstrated that cellulolytic bacteria important for microbial degradation in the adult rumen are already present within the first 48 hours of life (e.g. Fibrobacter succinogenes) (Fonty et al., 1987, Fonty et al., 1989). Methanogenic archaea were detected as early as day 2 using cultural methods, while a more recent study detected methanogens in the ovine rumen immediately after birth (Guzman et al., 2015). Fungal spores may be detected by day 8, dominated by Neocallimastix frontalis. However, anaerobic fungi could not be detected in the majority of lambs following the initiation of a high-energy grower diet at 3 weeks of age, showing the influence of diet on rumen microbial colonisation patterns (Fonty et al., 1987). The ciliate protozoa are the final microbial colonisers of the rumen, and their establishment seems to require the prior establishment of a complex microbiota (Fonty et al., 1988). A natural defaunation of the rumen occurs around weaning, but the rumen is re-occupied by protozoa around 3 months of age. It is not clear what induces this phenomenon, and protozoan establishment is considered a marker of maturation of the rumen microbiota (Belanche et al., 2012, Fonty et al., 1988).

In recent years several studies have applied modern molecular techniques to study the pattern of microbial progression in the rumen (Jiao et al., 2015a, Wang et al., 2016a, Jami et al., 2013). Bacterial life has been detected in the rumen immediately following birth using quantitative PCR (Guzman et al., 2015). While this was in some regards a landmark study, these findings were not replicated in a previous investigation (Rey et al., 2013), when bacterial amplicons could not be generated on day 1 of life. We must further note that DNA was used for the reactions, presenting the possibility that any amplification was of dead or contaminate nucleic acid. Further, while the authors of the 2015 study slaughtered new-born calves to obtain rumen samples, the latter relied on rumen tubing, which may be insufficient at such a young age. Yet, a diverse rumen fluid bacteriome was detected on the first day of life using pyrosequencing (Jami et al., 2013), with the same study also demonstrating the subsequent shift towards dominance of the bovine rumen by obligate anaerobes as observed by Fonty using gnotobiotic lamb models

(Jami et al., 2013). These discrepancies may be due to differential sampling technique and expertise or targeting of different hypervariable regions for 16S rRNA gene amplification. Culture based approaches showed early colonisation of known rumen bacteria in neonates (Fonty et al., 1987). Using qPCR, Jami and colleagues (2013) also quantified the abundance of important rumen biomass degraders in animals from day 1 to 2 years. The cellulolytic *Ruminococcus flavefaciens* was detected after 1 day of life, while important VFA producers like *Selenomonas ruminantium* and *Megasphaera elsdenii* were also present in the rumen in 1-day-old calves. The authors also reported the high abundance of facultative anaerobes (*Streptococcus bovis*) within 24h of birth, confirming earlier findings (Fonty et al., 1983a, Jami et al., 2013). These early colonisers are likely to function in scavenging the available oxygen in the rumen, thereby creating the anaerobic environment necessary for proper fermentation.

Consistent among the studies examining early life dynamics of the rumen microbiota is a high level of heterogeneity amongst individual animals, which decreases with age (Jami et al., 2013, Jami and Mizrahi, 2012, Malmuthuge et al., 2014). A study examining the taxonomic and functional profiles of rumen bacteria in 2-week and 6-week old calves, and 2-year old cows using amplicon and shotgun sequencing, found that the major types of rumen bacteria, including cellulolytic taxa, were present at 14 days of age, even in the absence of solid feed (Li et al., 2012b). The microbiota undergoes continued evolution through to adulthood. The major rumen bacterial groups, Firmicutes, Bacteroidetes and Proteobacteria are among the proto-colonisers of the rumen, but their proportion changes significantly as the animal ages (Jami et al., 2013, Jiao et al., 2015a, Jiao et al., 2015b), and 16S ribosomal RNA gene profiling of rumen fluid revealed only a small number of shared taxa between 2-week old and 2-year old dairy cows (Dill-McFarland et al., 2017). When calves were maintained on milk-only diets, *Prevotella* was replaced as the most abundant genera by *Bacteroides* on day 42, before regaining predominance in the rumen of adult cattle (Li et al., 2012b). Furthermore, of the 15 phyla detected in the rumen fluid of 14-day and 42-day old calves, four out of the five most abundant were significantly altered with age, indicating that rumen microbial composition is highly dynamic in early life (Li et al., 2012b).

Development of the rumen epimural community has also been shown to be age related. While the epimural community may only represent 1% of the total microbial biomass in the rumen, they are presumed to have important roles in oxygen removal (Stewart et al., 1988). *Proteobacteria* was the predominant bacterial phyla adhered to the rumen wall on the first day of life (Jiao et al., 2015a), agreeing with earlier observations using electron microscopy (Rieu et al., 1990). However, as the animal ages, the abundance of epimural *Proteobacteria* decreases, while that of *Bacteroidetes* and *Firmicutes* increases, as also seen in the digesta-associated microbiota (Jiao et al., 2015b).

We must be cognisant that it is very difficult to separate "age" and "diet" into distinct factors during early life. Dietary composition and intake levels change substantially within the first weeks of life, and so a target of future studies should be to discern the extent to which diet influences microbial development in the rumen independently of calf age, and vice versa.

#### 1.5.3 Functional achievement of the rumen microbiota in early life

As well as characterising the taxonomic composition of the early life rumen microbiota, several studies have also examined its function and activity, as proper microbial function is crucial in supplying sufficient VFA to support host growth and development. Proteolytic, ureolytic, xylanase, and amyltic enzymatic functions are established rapidly in the rumen following birth and appear to reach a peak between days 10 and 23 (Rey et al., 2012), although a subsequent study could not obtain a sample of sufficient quality from week old calves to determine microbial activity (Jiao et al., 2015b). Using unrestricted DNA shotgun sequencing of rumen fluid, over 8,000 protein families including important glycoside hydrolases have been identified in 2-week old calves (Li et al., 2012b). This study reported that while the taxonomic profile of the rumen fluid-associated microbiota is dynamic in early life, the functional profile is largely stable from 2 to 6 weeks. These studies, taken together and considered with the microbial colonisation process outlined above, suggest that there is a large potential for carbohydrate digestion present in the developing rumen, even in the absence of solid feed.

# **1.5.4** Factors influencing rumen microbial colonisation and development in early life

The composition and function of the rumen microbiota are sensitive to a range of factors (Henderson et al., 2015). The diets of ruminants can change many times throughout the life cycle of the animal, from the weaning transition (milk to solid feed) to high-grain finishing rations in the feedlot, to the standard dietary cycles of dairy cows. However, less is known of the factors and mechanisms which may exert control over microbial establishment and dynamics in the developing rumen. Contact with other animals appears to be a factor in microbial succession in the rumen. When neonatal lambs were separated from their dams within the first 24 hours of life and fed milk replacer, cellulolytic bacteria, fungi, or protozoa did not colonise the rumen (Fonty et al., 1983a). When lambs were reared in a flock with other adult ruminants, a more complex

microbiota was observed versus those raised only with their dam and establishment of cellulolytic bacteria in the rumen was slower (Fonty et al., 1987). Similar findings were reported recently in goat kids, where goats raised with their dam acquired a more complex rumen microbiota throughout the first month of life than their twin counterparts who were raised on artificial milk (Abecia et al., 2017). Therefore, it appears that specific maternal contact may be important in the initial acquisition of important rumen microbiota following birth.

However, while several factors may influence the colonisation process in the rumen, the introduction of solid feed appearing to drive the most evident change (Rey et al., 2013, Jami et al., 2013, Dill-McFarland et al., 2017). Introducing solid feed as part of an early weaning strategy in calves (3-week weaning) increased microbial abundance in the rumen versus calves weaned at six weeks of age (Anderson et al., 1987). In 3-week old calves offered milk replacer and calf starter, Prevotella and Bacteroides both accounted for ~15% of the 16S rRNA genes (Malmuthuge et al., 2014). However, when calves were offered only milk, there was a significant increase in the proportion of *Bacteroides* as the animal aged, with *Prevotella* found to be predominant in adult cattle fed a hay-based diet (Li et al., 2012b). Interestingly, when the microbiota of 6-month and 24-month old cattle fed the same diet was investigated, it was still found to differ significantly, indicating that even in older animals, microbial composition continues to change, independently of diet (Jami et al., 2013). The weaning transition is a stressful period for ruminants, and is associated with suppressed intakes and growth (Meale et al., 2017). While it is difficult to separate weaning and diet into distinct factors, several recent investigations have demonstrated that weaning age and strategy may influence microbial colonisation patterns in the rumen (Meale et al., 2016, Meale et al., 2017). In particular, a later weaning strategy may allow the microbiota to adapt better to the dietary change, potentially reducing the negative effects of early and/or abrupt weaning practices (Meale et al., 2017).

Given that certain conditions can favour differential establishment patterns of the rumen microbiota, there have been attempts to imprint a modification on microbial colonisation in this period. The impact of pre-weaning direct fed microbial (probiotic) supplementation on the establishment of the rumen microbiota has been explored. The addition of live *Saccharomyces cerevisae* cultures to feed accelerated the colonisation of cellulolytic bacteria and protozoa, and promoted microbial activity in early life (Chaucheyras-Durand and Fonty, 2002). However the long term impact of such interventions is unclear; when *Megasphaera elsdenii* was supplemented to 14 day old calves, no effect on rumen fermentation, rumen metabolism, or the abundance of ruminal *M. elsdenii* was detected on day 70 post-dosage suggesting microbial adaptation to the

supplement (Yohe et al., 2017). Supplementation of goat kids with the anti-methanogenic compound bromochloromethane (BCM), resulted in an alteration of the rumen methanogen community which persisted for up to three months (Abecia et al., 2013, Abecia et al., 2014a).

This suggests that differential management and feeding programs in early life may have long term implications on patterns of microbial colonisation in the developing rumen, and furthering our knowledge of rumen microbial kinetics in this period may facilitate the design of novel strategies to imprint a lasting effect on rumen microbial diversity.

#### 1.6 Methods to study the rumen microbiome

As discussed in previous sections, the rumen microbiome is a complex community postulated to contain upwards of 2000 species (Firkins, 2010). Studies of the rumen microorganisms generally aim to answer one or more of the following questions; (i) "who are there?" (ii) "how many of them are there?" and (iii) "what are they doing?".

Early traditional microbiology and molecular biology techniques used to study this community lacked the sensitivity to accurately characterise the breadth of rumen microbial diversity. While today such approaches have been largely superseded by high throughput omics technologies, they continue to be used to study the rumen microbiota. The following sections will detail methods of microbial community analysis and how they pertain to the rumen microbiome.

#### 1.6.1 Terminology

As the methods used to study the rumen microbiome have been developed and refined over the years, the terminology surrounding their use has also evolved. Today there remains incongruity over the correct nomenclature when referring to host-associated microbial communities. The term "microbiome" refers to the entire habitat in question; the resident microorganisms, their genomes, and the surrounding environment (Marchesi and Ravel, 2015). Therefore, this should not be used when referring purely to community membership, where "microbiota" is more suitable (e.g. when discussing results of a 16S rRNA amplicon survey). The term "microflora" is antiquated and is not widely used in reference to gut microbial ecology.

#### 1.6.2 Classic cultivation-based methods

Investigations of anaerobic microbial communities in the early 20<sup>th</sup> century toyed with different approaches, but it was the development of the roll-tube technique by Robert Hungate in 1969 that allowed the first robust assessment of the microbiota of the rumen (Hungate, 1969). Hungate's research allowed the successful simulation of anaerobic conditions *in vitro* which facilitated major breakthroughs and progress in knowledge of the rumen microbiota, as anaerobic microorganisms could be isolated, and their preferred substrates and products examined and described in detail (McCann et al., 2014a, Hungate, 1950). This work laid the foundation for much fundamental knowledge of rumen microbiology, and his roll-tube method continues to be used today. There is still a considerable amount of research on the rumen microbiome that employs culture-based methods, aiming to improve cultivation techniques and characterise as many novel rumen microbes as possible (Miltko et al., 2015, Kenters et al., 2011, Nyonyo et al., 2014, Creevey et al., 2014, Fukuma et al., 2015, Kobayashi et al., 2008, Oh et al., 2017). This work is essential to definitive elucidation of the rumen microbial community, as the biochemical characteristics of novel rumen microorganisms can only be fully understood once they have been grown and observed *in vitro*.

However, such methods have allowed for the identification of less than 15% of the putative bacterial diversity in the rumen (Morgavi et al., 2013, E. Edwards et al., 2004). Additionally, there is no single culture medium that can be used to grow the vast extent of ruminal bacteria. To overcome these limitations, several molecular techniques were developed in the latter stages of the 20<sup>th</sup> century whereby microbial species could be identified based on their genetic content, rather than biochemical or phenotypic identification in culture.

### 1.6.3 Molecular methods to evaluate the rumen microbiome

As it became clear that most anaerobic microorganisms could not be characterised using traditional microbiological approaches, newer culture-independent methods were needed for robust investigations of microbial communities. Several novel molecular techniques were developed in late 20<sup>th</sup> century which distinguished microbial species based on their genetic content rather than biochemical or phenotypic characterisation in culture. Studies of bacterial and archaeal populations have utilised DNA (or RNA-based analysis via reverse transcription) sequencing of the 16S rRNA gene (Deusch et al., 2017, McGovern et al., 2017, McCabe et al., 2015), while the 18S rRNA and Internal Transcribed Spacer (ITS) genes have been used to study protozoan (Kittelmann et al., 2015) and fungal (Kittelmann et al., 2013) composition, respectively. There have been vast technological advances in the last decade which have revolutionised our

understanding of the rumen microbiome and its relationship with the host, and these will be detailed in the following sections.

#### 1.6.4 Pioneer molecular techniques

Work in the 1970s and 1980s showed that bacterial composition of a community could be measured using the 16S ribosomal RNA (16S rRNA) gene (Woese, 1987, Woese et al., 1983, Woese and Fox, 1977). The 16S rRNA gene is around 1,550bp in length (Bouchet et al., 2008), is ubiquitous in bacteria and archaea, and is today regarded as the gold standard marker gene in prokaryotic ecology studies, as it is phylogenetically conserved across species and is thought to be only weakly affected by horizontal gene transfer (Sunil Kumar Sirohi, 2012, Woese et al., 1983). The gene contains nine hypervariable regions (V1-V9) which can be used to distinguish between bacterial/archaeal species, flanked by conserved regions (Chakravorty et al., 2007). PCR primers complementary to the conserved regions are used to amplify the interspersed hypervariable regions, allowing for rapid identification of individual bacterial species (e.g. for quantification using qPCR) or general bacterial and archaeal diversity using universal primers. The choice of variable region is important and should be habitat-specific, as this can have a significant bearing on results (Soergel et al., 2012). In studies examining methanogen populations in the rumen, type-2 chaperonins and the methyl co-reductase A (mcrA) genes have also been used as taxonomic markers (Ozutsumi et al., 2012, Chaban and Hill, 2012, McGovern et al., 2017). PCR amplicons from these marker genes can then be used in a variety of subsequent techniques to assess microbial composition in a sample.

A number of molecular techniques were developed to harness the discriminatory power of the 16S rRNA gene, most of which used PCR amplicons (Mullis and Faloona, 1987, Mullis et al., 1986) to broadly assess rumen microbial composition. Among them, denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis (DGGE) (Lukas et al., 2010, Petri et al., 2012, Sadet et al., 2007), termination restriction fragment length polymorphism (TRFLP) (Yanez-Ruiz et al., 2010, Castro-Carrera et al., 2014), fluorescence in-situ hybridisation (FISH) (Xia et al., 2014), and molecular cloning (Koike et al., 2003) have been used in investigations of the rumen microbiota. Among the most widely used, DGGE can identify microbial phylotypes based on their differential migration through a gel, and was initially used in the detection single point mutations (now usually referred to as single nucleotide polymorphisms – SNPs) in disease-associated genes (Fischer and Lerman, 1979). It was first applied to microbial community analysis in the early 1990s (Muyzer et al., 1993). Subsequently DGGE was employed in studies of the rumen microbiota (Kocherginskaya et al.,

2001), most notably being used in the first descriptions of the relationship between feed efficiency and rumen microbial composition and fermentation in beef cattle (Guan et al., 2008, Carberry et al., 2014b, Carberry et al., 2012).

Molecular cloning and subsequent sanger sequencing (Sanger et al., 1977) of 16S rRNA gene amplicons has also been widely used to study the rumen microbiome. Briefly, following isolation of DNA, PCR amplicons from the target group are cloned into a plasmid cloning vector. Following growth in culture medium, positive clones (i.e. containing the DNA sequences of interest) are randomly selected for plasmid DNA extraction and sequencing (Wright, 2005). Molecular cloning has been used to demonstrate the existence of divergent methanogen genotypes between efficient and inefficient cattle (Carberry et al., 2014b), and to investigate strain-level diversity of *Ruminococcus flavefaciens* in the rumen (Brulc et al., 2011), among other studies.

While technologies like DGGE and molecular cloning made important contributions to our knowledge of rumen microbial diversity, they are hampered by low throughput, poor resolution of taxonomic profiles, and have been rendered mostly obsolete by the advent of second and third-generation technologies discussed in the next section.

#### 1.6.5 Modern technologies to study the rumen microbiome

Though the first generation of sequencing technologies, based on Sanger sequencing of PCR clones, could sequence the entire 16S rRNA gene, such approaches were severely limited by low throughput (Shendure and Ji, 2008). When it was determined that full-length sequences of the 16S rRNA were not necessary to resolve the composition of a bacterial community (Liu et al., 2007), the focus shifted towards the generation of large volumes of shorter reads. The last decade has seen significant development of high-throughput DNA- and RNA-sequencing platforms for studies of microbial communities. Today, hundreds of meta-barcoded samples may be sequenced simultaneously. This has reduced the need for cloning of individual genes or cultivation studies to identify members of a microbial consortia (Arnold et al., 2016).

Illumina and 454 Pyrosequencing technologies have been the main platforms of choice for evaluation of the mammalian gut microbiome in the last decade (Arrieta et al., 2014). The 454 Pyrosequencing platform, commercialised by Roche in 2005 (Margulies et al., 2005) was the first next generation sequences (NGS) system applied to studies of the rumen microbiome, used to show significant disparity between taxonomic and functional profiles of the liquid and fibreadherent fractions (Brulc et al., 2009). Subsequently, DNA Pyrosequencing of PCR amplicons has been widely employed in characterisation of the composition and potential function of the rumen microbiota (Castro-Carrera et al., 2014, Kim et al., 2014, Li et al., 2016, Fouts et al., 2012). However, the high cost and greater error rate of Pyrosequencing analysis led to this system being discontinued in 2016.

Illumina chemistry employs reversible terminators in combination with sequencing-bysynthesis chemistry on a glass slide, and allows a large number of reads to be generated relatively quickly, more cheaply, and with error rates a fraction of those found in 454 platforms (Li et al., 2014, Luo et al., 2012). Today, Illumina platforms are the systems of choice for sequence-based interrogation of the rumen microbial community. The Illumina MiSeq can produce ~550bp merged sequence reads via 2x300bp paired end sequencing (assuming a 50bp overlap), which compares favourably to read lengths of the Pyrosequencing system (Kim et al., 2017). Other platforms are available for large-scale analysis of microbial communities (e.g. Ion Torrent, PacBio), as well as the emerging Nanopore technology, but these have not been extensively used to study the rumen microbiome.

# 1.6.5.1 Amplicon Sequencing

Harnessing the discriminatory power of the 16S rRNA/18S rRNA/ITS genes as discussed above, amplicon sequencing remains the most widely used sequencing tool for investigation of the rumen microbiota today. In such analyses, barcoded amplicons of the desired hypervariable region are prepared from isolated DNA (or cDNA following reverse transcription of RNA) and can be multiplexed to allow the simultaneous sequencing of hundreds of biological samples. The reads generated in an amplicon sequencing project are typically first clustered into Operational Taxonomic Units (OTUs), usually using a similarity threshold of 97% (analogous to species level), which are then aligned against a reference database like Greengenes (DeSantis et al., 2006) for taxonomic classification. The inferred functional profile of a microbial community may also be assessed by amplicon sequencing, using tools like PICRUSt (Langille et al., 2013) and Tax4Fun (Asshauer et al., 2015). Indeed, a rumen-specific version of the PICRUSt tool, CowPi (Wilkinson et al., 2018), has recently been developed, and appears to outperform PICRUSt in functional inference, but has not yet been widely investigated for its accuracy. Such approaches are not particularly robust however, as they rely on inferred function based on known features of a taxon, rather than direct assessment using other methods discussed below. Yet they remain useful tools to generate a broad picture of microbial function, which may then be investigated further using deep sequencing approaches.

Amplicon sequencing has been used to define the "core" rumen microbiota (Henderson et al., 2015), to investigate the heritability of rumen microbiome features (Sasson et al., 2017), and to characterise rumen composition and diversity in a wide range of ruminant hosts and under many different conditions (McGovern et al., 2017, Tapio et al., 2016, Li et al., 2016, McCabe et al., 2015, Myer et al., 2015a, Jami et al., 2013, Jami and Mizrahi, 2012). It has also been used to describe the relationship between the rumen microbiota and important production traits, such as feed efficiency and milk composition (McCann et al., 2014b, Jami et al., 2014). While amplicon sequencing provides a rapid and cheap "snapshot" of microbial diversity present within an ecosystem at a point in time, it is subject to several limitations. These include PCR bias (non-specific annealing, differential amplification specificity of taxonomic groups, artefact formation) poor resolution at the species level, and the fact that amplicon sequencing cannot account for marker gene copy number variation (Firkins and Yu, 2015, Poretsky et al., 2014). Thus, such approaches cannot be reliably interpreted quantitatively.

# 1.6.5.2 Metagenomic shotgun sequencing

As outlined above, amplicon sequencing has been a mainstay of microbial community analysis for much of the last decade but harbours some inherent limitations. To circumvent these issues, several other techniques have been used to study the rumen microbiota recently. Metagenomic shotgun sequencing can potentially catalogue all the microbial genes present in the rumen, by random sequencing of fragmented DNA. Prior to sequencing, total DNA extracts are randomly sheared (hence the name "shotgun"). These DNA fragments are then subjected to deep sequencing (e.g. on an Illumina HiSeq2500/4000), which can provide informative taxonomic and functional profiles using several analytical methods (Sunagawa et al., 2013), including the analysis of informative marker genes (e.g. the 16S rRNA gene) or contig assembly and subsequent alignment to a database of reference microbial genomes (Gupta et al., 2016). Several studies to date have employed shotgun sequencing in rumen microbiome investigations, including the first functional metagenomic assessment of the rumen microbiome in pre-ruminant calves (Li et al., 2012a), the identification of carbohydrate active enzymes in the adult rumen (Hess et al., 2011), characterisation of the taxonomic and functional profile of buffalo (Parmar et al., 2014), and in cattle with bloat (Pitta et al., 2016).

While metagenomic shotgun sequencing is advantageous over amplicon sequencing in that it is free of the PCR biases described above, it is costlier, and DNA-based methods may still assess only the functional potential of the microbial consortium, as opposed to active function revealed using RNA-based technologies. Another potential limitation of shotgun sequencing is contamination with host DNA, which will invariably be present to some degree in a sample and should be removed during the quality control stage (Li et al., 2018). While host DNA sequences in human faeces accounted for as much as 64% of total reads (Schmieder and Edwards, 2011), metagenomic studies of the rumen microbiota report that less than 1% of sequences are host derived, so this may not be a major obstacle in this instance (Shabat et al., 2016, Neves et al., 2018).

### 1.6.5.3 New frontiers in omics technologies to study the rumen

Amplicon and shotgun sequencing approaches are powerful tools in assessing microbial composition and functional potential in a habitat but are hampered by the inability to assess active function. To address the shortfalls in DNA-based investigative tools, metatranscriptomic (Li and Guan, 2017), metaproteomic (Snelling and Wallace, 2017), and metabolomic (Deusch et al., 2017) analytical methods have been developed and used to more accurately define the functional activity of the rumen microbial community.

Metatranscriptomic sequencing is similar in principle to metagenomic shotgun sequencing, but sequencing is performed on reverse transcribed cDNA rather than directly on fragmented gDNA, allowing the active portion of a microbial cohort (i.e. those producing RNA at the time of sample collection) to be assessed. Therefore, this may be a preferable way to assess the function of a microbiome versus metagenomic sequencing (Kim et al., 2017), where nucleic acid from dead or inactive microorganisms can also be sequenced. To date, only a small number of studies have used metatranscriptomic sequencing to study the rumen, providing a more complete picture of the active rumen microbial community of beef (Neves et al., 2017) and dairy (Comtet-Marre et al., 2017) cattle, and describing further the relationship between these active rumen microorganisms and feed efficiency (Li and Guan, 2017). The costs associated with high-throughput sequencing analysis have reduced in recent years, and a continuation of this trend should see technologies like shotgun metagenomics and metatranscriptomics more widely applied (van Dijk et al., 2014). Metatranscriptomic analysis may also be complicated by host contamination as described above and extracting RNA of sufficient integrity for sequencing is more challenging than with DNA. For a more in-depth discussion of the application and

challenges of metagenomic and metatranscriptomic sequencing in studies of the rumen microbiome, the reader is directed to a recent review (Li et al., 2018).

It is important to note that mRNA expression levels do not necessarily relate to protein production (Maier et al., 2009), and thus further advances in protein and metabolite detection techniques could offer a more accurate profile of microbial activity in the rumen. Metaproteomics aims to characterise the entire protein content of an environmental sample (Wilms, 2004), and has recently been used to survey the rumen microbiome of both dairy and beef cattle, and lambs (Snelling and Wallace, 2017). Metabolomics can quantify the biochemical profile of a microbial community and has also been used to study the rumen metabolite profile (Deusch et al., 2017, Deusch et al., 2015). These technologies remain in their infancy but continued technical and analytical advances are likely to see their use rise sharply in the coming years.

# 1.7 Knowledge gaps, hypotheses, and objectives

The rapid advances in omics technologies in the last decade has dramatically improved our knowledge of the composition and function of the rumen microorganisms, and the associated host mechanisms for nutrient uptake. Yet, there remains gaps in the literature concerning the ontogeny of the pioneer rumen communities, and how they may be affected by factors like host gender and local environment. Furthermore, the development of the rumen wall transcriptome in early life has not been well characterised, and further studying gene expression profiles in the calf rumen will aid in the elucidation of the biological mechanisms which contribute to rumen development. Furthering our knowledge of the microbial dynamics in the developing rumen, and how they relate to later-life production, will be critical in designing innovative strategies to improve nutrient utilisation and reduce wasteful processes like methanogenesis via interventions in early life.

The hypothesis for the current research project was that early life dietary and management regimens will contribute to microbial composition and diversity in the rumen and lower gut. The research presented in this thesis contributes to our understanding of the temporal dynamics of microbial establishment in bovine GIT in early life, and what factors contribute to this colonisation pattern. The specific objectives of this project were as follows:

1. Characterise the temporal development of the rumen microbiota throughout early life, and assess the impact of poorly studied factors like farm environment on this pattern of microbial colonisation.

- 2. Use RNA-sequencing to characterise the rumen wall transcriptome from birth to post weaning.
- 3. Assess whether the elevated intestinal development and calf growth observed in calves supplemented with butyrate in early life was accompanied by changes in the microbial composition and fermentation in the rumen and lower gut.

# 1.8 Literature cited

- AAGAARD, K., MA, J., ANTONY, K. M., GANU, R., PETROSINO, J. & VERSALOVIC, J. 2014. The placenta harbors a unique microbiome. *Sci Transl Med*, 6, 237ra65.
- ABE, M., IRIKI, T., TOBE, N. & SHIBUI, H. 1981. Sequestration of Holotrich Protozoa in the Reticulo-Rumen of Cattle.
- ABECIA, L., JIMENEZ, E., MARTINEZ-FERNANDEZ, G., MARTIN-GARCIA, A. I., RAMOS-MORALES, E., PINLOCHE, E., DENMAN, S. E., NEWBOLD, C. J. & YANEZ-RUIZ, D. R. 2017. Natural and artificial feeding management before weaning promote different rumen microbial colonization but not differences in gene expression levels at the rumen epithelium of new-born goats. 12, e0182235.
- ABECIA, L., MARTÍN-GARCÍA, A. I., MARTÍNEZ, G., NEWBOLD, C. J. & YÁÑEZ-RUIZ, D. R. 2013. Nutritional intervention in early life to manipulate rumen microbial colonization and methane output by kid goats postweaning1. *Journal of Animal Science*, 91, 4832-4840.
- ABECIA, L., WADDAMS, K. E., MARTINEZ-FERNANDEZ, G., MARTIN-GARCIA, A. I., RAMOS-MORALES, E., NEWBOLD, C. J. & YANEZ-RUIZ, D. R. 2014b. An antimethanogenic nutritional intervention in early life of ruminants modifies ruminal colonization by Archaea. *Archaea*, 2014, 841463.
- ALEMU, A. W., VYAS, D., MANAFIAZAR, G., BASARAB, J. A. & BEAUCHEMIN, K. A. 2017. Enteric methane emissions from low– and high–residual feed intake beef heifers measured using GreenFeed and respiration chamber techniques12. *Journal of Animal Science*, 95, 3727-3737.
- ALTSCHUL, S. F., GISH, W., MILLER, W., MYERS, E. W. & LIPMAN, D. J. 1990. Basic local alignment search tool. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, 215, 403-410.
- ANDERSON, K. L., NAGARAJA, T. G., MORRILL, J. L., AVERY, T. B., GALITZER, S. J. & BOYER, J. E. 1987. Ruminal microbial development in conventionally or early-weaned calves. *J Anim Sci*, 64, 1215-26.
- ANDERSON, M. J. 2001. A new method for non-parametric multivariate analysis of variance. *Austral Ecology*, 26, 32-46.
- ARNOLD, J. W., ROACH, J. & AZCARATE-PERIL, M. A. 2016. Emerging Technologies for Gut Microbiome Research. *Trends Microbiol*, 24, 887-901.
- ARRIETA, M.-C., STIEMSMA, L. T., AMENYOGBE, N., BROWN, E. M. & FINLAY, B. 2014. The Intestinal Microbiome in Early Life: Health and Disease. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 5.
- ASCHENBACH, J. R., KRISTENSEN, N. B., DONKIN, S. S., HAMMON, H. M. & PENNER, G. B. 2010. Gluconeogenesis in dairy cows: the secret of making sweet milk from sour dough. *IUBMB Life*, 62, 869-77.
- ASCHENBACH, J. R., PENNER, G. B., STUMPFF, F. & GABEL, G. 2011. Ruminant Nutrition Symposium: Role of fermentation acid absorption in the regulation of ruminal pH. *J Anim Sci*, 89, 1092-107.
- ASSHAUER, K. P., WEMHEUER, B., DANIEL, R. & MEINICKE, P. 2015. Tax4Fun: predicting functional profiles from metagenomic 16S rRNA data. *Bioinformatics*, 31, 2882-4.

- BACH, A., CALSAMIGLIA, S. & STERN, M. D. 2005. Nitrogen metabolism in the rumen. *J Dairy Sci*, 88 Suppl 1, E9-21.
- BACH, A., TERRÉ, M. & PINTO, A. 2013. Performance and health responses of dairy calves offered different milk replacer allowances. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 96, 7790-7797.
- BALDWIN, R. L. T. & CONNOR, E. E. 2017. Rumen Function and Development. *Vet Clin North Am Food Anim Pract*, 33, 427-439.
- BALDWIN, R. L. V., MCLEOD, K. R., KLOTZ, J. L. & HEITMANN, R. N. 2004. Rumen Development, Intestinal Growth and Hepatic Metabolism In The Pre- and Postweaning Ruminant. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 87, E55-E65.
- BASARAB, J. A., BEAUCHEMIN, K. A., BARON, V. S., OMINSKI, K. H., GUAN, L. L., MILLER, S. P. & CROWLEY, J. J. 2013. Reducing GHG emissions through genetic improvement for feed efficiency: effects on economically important traits and enteric methane production. *animal*, 7, 303-315.
- BEDFORD, A. & GONG, J. 2017. Implications of butyrate and its derivatives for gut health and animal production. *Animal Nutrition*.
- BELANCHE, A., DE LA FUENTE, G., PINLOCHE, E., NEWBOLD, C. J. & BALCELLS, J. 2012. Effect of diet and absence of protozoa on the rumen microbial community and on the representativeness of bacterial fractions used in the determination of microbial protein synthesis. *Journal of Animal Science*, 90, 3924-3936.
- BENJAMINI, Y. & HOCHBERG, Y. 1995. Controlling the False Discovery Rate: A Practical and Powerful Approach to Multiple Testing. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society. Series B* (*Methodological*), 57, 289-300.
- BERDING, K., WANG, M., MONACO, M. H., ALEXANDER, L. S., MUDD, A. T., CHICHLOWSKI,
   M., WAWORUNTU, R. V., BERG, B. M., MILLER, M. J., DILGER, R. N. & DONOVAN, S.
   M. 2016. Prebiotics and Bioactive Milk Fractions Affect Gut Development, Microbiota, and
   Neurotransmitter Expression in Piglets. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr, 63, 688-697.
- BERG MILLER, M. E., YEOMAN, C. J., CHIA, N., TRINGE, S. G., ANGLY, F. E., EDWARDS, R. A., FLINT, H. J., LAMED, R., BAYER, E. A. & WHITE, B. A. 2012. Phage-bacteria relationships and CRISPR elements revealed by a metagenomic survey of the rumen microbiome. *Environmental Microbiology*, 14, 207-227.
- BERGMAN, E. N. 1990. Energy contributions of volatile fatty acids from the gastrointestinal tract in various species. *Physiol Rev*, 70, 567-90.
- BERRY, D. P. & CROWLEY, J. J. 2013. CELL BIOLOGY SYMPOSIUM: Genetics of feed efficiency in dairy and beef cattle1. *Journal of Animal Science*, 91, 1594-1613.
- BICKERSTAFFE, D., NOAKES, D. E. & ANNISON, E. F. 1972. Quantitative aspects of fatty acid biohydrogenation, absorption and transfer into milk fat in the lactating goat, with special reference to the cis- and trans-isomers of octadecenoate and linoleate. *Biochem J*, 130.
- BLACK, J. & SHARKEY, M. 1970. RETICULAR GROOVE (SULCUS RETICULI) : AN OBLIGATORY ADAPTATION IN RUMINANT-LIKE HERBIVORES? *Mammalia*.
- BOUCHET, V., HUOT, H. & GOLDSTEIN, R. 2008. Molecular Genetic Basis of Ribotyping. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, 21, 262-273.
- BOURRIAUD, C., ROBINS, R. J., MARTIN, L., KOZLOWSKI, F., TENAILLEAU, E., CHERBUT, C. & MICHEL, C. 2005. Lactate is mainly fermented to butyrate by human intestinal microfloras but inter-individual variation is evident. *J Appl Microbiol*, 99, 201-12.
- BROWNLEE, A. 1956. The Development of Rumen Papillæ in Cattle Fed on Different Diets. *British Veterinary Journal*, 112, 369-375.
- BRULC, J. M., ANTONOPOULOS, D. A., BERG MILLER, M. E., WILSON, M. K., YANNARELL,
  A. C., DINSDALE, E. A., EDWARDS, R. E., FRANK, E. D., EMERSON, J. B., WACKLIN,
  P., COUTINHO, P. M., HENRISSAT, B., NELSON, K. E. & WHITE, B. A. 2009. Genecentric metagenomics of the fiber-adherent bovine rumen microbiome reveals forage

specific glycoside hydrolases. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 106, 1948-1953.

BRULC, J. M., YEOMAN, C. J., WILSON, M. K., BERG MILLER, M. E., JERALDO, P., JINDOU,
S., GOLDENFELD, N., FLINT, H. J., LAMED, R., BOROVOK, I., VODOVNIK, M.,
NELSON, K. E., BAYER, E. A. & WHITE, B. A. 2011. Cellulosomics, a Gene-Centric
Approach to Investigating the Intraspecific Diversity and Adaptation of Ruminococcus
flavefaciens within the Rumen. *PLOS ONE*, 6, e25329.

BUSHNELL, B. 2015. BBtools. (no. LBNL-7065E).

- CAMMACK, K. M., AUSTIN, K. J., LAMBERSON, W. R., CONANT, G. C. & CUNNINGHAM, H. C. 2018. Tiny but mighty: The role of the rumen microbes in livestock production. *J Anim Sci*.
- CAPORASO, J. G., KUCZYNSKI, J., STOMBAUGH, J., BITTINGER, K., BUSHMAN, F. D., COSTELLO, E. K., FIERER, N., PENA, A. G., GOODRICH, J. K., GORDON, J. I., HUTTLEY, G. A., KELLEY, S. T., KNIGHTS, D., KOENIG, J. E., LEY, R. E., LOZUPONE, C. A., MCDONALD, D., MUEGGE, B. D., PIRRUNG, M., REEDER, J., SEVINSKY, J. R., TURNBAUGH, P. J., WALTERS, W. A., WIDMANN, J., YATSUNENKO, T., ZANEVELD, J. & KNIGHT, R. 2010. QIIME allows analysis of high-throughput community sequencing data. Nat Methods, 7, 335-6.
- CAPORASO, J. G., LAUBER, C. L., WALTERS, W. A., BERG-LYONS, D., LOZUPONE, C. A., TURNBAUGH, P. J., FIERER, N. & KNIGHT, R. 2011. Global patterns of 16S rRNA diversity at a depth of millions of sequences per sample. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 108 Suppl 1, 4516-22.
- CARBERRY, C. A., KENNY, D. A., HAN, S., MCCABE, M. S. & WATERS, S. M. 2012. Effect of phenotypic residual feed intake and dietary forage content on the rumen microbial community of beef cattle. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 78, 4949-58.
- CARBERRY, C. A., KENNY, D. A., KELLY, A. K. & WATERS, S. M. 2014a. Quantitative analysis of ruminal methanogenic microbial populations in beef cattle divergent in phenotypic residual feed intake (RFI) offered contrasting diets. *J Anim Sci Biotechnol*, 5, 41.
- CARBERRY, C. A., WATERS, S. M., KENNY, D. A. & CREEVEY, C. J. 2014b. Rumen methanogenic genotypes differ in abundance according to host residual feed intake phenotype and diet type. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 80, 586-94.
- CASTILLO-GONZÁLEZ, A. R., BURROLA-BARRAZA, M., VIVEROS, J. & CHAVEZ-MARTINEZ, A. 2013. Rumen microorganisms and fermentation.
- CASTRO-CARRERA, T., TORAL, P. G., FRUTOS, P., MCEWAN, N. R., HERVAS, G., ABECIA, L., PINLOCHE, E., GIRDWOOD, S. E. & BELENGUER, A. 2014. Rumen bacterial community evaluated by 454 pyrosequencing and terminal restriction fragment length polymorphism analyses in dairy sheep fed marine algae. *J Dairy Sci*, 97, 1661-9.
- CASTRO, J. J., GOMEZ, A., WHITE, B., LOFTEN, J. R. & DRACKLEY, J. K. 2016. Changes in the intestinal bacterial community, short-chain fatty acid profile, and intestinal development of preweaned Holstein calves. 2. Effects of gastrointestinal site and age. *J Dairy Sci*, 99, 9703-9715.
- CHABAN, B. & HILL, J. E. 2012. A 'universal' type II chaperonin PCR detection system for the investigation of Archaea in complex microbial communities. *Isme j*, 6, 430-9.
- CHAKRAVORTY, S., HELB, D., BURDAY, M., CONNELL, N. & ALLAND, D. 2007. A detailed analysis of 16S ribosomal RNA gene segments for the diagnosis of pathogenic bacteria. *J Microbiol Methods*, 69, 330-9.
- CHAUCHEYRAS-DURAND, F. & FONTY, G. 2002. Influence of a Probiotic Yeast ( Saccharomyces cerevisiae CNCM I-1077) on Microbial Colonization and Fermentations in the Rumen of New-born Lambs. *Microbial Ecology in Health and Disease*, 14, 30-36.

- CHAUCHEYRAS-DURAND, F. & OSSA, F. 2014. Review: The rumen microbiome: Composition, abundance, diversity, and new investigative tools. *The Professional Animal Scientist*, 30, 1-12.
- CHEN, W., LIU, F., LING, Z., TONG, X. & XIANG, C. 2012. Human Intestinal Lumen and Mucosa-Associated Microbiota in Patients with Colorectal Cancer. *PLOS ONE*, *7*, e39743.
- CHENG, K. J., MCCOWAN, R. P. & COSTERTON, J. W. 1979. Adherent epithelial bacteria in ruminants and their roles in digestive tract function. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 32, 139-48.
- CHO, C. E. & NORMAN, M. 2013. Cesarean section and development of the immune system in the offspring. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 208, 249-254.
- CHOUDHURY, P. K., SALEM, A. Z. M., JENA, R., KUMAR, S., SINGH, R. & PUNIYA, A. K. 2015. Rumen Microbiology: An Overview. *In:* PUNIYA, A. K., SINGH, R. & KAMRA, D. N. (eds.) *Rumen Microbiology: From Evolution to Revolution.* New Delhi: Springer India.
- COLEMAN, G. S. 1975. The interrelationship between rumen ciliate protozoa and bacteria. *Digestion and Metabolism in the Ruminant*, 149 - 164.
- COMTET-MARRE, S., PARISOT, N., LEPERCQ, P., CHAUCHEYRAS-DURAND, F., MOSONI, P., PEYRETAILLADE, E., BAYAT, A. R., SHINGFIELD, K. J., PEYRET, P. & FORANO, E. 2017. Metatranscriptomics Reveals the Active Bacterial and Eukaryotic Fibrolytic Communities in the Rumen of Dairy Cow Fed a Mixed Diet. *Front Microbiol*, 8, 67.
- CONNOR, E. E., BALDWIN, R. L. T., LI, C. J., LI, R. W. & CHUNG, H. 2013. Gene expression in bovine rumen epithelium during weaning identifies molecular regulators of rumen development and growth. *Funct Integr Genomics*, 13, 133-42.
- CONNOR, E. E., LI, R. W., BALDWIN, R. L. & LI, C. 2010. Gene expression in the digestive tissues of ruminants and their relationships with feeding and digestive processes. *Animal*, 4, 993-1007.
- CREEVEY, C. J., KELLY, W. J., HENDERSON, G. & LEAHY, S. C. 2014. Determining the culturability of the rumen bacterial microbiome. *Microb Biotechnol*, *7*, 467-79.
- CUNNINGHAM, H. C., AUSTIN, K. J. & CAMMACK, K. M. 2018. Influence of maternal factors on the rumen microbiome and subsequent host performance1. *Translational Animal Science*, 2, S101-S105.
- CZERWINSKI, J., HOJBERG, O., SMULIKOWSKA, S., ENGBERG, R. M. & MIECZKOWSKA, A. 2012. Effects of sodium butyrate and salinomycin upon intestinal microbiota, mucosal morphology and performance of broiler chickens. *Arch Anim Nutr*, 66, 102-16.
- DANIELSSON, R., DICKSVED, J., SUN, L., GONDA, H., MÜLLER, B., SCHNÜRER, A. & BERTILSSON, J. 2017. Methane Production in Dairy Cows Correlates with Rumen Methanogenic and Bacterial Community Structure. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 8, 226.
- DANIELSSON, R., SCHNURER, A., ARTHURSON, V. & BERTILSSON, J. 2012. Methanogenic population and CH(4) production in swedish dairy cows fed different levels of forage. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 78, 6172-9.
- DE MENEZES, A. B., LEWIS, E., O'DONOVAN, M., O'NEILL, B. F., CLIPSON, N. & DOYLE, E. M. 2011. Microbiome analysis of dairy cows fed pasture or total mixed ration diets. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol*, 78, 256-65.

DEHORITY, B. A. 1973. Hemicellulose degradation by rumen bacteria. Fed Proc, 32, 1819-25.

DEHORITY, B. A. B. A. 2003. Rumen microbiology.

- DEN BESTEN, G., VAN EUNEN, K., GROEN, A. K., VENEMA, K., REIJNGOUD, D.-J. & BAKKER, B. M. 2013. The role of short-chain fatty acids in the interplay between diet, gut microbiota, and host energy metabolism. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 54, 2325-2340.
- DENMAN, S. E. & MCSWEENEY, C. S. 2015. The early impact of genomics and metagenomics on ruminal microbiology. *Annu Rev Anim Biosci*, *3*, 447-65.
- DENTON, B. L., DIESE, L. E., FIRKINS, J. L. & HACKMANN, T. J. 2015. Accumulation of reserve carbohydrate by rumen protozoa and bacteria in competition for glucose. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 81, 1832-8.

- DEPPENMEIER, U. 2002. The unique biochemistry of methanogenesis. *Prog Nucleic Acid Res Mol Biol*, 71, 223-83.
- DESANTIS, T. Z., HUGENHOLTZ, P., LARSEN, N., ROJAS, M., BRODIE, E. L., KELLER, K., HUBER, T., DALEVI, D., HU, P. & ANDERSEN, G. L. 2006. Greengenes, a chimerachecked 16S rRNA gene database and workbench compatible with ARB. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 72, 5069-72.
- DEUSCH, S., CAMARINHA-SILVA, A., CONRAD, J., BEIFUSS, U., RODEHUTSCORD, M. & SEIFERT, J. 2017. A Structural and Functional Elucidation of the Rumen Microbiome Influenced by Various Diets and Microenvironments. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 8, 1605.
- DEUSCH, S., TILOCCA, B., CAMARINHA-SILVA, A. & SEIFERT, J. 2015. News in livestock research use of Omics-technologies to study the microbiota in the gastrointestinal tract of farm animals. *Computational and Structural Biotechnology Journal*, 13, 55-63.
- DILL-MCFARLAND, K. A., BREAKER, J. D. & SUEN, G. 2017. Microbial succession in the gastrointestinal tract of dairy cows from 2 weeks to first lactation. 7, 40864.
- DILL-MCFARLAND, K. A., WEIMER, P. J., BREAKER, J. D. & SUEN, G. 2018. Diet influences early microbiota development in dairy calves without long-term impacts on milk production. *bioRxiv*.
- DIXON, P. 2003. VEGAN, a package of R functions for community ecology. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 14, 927-930.
- DOBIN, A., DAVIS, C. A., SCHLESINGER, F., DRENKOW, J., ZALESKI, C., JHA, S., BATUT, P., CHAISSON, M. & GINGERAS, T. R. 2013. STAR: ultrafast universal RNA-seq aligner. *Bioinformatics*, 29, 15-21.
- DONOHOE, D. R., GARGE, N., ZHANG, X., SUN, W., O'CONNELL, T. M., BUNGER, M. K. & BULTMAN, S. J. 2011. The Microbiome and Butyrate Regulate Energy Metabolism and Autophagy in the Mammalian Colon. *Cell metabolism*, 13, 517-526.
- DRACKLEY, J. K. 2008. Calf nutrition from birth to breeding. *Vet Clin North Am Food Anim Pract*, 24, 55-86.
- DUFFIELD, T. F., MERRILL, J. K. & BAGG, R. N. 2012. Meta-analysis of the effects of monensin in beef cattle on feed efficiency, body weight gain, and dry matter intake1. *Journal of Animal Science*, 90, 4583-4592.
- DUNN, O. J. 1964. Multiple Comparisons Using Rank Sums. *Technometrics*, 6, 241-252.
- DURINCK S, M. Y., KASPRZYK A, DAVIS S, DE MOOR B, BRAZMA A, HUBER W 2005. BioMart and Bioconductor: a powerful link between biological databases and microarray data analysis. *Bioinformatics*, 21, 3439–3440.
- DURUNNA, O. N., MUJIBI, F. D., GOONEWARDENE, L., OKINE, E. K., BASARAB, J. A., WANG, Z. & MOORE, S. S. 2011. Feed efficiency differences and reranking in beef steers fed grower and finisher diets. *J Anim Sci*, 89, 158-67.
- DUTHIE, C. A., HASKELL, M., HYSLOP, J. J., WATERHOUSE, A., WALLACE, R. J., ROEHE, R. & ROOKE, J. A. 2017. The impact of divergent breed types and diets on methane emissions, rumen characteristics and performance of finishing beef cattle. *animal*, 1-10.
- DUVAL S, K. M. 2012. Use of nitrooxy organic molecules in feed for reducing enteric methane emissions in ruminants, and/or to improve ruminant performance.
- E. EDWARDS, J., N, R. M., A, J. T. & JOHN WALLACE, R. 2004. 16S rDNA library-based analysis of ruminal bacterial diversity. *Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek*, 86, 263-81.
- EADIE, J. M., HOBSON, P. N. & MANN, S. O. 1959. A relationship between some bacteria, protozoa and diet in early weaned calves. *Nature*, 183, 624-5.
- ECKERT, E., BROWN, H. E., LESLIE, K. E., DEVRIES, T. J. & STEELE, M. A. 2015. Weaning age affects growth, feed intake, gastrointestinal development, and behavior in Holstein calves fed an elevated plane of nutrition during the preweaning stage. *J Dairy Sci*, 98, 6315-26.
- EDGAR, R. C. 2010. Search and clustering orders of magnitude faster than BLAST. *Bioinformatics*, 26, 2460-2461.

- ELLISON, M. J., CONANT, G. C., LAMBERSON, W. R., COCKRUM, R. R., AUSTIN, K. J., RULE, D. C. & CAMMACK, K. M. 2017. Diet and feed efficiency status affect rumen microbial profiles of sheep. *Small Ruminant Research*, 156, 12-19.
- ELSDEN, S. R., HITCHCOCK, M. W. & ET AL. 1946. Volatile acid in the digesta of ruminants and other animals. *J Exp Biol*, 22, 191-202.
- EMERSON, E. L. & WEIMER, P. J. 2017. Fermentation of model hemicelluloses by Prevotella strains and Butyrivibrio fibrisolvens in pure culture and in ruminal enrichment cultures. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol*, 101, 4269-4278.
- ENRÍQUEZ, D., HÖTZEL, M. J. & UNGERFELD, R. 2011. Minimising the stress of weaning of beef calves: a review. *Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica*, 53, 28-28.
- ESCHERICH, T. 1885. The intestinal bacteria of the neonate and breast-fed infant. *Rev Infect Dis*, 11, 352-6.
- FAUBLADIER, C., JULLIAND, V., DANEL, J. & PHILIPPEAU, C. 2013. Bacterial carbohydratedegrading capacity in foal faeces: changes from birth to pre-weaning and the impact of maternal supplementation with fermented feed products. *Br J Nutr*, 110, 1040-52.
- FINLAY, B. J., ESTEBAN, G., CLARKE, K. J., WILLIAMS, A. G., EMBLEY, T. M. & HIRT, R. P. 1994. Some rumen ciliates have endosymbiotic methanogens. *FEMS Microbiol Lett*, 117, 157-61.
- FIRKINS, J. L. 2010. Reconsidering rumen microbial consortia to enhance feed efficiency and reduce environmental impact of ruminant livestock production systems. *Revista Brasileira de Zootecnia*, 39, 445-457.
- FIRKINS, J. L. & YU, Z. 2015. RUMINANT NUTRITION SYMPOSIUM: How to use data on the rumen microbiome to improve our understanding of ruminant nutrition. *J Anim Sci*, 93, 1450-70.
- FISCHER, S. G. & LERMAN, L. S. 1979. Length-independent separation of DNA restriction fragments in two-dimensional gel electrophoresis. *Cell*, 16, 191-200.
- FLINT, H. J., DUNCAN, S. H., SCOTT, K. P. & LOUIS, P. 2014. Links between diet, gut microbiota composition and gut metabolism. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*, 74, 13-22.
- FLINT, H. J., SCOTT, K. P., DUNCAN, S. H., LOUIS, P. & FORANO, E. 2012. Microbial degradation of complex carbohydrates in the gut. *Gut Microbes*, 3, 289-306.
- FONTY, G., GOUET, P., JOUANY, J.-P. & SENAUD, J. 1987. Establishment of the Microflora and Anaerobic Fungi in the Rumen of Lambs. *Journal of General Microbiology*, 133, 1835-1843.
- FONTY, G., GOUET, P., JOUANY, J. P. & SENAUD, J. 1983a. Ecological factors determining establishment of cellulolytic bacteria and protozoa in the rumens of meroxenic lambs. *J Gen Microbiol*, 129, 213-23.
- FONTY, G., GOUET, P. & NEBOUT, J. M. 1989. Development of the cellulolytic microflora in the rumen of lambs transferred into sterile isolators a few days after birth. *Can J Microbiol*, 35, 416-22.
- FONTY, G., JOUANY, J. P., THIVEND, P., GOUET, P. & SENAUD, J. 1983b. A descriptive study of rumen digestion in meroxenic lambs according to the nature and complexity of the microflora. *Reprod Nutr Dev*, 23, 857-73.
- FONTY, G., SENAUD, J., JOUANY, J. P. & GOUET, P. 1988. Establishment of ciliate protozoa in the rumen of conventional and conventionalized lambs: influence of diet and management conditions. *Can J Microbiol*, 34, 235-41.
- FOUHSE, J. M., SMIEGIELSKI, L., TUPLIN, M., GUAN, L. L. & WILLING, B. P. 2017. Host Immune Selection of Rumen Bacteria through Salivary Secretory IgA. *Front Microbiol*, 8, 848.
- FOUTS, D. E., SZPAKOWSKI, S., PURUSHE, J., TORRALBA, M., WATERMAN, R. C., MACNEIL, M. D., ALEXANDER, L. J. & NELSON, K. E. 2012. Next generation sequencing to define prokaryotic and fungal diversity in the bovine rumen. *PLoS One*, *7*, e48289.

- FUKUMA, N. M., KOIKE, S. & KOBAYASHI, Y. 2015. Monitoring of gene expression in Fibrobacter succinogenes S85 under the co-culture with non-fibrolytic ruminal bacteria. *Arch Microbiol*, 197, 269-76.
- GANZ, T. 2003. Defensins: antimicrobial peptides of innate immunity. *Nat Rev Immunol,* 3, 710-20.
- GAO, X. & OBA, M. 2016. Characteristics of dairy cows with a greater or lower risk of subacute ruminal acidosis: Volatile fatty acid absorption, rumen digestion, and expression of genes in rumen epithelial cells. *J Dairy Sci*.
- GIJZEN, H. J., LUBBERDING, H. J., GERHARDUS, M. J. T. & VOGELS, G. D. 1988. Contribution of rumen protozoa to fibre degradation and cellulase activity in vitro. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, 53, 35-43.
- GOODRICH, J. K., DAVENPORT, E. R., WATERS, J. L., CLARK, A. G. & LEY, R. E. 2016. Crossspecies comparisons of host genetic associations with the microbiome. *Science*, 352, 532-5.
- GORKA, P., KOWALSKI, Z. M., PIETRZAK, P., KOTUNIA, A., JAGUSIAK, W., HOLST, J. J., GUILLOTEAU, P. & ZABIELSKI, R. 2011a. Effect of method of delivery of sodium butyrate on rumen development in new-born calves. *J Dairy Sci*, 94, 5578-88.
- GÓRKA, P., KOWALSKI, Z. M., PIETRZAK, P., KOTUNIA, A., JAGUSIAK, W., HOLST, J. J., GUILLOTEAU, P. & ZABIELSKI, R. 2011. Effect of method of delivery of sodium butyrate on rumen development in new-born calves. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 94, 5578-5588.
- GORKA, P., KOWALSKI, Z. M., PIETRZAK, P., KOTUNIA, A., JAGUSIAK, W. & ZABIELSKI, R. 2011b. Is rumen development in new-born calves affected by different liquid feeds and small intestine development? *J Dairy Sci*, 94, 3002-13.
- GORKA, P., KOWALSKI, Z. M., PIETRZAK, P., KOTUNIA, A., KILJANCZYK, R., FLAGA, J., HOLST, J. J., GUILLOTEAU, P. & ZABIELSKI, R. 2009. Effect of sodium butyrate supplementation in milk replacer and starter diet on rumen development in calves. *J Physiol Pharmacol*, 60 Suppl 3, 47-53.
- GRAD, I. & PICARD, D. 2007. The glucocorticoid responses are shaped by molecular chaperones. *Mol Cell Endocrinol*, 275, 2-12.
- GRANJA-SALCEDO, Y. T., RAMIREZ-USCATEGUI, R. A., MACHADO, E. G., DUARTE MESSANA, J., TAKESHI KISHI, L., LINO DIAS, A. V. & BERCHIELLI, T. T. 2017. Studies on bacterial community composition are affected by the time and storage method of the rumen content. *PLOS ONE*, 12, e0176701.
- GRESSLEY, T. F., HALL, M. B. & ARMENTANO, L. E. 2011. Ruminant Nutrition Symposium: Productivity, digestion, and health responses to hindgut acidosis in ruminants. *J Anim Sci*, 89, 1120-30.
- GRUBY, D. & DELAFOND, H. M. O. 1843. Research of animalcules developing in large numbers in the stomach and intestines, of digesting herbivorous and carnivorous animals. Compt. Rend. Acad. Sci., 17: 1304-1308. (Translated from French).
- GRUNINGER, R. J., PUNIYA, A. K., CALLAGHAN, T. M., EDWARDS, J. E., YOUSSEF, N., DAGAR, S. S., FLIEGEROVA, K., GRIFFITH, G. W., FORSTER, R., TSANG, A., MCALLISTER, T. & ELSHAHED, M. S. 2014. Anaerobic fungi (phylum Neocallimastigomycota): advances in understanding their taxonomy, life cycle, ecology, role and biotechnological potential. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol*, 90, 1-17.
- GUAN, L. L., NKRUMAH, J. D., BASARAB, J. A. & MOORE, S. S. 2008. Linkage of microbial ecology to phenotype: correlation of rumen microbial ecology to cattle's feed efficiency. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, 288, 85-91.
- GUI, H. & SHEN, Z. 2016. Concentrate diet modulation of ruminal genes involved in cell proliferation and apoptosis is related to combined effects of short-chain fatty acid and pH in rumen of goats. *J Dairy Sci*, 99, 6627-6638.

- GUILLOTEAU, P., MARTIN, L., EECKHAUT, V., DUCATELLE, R., ZABIELSKI, R. & VAN IMMERSEEL, F. 2010. From the gut to the peripheral tissues: the multiple effects of butyrate. *Nutr Res Rev*, 23, 366-84.
- GUILLOTEAU, P., ZABIELSKI, R. & BLUM, J. W. 2009a. Gastrointestinal tract and digestion in the young ruminant: ontogenesis, adaptations, consequences and manipulations. *J Physiol Pharmacol*, 60 Suppl 3, 37-46.
- GUILLOTEAU, P., ZABIELSKI, R., DAVID, J. C., BLUM, J. W., MORISSET, J. A., BIERNAT, M., WOLINSKI, J., LAUBITZ, D. & HAMON, Y. 2009b. Sodium-butyrate as a growth promoter in milk replacer formula for young calves. *J Dairy Sci*, 92, 1038-49.
- GUPTA, A., KUMAR, S., PRASOODANAN, V. P. K., HARISH, K., SHARMA, A. K. & SHARMA, V. K. 2016. Reconstruction of Bacterial and Viral Genomes from Multiple Metagenomes. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 7, 469.
- GUZMAN, C. E., BEREZA-MALCOLM, L. T., DE GROEF, B. & FRANKS, A. E. 2015. Presence of Selected Methanogens, Fibrolytic Bacteria, and Proteobacteria in the Gastrointestinal Tract of Neonatal Dairy Calves from Birth to 72 Hours. *PLoS One,* 10, e0133048.
- HARFOOT, C. G. 1978. Anatomy, physiology and microbiology of the ruminant digestive tract. *Progress in Lipid Research*, 17, 1-19.
- HE, X., MCLEAN, J. S., EDLUND, A., YOOSEPH, S., HALL, A. P., LIU, S.-Y., DORRESTEIN, P. C., ESQUENAZI, E., HUNTER, R. C., CHENG, G., NELSON, K. E., LUX, R. & SHI, W. 2015. Cultivation of a human-associated TM7 phylotype reveals a reduced genome and epibiotic parasitic lifestyle. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 112, 244-249.
- HE, Z., DING, S., XU, L., BEAUCHEMIN, K. A. & YANG, W. 2013. Using exogenous enzymes to increase the rumen degradability of wheat dried distillers grains with solubles. *Arch Anim Nutr*, 67, 381-92.
- HEGARTY, R. S. 1999. Reducing rumen methane emissions through elimination of rumen protozoa. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research*, 50, 1321-1328.
- HEGARTY, R. S., GOOPY, J. P., HERD, R. M. & MCCORKELL, B. 2007. Cattle selected for lower residual feed intake have reduced daily methane production. *J Anim Sci*, 85, 1479-86.
- HEINRICHS, A. J., HEINRICHS, B. S., HAREL, O., ROGERS, G. W. & PLACE, N. T. 2005. A prospective study of calf factors affecting age, body size, and body condition score at first calving of holstein dairy heifers. *J Dairy Sci*, 88, 2828-35.
- HENDERSON, G., COX, F., GANESH, S., JONKER, A., YOUNG, W. & JANSSEN, P. H. 2015. Rumen microbial community composition varies with diet and host, but a core microbiome is found across a wide geographical range. *Sci Rep*, *5*, 14567.
- HENDERSON, G., COX, F., KITTELMANN, S., MIRI, V. H., ZETHOF, M., NOEL, S. J., WAGHORN, G. C. & JANSSEN, P. H. 2013. Effect of DNA extraction methods and sampling techniques on the apparent structure of cow and sheep rumen microbial communities. *PLoS One*, 8, e74787.
- HERNANDEZ-SANABRIA, E., GOONEWARDENE, L. A., WANG, Z., DURUNNA, O. N., MOORE, S. S. & GUAN, L. L. 2012. Impact of feed efficiency and diet on adaptive variations in the bacterial community in the rumen fluid of cattle. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 78, 1203-14.
- HERNANDEZ-SANABRIA, E., GOONEWARDENE, L. A., WANG, Z., ZHOU, M., MOORE, S. S. & GUAN, L. L. 2013. Influence of sire breed on the interplay among rumen microbial populations inhabiting the rumen liquid of the progeny in beef cattle. *PLoS One,* 8, e58461.
- HESS, M., SCZYRBA, A., EGAN, R., KIM, T. W., CHOKHAWALA, H., SCHROTH, G., LUO, S., CLARK, D. S., CHEN, F., ZHANG, T., MACKIE, R. I., PENNACCHIO, L. A., TRINGE, S. G., VISEL, A., WOYKE, T., WANG, Z. & RUBIN, E. M. 2011. Metagenomic discovery of biomass-degrading genes and genomes from cow rumen. *Science*, 331, 463-7.

- HIBBETT, D. S., BINDER, M., BISCHOFF, J. F., BLACKWELL, M., CANNON, P. F., ERIKSSON, O. E., HUHNDORF, S., JAMES, T., KIRK, P. M., LUCKING, R., THORSTEN LUMBSCH, H., LUTZONI, F., MATHENY, P. B., MCLAUGHLIN, D. J., POWELL, M. J., REDHEAD, S., SCHOCH, C. L., SPATAFORA, J. W., STALPERS, J. A., VILGALYS, R., AIME, M. C., APTROOT, A., BAUER, R., BEGEROW, D., BENNY, G. L., CASTLEBURY, L. A., CROUS, P. W., DAI, Y. C., GAMS, W., GEISER, D. M., GRIFFITH, G. W., GUEIDAN, C., HAWKSWORTH, D. L., HESTMARK, G., HOSAKA, K., HUMBER, R. A., HYDE, K. D., IRONSIDE, J. E., KOLJALG, U., KURTZMAN, C. P., LARSSON, K. H., LICHTWARDT, R., LONGCORE, J., MIADLIKOWSKA, J., MILLER, A., MONCALVO, J. M., MOZLEY-STANDRIDGE, S., OBERWINKLER, F., PARMASTO, E., REEB, V., ROGERS, J. D., ROUX, C., RYVARDEN, L., SAMPAIO, J. P., SCHUSSLER, A., SUGIYAMA, J., THORN, R. G., TIBELL, L., UNTEREINER, W. A., WALKER, C., WANG, Z., WEIR, A., WEISS, M., WHITE, M. M., WINKA, K., YAO, Y. J. & ZHANG, N. 2007. A higher-level phylogenetic classification of the Fungi. *Mycol Res*, 111, 509-47.
- HOBSON, P. N. & STEWART, C. S. 1997. *The Rumen Microbial Ecosystem*, London, Blackie Academic & Professional.
- HRISTOV, A. N., CALLAWAY, T. R., LEE, C. & DOWD, S. E. 2012. Rumen bacterial, archaeal, and fungal diversity of dairy cows in response to ingestion of lauric or myristic acid. *J Anim Sci*, 90, 4449-57.
- HRISTOV, A. N., OH, J., FIRKINS, J. L., DIJKSTRA, J., KEBREAB, E., WAGHORN, G., MAKKAR, H. P. S., ADESOGAN, A. T., YANG, W., LEE, C., GERBER, P. J., HENDERSON, B. & TRICARICO, J. M. 2013. SPECIAL TOPICS — Mitigation of methane and nitrous oxide emissions from animal operations: I. A review of enteric methane mitigation options. *Journal of Animal Science*, 91, 5045-5069.
- HRISTOV, A. N., OH, J., GIALLONGO, F., FREDERICK, T. W., HARPER, M. T., WEEKS, H. L., BRANCO, A. F., MOATE, P. J. & DEIGHTON, M. H. 2015. An inhibitor persistently decreased enteric methane emission from dairy cows with no negative effect on milk production. 112, 10663-8.
- HU, Z. & GUO, Y. 2007. Effects of dietary sodium butyrate supplementation on the intestinal morphological structure, absorptive function and gut flora in chickens. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, 132, 240-249.
- HUNGATE, R. E. 1950. The anaerobic mesophilic cellulolytic bacteria. Bacteriol Rev, 14, 1-49.
- HUNGATE, R. E. 1967. Hydrogen as an intermediate in the rumen fermentation. *Archiv für Mikrobiologie*, 59, 158-164.
- HUNGATE, R. E. 1969. *A roll tube method for cultivation of strict anaerobes,* London, New York, Academic Press.
- HUWS, S. A., EDWARDS, J. E., CREEVEY, C. J., REES STEVENS, P., LIN, W., GIRDWOOD, S. E., PACHEBAT, J. A. & KINGSTON-SMITH, A. H. 2016. Temporal dynamics of the metabolically active rumen bacteria colonizing fresh perennial ryegrass. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol*, 92.
- IMMIG, I, DEMEYER, D, FIEDLER, D, VAN NEVEL, C, MBANZAMIHIGO, L. 1996. Attempts to induce reductive acetogenesis into a sheep rumen. *Archives of Animal Nutrition*, 49, 363–370.
- INDUGU, N., VECCHIARELLI, B., BAKER, L. D., FERGUSON, J. D., VANAMALA, J. K. P. & PITTA, D. W. 2017. Comparison of rumen bacterial communities in dairy herds of different production. *BMC Microbiology*, 17, 190.
- ISOBE, N., SUGINO, T., TANIGUCHI, K., MORIYA, N., HOSODA, K. & YOSHIMURA, Y. 2011. Differential localization of lingual antimicrobial peptide in the digestive tract mucosal epithelium of calves. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol*, 142, 87-94.

- IVARSSON, E., ROOS, S., LIU, H. Y. & LINDBERG, J. E. 2014. Fermentable non-starch polysaccharides increases the abundance of Bacteroides-Prevotella-Porphyromonas in ileal microbial community of growing pigs. *Animal*, 8, 1777-87.
- JAMI, E., ISRAEL, A., KOTSER, A. & MIZRAHI, I. 2013. Exploring the bovine rumen bacterial community from birth to adulthood. *Isme j*, 7, 1069-79.
- JAMI, E. & MIZRAHI, I. 2012. Composition and similarity of bovine rumen microbiota across individual animals. *PLoS One*, *7*, e33306.
- JAMI, E., WHITE, B. A. & MIZRAHI, I. 2014. Potential role of the bovine rumen microbiome in modulating milk composition and feed efficiency. *PLoS One*, 9, e85423.
- JANSSEN, P. H. & KIRS, M. 2008a. Structure of the Archaeal Community of the Rumen. *Applied* and Environmental Microbiology, 74, 3619-3625.
- JANSSEN, P. H. & KIRS, M. 2008b. Structure of the archaeal community of the rumen. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 74, 3619-25.
- JENKINS, T. C., WALLACE, R. J., MOATE, P. J. & MOSLEY, E. E. 2008. Recent advances in biohydrogenation of unsaturated fatty acids within the rumen microbial ecosystem. *J Anim Sci*, 86.
- JEYANATHAN, J., KIRS, M., RONIMUS, R. S., HOSKIN, S. O. & JANSSEN, P. H. 2011. Methanogen community structure in the rumens of farmed sheep, cattle and red deer fed different diets. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol*, *7*6, 311-26.
- JIAO, J., HUANG, J., ZHOU, C. & TAN, Z. 2015a. Taxonomic identification of the ruminal epithelial bacterial diversity during rumen development in goats. *Appl Environ Microbiol*.
- JIAO, J., LI, X., BEAUCHEMIN, K. A., TAN, Z., TANG, S. & ZHOU, C. 2015b. Rumen development process in goats as affected by supplemental feeding v. grazing: age-related anatomic development, functional achievement and microbial colonisation. *Br J Nutr*, 113, 888-900.
- JIAO, J., ZHOU, C., GUAN, L. L., MCSWEENEY, C. S., TANG, S., WANG, M. & TAN, Z. 2017. Shifts in Host Mucosal Innate Immune Function Are Associated with Ruminal Microbial Succession in Supplemental Feeding and Grazing Goats at Different Ages. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 8, 1655.
- JIMENEZ, E., MARIN, M. L., MARTIN, R., ODRIOZOLA, J. M., OLIVARES, M., XAUS, J., FERNANDEZ, L. & RODRIGUEZ, J. M. 2008. Is meconium from healthy new-borns actually sterile? *Res Microbiol*, 159, 187-93.
- JOHNSON, K. A. & JOHNSON, D. E. 1995. Methane emissions from cattle. *J Anim Sci*, 73, 2483-92.
- KEMP, P. & LANDER, D. J. 1984. Hydrogenation in vitro of α-linolenic acid to stearic acid by mixed cultures of pure strains of rumen bacteria. *J Gen Microbiol*, 130.
- KENTERS, N., HENDERSON, G., JEYANATHAN, J., KITTELMANN, S. & JANSSEN, P. H. 2011. Isolation of previously uncultured rumen bacteria by dilution to extinction using a new liquid culture medium. *J Microbiol Methods*, 84, 52-60.
- KEOGH, K., WATERS, S. M., CORMICAN, P., KELLY, A. K., O'SHEA, E. & KENNY, D. A. 2017. Effect of dietary restriction and subsequent re-alimentation on the transcriptional profile of bovine ruminal epithelium. *PLOS ONE*, 12, e0177852.
- KHAN, M. A., WEARY, D. M. & VON KEYSERLINGK, M. A. 2011a. Invited review: effects of milk ration on solid feed intake, weaning, and performance in dairy heifers. *J Dairy Sci*, 94, 1071-81.
- KHAN, M. A., WEARY, D. M. & VON KEYSERLINGK, M. A. G. 2011b. Invited review: Effects of milk ration on solid feed intake, weaning, and performance in dairy heifers. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 94, 1071-1081.
- KIM, M., EASTRIDGE, M. L. & YU, Z. 2014. Investigation of ruminal bacterial diversity in dairy cattle fed supplementary monensin alone and in combination with fat, using pyrosequencing analysis. *Can J Microbiol*, 60, 65-71.

- KIM, M., MORRISON, M. & YU, Z. 2011. Status of the phylogenetic diversity census of ruminal microbiomes. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol*, *7*6, 49-63.
- KIM, M., PARK, T. & YU, Z. 2017. Invited Review Metagenomic investigation of gastrointestinal microbiome in cattle. *Asian-Australas J Anim Sci*, 30, 1515-1528.
- KIM, Y. H., NAGATA, R., OHTANI, N., ICHIJO, T., IKUTA, K. & SATO, S. 2016a. Effects of Dietary Forage and Calf Starter Diet on Ruminal pH and Bacteria in Holstein Calves during Weaning Transition. *Front Microbiol*, *7*, 1575.
- KIRAT, D., MATSUDA, Y., YAMASHIKI, N., HAYASHI, H. & KATO, S. 2007. Expression, cellular localization, and functional role of monocarboxylate transporter 4 (MCT4) in the gastrointestinal tract of ruminants. *Gene*, 391, 140-9.
- KIRAT, D., SALLAM, K. I. & KATO, S. 2013. Expression and cellular localization of monocarboxylate transporters (MCT2, MCT7, and MCT8) along the cattle gastrointestinal tract. *Cell Tissue Res*, 352, 585-98.
- KITTELMANN, S., DEVENTE, S. R., KIRK, M. R., SEEDORF, H., DEHORITY, B. A. & JANSSEN,
   P. H. 2015. Phylogeny of Intestinal Ciliates, Including Charonina ventriculi, and
   Comparison of Microscopy and 18S rRNA Gene Pyrosequencing for Rumen Ciliate
   Community Structure Analysis. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 81, 2433-2444.
- KITTELMANN, S., NAYLOR, G. E., KOOLAARD, J. P. & JANSSEN, P. H. 2012. A proposed taxonomy of anaerobic fungi (class neocallimastigomycetes) suitable for large-scale sequence-based community structure analysis. *PLoS One*, *7*, e36866.
- KITTELMANN, S., PINARES-PATINO, C. S., SEEDORF, H., KIRK, M. R., GANESH, S., MCEWAN, J. C. & JANSSEN, P. H. 2014. Two different bacterial community types are linked with the low-methane emission trait in sheep. *PLoS One,* 9, e103171.
- KITTELMANN, S., SEEDORF, H., WALTERS, W. A., CLEMENTE, J. C., KNIGHT, R., GORDON, J. I. & JANSSEN, P. H. 2013. Simultaneous amplicon sequencing to explore co-occurrence patterns of bacterial, archaeal and eukaryotic microorganisms in rumen microbial communities. *PLoS One*, 8, e47879.
- KLAPPENBACH, J. A., SAXMAN, P. R., COLE, J. R. & SCHMIDT, T. M. 2001. rrndb: the Ribosomal RNA Operon Copy Number Database. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 29, 181-184.
- KLEMM, D., HEUBLEIN, B., FINK, H.-P. & BOHN, A. 2005. Cellulose: Fascinating Biopolymer and Sustainable Raw Material. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition*, 44, 3358-3393.
- KLIEVE, A. V., O'LEARY, M. N., MCMILLEN, L. & OUWERKERK, D. 2007. Ruminococcus bromii, identification and isolation as a dominant community member in the rumen of cattle fed a barley diet. *J Appl Microbiol*, 103, 2065-73.
- KNAPP, J. R., LAUR, G. L., VADAS, P. A., WEISS, W. P. & TRICARICO, J. M. 2014. Invited review: Enteric methane in dairy cattle production: Quantifying the opportunities and impact of reducing emissions. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 97, 3231-3261.
- KOBAYASHI, H., FU, Q., MAEDA, H. & SATO, K. 2017. Draft Genome Sequence of a Novel Coriobacteriaceae sp. Strain, EMTCatB1, Reconstructed from the Metagenome of a Thermophilic Electromethanogenic Biocathode. *Genome Announcements*, 5, e00022-17.
- KOBAYASHI, Y., SHINKAI, T. & KOIKE, S. 2008. Ecological and physiological characterization shows that Fibrobacter succinogenes is important in rumen fiber digestion - review. *Folia Microbiol (Praha)*, 53, 195-200.
- KOCH, R. M., SWIGER, L. A., CHAMBERS, D. & GREGORY, K. E. 1963. Efficiency of Feed Use in Beef Cattle. *Journal of Animal Science*, 22, 486-494.
- KOCHERGINSKAYA, S. A., AMINOV, R. I. & WHITE, B. A. 2001. Analysis of the Rumen Bacterial Diversity under two Different Diet Conditions using Denaturing Gradient Gel Electrophoresis, Random Sequencing, and Statistical Ecology Approaches. *Anaerobe*, 7, 119-134.

- KOENIG, J. E., SPOR, A., SCALFONE, N., FRICKER, A. D., STOMBAUGH, J., KNIGHT, R., ANGENENT, L. T. & LEY, R. E. 2011. Succession of microbial consortia in the developing infant gut microbiome. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 108, 4578-4585.
- KOIKE, S., YOSHITANI, S., KOBAYASHI, Y. & TANAKA, K. 2003. Phylogenetic analysis of fiberassociated rumen bacterial community and PCR detection of uncultured bacteria. *FEMS Microbiol Lett*, 229, 23-30.
- KONG, R. S., LIANG, G., CHEN, Y., STOTHARD, P. & GUAN LE, L. 2016. Transcriptome profiling of the rumen epithelium of beef cattle differing in residual feed intake. *BMC Genomics*, 17, 592.
- KORPELA, K., COSTEA, P., COELHO, L. P., KANDELS-LEWIS, S., WILLEMSEN, G., BOOMSMA, D. I., SEGATA, N. & BORK, P. 2018. Selective maternal seeding and environment shape the human gut microbiome. *Genome Research*, 28, 561-568.
- KOTUNIA, A., WOLINSKI, J., LAUBITZ, D., JURKOWSKA, M., ROME, V., GUILLOTEAU, P. & ZABIELSKI, R. 2004. Effect of sodium butyrate on the small intestine development in neonatal piglets fed [correction of feed] by artificial sow. *J Physiol Pharmacol*, 55 Suppl 2, 59-68.
- KRAUSE, D. O., DENMAN, S. E., MACKIE, R. I., MORRISON, M., RAE, A. L., ATTWOOD, G. T.
   & MCSWEENEY, C. S. 2003. Opportunities to improve fiber degradation in the rumen: microbiology, ecology, and genomics. *FEMS Microbiol Rev*, 27, 663-93.
- KRAUSE, D. O., NAGARAJA, T. G., WRIGHT, A. D. & CALLAWAY, T. R. 2013. Board-invited review: Rumen microbiology: leading the way in microbial ecology. *J Anim Sci*, 91, 331-41.
- KRAUSE, K. M. & OETZEL, G. R. 2006. Understanding and preventing subacute ruminal acidosis in dairy herds: A review. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, 126, 215-236.
- KUMAR, S., CHOUDHURY, P. K., CARRO, M. D., GRIFFITH, G. W., DAGAR, S. S., PUNIYA, M., CALABRO, S., RAVELLA, S. R., DHEWA, T., UPADHYAY, R. C., SIROHI, S. K., KUNDU, S. S., WANAPAT, M. & PUNIYA, A. K. 2014. New aspects and strategies for methane mitigation from ruminants. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol*, 98, 31-44.
- LAARMAN, A. H., RUIZ-SANCHEZ, A. L., SUGINO, T., GUAN, L. L. & OBA, M. 2012. Effects of feeding a calf starter on molecular adaptations in the ruminal epithelium and liver of Holstein dairy calves. *J Dairy Sci*, 95, 2585-94.
- LANE, M. A. & JESSE, B. W. 1997. Effect of Volatile Fatty Acid Infusion on Development of the Rumen Epithelium in Neonatal Sheep1. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 80, 740-746.
- LANE, M. A., BALDWIN, R. L. T. & JESSE, B. W. 2002. Developmental changes in ketogenic enzyme gene expression during sheep rumen development. *J Anim Sci*, 80, 1538-44.
- LANGILLE, M. G., ZANEVELD, J., CAPORASO, J. G., MCDONALD, D., KNIGHTS, D., REYES, J. A., CLEMENTE, J. C., BURKEPILE, D. E., VEGA THURBER, R. L., KNIGHT, R., BEIKO, R. G. & HUTTENHOWER, C. 2013. Predictive functional profiling of microbial communities using 16S rRNA marker gene sequences. *Nat Biotechnol*, 31, 814-21.
- LEAHY, S. C., KELLY, W. J., RONIMUS, R. S., WEDLOCK, N., ALTERMANN, E. & ATTWOOD, G. T. 2013. Genome sequencing of rumen bacteria and archaea and its application to methane mitigation strategies. *animal*, *7*, 235-243.
- LESMEISTER, K. E. & HEINRICHS, A. J. 2004. Effects of corn processing on growth characteristics, rumen development, and rumen parameters in neonatal dairy calves. *J Dairy Sci*, 87, 3439-50.
- LETUNIC, I. & BORK, P. 2016. Interactive tree of life (iTOL) v3: an online tool for the display and annotation of phylogenetic and other trees. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 44, W242-5.
- LEY, R. E., BÄCKHED, F., TURNBAUGH, P., LOZUPONE, C. A., KNIGHT, R. D. & GORDON, J.
   I. 2005. Obesity alters gut microbial ecology. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 102, 11070-11075.

- LI, F. & GUAN, L. L. 2017. Metatranscriptomic Profiling Reveals Linkages between the Active Rumen Microbiome and Feed Efficiency in Beef Cattle. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 83.
- LI, F., HENDERSON, G., SUN, X., COX, F., JANSSEN, P. H. & GUAN LE, L. 2016. Taxonomic Assessment of Rumen Microbiota Using Total RNA and Targeted Amplicon Sequencing Approaches. *Front Microbiol*, 7, 987.
- LI, F., NEVES, A. L. A., GHOSHAL, B. & GUAN, L. L. 2018. Symposium review: Mining metagenomic and metatranscriptomic data for clues about microbial metabolic functions in ruminants<sup>1</sup>. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 101, 5605-5618.
- LI, J. Z., CHAPMAN, B., CHARLEBOIS, P., HOFMANN, O., WEINER, B., PORTER, A. J., SAMUEL, R., VARDHANABHUTI, S., ZHENG, L., ERON, J., TAIWO, B., ZODY, M. C., HENN, M. R., KURITZKES, D. R., HIDE, W. & AND THE, A. A. S. T. 2014. Comparison of Illumina and 454 Deep Sequencing in Participants Failing Raltegravir-Based Antiretroviral Therapy. *PLOS ONE*, 9, e90485.
- LI, R. W., CONNOR, E. E., LI, C., BALDWIN VI, R. L. & SPARKS, M. E. 2012a. Characterization of the rumen microbiota of pre-ruminant calves using metagenomic tools. *Environ Microbiol*, 14, 129-39.
- LI, R. W., CONNOR, E. E., LI, C., BALDWIN, V. I. R. L. & SPARKS, M. E. 2012b. Characterization of the rumen microbiota of pre-ruminant calves using metagenomic tools. *Environmental Microbiology*, 14, 129-139.
- LI, R. W., WU, S., BALDWIN, R. L. T., LI, W. & LI, C. 2012c. Perturbation dynamics of the rumen microbiota in response to exogenous butyrate. *PLoS One*, *7*, e29392.
- LIANG, Y., CARROLL, J. A. & BALLOU, M. A. 2016. The digestive system of 1-week-old Jersey calves is well suited to digest, absorb, and incorporate protein and energy into tissue growth even when calves are fed a high plane of milk replacer<sup>1</sup>. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 99, 1929-1937.
- LIAO, Y., SMYTH, G. K. & SHI, W. 2014. featureCounts: an efficient general purpose program for assigning sequence reads to genomic features. *Bioinformatics*, 30, 923-30.
- LIEBETANZ, E. 1910. Die parasitischen Protozoen des Wiederkauermagens. Archiv für Protistenkunde, 19, 19-80.
- LINDQVIST, A., RODRÍGUEZ-BRAVO, V. & MEDEMA, R. H. 2009. The decision to enter mitosis: feedback and redundancy in the mitotic entry network. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 185, 193-202.
- LIU, J.-H., BIAN, G.-R., ZHU, W.-Y. & MAO, S.-Y. 2015. High-grain feeding causes strong shifts in ruminal epithelial bacterial community and expression of Toll-like receptor genes in goats. *Frontiers in microbiology*, 6, 167-167.
- LIU, J.-H., XU, T.-T., LIU, Y.-J., ZHU, W.-Y. & MAO, S.-Y. 2013. A high-grain diet causes massive disruption of ruminal epithelial tight junctions in goats. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 305, R232-R241.
- LIU, J. H., ZHANG, M. L., ZHANG, R. Y., ZHU, W. Y. & MAO, S. Y. 2016. Comparative studies of the composition of bacterial microbiota associated with the ruminal content, ruminal epithelium and in the faeces of lactating dairy cows. *Microbial Biotechnology*, 9, 257-268.
- LIU, Z., LOZUPONE, C., HAMADY, M., BUSHMAN, F. D. & KNIGHT, R. 2007. Short pyrosequencing reads suffice for accurate microbial community analysis. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 35, e120-e120.
- LOOFT, T., BAYLES, D. O., ALT, D. P. & STANTON, T. B. 2015. Complete Genome Sequence of Coriobacteriaceae Strain 68-1-3, a Novel Mucus-Degrading Isolate from the Swine Intestinal Tract. *Genome Announcements*, 3, e01143-15.
- LOPES, J. C., DE MATOS, L. F., HARPER, M. T., GIALLONGO, F., OH, J., GRUEN, D., ONO, S., KINDERMANN, M., DUVAL, S. & HRISTOV, A. N. 2016. Effect of 3-nitrooxypropanol on methane and hydrogen emissions, methane isotopic signature, and ruminal fermentation in dairy cows. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 99, 5335-5344.

- LOREAU, M., NAEEM, S., INCHAUSTI, P., BENGTSSON, J., GRIME, J. P., HECTOR, A., HOOPER, D. U., HUSTON, M. A., RAFFAELLI, D., SCHMID, B., TILMAN, D. & WARDLE, D. A. 2001. Biodiversity and ecosystem functioning: current knowledge and future challenges. *Science*, 294, 804-8.
- LOVE, M. I., HUBER, W. & ANDERS, S. 2014. Moderated estimation of fold change and dispersion for RNA-seq data with DESeq2. *Genome Biol*, 15, 550.
- LUCILA SOBRINHO, T., BRANCO, R. H., BONILHA, S. F. M., CASTILHOS, A. M., FIGUEIREDO, L. A., RAZOOK, A. G. & MERCADANTE, M. E. Z. 2011. Residual feed intake and relationships with performance of Nellore cattle selected for post weaning weight. *Revista Brasileira de Zootecnia*, 40, 929-937.
- LUKAS, F., SIMUNEK, J., MRAZEK, J. & KOPECNY, J. 2010. PCR-DGGE analysis of bacterial population attached to the bovine rumen wall. *Folia Microbiol (Praha)*, 55, 345-8.
- LUO, C., TSEMENTZI, D., KYRPIDES, N., READ, T. & KONSTANTINIDIS, K. T. 2012. Direct Comparisons of Illumina vs. Roche 454 Sequencing Technologies on the Same Microbial Community DNA Sample. *PLoS ONE*, 7, e30087.
- M. RYLE, E. R. Ø. 1992. *Energy Nutrition in Ruminants*, Springer, Dordrecht.
- MACHADO, V. S., OIKONOMOU, G., BICALHO, M. L. S., KNAUER, W. A., GILBERT, R. & BICALHO, R. C. 2012. Investigation of postpartum dairy cows' uterine microbial diversity using metagenomic pyrosequencing of the 16S rRNA gene. *Veterinary Microbiology*, 159, 460-469.
- MACKIE, R. I. 2002. Mutualistic fermentative digestion in the gastrointestinal tract: diversity and evolution. *Integr Comp Biol*, 42, 319-26.
- MACKIE, R. I., MCSWEENEY, C. S. & AMINOV, R. I. 2001a. Rumen. *eLS*. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.
- MAIER, T., GÜELL, M. & SERRANO, L. 2009. Correlation of mRNA and protein in complex biological samples. *FEBS Letters*, 583, 3966-3973.
- MALMUTHUGE, N. 2016. *Role of Commensal Microbiota in Neonatal Calf Development*. PhD, University of Alberta.
- MALMUTHUGE, N. & GRIEBEL, P. J. 2018. Fetal environment and fetal intestine are sterile during the third trimester of pregnancy. *Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology*, 204, 59-64.
- MALMUTHUGE, N., GRIEBEL, P. J. & GUAN LE, L. 2015. The Gut Microbiome and Its Potential Role in the Development and Function of New-born Calf Gastrointestinal Tract. *Front Vet Sci*, 2, 36.
- MALMUTHUGE, N., GRIEBEL, P. J. & GUAN, L. L. 2014. Taxonomic Identification of Commensal Bacteria Associated with the Mucosa and Digesta throughout the Gastrointestinal Tracts of Preweaned Calves. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 80, 2021-8.
- MALMUTHUGE, N. & GUAN, L. L. 2017. Understanding host-microbial interactions in rumen: searching the best opportunity for microbiota manipulation. *J Anim Sci Biotechnol*, 8, 8.
- MALMUTHUGE, N., LI, M., FRIES, P., GRIEBEL, P. J. & GUAN, L. L. 2012. Regional and age dependent changes in gene expression of Toll-like receptors and key antimicrobial defence molecules throughout the gastrointestinal tract of dairy calves. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol*, 146, 18-26.
- MALMUTHUGE, N., LI, M., GOONEWARDENE, L. A., OBA, M. & GUAN, L. L. 2013. Effect of calf starter feeding on gut microbial diversity and expression of genes involved in host immune responses and tight junctions in dairy calves during weaning transition. *J Dairy Sci*, 96, 3189-200.
- MAO, S., ZHANG, M., LIU, J. & ZHU, W. 2015. Characterising the bacterial microbiota across the gastrointestinal tracts of dairy cattle: membership and potential function. 5, 16116.
- MARCHESI, J. R. & RAVEL, J. 2015. The vocabulary of microbiome research: a proposal. *Microbiome*, 3, 31.

- MARGULIES, M., EGHOLM, M., ALTMAN, W. E., ATTIYA, S., BADER, J. S., BEMBEN, L. A., BERKA, J., BRAVERMAN, M. S., CHEN, Y. J., CHEN, Z., DEWELL, S. B., DU, L., FIERRO, J. M., GOMES, X. V., GODWIN, B. C., HE, W., HELGESEN, S., HO, C. H., IRZYK, G. P., JANDO, S. C., ALENQUER, M. L., JARVIE, T. P., JIRAGE, K. B., KIM, J. B., KNIGHT, J. R., LANZA, J. R., LEAMON, J. H., LEFKOWITZ, S. M., LEI, M., LI, J., LOHMAN, K. L., LU, H., MAKHIJANI, V. B., MCDADE, K. E., MCKENNA, M. P., MYERS, E. W., NICKERSON, E., NOBILE, J. R., PLANT, R., PUC, B. P., RONAN, M. T., ROTH, G. T., SARKIS, G. J., SIMONS, J. F., SIMPSON, J. W., SRINIVASAN, M., TARTARO, K. R., TOMASZ, A., VOGT, K. A., VOLKMER, G. A., WANG, S. H., WANG, Y., WEINER, M. P., YU, P., BEGLEY, R. F. & ROTHBERG, J. M. 2005. Genome sequencing in microfabricated high-density picolitre reactors. *Nature*, 437, 376-80.
- MARTIN, C., MORGAVI, D. P. & DOREAU, M. 2010. Methane mitigation in ruminants: from microbe to the farm scale. *Animal*, 4, 351-65.
- MARTÍNEZ-FERNÁNDEZ, G., ABECIA, L., ARCO, A., CANTALAPIEDRA-HIJAR, G., MARTÍN-GARCÍA, A. I., MOLINA-ALCAIDE, E., KINDERMANN, M., DUVAL, S. & YÁÑEZ-RUIZ, D. R. 2014. Effects of ethyl-3-nitrooxy propionate and 3-nitrooxypropanol on ruminal fermentation, microbial abundance, and methane emissions in sheep. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 97, 3790-3799.
- MARTINEZ-FERNANDEZ, G., ABECIA, L., MARTIN-GARCIA, A. I., RAMOS-MORALES, E., DENMAN, S. E., NEWBOLD, C. J., MOLINA-ALCAIDE, E. & YANEZ-RUIZ, D. R. 2015. Response of the rumen archaeal and bacterial populations to anti-methanogenic organosulphur compounds in continuous-culture fermenters. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol*.
- MATOSIN, N., HALLDORSDOTTIR, T. & BINDER, E. B. 2018. Understanding the Molecular Mechanisms Underpinning Gene by Environment Interactions in Psychiatric Disorders: The FKBP5 Model. *Biological Psychiatry*, 83, 821-830.
- MCALLISTER, T. A., BAE, H. D., JONES, G. A. & CHENG, K. J. 1994. Microbial attachment and feed digestion in the rumen. *J Anim Sci*, 72, 3004-18.
- MCALLISTER, T. A., MEALE, S. J., VALLE, E., GUAN, L. L., ZHOU, M., KELLY, W. J., HENDERSON, G., ATTWOOD, G. T. & JANSSEN, P. H. 2015. RUMINANT NUTRITION SYMPOSIUM: Use of genomics and transcriptomics to identify strategies to lower ruminal methanogenesis. *J Anim Sci*, 93, 1431-49.
- MCALLISTER, T. A. & NEWBOLD, C. J. 2008. Redirecting rumen fermentation to reduce methanogenesis. *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture*, 48, 7-13.
- MCCABE, M. S., CORMICAN, P., KEOGH, K., O'CONNOR, A., O'HARA, E., PALLADINO, R. A., KENNY, D. A. & WATERS, S. M. 2015. Illumina MiSeq Phylogenetic Amplicon Sequencing Shows a Large Reduction of an Uncharacterised Succinivibrionaceae and an Increase of the Methanobrevibacter gottschalkii Clade in Feed Restricted Cattle. *PLoS One*, 10, e0133234.
- MCCANN, J. C., WICKERSHAM, T. A. & LOOR, J. J. 2014a. High-throughput Methods Redefine the Rumen Microbiome and Its Relationship with Nutrition and Metabolism. *Bioinform Biol Insights*, 8, 109-25.
- MCCANN, J. C., WILEY, L. M., FORBES, T. D., ROUQUETTE, F. M. & TEDESCHI, L. O. 2014b. Relationship between the Rumen Microbiome and Residual Feed Intake-Efficiency of Brahman Bulls Stocked on Bermudagrass Pastures. *PLoS ONE*, 9, e91864.
- MCGOVERN, E., KENNY, D. A., MCCABE, M. S., FITZSIMONS, C., MCGEE, M., KELLY, A. K. & WATERS, S. M. 2018. 16S rRNA Sequencing Reveals Relationship Between Potent Cellulolytic Genera and Feed Efficiency in the Rumen of Bulls. *Frontiers in microbiology*, 9, 1842-1842.
- MCGOVERN, E., MCCABE, M. S., CORMICAN, P., POPOVA, M., KEOGH, K., KELLY, A. K., KENNY, D. A. & WATERS, S. M. 2017. Plane of nutrition affects the phylogenetic diversity

and relative abundance of transcriptionally active methanogens in the bovine rumen. *Scientific Reports*, *7*, 13047.

- MCMURDIE, P. J. & HOLMES, S. 2013. phyloseq: An R Package for Reproducible Interactive Analysis and Graphics of Microbiome Census Data. *PLOS ONE*, 8, e61217.
- MEALE, S. J., LI, S., AZEVEDO, P., DERAKHSHANI, H., PLAIZIER, J. C., KHAFIPOUR, E. & STEELE, M. A. 2016. Development of Ruminal and Fecal Microbiomes Are Affected by Weaning But Not Weaning Strategy in Dairy Calves. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 7, 582.
- MEALE, S. J., LI, S. C., AZEVEDO, P., DERAKHSHANI, H., DEVRIES, T. J., PLAIZIER, J. C., STEELE, M. A. & KHAFIPOUR, E. 2017. Weaning age influences the severity of gastrointestinal microbiome shifts in dairy calves. *Scientific Reports*, *7*, 198.
- MENTSCHEL, J., LEISER, R., MULLING, C., PFARRER, C. & CLAUS, R. 2001. Butyric acid stimulates rumen mucosa development in the calf mainly by a reduction of apoptosis. *Arch Tierernahr*, 55, 85-102.
- MILLEN, D. D., DE BENI ARRIGONI, M. & PACHECO, R. D. L. 2016. Rumenology.
- MILTKO, R., PIETRZAK, M., BEŁŻECKI, G., WERESZKA, K., MICHAŁOWSKI, T. & HACKSTEIN, J. H. P. 2015. Isolation and in vitro cultivation of the fibrolytic rumen ciliate Eremoplastron (Eudiplodinium) dilobum. *European Journal of Protistology*, 51, 109-117.
- MIRON, J., BEN-GHEDALIA, D. & MORRISON, M. 2001. Invited review: adhesion mechanisms of rumen cellulolytic bacteria. *J Dairy Sci*, 84, 1294-309.
- MORGAVI, D. P., KELLY, W. J., JANSSEN, P. H. & ATTWOOD, G. T. 2013. Rumen microbial (meta)genomics and its application to ruminant production. *animal*, *7*, 184-201.
- MORGAVI, D. P., MARTIN, C., JOUANY, J. P. & RANILLA, M. J. 2012. Rumen protozoa and methanogenesis: not a simple cause-effect relationship. *Br J Nutr*, 107, 388-97.
- MOSS, A. R., JEAN-PIERRE, J. & JOHN, N. 2000. Methane production by ruminants: its contribution to global warming. *Ann. Zootech.*, 49, 231-253.
- MULLIS, K., FALOONĂ, F., SCHARF, S., SAIKI, R., HORN, G. & ERLICH, H. 1986. Specific enzymatic amplification of DNA in vitro: The polymerase chain reaction. *Cold Spring Harbor Symposia on Quantitative Biology*, 51, 263-273.
- MULLIS, K. B. & FALOONA, F. A. 1987. [21] Specific synthesis of DNA in vitro via a polymerasecatalyzed chain reaction. *Methods in Enzymology*.
- MUYZER, G., DE WAAL, E. C. & UITTERLINDEN, A. G. 1993. Profiling of complex microbial populations by denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis analysis of polymerase chain reaction-amplified genes coding for 16S rRNA. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 59, 695-700.
- MYER, P. R., SMITH, T. P. L., WELLS, J. E., KUEHN, L. A. & FREETLY, H. C. 2015a. Rumen Microbiome from Steers Differing in Feed Efficiency. *PLOS ONE*, 10, e0129174.
- MYER, P. R., WELLS, J. E., SMITH, T. P. L., KUEHN, L. A. & FREETLY, H. C. 2015b. Cecum microbial communities from steers differing in feed efficiency1,2,3. *Journal of Animal Science*, 93, 5327-5340.
- MYER, P. R., WELLS, J. E., SMITH, T. P. L., KUEHN, L. A. & FREETLY, H. C. 2015c. Microbial community profiles of the colon from steers differing in feed efficiency. *SpringerPlus*, 4, 454.
- MYLLYHARJU, J. 2003. Prolyl 4-hydroxylases, the key enzymes of collagen biosynthesis. *Matrix Biol*, 22, 15-24.
- NAEEM, A., DRACKLEY, J. K., LANIER, J. S., EVERTS, R. E., RODRIGUEZ-ZAS, S. L. & LOOR, J. J. 2014. Ruminal epithelium transcriptome dynamics in response to plane of nutrition and age in young Holstein calves. *Funct Integr Genomics*, 14, 261-73.
- NAEEM, A., DRACKLEY, J. K., STAMEY, J. & LOOR, J. J. 2012. Role of metabolic and cellular proliferation genes in ruminal development in response to enhanced plane of nutrition in neonatal Holstein calves. *J Dairy Sci*, 95, 1807-20.

- NELSON, M. C., MORRISON, H. G., BENJAMINO, J., GRIM, S. L. & GRAF, J. 2014. Analysis, optimization and verification of Illumina-generated 16S rRNA gene amplicon surveys. *PLoS One*, 9, e94249.
- NEVES, A. L. A., LI, F., GHOSHAL, B., MCALLISTER, T. & GUAN, L. L. 2017. Enhancing the Resolution of Rumen Microbial Classification from Metatranscriptomic Data Using Kraken and Mothur. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 8.
- NEWBOLD, C. J., DE LA FUENTE, G., BELANCHE, A., RAMOS-MORALES, E. & MCEWAN, N. R. 2015. The Role of Ciliate Protozoa in the Rumen. *Front Microbiol*, 6, 1313.
- NISHIHARA, K., KATO, D., SUZUKI, Y., KIM, D., NAKANO, M., YAJIMA, Y., HAGA, S., NAKANO, M., ISHIZAKI, H., KAWAHARA-MIKI, R., KONO, T., KATOH, K. & ROH, S. G. 2018. Comparative transcriptome analysis of rumen papillae in suckling and weaned Japanese Black calves using RNA sequencing. *J Anim Sci*, 96, 2226-2237.
- NIWIŃSKA, B., HANCZAKOWSKA, E., ARCISZEWSKI, M. B. & KLEBANIUK, R. 2017. Review: Exogenous butyrate: implications for the functional development of ruminal epithelium and calf performance. *animal*, 11, 1522-1530.
- NOCEK, J. E. & KESLER, E. M. 1984. Growth and Rumen Characteristics of Holstein Steers Fed Pelleted or Conventional Diets<sup>1</sup>. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 63, 249-254.
- NORBURY, C. & NURSE, P. 1992. Animal cell cycles and their control. *Annu Rev Biochem*, 61, 441-70.
- NYONYO, T., SHINKAI, T. & MITSUMORI, M. 2014. Improved culturability of cellulolytic rumen bacteria and phylogenetic diversity of culturable cellulolytic and xylanolytic bacteria newly isolated from the bovine rumen. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol*, 88, 528-37.
- OH, S., SHINTANI, R., KOIKE, S. & KOBAYASHI, Y. 2017. Ginkgo fruit extract as an additive to modify rumen microbiota and fermentation and to mitigate methane production. *J Dairy Sci.*
- OIKONOMOU, G., TEIXEIRA, A. G. V., FODITSCH, C., BICALHO, M. L., MACHADO, V. S. & BICALHO, R. C. 2013. Fecal Microbial Diversity in Pre-Weaned Dairy Calves as Described by Pyrosequencing of Metagenomic 16S rDNA. Associations of Faecalibacterium Species with Health and Growth. *PLOS ONE*, 8, e63157.
- ORPIN, C. G. 1974. The rumen flagellate Callimastix frontalis: does sequestration occur? *J Gen Microbiol*, 84, 395-8.
- ORPIN, C. G. 1975. Studies on the rumen flagellate Neocallimastix frontalis. *J Gen Microbiol*, 91, 249-62.
- ORPIN, C. G. 1977. The occurrence of chitin in the cell walls of the rumen organisms Neocallimastix frontalis, Piromonas communis and Sphaeromonas communis. *J Gen Microbiol*, 99, 215-8.
- OWENS, F. N., SECRIST, D. S., HILL, W. J. & GILL, D. R. 1998. Acidosis in cattle: a review. J Anim Sci, 76, 275-86.
- OZUTSUMI, Y., TAJIMA, K., TAKENAKA, A. & ITABASHI, H. 2012. McrA gene and 16S rRNA gene in the phylogenetic analysis of methanogens in the rumen of faunated and unfaunated cattle. *Anim Sci J*, 83, 727-34.
- PARMAR, N. R., SOLANKI, J. V., PATEL, A. B., SHAH, T. M., PATEL, A. K., PARNERKAR, S., KUMAR, J. I. & JOSHI, C. G. 2014. Metagenome of Mehsani buffalo rumen microbiota: an assessment of variation in feed-dependent phylogenetic and functional classification. J Mol Microbiol Biotechnol, 24, 249-61.
- PATRA, A., PARK, T., KIM, M. & YU, Z. 2017. Rumen methanogens and mitigation of methane emission by anti-methanogenic compounds and substances. 8, 13.
- PAZ, H. A., ANDERSON, C. L., MULLER, M. J., KONONOFF, P. J. & FERNANDO, S. C. 2016. Rumen Bacterial Community Composition in Holstein and Jersey Cows Is Different under Same Dietary Condition and Is Not Affected by Sampling Method. *Front Microbiol*, 7, 1206.

- PENNER, G. B., STEELE, M. A., ASCHENBACH, J. R. & MCBRIDE, B. W. 2011. Ruminant Nutrition Symposium: Molecular adaptation of ruminal epithelia to highly fermentable diets. *J Anim Sci*, 89, 1108-19.
- PEREZ-MUÑOZ, M. E., ARRIETA, M.-C., RAMER-TAIT, A. E. & WALTER, J. 2017. A critical assessment of the "sterile womb" and "in utero colonization" hypotheses: implications for research on the pioneer infant microbiome. *Microbiome*, *5*, 48.
- PETRI, R. M., FORSTER, R. J., YANG, W., MCKINNON, J. J. & MCALLISTER, T. A. 2012. Characterization of rumen bacterial diversity and fermentation parameters in concentrate fed cattle with and without forage. *J Appl Microbiol*, 112, 1152-62.
- PICKERING, N. K., ODDY, V. H., BASARAB, J., CAMMACK, K., HAYES, B., HEGARTY, R. S., LASSEN, J., MCEWAN, J. C., MILLER, S., PINARES-PATINO, C. S. & DE HAAS, Y. 2015. Animal board invited review: genetic possibilities to reduce enteric methane emissions from ruminants. *Animal*, 9, 1431-40.
- PIERCE, K. M., BOLAND, T. M., KENNY, D. A., O'DOHERTY, J. V., KELLY, A. K., Performance and rumen development of artificially reared calves to dietary butyrate supplementation. 2014 ADSA-ASAS-CSAS Joint Annual Meeting, July 20 - 24, 2014 2014 Kansas City, MO.
- PITTA, D. W., PINCHAK, W. E., INDUGU, N., VECCHIARELLI, B., SINHA, R. & FULFORD, J. D. 2016. Metagenomic Analysis of the Rumen Microbiome of Steers with Wheat-Induced Frothy Bloat. *Front Microbiol*, 7, 689.
- PLAIZIER, J. C., KRAUSE, D. O., GOZHO, G. N. & MCBRIDE, B. W. 2008. Subacute ruminal acidosis in dairy cows: the physiological causes, incidence and consequences. *Vet J*, 176, 21-31.
- PLOPPER, G., SHARP, D. & SIKORSKI, E. 2013. *Lewin's Cells, Third Edition*, Jones & Bartlett Learning.
- POPE, P. B., SMITH, W., DENMAN, S. E., TRINGE, S. G., BARRY, K., HUGENHOLTZ, P., MCSWEENEY, C. S., MCHARDY, A. C. & MORRISON, M. 2011. Isolation of Succinivibrionaceae implicated in low methane emissions from Tammar wallabies. *Science*, 333, 646-8.
- POPOVA, M., MORGAVI, D. P. & MARTIN, C. 2013. Methanogens and Methanogenesis in the Rumens and Ceca of Lambs Fed Two Different High-Grain-Content Diets. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 79, 1777-1786.
- PORETSKY, R., RODRIGUEZ, R. L., LUO, C., TSEMENTZI, D. & KONSTANTINIDIS, K. T. 2014. Strengths and limitations of 16S rRNA gene amplicon sequencing in revealing temporal microbial community dynamics. *PLoS One*, 9, e93827.
- POULSEN, M., SCHWAB, C., BORG JENSEN, B., ENGBERG, R. M., SPANG, A., CANIBE, N., HØJBERG, O., MILINOVICH, G., FRAGNER, L., SCHLEPER, C., WECKWERTH, W., LUND, P., SCHRAMM, A. & URICH, T. 2013. Methylotrophic methanogenic Thermoplasmata implicated in reduced methane emissions from bovine rumen. *Nature Communications*, 4, 1428.
- POUNDEN, W. D. & HIBBS, J. W. (1948a). The influence of the ration and nunen inoculation on the establishment of certain micro-organisms in the rumen of young calves. *J. Dairy Sci.* 31, 1044.
- PROBO, M., GIORDANO, A., MORETTI, P., OPSOMER, G., FIEMS, L. O. & VERONESI, M. C. 2012. Mode of delivery is associated with different hematological profiles in the new-born calf. *Theriogenology*, 77, 865-72.
- PURUSHE, J., FOUTS, D. E., MORRISON, M., WHITE, B. A., MACKIE, R. I., COUTINHO, P. M., HENRISSAT, B. & NELSON, K. E. 2010a. Comparative genome analysis of Prevotella ruminicola and Prevotella bryantii: insights into their environmental niche. *Microb Ecol*, 60, 721-9.
- PURUSHE, J., FOUTS, D. E., MORRISON, M., WHITE, B. A., MACKIE, R. I., COUTINHO, P. M., HENRISSAT, B. & NELSON, K. E. 2010b. Comparative Genome Analysis of Prevotella

ruminicola and Prevotella bryantii: Insights into Their Environmental Niche. *Microbial Ecology*, 60, 721-729.

- QIN, W. Z., LI, C. Y., KIM, J. K., JU, J. G. & SONG, M. K. 2012. Effects of Defaunation on Fermentation Characteristics and Methane Production by Rumen Microbes In vitro When Incubated with Starchy Feed Sources. *Asian-Australasian Journal of Animal Sciences*, 25, 1381-1388.
- RAKOFF-NAHOUM, S., PAGLINO, J., ESLAMI-VARZANEH, F., EDBERG, S. & MEDZHITOV, R. 2004. Recognition of commensal microflora by toll-like receptors is required for intestinal homeostasis. *Cell*, 118, 229-41.
- REY, M., ENJALBERT, F., COMBES, S., CAUQUIL, L., BOUCHEZ, O. & MONTEILS, V. 2014. Establishment of ruminal bacterial community in dairy calves from birth to weaning is sequential. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 116, 245-257.
- REY, M., ENJALBERT, F. & MONTEILS, V. 2012. Establishment of ruminal enzyme activities and fermentation capacity in dairy calves from birth through weaning. *J Dairy Sci*, 95, 1500-12.
- RICHARDSON, E. C. & HERD, R. M. 2004. Biological basis for variation in residual feed intake in beef cattle. 2. Synthesis of results following divergent selection. *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture*, 44, 431-440.
- RIEU, F., FONTY, G., GAILLARD, B. & GOUET, P. 1990. Electron microscopy study of the bacteria adherent to the rumen wall in young conventional lambs. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology*, 36, 140-144.
- ROBINSON, M. D., MCCARTHY, D. J. & SMYTH, G. K. 2010. edgeR: a Bioconductor package for differential expression analysis of digital gene expression data. *Bioinformatics*, 26, 139-140.
- ROEHE, R., DEWHURST, R. J., DUTHIE, C. A., ROOKE, J. A., MCKAIN, N., ROSS, D. W., HYSLOP, J. J., WATERHOUSE, A., FREEMAN, T. C., WATSON, M. & WALLACE, R. J. 2016. Bovine Host Genetic Variation Influences Rumen Microbial Methane Production with Best Selection Criterion for Low Methane Emitting and Efficiently Feed Converting Hosts Based on Metagenomic Gene Abundance. *PLoS Genet*, 12, e1005846.
- ROMERO-PEREZ, A., OKINE, E. K., MCGINN, S. M., GUAN, L. L., OBA, M., DUVAL, S. M., KINDERMANN, M. & BEAUCHEMIN, K. A. 2015. Sustained reduction in methane production from long-term addition of 3-nitrooxypropanol to a beef cattle diet1. *Journal of Animal Science*, 93, 1780-1791.
- ROSS, E. M., PETROVSKI, S., MOATE, P. J. & HAYES, B. J. 2013. Metagenomics of rumen bacteriophage from thirteen lactating dairy cattle. *BMC Microbiology*, 13, 242.
- SADET-BOURGETEAU, S., MARTIN, C. & MORGAVI, D. P. 2010. Bacterial diversity dynamics in rumen epithelium of wethers fed forage and mixed concentrate forage diets. *Veterinary Microbiology*, 146, 98-104.
- SADET, S., MARTIN, C., MEUNIER, B. & MORGAVI, D. P. 2007. PCR-DGGE analysis reveals a distinct diversity in the bacterial population attached to the rumen epithelium. *Animal*, 1, 939-44.
- SAHOO, A., KAMRA, D. N. & PATHAK, N. N. 2005. Pre- and postweaning attributes in faunated and ciliate-free calves fed calf starter with or without fish meal. *J Dairy Sci*, 88, 2027-36.
- SAMUEL, B. S., HANSEN, E. E., MANCHESTER, J. K., COUTINHO, P. M., HENRISSAT, B., FULTON, R., LATREILLE, P., KIM, K., WILSON, R. K. & GORDON, J. I. 2007. Genomic and metabolic adaptations of <em>Methanobrevibacter smithii</em> to the human gut. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 104, 10643-10648.
- SANGER, F., NICKLEN, S. & COULSON, A. R. 1977. DNA sequencing with chain-terminating inhibitors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci US A*, 74, 5463-7.
- SANGILD, P. T. 2003. Uptake of Colostral Immunoglobulins by the Compromised New-born Farm Animal. *Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica*, 44, S105.

- SANTOS, T. M. A. & BICALHO, R. C. 2012. Diversity and Succession of Bacterial Communities in the Uterine Fluid of Postpartum Metritic, Endometritic and Healthy Dairy Cows. *PLOS ONE*, 7, e53048.
- SASSON, G., KRUGER BEN-SHABAT, S., SEROUSSI, E., DORON-FAIGENBOIM, A., SHTERZER, N., YAACOBY, S., BERG MILLER, M. E., WHITE, B. A., HALPERIN, E. & MIZRAHI, I. 2017. Heritable Bovine Rumen Bacteria Are Phylogenetically Related and Correlated with the Cow's Capacity To Harvest Energy from Its Feed. *mBio*, 8.
- SCHAFF, C. T., GRUSE, J., MACIEJ, J., PFUHL, R., ZITNAN, R., RAJSKY, M. & HAMMON, H.
   M. 2017. Effects of feeding unlimited amounts of milk replacer for the first 5 weeks of age on rumen and small intestinal growth and development in dairy calves. *J Dairy Sci.*
- SCHLAU, N., GUAN, L. L. & OBA, M. 2012. The relationship between rumen acidosis resistance and expression of genes involved in regulation of intracellular pH and butyrate metabolism of ruminal epithelial cells in steers. *J Dairy Sci*, 95, 5866-75.
- SCHMIEDER, R. & EDWARDS, R. 2011. Quality control and preprocessing of metagenomic datasets. *Bioinformatics*, 27, 863-4.
- SEEDORF, H., KITTELMANN, S., HENDERSON, G. & JANSSEN, P. H. 2014. RIM-DB: a taxonomic framework for community structure analysis of methanogenic archaea from the rumen and other intestinal environments. *PeerJ*, 2, e494.
- SERGUSHICHEV, A. 2016. An algorithm for fast preranked gene set enrichment analysis using cumulative statistic calculation. *bioRxiv*.
- SESHADRI, R., LEAHY, S. C., ATTWOOD, G. T., TEH, K. H., LAMBIE, S. C., COOKSON, A. L., ELOE-FADROSH, E. A., PAVLOPOULOS, G. A., HADJITHOMAS, M., VARGHESE, N. J., PAEZ-ESPINO, D., HUNGATE PROJECT, C., PERRY, R., HENDERSON, G., CREEVEY, C. J., TERRAPON, N., LAPEBIE, P., DRULA, E., LOMBARD, V., RUBIN, E., KYRPIDES, N. C., HENRISSAT, B., WOYKE, T., IVANOVA, N. N. & KELLY, W. J. 2018. Cultivation and sequencing of rumen microbiome members from the Hungate1000 Collection. *Nature Biotechnology*, 36, 359.
- SHABAT, S. K., SASSON, G., DORON-FAIGENBOIM, A., DURMAN, T., YAACOBY, S., BERG MILLER, M. E., WHITE, B. A., SHTERZER, N. & MIZRAHI, I. 2016. Specific microbiomedependent mechanisms underlie the energy harvest efficiency of ruminants. *Isme j*.
- SHARP, R., ZIEMER, C. J., STERN, M. D. & STAHL, D. A. 1998. Taxon-specific associations between protozoal and methanogen populations in the rumen and a model rumen system. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, 26, 71-78.
- SHEN, H., CHEN, Z., SHEN, Z. & LU, Z. 2017. Maintaining stability of the rumen ecosystem is associated with changes of microbial composition and epithelial TLR Signalling. *Microbiologyopen*, 6.
- SHENDURE, J. & JI, H. 2008. Next-generation DNA sequencing. Nat Biotech, 26, 1135-1145.
- SHERMAN, E. L., NKRUMAH, J. D., MURDOCH, B. M. & MOORE, S. S. 2008. Identification of polymorphisms influencing feed intake and efficiency in beef cattle. *Animal Genetics*, 39, 225-231.
- SHI, W., MOON, C. D., LEAHY, S. C., KANG, D., FROULA, J., KITTELMANN, S., FAN, C., DEUTSCH, S., GAGIC, D., SEEDORF, H., KELLY, W. J., ATUA, R., SANG, C., SONI, P., LI, D., PINARES-PATINO, C. S., MCEWAN, J. C., JANSSEN, P. H., CHEN, F., VISEL, A., WANG, Z., ATTWOOD, G. T. & RUBIN, E. M. 2014. Methane yield phenotypes linked to differential gene expression in the sheep rumen microbiome. *Genome Res*, 24, 1517-25.
- SHI, Y. & WEIMER, P. J. 1997. Competition for cellobiose among three predominant ruminal cellulolytic bacteria under substrate-excess and substrate-limited conditions. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 63, 743-748.
- SILBERBERG, M., CHAUCHEYRAS-DURAND, F., COMMUN, L., MIALON, M. M., MONTEILS, V., MOSONI, P., MORGAVI, D. P. & MARTIN, C. 2013. Repeated acidosis challenges and

live yeast supplementation shape rumen microbiota and fermentations and modulate inflammatory status in sheep. *Animal*, 7, 1910-20.

- SNELLING, T. J. & WALLACE, R. J. 2017. The rumen microbial metaproteome as revealed by SDS-PAGE. *BMC Microbiology*, 17, 9.
- SOERGEL, D. A., DEY, N., KNIGHT, R. & BRENNER, S. E. 2012. Selection of primers for optimal taxonomic classification of environmental 16S rRNA gene sequences. *Isme j*, 6, 1440-4.
- SOMMER, F. & BACKHED, F. 2013. The gut microbiota--masters of host development and physiology. *Nat Rev Microbiol*, 11, 227-38.
- SONG, Y., MALMUTHUGE, N., STEELE, M. A. & GUAN, L. L. 2018. Shift of hindgut microbiota and microbial short chain fatty acids profiles in dairy calves from birth to pre-weaning. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, 94, fix179-fix179.
- SOO, R. M., SKENNERTON, C. T., SEKIGUCHI, Y., IMELFORT, M., PAECH, S. J., DENNIS, P. G., STEEN, J. A., PARKS, D. H., TYSON, G. W. & HUGENHOLTZ, P. 2014. An Expanded Genomic Representation of the Phylum Cyanobacteria. *Genome Biology and Evolution*, 6, 1031-1045.
- STEELE, M. A., CROOM, J., KAHLER, M., ALZAHAL, O., HOOK, S. E., PLAIZIER, K. & MCBRIDE, B. W. 2011a. Bovine rumen epithelium undergoes rapid structural adaptations during grain-induced subacute ruminal acidosis. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol*, 300, R1515-23.
- STEELE, M. A., PENNER, G. B., CHAUCHEYRAS-DURAND, F. & GUAN, L. L. 2016. Development and physiology of the rumen and the lower gut: Targets for improving gut health. *J Dairy Sci.*
- STEELE, M. A., VANDERVOORT, G., ALZAHAL, O., HOOK, S. E., MATTHEWS, J. C. & MCBRIDE, B. W. 2011b. Rumen epithelial adaptation to high-grain diets involves the coordinated regulation of genes involved in cholesterol homeostasis. *Physiol Genomics*, 43, 308-16.
- STEWART, C. S., FONTY, G. & GOUET, P. 1988. The establishment of rumen microbial communities. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, 21, 69-97.
- STEWART, R. D., AUFFRET, M. D., WARR, A., WISER, A. H. & PRESS, M. O. 2018. Assembly of 913 microbial genomes from metagenomic sequencing of the cow rumen. 9, 870.
- STUMPFF, F. 2018. A look at the smelly side of physiology: transport of short chain fatty acids. *Pflugers Arch*, 470, 571-598.
- SUN, D. M., MAO, S. Y., ZHU, W. Y. & LIU, J. H. 2018. Effect of starter diet supplementation on rumen epithelial morphology and expression of genes involved in cell proliferation and metabolism in pre-weaned lambs. *Animal*, 1-10.
- SUNAGAWA, S., MENDE, D. R., ZELLER, G., IZQUIERDO-CARRASCO, F., BERGER, S. A., KULTIMA, J. R., COELHO, L. P. & ARUMUGAM, M. 2013. Metagenomic species profiling using universal phylogenetic marker genes. 10, 1196-9.
- SUNIL KUMAR SIROHI, N. S., SUMIT SINGH DAGAR, ANIL KUMAR PUNIYA 2012. Molecular tools for deciphering the microbial community structure and diversity in rumen ecosystem. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 95, 1135-1154.
- SURLIS, C., MCNAMARA, K., O'HARA, E., WATERS, S., BELTMAN, M., CASSIDY, J. & KENNY, D. 2017. Birth delivery method affects expression of immune genes in lung and jejunum tissue of neonatal beef calves. *BMC Veterinary Research*, 13, 391.
- SYLVESTER, J. T., KARNATI, S. K., YU, Z., MORRISON, M. & FIRKINS, J. L. 2004. Development of an assay to quantify rumen ciliate protozoal biomass in cows using real-time PCR. *J Nutr*, 134, 3378-84.
- TAMATE, H., MCGILLIARD, A. D., JACOBSON, N. L. & GETTY, R. 1962. Effect of Various Dietaries on the Anatomical Development of the Stomach in the Calf<sup>1</sup>. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 45, 408-420.

- TAPIO, I., SHINGFIELD, K. J., MCKAIN, N., BONIN, A., FISCHER, D., BAYAT, A. R., VILKKI, J., TABERLET, P., SNELLING, T. J. & WALLACE, R. J. 2016. Oral Samples as Non-Invasive Proxies for Assessing the Composition of the Rumen Microbial Community. *PLoS One*, 11, e0151220.
- TAPIO, I., SNELLING, T. J., STROZZI, F. & WALLACE, R. J. 2017. The ruminal microbiome associated with methane emissions from ruminant livestock. *J Anim Sci Biotechnol*, 8, 7.
- R TEAM., R. D. C. 2008. R: A language and environment for statistical computing.
- THEODOROU MK, B. J., TRINCI APJ 2005. *Methods in gut microbial ecology for ruminants,* Dordrecht: , Springer Netherlands.
- TROVATELLI, L. D. & MATTEUZZI, D. 1976. Presence of bifidobacteria in the rumen of calves fed different rations. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 32, 470-473.
- USDA 2010. Dairy 2007, Heifer calf health and management practices on US dairy operations. CEAH. Fort Collins, CO.: USDA:APHIS:VS.
- VAN BOECKEL, T. P., BROWER, C., GILBERT, M., GRENFELL, B. T., LEVIN, S. A., ROBINSON, T. P., TEILLANT, A. & LAXMINARAYAN, R. 2015. Global trends in antimicrobial use in food animals. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 112, 5649-5654.
- VAN DIJK, E. L., AUGER, H., JASZCZYSZYN, Y. & THERMES, C. 2014. Ten years of nextgeneration sequencing technology. *Trends in Genetics*, 30, 418-426.
- VAN GYLSWYK, N. O. 1990. Enumeration and presumptive identification of some functional groups of bacteria in the rumen of dairy cows fed grass silage-based diets. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, 6, 243-261.
- VANHATALO, A. & KETOJA, E. 1995. The role of the large intestine in post-ruminal digestion of feeds as measured by the mobile-bag method in cattle. *Br J Nutr*, 73, 491-505.
- VEIRA, D. M. 1986. The role of ciliate protozoa in nutrition of the ruminant. *J Anim Sci*, 63, 1547-60.
- VENEMAN, J. B., MUETZEL, S., HART, K. J., FAULKNER, C. L., MOORBY, J. M., PERDOK, H.
   B. & NEWBOLD, C. J. 2015. Does Dietary Mitigation of Enteric Methane Production Affect Rumen Function and Animal Productivity in Dairy Cows? *PLoS One*, 10, e0140282.
- VILLEGAS-RIVERA, G., VARGAS-CABRERA, Y., GONZALEZ-SILVA, N., AGUILERA-GARCIA, F., GUTIERREZ-VAZQUEZ, E., BRAVO-PATINO, A., CAJERO-JUAREZ, M., BAIZABAL-AGUIRRE, V. M. & VALDEZ-ALARCON, J. J. 2013. Evaluation of DNA extraction methods of rumen microbial populations. *World J Microbiol Biotechnol*, 29, 301-7.
- WALLACE, R. J., ROOKE, J. A., DUTHIE, C. A., HYSLOP, J. J., ROSS, D. W., MCKAIN, N., DE SOUZA, S. M., SNELLING, T. J., WATERHOUSE, A. & ROEHE, R. 2014. Archaeal abundance in post-mortem ruminal digesta may help predict methane emissions from beef cattle. *Sci Rep*, 4, 5892.
- WANG, L., XU, Q., KONG, F., YANG, Y., WU, D., MISHRA, S. & LI, Y. 2016a. Exploring the Goat Rumen Microbiome from Seven Days to Two Years. *PLoS One*, 11, e0154354.
- WANG, W., LI, C., LI, F., WANG, X., ZHANG, X., LIU, T., NIAN, F., YUE, X., LI, F., PAN, X., LA, Y., MO, F., WANG, F. & LI, B. 2016b. Effects of early feeding on the host rumen transcriptome and bacterial diversity in lambs. 6, 32479.
- WANG, W., LI, C., LI, F., WANG, X., ZHANG, X., LIU, T., NIAN, F., YUE, X., LI, F., PAN, X., LA, Y., MO, F., WANG, F. & LI, B. 2016c. Effects of early feeding on the host rumen transcriptome and bacterial diversity in lambs. *Scientific Reports*, 6, 32479.
- WANG, Z., ELEKWACHI, C. O., JIAO, J., WANG, M., TANG, S., ZHOU, C., TAN, Z. & FORSTER,
   R. J. 2017. Investigation and manipulation of metabolically active methanogen community composition during rumen development in black goats. *Scientific Reports*, 7, 422.
- WARDROP, I. D. & COOMBE, J. B. 2009. The post-natal growth of the visceral organs of the lamb I. The growth of the visceral organs of the grazing lamb from birth to sixteen weeks of age. *The Journal of Agricultural Science*, 54, 140-143.

- WARNER, R. G., FLATT, W. P. & LOOSLI, J. K. 1956. Ruminant Nutrition, Dietary Factors Influencing Development of Ruminant Stomach. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 4, 788-792.
- WATANABE, Y., NAGAI, F. & MOROTOMI, M. 2012. Characterization of Phascolarctobacterium succinatutens sp. nov., an Asaccharolytic, Succinate-Utilizing Bacterium Isolated from Human Feces. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 78, 511-518.
- WEESE, J. S. & JELINSKI, M. 2017. Assessment of the Fecal Microbiota in Beef Calves. *Journal* of Veterinary Internal Medicine, 31, 176-185.
- WEIMER, P. J. 2015. Redundancy, resilience, and host specificity of the ruminal microbiota: implications for engineering improved ruminal fermentations. *Front Microbiol*, 6, 296.
- WEIMER, P. J., STEVENSON, D. M., MANTOVANI, H. C. & MAN, S. L. 2010. Host specificity of the ruminal bacterial community in the dairy cow following near-total exchange of ruminal contents. *J Dairy Sci*, 93, 5902-12.
- WILKINSON, T. J., HUWS, S. A., EDWARDS, J. E., KINGSTON-SMITH, A. H., SIU-TING, K., HUGHES, M., RUBINO, F., FRIEDERSDORFF, M. & CREEVEY, C. J. 2018. CowPI: A Rumen Microbiome Focussed Version of the PICRUSt Functional Inference Software. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 9.
- WILLIAMS, A. G. 1986. Rumen holotrich ciliate protozoa. *Microbiological Reviews*, 50, 25-49.
- WILLIAMS, A. G. & COLEMAN, G. S. 1992. Metabolism of Entodiniomorphid Protozoa. *The Rumen Protozoa*. New York, NY: Springer New York.
- WILLIAMS, A. G. & COLEMAN, G. S. 1997. The rumen protozoa. *In:* HOBSON, P. N. & STEWART, C. S. (eds.) *The Rumen Microbial Ecosystem*. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands.
- WILLIAMS, Y. J., POPOVSKI, S., REA, S. M., SKILLMAN, L. C., TOOVEY, A. F., NORTHWOOD,K. S. & WRIGHT, A. D. 2009. A vaccine against rumen methanogens can alter the composition of archaeal populations. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 75, 1860-6.
- WOESE, C. R. 1987. Bacterial evolution. *Microbiological Reviews*, 51, 221-271.
- WOESE, C. R. & FOX, G. E. 1977. Phylogenetic structure of the prokaryotic domain: The primary kingdoms. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 74, 5088-5090.
- WOESE, C. R., GUTELL, R., GUPTA, R. & NOLLER, H. F. 1983. Detailed analysis of the higherorder structure of 16S-like ribosomal ribonucleic acids. *Microbiological Reviews*, 47, 621-669.
- WOLIN, M. J. 1960. A Theoretical Rumen Fermentation Balance. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 43, 1452-1459.
- WRIGHT, A.-D. G. & LYNN, D. H. 1997. Phylogenetic analysis of the rumen ciliate family Ophryoscolecidae based on 18S ribosomal RNA sequences, with new sequences from Diplodinium, Eudiplodinium, and Ophryoscolex. *Canadian Journal of Zoology*, 75, 963-970.
- WRIGHT, A. D., K. TAJIMA, AND R. I. AMINOV. 2005. 16S/18S ribosomal DNA clone library analysis of rumen microbial diversity, Springer.
- WUBAH, D. A. & KIM, D. S. 1996. Chemoattraction of anaerobic ruminal fungi zoospores to selected phenolic acids. *Microbiol Res*, 151, 257-62.
- XIA, Y., KONG, Y. H., SEVIOUR, R., FORSTER, R. J., KISIDAYOVA, S. & MCALLISTER, T. A. 2014. Fluorescence in situ hybridization probing of protozoal Entodinium spp. and their methanogenic colonizers in the rumen of cattle fed alfalfa hay or triticale straw. *J Appl Microbiol*, 116, 14-22.
- XIONG, H., GUO, B., GAN, Z., SONG, D., LU, Z., YI, H., WU, Y., WANG, Y. & DU, H. 2016. Butyrate upregulates endogenous host defense peptides to enhance disease resistance in piglets via histone deacetylase inhibition. *Scientific Reports*, 6, 27070.

- XU, J., CHEN, X., YU, S., SU, Y. & ZHU, W. 2016. Effects of Early Intervention with Sodium Butyrate on Gut Microbiota and the Expression of Inflammatory Cytokines in Neonatal Piglets. *PLoS One*, 11, e0162461.
- YANEZ-RUIZ, D. R., ABECIA, L. & NEWBOLD, C. J. 2015. Manipulating rumen microbiome and fermentation through interventions during early life: a review. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 6.
- YANEZ-RUIZ, D. R., MACIAS, B., PINLOCHE, E. & NEWBOLD, C. J. 2010. The persistence of bacterial and methanogenic archaeal communities residing in the rumen of young lambs. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol*, 72, 272-8.
- YANG, B., LE, J., WU, P., LIU, J., GUAN, L. L. & WANG, J. 2018. Alfalfa Intervention Alters Rumen Microbial Community Development in Hu Lambs During Early Life. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 9.
- YANG, W. Z., BEAUCHEMIN, K. A. & RODE, L. M. 2002. Effects of particle size of alfalfa-based dairy cow diets on site and extent of digestion. *J Dairy Sci*, 85, 1958-68.
- YEOMAN, C. J. & WHITE, B. A. 2014. Gastrointestinal tract microbiota and probiotics in production animals. *Annu Rev Anim Biosci*, 2, 469-86.
- YOHE, T. T., ENGER, B. D., WANG, L., TUCKER, H. L. M., CEH, C. A., PARSONS, C. L. M., YU,
  Z. & DANIELS, K. M. 2017. Short communication: Does early-life administration of a Megasphaera elsdenii probiotic affect long-term establishment of the organism in the rumen and alter rumen metabolism in the dairy calf? *J Dairy Sci*, 101, 1747-1751.
- YOUSUF, S., SUDHA, N., MURUGESAN, G. & ENOCH, I. V. 2013. Isolation of Prunin from the fruit shell of Bixa orellana and the effect of beta-cyclodextrin on its binding with calf thymus DNA. *Carbohydr Res*, 365, 46-51.
- YU, Z. & MORRISON, M. 2004. Improved extraction of PCR-quality community DNA from digesta and fecal samples. *BioTechniques*, 36, 808-812.
- ZHOU, M., CHEN, Y., GRIEBEL, P. J. & GUAN LE, L. 2014. Methanogen prevalence throughout the gastrointestinal tract of pre-weaned dairy calves. *Gut Microbes*, 5, 628-38.
- ZHOU, M., CHEN, Y. & GUAN, L. L. 2015. Rumen Bacteria. *In:* PUNIYA, A. K., SINGH, R. & KAMRA, D. N. (eds.) *Rumen Microbiology: From Evolution to Revolution*. New Delhi: Springer India.
- ZHOU, M., CHUNG, Y. H., BEAUCHEMIN, K. A., HOLTSHAUSEN, L., OBA, M., MCALLISTER, T. A. & GUAN, L. L. 2011. Relationship between rumen methanogens and methane production in dairy cows fed diets supplemented with a feed enzyme additive. J Appl Microbiol, 111, 1148-58.
- ZHOU, M., PENG, Y.-J., CHEN, Y., KLINGER, C. M., OBA, M., LIU, J.-X. & GUAN, L. L. 2018. Assessment of microbiome changes after rumen transfaunation: implications on improving feed efficiency in beef cattle. *Microbiome*, 6, 62.
## 1.9 Figures



**Figure 1.1:** Schematic representation of the gastrointestinal tract of ruminant animals.



Figure 1.2: Diagram of rumen epithelial structure and major microbial fermentation pathways and products.

#### Chapter 2

# Diet, age, and farm environment influence rumen microbial establishment patterns during early life

#### 2.1 Introduction

The symbiotic rumen microbiota is a diverse community of prokaryotic and eukaryotic microorganisms, contributing to host production via the bioconversion of ingested feed to VFAs and other nutrients. Furthermore, it is associated with a plethora of important economic traits in cattle, including feed efficiency (Guan et al., 2008, Li and Guan, 2017, Sasson et al., 2017, Shabat et al., 2016) and milk composition (Jami et al., 2014). However, methanogenesis performed by the rumen archaea limits host energy harvesting efficiency by 2-12% and contributes around 18% of agriculturally derived GHG emissions annually (FAO, 2013). Thus, improving the efficiency of animal protein production systems whilst ameliorating their climatic impact has become a priority to meet the requirements of a rising global population (FAO, 2013).

The rumen microbiota differs at a compositional and functional level between beef cattle of high and low feed efficiency (Guan et al., 2008, Li and Guan, 2017, Carberry et al., 2012, Carberry et al., 2014a, Carberry et al., 2014b), and thus redirection of the rumen microbiota to improve its digestion capacity has been investigated as a method of enhancing host feed efficiency and host productivity (Zhou et al., 2018, Denman and McSweeney, 2015, McAllister and Newbold, 2008, Wang et al., 2017, Yanez-Ruiz et al., 2015, Yang et al., 2018). However, the settled and resilient nature of the adult rumen microbiota makes it refractory to permanent change (Weimer, 2015, Weimer et al., 2010). However, recent work indicates that preweaned ruminants may harbour a more heterogenous microbiota than that evident in adulthood (Jami et al., 2013, Abecia et al., 2017, Yanez-Ruiz et al., 2015, Abecia et al., 2014b), which is more amenable to persistent manipulation via dietary or management interventions. This has led to renewed interest in the composition and function of the rumen microbiota during early life.

Microbial life has been detected in the rumen as early as 20 minutes post-partum, though many of the taxa present were not usual members of the rumen consortium (Guzman et al., 2015). Several additional studies have investigated temporal dynamics of the calf rumen microbiota during the first weeks of life (Fonty et al., 1983a, Fonty et al., 1987, Fonty et al., 1989, Stewart et al., 1988, Malmuthuge et al., 2014, Rey et al., 2013). However, despite these significant efforts, substantial gaps and limitations remain in our knowledge of microbial establishment patterns during early life. For instance, much current understanding is drawn from studies using small ruminants such as sheep and goats (Abecia et al., 2014b, Martínez-Fernández et al., 2014, Yanez-Ruiz et al., 2015, Abecia et al., 2013, Yanez-Ruiz et al., 2010, Martinez-Fernandez et al., 2015), which may not be applicable to beef or dairy calves due to physiological and metabolic differences. Furthermore, studies performed in young cattle typically use dairy bull calves (Malmuthuge et al., 2014, Rey et al., 2013, Jami et al., 2013), and it is unclear if rumen microbial colonization of beef calves is that of dairy calves due to their varied rearing managements (isolation from dam in dairy production vs. raised with dam in beef systems). Finally, most studies exploring microbial dynamics in the developing rumen to date have relied exclusively on transoesophageal sampling of the fluid fraction, which may not be sufficient to describe the total rumen microbiota (Cammack et al., 2018).

In this study, we examined the dynamics of prokaryotic succession in the rumen solid and fluid phase digesta of calves raised on two farms during early life and postweaning using DNA amplicon sequencing of the 16S rRNA gene, with a view to further characterise patterns of microbial development in the rumen and to assess microbial changes that occur with normal dietary transitions in beef calves during early life.

#### 2.2 Materials and methods

#### 2.2.1 Ethical statement

All experimental procedures described herein were approved and carried out under certification from the Teagasc Animal Ethics Committee (TAEC) and the Irish Health Products Regulatory Association (HPRA; certification number AE19132).

## 2.2.2 Experimental animal trial

Animal management protocols have previously been described (Surlis et al., 2017). Ninety-three commercially purchased Aberdeen Angus crossbred (all had an Aberdeen Angus sire) heifers were obtained for this experimental trial and housed together at Teagasc Mellows Campus, Athenry, Co. Galway, Ireland (F1). Oestrous cycles were synchronised using a standard 7-day PRID protocol, and each heifer was then artificially inseminated with semen from a single pedigree Aberdeen Angus bull, selected for ease of calving (EBI Five Star Rating; Portauns Mike), resulting in 66 viable pregnancies divided into four calving replicates. Foetal sex was determined at 100 days of gestation. In the third trimester of gestation, heifers in replicates 3 and 4 were transferred to a second research farm (DAFM Longtown Research Facility, Clane, Co. Kildare, Ireland, F2) for calving. Heifers were housed indoors for eight weeks prior to the projected date of calving and had *ad libitum* access to a medium energy diet (concentrates plus grass silage). Experimental design and calf management is detailed in Fig. 2.1. One week prior to calving, heifers were blocked by foetal sex into one of seven groups based on their day of slaughter: euthanised immediately following birth (vaginally delivered (NAT) n = 11, delivered via elective caesarean section (ECS, n = 10); vaginally delivered and euthanised on D7 of life (D7 – n = 8); D14 (n = 9);  $D_{21}(n = 9)$ ;  $D_{28}(n = 10)$ ;  $D_{96}(n = 9)$ . To facilitate prompt sample collection, heifers not assigned to the ECS group received a 2ml injection of prostaglandin (Estrumate<sup>™</sup>, Merck) 48 hours prior to projected calving date to induce parturition. Caesarean sections were carried out by a veterinary surgeon, following a standard veterinary protocol. Calves assigned to both Do treatments were delivered onto sterilised plastic and euthanised within 5 minutes of delivery via an intravenous injection of pentobarbital sodium (Dolethal<sup>™</sup> (Vetoquinol, France), or Euthatal (Boehringer, UK), 1ml/1.4kg of live weight). Death was verified by the absence of a corneal reflex and heartbeat. Calves assigned to subsequent groups (D7-D96) were allowed to suckle their dam for 48 hours post-partum and were housed individually thereafter. Calves were offered 5L of milk replacer daily in one feeding (Blossom<sup>TM</sup>, Volac, UK), housed on clean straw, and had access to clean drinking water. Calves assigned to the D14-D96 treatment groups were offered milk replacer with calf starter (Suckler Mate<sup>TM</sup>; DOC Feeds, Ireland) at a rate of 300g/d from D7-14, 500g/d between days 14-21, 700g/d between days 21-28, 1kg/day from D21 until weaning, and on an ad libitum basis thereafter. Calves were weaned around D56 of life, when they had consumed at least 1kg of calf starter/day for three consecutive days. Calves were subsequently offered calf starter, hay, and water *ad libitum* for the remainder of the experimental period until D96.

Calves were euthanised after morning feeding on the dates described above. The gastrointestinal tract was quickly exteriorised, and a sample of rumen digesta was collected and passed through four layers of cheesecloth to separate the solid and liquid fractions. These were then collected separately in sterile 50ml tubes, snap-frozen on liquid nitrogen, and stored at -80°C pending molecular analysis. There was insufficient content in the new-born rumen (both Do groups) to facilitate sample collection, and so the interior wall of the rumen was swabbed using a sterile polystyrene swab to collect the small amount of fluid present, and the entire swab was immediately snap-frozen within a sterile collection tube. All samples were collected and frozen within 25 minutes of verification of death.

#### 2.2.3 DNA isolation

Frozen digesta samples were ground to a fine powder under liquid nitrogen using a chilled pestle and mortar prior to DNA extraction. Genomic DNA was then isolated from approximately 250mg of ground rumen solid/liquid digesta using the repeated bead beating with column purification (RBB+C) method as previously described (Yu, 2004). DNA quantity was assessed by two consecutive readings on a Nanodrop1000 (Thermo-Fisher, CA, USA) and purity was verified via visualisation in a 1% agarose gel. DNA was isolated from swabs in a similar manner; prior to bead beating, the swab was submerged in 1000µl of sterile phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) for 5 minutes, and vigorously vortexed for ~5 minutes to ensure removal of microbial cells. The swab was then removed, and the supernatant was used in the standard RBB+C protocol as described above.

## 2.2.4 16S rRNA gene amplicon library preparation and sequencing

Amplicon libraries targeting the V4 hypervariable region of the bacterial 16S rRNA gene purified DNA extracts prepared from using the primers 515F (5'were GTGCCAGCMGCCGCGGTAA) and 806R (5' - GGACTACHVHHHTWTCTAAT) (Caporaso et al., 2011). Cycle conditions were as follows: initial denaturation at 95°C for 3 minutes, followed by 25 cycles of 95°C for 30 seconds, annealing at 55°C for 30 seconds, elongation at 72°C for 30 seconds, followed by a final elongation step of 72°C for 5 minutes. The primers 915aF (5' AGGAATTGGCGGGGGGGGGCAC and 1386R (5'- GCGGTGTGTGCAAGGAGC) (Jeyanathan et al., 2011) were used to amplify the V6-V8 portion of the archaeal 16S rRNA gene, using the same conditions described above. It was not possible to produce a bacterial or archaeal amplicon from the rumen swabs or tissue of new-born calves (ECS or NAT), and thus these samples were excluded from further analysis in the present study. Amplicon libraries were indexed with Illumina Nextera indices using an 8 cycle PCR with the same conditions as above and purified using AMPure beads (Illumina, USA). Bacterial libraries underwent 2x250bp paired end sequencing on an Illumina MiSeq (TrinSeq, Dublin, Ireland), while 2x300bp paired end sequencing was employed for the archaeal libraries using the same platform at a commercial sequencing laboratory (Genome Quebec, QC, Canada).

## 2.2.5 Bioinformatic analysis

Demultiplexed paired-end 16S rRNA gene sequences were merged and quality-filtered using the BBTools suite (Bushnell, 2015), with a minimum per-base phred score cut-off of 25, and were analysed using tools implemented in the QIIME wrapper (v.1.9). Chimeric reads were

removed using USEARCH (v.6.1) (Edgar, 2010). Both bacterial and archaeal taxonomic classification used the open reference OTU picking strategy implemented in QIIME. Bacterial sequences were first clustered into Operational Taxonomic Units (OTU) at a 97% similarity threshold using UCLUST (Edgar,2010). A representative of each bacterial OTU was aligned against the Greengenes database (v.13\_5) for microbial classification. Archaeal sequences were clustered into OTUs at 99% similarity using UCLUST. A representative sequence from each OTU was then aligned to the Rumen and Intestinal Methanogens Database (RIM-DB) (Seedorf et al., 2014) using BLAST (Altschul et al., 1990) with a maximum e-value of 0.001 for species assignment. BIOM table files created in QIIME were exported to R (R Team, 2008) for all downstream statistical analyses and visualisation.

## 2.2.6 Statistical analysis

Alpha diversity indices (OTU Richness, Simpson's Index of Diversity) were calculated based on rarefied OTU tables in R using the Phyloseq (McMurdie and Holmes, 2013) package, and plotted with ggplot2 (Wickham, 2016). Significant differences in  $\alpha$ -diversity indices across groups were determined using a non-parametric Kruskall-Wallis test and Dunn's post-hoc test (Dunn, 1964), with *P*<0.05 declared as significant. Non-metric multidimensional scaling (nMDS) analysis was performed and plotted in R using Bray Curtis dissimilarity matrices. Permutational Multivariate Analysis of Variance (PERMANOVA) tests in Vegan (Dixon, 2003) were used to assess the effect of time, location, and rumen digesta fraction on the bacterial and archaeal community structure. Mean sample divergence ( $\beta$ -dispersion) across farms and age group was also performed using Vegan, and significant differences were determined using Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) and Tukey's Honest Test for multiple comparisons, with *P*<0.05 declared as significant.

Differential abundance analysis of microbial taxa at the phylum and genus levels was carried out against a negative binomial distribution implemented as the Wald test in DeSeq2 (Love et al., 2014). To determine the longitudinal development of the rumen microbiota, age was included as a fixed effect and the model controlled for farm and calf gender. The model design was adjusted appropriately to test for differences according to rumen fraction and farm environment at each time-point, while controlling for variation in other factors. For taxonomic comparisons, raw *P*-values were adjusted into FDR and statistical significance was declared at FDR-adjusted *P*-value <0.05, with trends occurring at FDR-adjusted *P*<0.1. Only taxa contributing at least 0.01% of sequences in one age category were deemed detected, and further divided into minor (<0.1%) and major ( $\geq$ 0.1%) for ease of description.

## 2.3 Results

## 2.3.1 Sequence data information

Paired end DNA amplicon sequencing of the partial 16S rRNA genes yielded 9,349,786 (mean of 108,718  $\pm$  60,742 reads per sample) and 3,394,846 (41,912  $\pm$  9,105) high quality bacterial and archaeal sequences, respectively. Sequencing depth for both archaeal and bacterial communities was sufficient as demonstrated by Goods Coverage rate > 97% for all samples, and inspection of rarefaction curves based on bacterial OTU/archaeal species richness (Appendix A).

## 2.3.2 Rumen microbial diversity and structure during early life2.3.2.1 α-Diversity

There was no significant effect of rumen fraction on bacterial or archaeal  $\alpha$ -diversity during early life (*P*>0.05). Alpha-diversity indices of the rumen bacterial community remained stable for the first four weeks of life, but OTU Richness and Simpson Diversity values were higher in weaned (D96) animals compared to all pre-weaned calves (Fig. 2.2, *P*<0.05). When compared across farms, F1 animals had a richer rumen archaeome than F2 animals (Fig. 2.3, *P*<0.05). Opposite trends were evident for the bacteria, with F2 animals having significantly higher OTU Richness and Simpson Diversity values (Fig. 2.3, *P*<0.05, Fig. 2.3)

#### **2.3.2.2** β-Diversity

NMDS plots (Fig. 2.4, Fig. 2.5) and PERMANOVA tests (Table 2.1) of rumen liquid and solid digesta microbiota showed no differences in bacterial or archaeal community structure between the two fractions (P>0.05). There were significant effects of age (P<0.05, Fig. 2.4), and farm (P<0.05, Fig. 2.5) on both bacterial and archaeal communities. NMDS plots of both solid and fluid fractions exhibited similar temporal patterns. Bacterial profiles of 7-day old calves clustered together, and those of 14-day old calves formed a relatively distinct cluster for both fluid and solid fractions. The D21 and D28 samples also clustered closely, while those of D96 old calves formed another distinct cluster (Fig. 2.4a). Less obvious temporal clustering was evident for the archaeal communities (Fig. 2.4b), but there was a more pronounced farm effect in both liquid and solid fractions compared to the bacteria (Fig. 2.5a). Group divergence ( $\beta$ -dispersion, i.e. mean distance to the centroid) based on the Bray-Curtis dissimilarity was used to assess if these

dissimilarities were attributable to differences in community dispersion. There was no significant difference in dispersion of bacterial communities based on age or farm (P>0.05), but the archaeal community of calves raised on F1 had greater inter-animal variation than those raised on F2 (P<0.05, Fig. 2.5d). There was a limited age effect on the archaeal community  $\beta$  -dispersion, with D28 animals' rumen archaeome being significantly more dissimilar to each other than that of D14 calves (P<0.05).

## 2.3.3 Microbial composition in the rumen digesta during early life

Twenty bacterial phyla were present between both fractions in the bovine rumen digesta during early life. The most abundant phyla across all samples were *Firmicutes* (41.98%; mean proportion of total bacterial 16S rRNA reads for all solid and liquid fraction samples), *Bacteroidetes* (36.49%), and *Proteobacteria* (8.79%). *Actinobacteria* (6.33%), *Fibrobacteres* (1.25%), *Spirochaetes* (1.13%) and *Cyanobacteria* (1.03%) were also prominent members of the rumen bacteriome. Other less abundant phyla included *Fusobacteria* (0.81%), *Tenericutes* (0.42%), *Synergistes* (0.25%), *Planctomycetes* and *Elusimicrobia* (both 0.12%). Abundances of detected rumen phyla are presented in Fig. 2.6. Details of the remaining eight rumen phyla are presented in Appendix B.

*Prevotella* was the most abundant bacterial genus (22.49%), followed by unclassified *Lachnospiraceae* (4.66%), unclassified *Clostridiales* (4.55%), and *Bacteroides* (4.00%). Abundances of the most prominent rumen bacteria are presented in Figs. 2.7 and 2.8, and details of all detected genera are presented in Appendix C. The methanogenic archaea were dominated by *Methanobrevibacter spp.*, including the predominant *Mbb. gottshalkii* clade (28.30%), *Mbb. ruminantium* (25.98%), *Mbb. smithii* (19.89%), *Mbb. wolinii* (6.75%), and *Mbb. boviskoreani* (4.89%). Members of the *Methanosphaera* genus and *Methanomassilicoccaceae* family were also detected, and details of their abundances are presented in Fig. 2.8. Both bacterial and archaeal communities were significantly influenced by diet and/or calf age, as well as farm environment during early life, and the following sections will outline these changes.

## 2.3.4 Effect of rumen fraction on microbial composition during early life

While  $\beta$ -diversity analyses described above did not show broad scale microbial differences between the solid and liquid fractions, we investigated if there were compositional differences at the phylum or and genus levels throughout early life. Only taxa that contributed at least 0.1% in either rumen fraction within a time point are described here. Clear taxonomic divergence between rumen fractions was only evident on D7. The relative abundances of *Fusobacterium* (4.48% vs 2.53%), *Veillonella* (3.87% vs. 1.01%), *Fibrobacter* (1.44% vs. 0.85%), *Odoribacter* (1.68% vs. 0.06%), *Succiniclasticum* (1.56% vs. 1.22%) and unclassified *o.Bacteriodales* (2.07% vs. 1.50%) were higher in the solid fraction compared to those in the fluid (P<0.05). Conversely, the relative abundances of *Porphyromonas* (3.51% vs. 4.62%), unclassified *f.Lachnospiraceae* (2.37% vs. 2.96%), unclassified *f.Alcaligenacae* (1.35% vs. 2.31%), *Comamonas* (1.35% vs 3.55%) and *Parabacteroides* (1.52% vs 0.51%) were higher in the rumen fluid (P<0.05) than in the solid. The only significant difference observed at subsequent time points was the increased abundance of putative [*Prevotella*] genus in the rumen fluid of 28-day old calves compared to that of the solid fraction (P<0.05). Archaeal community composition was similar across fractions, with no significant differences found (P>0.05). Details of all differentially abundant taxa according to digesta fraction are presented in Table 2.2.

## 2.3.5 Temporal development of the rumen microbiota during early life

Temporally adjacent contrasts (i.e. D14 vs D7, D21 vs D14, D28 vs D21, and D96 vs D28) of microbial relative abundances were performed using DeSeq2 to assess the development of both rumen solid and liquid fraction microbiota during early life, and its response to early life dietary change and calf development (age).

## 2.3.5.1 Rumen liquid digesta

Sixteen bacterial phyla were detected ( $\geq 0.01\%$  of total abundance in at least one age group) in the rumen fluid during early life. *Bacteroidetes, Proteobacteria, Firmicutes* and *Actinobacteria* were consistently the most abundant phyla in all age groups, except on D96 when *Cyanobacteria* (4.50%) were more abundant than *Actinobacteria* (4.27%) (Fig. 2.6). The abundance of *Firmicutes* increased significantly by D14 (19.05% - 51.74%) and remained the most abundant taxa for the remainder of the experimental period. *Elusimicrobia* was also more abundant on D14 (ND – 0.50%), while *Proteobacteria* (19.75% - 4.01%), *Fusobacteria* (2.57% - 0.20%), and *Bacteroides* (51.33% - 31.41%) had significantly reduced abundance by D14 compared to D7 (*P*<0.05). *Proteobacteria* (4.01% - 10.61%), *Cyanobacteria* (0.06% - 1.59%), and *Planctomycetes* (ND – 0.12%) was of greater abundance on D21 compared to D14 (*P*<0.05). The relative abundances of *Verucomicrobia* (2.206% - 0.43%), *Elusimicrobia* (0.50% - 0.03%), and *Fusobacteria* (0.20% - 0.03%) all reduced within the same timeframe (*P*<0.05). There were no significant differences in bacterial composition at the phylum level between 28- and 96-day old

calves. Abundance of *Cyanobacteria* was higher on day 96 (4.50%) compared to day 28 (1.03%), while *TM7* (recently reclassified as *Saccharibacteria* (He et al., 2015) (ND – 0.41%), *Elusimicrobia* (0.11% - 0.28%), *WPS-2* (ND – 0.18%) and *Planctomycetes* (0.10% - 0.12%) had increased abundances in the same period (P<0.05).

To better understand the biological implications of these changes, we investigated microbial dynamics during early life at the genus level. In the rumen liquid digesta, 99 genera were above the detectable limit ( $\geq 0.01\%$  in one age group). For ease of description, only taxa with abundance  $\ge 0.1\%$  in at least one time point within a temporally adjacent contrast are presented here. Fourteen genera had greater abundance on D14 than D7 (P<0.05) including *Prevotella* (9.85% - 22.200%), Catenibacterium (0.01% - 6.30%), Roseburia (0.01% - 4.30%), Bifidobacterium (0.01% - 5.16%), Lachnospira (0.03% - 2.33%), Megasphaera (0.01% - 5.60%), Acidaminococcus (0.01% - 0.57%), f.Coriobacteriaceae (0.08% - 1.27%), [Eubacterium] (0.01% - 0.24%), Lactobacillus (0.05% - 1.01%), Mitsuokella (ND – 0.14%), Psudo. Eubacterium (0.01% - 0.35%), Succinivibrio (0.05% - 0.72%), f.Lachnospiraceae (2.96% - 7.86%) and f. Succinivibrionaceae (0.02% - 0.23%). Twenty-two bacterial genera had significantly lower abundance on D14 versus D7 (P<0.05), including Bacteroides (13.23% - 4.53%), f.Neisseriaceae (4.01% - 0.80%), Actinomycetes (2.33% - 0.68%), Oscillospira (1.04% - 0.53%), Butyricimonas (1.37% - 0.30%), Porphyromonas (4.62% - 0.27%), Gallibacterium (5.30% - 0.20%), Fusobacterium (2.53% - 0.19%), Bibersteinia (0.57% - 0.08%), Corynebacterium (0.15% -0.04%), Acinetobacter (0.46% - 0.04%), Moraxella (0.34% - 0.04%), Peptostreptococcus (0.42% - 0.03%), Haemophilus (0.26% - 0.03%), f.[Weeksellaceae] (0.16% - 0.03%), Kingella (0.21% -0.02%) and Peptococcus (0.13% - 0.01%). Although they were present in rumen on D7, Parvimonas, f.Pasteurellaceae, c.Alphaproteobacteria, Filifactor, and Paludibacter were not detected in the rumen fluid on D14 of life (P<0.05). Methanobrevibacter ruminantium (35.35%) was the most abundant archaeal species in the rumen fluid on D7, followed by Mbb. smithii (30.98%), Mbb gottshalkii (26.58%) and Mbb. wolinii (2.54%). Mbb boviskoreani, Methanosphaera sp. A4 and Methanosphaera sp. ISO3-F5 were minor (<0.1%) contributors to archaeal composition on D7, and there were no significant shifts in the methanogen community between days 7 and 14.

Seven bacterial genera had significantly higher abundances on D21 compared to D14, including *Butyrivibrio* (0.21% - 3.81%), *f.Veillonellaceae* (0.49% - 1.96%), *o.YS2* (ND - 1.58%), *Anaerostipes* (ND - 0.82%), *S24-7* (0.01% - 0.46%), *Sharpea* (0.01% - 0.31%), and *Pirellulaceae* (ND - 0.12%) (*P*<0.05), while 17 taxa had reduced abundances on D21, including

f.Lachnospiraceae (7.86% - 2.96%), Bacteroides (4.53% - 1.78%), Oscillospira (0.53% - 0.37%), Parabacteroides (0.93% - 0.33%), Phascolarctobacterium (0.57% - 0.29%), Veillonella (3.02% -0.27%), Anaerovibrio (0.76% - 0.22%), putative [Ruminococcus] (0.79% - 0.14%), Lactobacillus (1.01% - 0.14%), Pseudobutyrivibrio (0.20% - 0.11%), f.Succinivibrionaceae (0.23% - 0.09%), Streptococcus (4.38% - 0.07%), Actinomyces (0.68% - 0.07%), Gallibacterium (0.20% - 0.02%), Porphyromonas (0.27% - 0.02%), Fusobacterium (0.19% - 0.01%), and Akkermansia (2.206% -ND) (P<0.05). Three methanogenic species belonging to the *Methanomassillicoccaceae* were only detected from D21 onward; and the abundances of Candidatus Methanomethylophilus alvus (7.06% of archaeal 16S rRNA gene sequences on D21), Group 9 sp. CH1270 (9.10%), Group 9 sp. MpT1 (0.13%). Methanosphaera sp. A4 also increased significantly (ND - 8.48%) in this period (P < 0.05). Additionally, the abundances of three bacterial genera changed significantly between days 21 and 28 with Ruminobacter (2.23% - ND) and Dialister (1.80% - 1.41%) having lower abundances on D28, while the abundance of *Phascolarctobacterium* increased (0.29% - 0.30%) (P<0.05). For archaea, Candidatus Methanomethylophilus alvus was not detected, while Methanomassillicoccaceae Group 12 sp. ISO4-H5 emerged (5.41% on D28), as did Group 10 sp. (9.73%) (*P*<0.05) on D28.

Between days 28 and 96, *Mbb. boviskoreani* had significantly higher abundance in the weaned calves (D96) compared to the 28-day-old animals (0.05% - 22.203%), while Candidatus *Methanomethylophilus alvus* increased from <0.01% - 0.49% on D96 (P<0.05). Methanomassillicoccaceae Group 9 sp. CH1270 had lower abundance in weaned calves (0.80% -0.02%) (P<0.05). The abundances of twenty bacterial genera were higher on D96 compared to D28, including o.Clostridiales (2.90% - 8.71%), f.Ruminococcaceae (1.80% - 5.79%), o.Bacteriodales (1.83% - 5.70%), f.Succinivibrionaceae (0.14% - 4.79%), o.RF39 (0.17% -1.87%), Treponema (0.54% - 1.52%), Shuttleworthia (0.02% - 1.18%), Coprococcus (0.02% - 1.03%), YRC22 (0.06% - 1.00%), o.RF32 (0.02% - 0.87%), f.F16 (ND - 0.41%), f.RF16 (ND - 0.32%), f.Elusimicrobiaceae (ND - 0.25%), Pseudobutyrivibrio (0.02% - 0.25%), f.Christensenellaceae (ND - 0.23%), p.WPS-2 (ND - 0.18%), c.Alphaproteobacteria (0.01% - 0.18%), Ruminobacter (ND – 0.15%), *f.Pirellulaceae* (0.11% - 0.12%), and *o.ML615J-28* (ND – 0.11%). Fifteen bacterial genera had lower abundances in postweaning, including Dialister (1.41% - 0.33%), Catenibacterium (5.82% - 0.37%), Bacteroides (1.20% - 0.11%), Succinivibrio (9.45% - 1.25%), Oscillospira (0.32% - 0.11%), Roseburia (2.23% - 0.53%), Pseudo. Eubacterium (0.23% - 0.15%), Collinsella (0.21% - ND), Parabacteroides (0.29% - 0.01%), Phascolarctobacterium (0.30% -ND), Blautia (0.42% - 0.04%), Corynebacterium (0.23% - 0.02%), Campylobacter (0.23% -0.04%), Anaerostipes (0.29% - 0.09%), and Lactobacillus (0.13% - 0.02%) (P<0.05).

#### 2.3.5.2 Rumen solid digesta

Broadly reflecting the characteristics of the rumen liquid digesta, among the 20 bacterial phyla detected in the rumen solid fraction, *Bacteroidetes, Firmicutes, Actinobacteria*, and *Proteobacteria* were consistently the most abundant, though their relative proportions changed significantly with age (Fig. 2.6). Methanogenic archaea were represented exclusively by the *Euryarchaeota* phylum. *Firmicutes* became the most abundant phylum by D14 (27.95% - 50.98%; P<0.05) and did not change significantly thereafter. The relative abundance of *Actinobacteria* increased between days 7 and 14 (5.43% - 9.54%; P<0.05), while that of *Proteobacteria* decreased in the same timeframe (11.86% - 2.205%; P<0.05). The abundance of *Fusobacteria* tended (P<0.1) to be lower on D14 compared to D7 (4.47% - 0.82%) and decreased significantly again on D21 (0.04%; P<0.05). The abundance of *Cyanobacteria* was higher on D21 (1.17%) versus D14 (0.16%; P<0.05). No phyla changed in abundance between days 21 and 28, but *Cyanobacteria* (0.65% - 0.98%) was of higher abundance on D28 compared to D96 (P<0.05).

Temporal changes in bacterial proportions in the rumen solid digesta resembled those observed among the liquid microbiota. The abundance of thirty-seven bacterial genera changed significantly between days 7 and 14, corresponding to the introduction of calf starter. Of these, fourteen increased (P<0.05) including Megasphaera (ND (not detected) - 8.31%), Lachnospira (0.02% - 2.49%), Acidaminococcus (ND - 2.62%), Roseburia (ND - 4.00%), Bifidobacterium (0.01% - 5.90%), Mitsuokella (ND - 0.17%), Catenibacterium (ND – 4.14%), [Eubacterium] (ND - 0.24%), Psuedoramibacter\_Eubacterium (0.01%- 0.29%), f.Coriobacteriaceae (f = family, unclassified at the genus level; 0.06% - 2.37%), Faecalibacterium (ND - 0.77%), Succinivibrio (0.03% - 0.37%), *o.RF32* (o = order, ND - 0.14%), and *Blautia* (0.21% - 1.50%). The proportion of *Prevotella* tended (P < 0.1) to be higher on D14 (9.90 – 23.67%), and it was the most abundant genus at all subsequent ages. Conversely, the abundances of eleven major genera ( $\geq 0.1\%$  total abundance) declined between days 7 and 14 (P<0.05). Bacteroides was predominant genus on D7 but its abundance reduced from 13.60% to 4.68% on D14, and the abundances of Veillonella (3.87% - 3.57%), o.Clostridiales (5.26% - 1.35%), Fusobacterium (4.48% - 0.81%), Oscillospira (0.93% - 0.53%), Succiniclasticum (1.56% - 0.48%), Porphyromonas (3.51% - 0.45%), f.Erysipelotrichaceae (0.55% - 0.28%), Actinomyces (4.68% - 0.21%), Clostridium (0.24% -0.19%), and f. Mogibacteriaceae (0.78% - 0.18%) also declined. The abundances of the remaining 11 genera, Coprococcus, Peptostreptococcus, Adlercreutzia, Comamonas, Acinetobacter, Peptococcus, Parvimonas, Helcococcus, Paludibacter, Filifactor and Desulfotomaculum reduced (P<0.05) on D14 to such a degree that they contributed < 0.1% total bacterial abundance (Fig. 2.9).

The abundances of 22 genera changed significantly between days 14 and 21. Of these, 9 had higher abundances on D21 (P<0.05) including Anaerostipes (ND – 0.43%), *f. Pirellulaceae* (ND – 0.42%), *o.YS2* (ND – 1.08%), *f. S24-7* (proposed reclassification Candidatius Homeothermaceae (Ormerod et al., 2016); 0.01% - 1.11%), *f. RFP12* (ND – 0.33%), Butyrivibrio (0.41% - 6.74%), Sharpea (ND – 0.23%), Succiniclastium (0.48% - 3.25%), and *o.Clostridiales* (1.35% - 4.92%). The abundances of Bacteroides (4.68% - 0.50%), Veillonella (3.57% - 0.45%), and Oscillospira (0.53% - 0.20%) were lower on D21 (P<0.05) than on D14. Finally, the abundances of Meganomonas, Akkermansia, Parabacteroides, *f.Erysipelotrichaceae*, Fusobacterium, [Ruminococcus], f.Alcaligenaceae, Porphyromonas, Dorea, and Actinomyces reduced significantly (P<0.05) on D21 compared to D14 and were minor taxa (<0.1% total bacterial abundance) on D21. As at the phylum level, no bacterial genera or archaeal species differed significantly in abundance between days 21 and 28.

Between days 28 and 96, which included the weaning transition around day 56, abundances of seventeen bacterial genera changed significantly, as well as several minor taxa which are detailed in Appendix C. Nine had higher abundance in the rumen solid fraction of weaned calves (P<0.05) including *Coprococcus* (0.06% - 0.98%), *f.F16* (ND – 0.19%), *Atopobium* (ND – 0.13%), *Shuttleworthia* (ND – 1.11%), *f.Succinivibrionaceae* (0.08% - 4.21%), *f.Christensenellaceae* (0.01% - 0.32%), *f.Ruminococcaceae* (2.04% - 5.33%), *o.RF32* (0.01% - 0.20%) and *Sharpea* (0.16% - 1.64%). Conversely, *Bacteroides* (0.36% - 0.02%), *Campylobacter* (0.29% - 0.01%), *Corynebacterium* (0.1% - 0.01%), *Succinivibrio* (5.49% - 0.85%), *Catenibacterium* (4.75% - 0.58%), *Blautia* (0.39% - 0.11%), *Clostridium* (0.70% - 0.06%) and *Roseburia* (1.40% - 0.34%) were the eight bacterial taxa that had significantly lower abundance in the solid fraction between days 28-96, while the abundances of archaeal species were unchanged. Temporal dynamics of selected bacterial groups in the rumen digesta are presented in Figures 2.7-2.12, and are further discussed below.

# **2.3.6** Influence of farm on microbial community composition in the rumen during early life

As we noted substantial difference in taxonomic composition according to the farm on which calves were raised (Figs. 2.5, 2.8), further analysis was performed to ascertain what taxa were contributing to this dissimilarity. Based on their demonstrated similarity, and to increase statistical power, solid and liquid taxonomic profiles were combined for differential abundance analysis. To more robustly assess if diet is confounded with the farm effect, the analysis was performed with the animals grouped according to diet - MR (milk replacer only, D7 calves), MS (milk replacer plus calf starter, days 14, 21, 28), and HS (hay and starter, D96 calves), based on their similar taxonomic profile (Fig. 2.2). Seventeen genera were significantly influenced by farm in both MR and MS groups (P<0.05), while nine and four genera were common to both MS and HS, and MR and HS groups, respectively. We identified six "core" bacterial genera that were significantly affected by farm during early life across all dietary groups: *f.RFP12* (from *p.Verrucomicrobia*), *Atopobium, Dialister, Pseduoramibacter\_Eubacterium, Shuttleworthia*, and *o.ML615J-28* (*p.Tenericutes*) (P<0.05, Fig. 2.13). The response to farm was not consistent for each bacterial taxon. For example, *Shuttleworthia* was more abundant on F1 in both MR and MS groups, but more abundant on F2 in the HS animals (P<0.05), but the other five genera had a similar response throughout the experimental period with *Dialister* being more abundant on F2, while the remaining taxa were more abundant on F1 (P<0.05).

The abundances of seven archaeal species were significantly influenced by farm. *Mbb. smithii, Methanosphaera sp. A4, Mbb. boviskoreani* and the *Methanomassillicoccaceae* members *Candidatus Methanomethylphilus alvus, Group 10 sp.,* and *Group 9 sp. CH1270* were more abundant on F1 than F2 (P<0.05), while *Mbb. ruminantium* was more abundant on F2 (P<0.05). When animals were grouped by diet as described above, only *Mbb. smithii* was affected by farm in each group, being consistently more abundant on F2 (P<0.05). *Mbb. ruminantium* was more abundant on F1 in both MR and MS groups (P<0.05). Poorly defined species belonging to the *Methanomassillicoccaceae* were more abundant on F1 in both HS and MS groups (P<0.05). Additionally, *Methanosphaera stadtmanae* was more abundant on F1 in HS animals (P<0.05). Details of bacterial and archaeal taxa significantly affected by farm environment are presented in Fig. 2.13.

## 2.4 Discussion

There is much interest currently in the design of novel dietary interventions during the early life to impart a permanent footprint on longitudinal development of the rumen microbiota, as a potentially effective avenue to improve lifelong production efficiency while mitigating farmlevel contributions to climate change phenomena (Yanez-Ruiz et al., 2015). However, to define the optimum window of opportunity for such interventions, the precise sequence of rumen colonisation must first be established. Here we used DNA amplicon sequencing of bacterial and archaeal 16S rRNA genes to demonstrate an ordered microbial establishment pattern in the rumen fluid and solid fractions, which is influenced by both diet and calf age. We also demonstrate a substantial effect of farm environment on the early life rumen microbiota, which may have important implications in attempts to manipulate microbial metabolism in the developing rumen.

Little is known regarding the source of the initial rumen microbial inoculum, and to date only two studies have reported the presence of microbial life in the rumen of new-born calves (Guzman et al., 2015, Malmuthuge, 2016). In this study, we could not isolate or amplify DNA from swabs collected from the neonatal rumen of calves delivered either naturally or via ECS. This is unlikely to be due to procedural deficiencies, as several swab-specific DNA isolation protocols were tested (QIAmp Cador Pathogen Mini Kit, Qiagen; modified RBB+C protocol as described in the methods section) using human and bovine buccal swabs and with swabs of a mature rumen, all of which yielded DNA of sufficient quantity to produce bacterial 16S rRNA gene amplicons (data not shown). Therefore, we concluded that any microorganisms present in the rumen at birth are, using these technologies, at undetectable levels. It is also possible that the microbiota present at birth are VBNC (viable but non-culturable), and the use of more sensitive techniques may allow them to be characterised. In contradicting the studies listed above, this suggests further research is needed to confirm the presence of microbial life in the new-born rumen. A diverse hindgut microbiota is present in dairy calves who did not receive milk or colostrum within 30 minutes of birth (Song et al., 2018), but activation of the reticular groove during birth may prevent transfer of maternal uterine fluids and microbiota to the rumen. A recent study showed longitudinal differences from 24h through the first 6 months of life in rumen microbial composition of calves delivered naturally versus via ECS (Cunningham et al., 2018), though the authors noted that the influence of calf age outweighed that of birth process. Further studies are required to validate if the rumen is indeed sterile at birth.

Divergent microbial populations in the rumen solid and liquid fractions have been extensively reported, as reviewed elsewhere (Cammack et al., 2018). However, there was only a minor fraction-wise difference observed in the present study. This discrepancy may be due to the method of sample collection and age (and thus level rumen maturity) of the animals. Previous studies have centrifuged rumen fluid to further reduce cross contamination with particulate matter (Guan et al., 2008), but here we directly ground the frozen fluid and proceeded to DNA isolation. A recent study in dairy calves collected solid and liquid-phase digesta using a protocol comparable to ours, and the authors reported high similarity between fractions (Dill-McFarland

et al., 2018). The only substantial difference according to fraction here was on D7. While calves had not received solid feed by this point, there was poorly digested straw particulate in the rumen of D7 calves. The rumen harbours the species and genes necessary for plant matter degradation even before the provision of solid food (Li et al., 2012b), so it is likely that limited fermentation was taking place by D7 in the present study, supported by the increased abundance of the fibrolytic *Fibrobacter* in the solid fraction compared to the liquid. Many of the taxa which presented as differentially abundant are not noted members of the mature rumen (e.g. *Fusobacterium, Veillonella, Odoribacter*), and that the difference in rumen fractions did not persist beyond D7 suggests that it may be due simply to the inconsistent and transient nature of the microbiota in the first days of life, as previously reported (Jami et al., 2013). The majority of data showing differences between rumen digesta fractions is based on work in adult animals (Cammack et al., 2018), and further studies spanning the entire life cycle of the animal are needed to conclude if and how the rumen fractions may differ in microbial composition. Nonetheless, that the D7 rumen exhibited increased variation across fractions indicates that the first week of life may be a key period to take advantage of the unsettled rumen microbiota.

Based on our results, microbial colonisation in the rumen during early life occurred in three main phases, which could be stratified by diet; (i) milk replacer only (D7), (ii) milk replacer with calf starter (days 14, 21, 28) and (iii) calf starter plus hay (D96, weaned). Significant differences in composition were also evident between days 14 and 28 when calves were consuming the same diet, indicating that calf developmental or growth stage (age) is also a determinant of the rumen microbiota during early life. We also note that intakes were not recorded in this trial, though increasing amounts of calf starter were offered weekly to D28. This could have influenced microbial composition, but bacterial  $\alpha$ -diversity did not change with diet or age prior to weaning, when the D96 animals had a richer bacteriome than all preweaned calves (Fig. 2.2a). As well as increased age, this likely reflects the changing nutrient source for the microbiota after weaning, when both forages and concentrates were offered to the calves. In contrast to bacteria, archaeal diversity was more stable throughout, and the increases in richness during preweaning appeared to be driven by farm environment as discussed below.

Corresponding to previous investigations of the calf rumen microbiota, *Bacteroidetes*, *Firmicutes* and *Proteobacteria*, and *Actinobacteria* were among the most abundant bacterial genera during early life, and *Methanobrevibacter* species were the dominant archaeon (Tapio et al., 2017). Among them, *Firmicutes* become predominant by D14 (Fig. 2.6), which is different than previous studies reported *Bacteroidetes* as the dominant microbial phyla of calves fed milk

replacer exclusively or in combination with calf starter (Rey et al., 2013, Jami et al., 2013, Li et al., 2012b), as well as in weaned calves (Meale et al., 2016). It has been reported that proportional increases of *Firmicutes* are associated with forage intake (Jami et al., 2013, Li et al., 2012a, de Menezes et al., 2011) and weaning (Meale et al., 2017), even when it is not the predominant phylum. As described above, there was evidence of early consumption of straw bedding in the calves of our study, and we speculate thus that even choice of bedding may contribute to early life microbial composition in the rumen. *Bacteroidetes* abundance did not change significantly throughout the experimental period in our study, suggesting its stabilisation even within the first week of life.

Milk consumption is unlikely to have a direct influence on the rumen microbial community, as liquid feed is shunted directly to the abomasum (Castro et al., 2016). Nonetheless, 7-day old calves had a microbiota of comparable diversity and richness to the other preweaning animals, indicating that even within the first week, a complex microbiota colonises the rumen, though this may have been exacerbated by straw consumption from the first days of life. Corresponding to previous reports, Bacteroides was the predominant genus in D7 calves (received milk replacer only; Fig. 2.10a). Calf starter intake is negatively correlated with Bacteroides abundance (Meale et al., 2017), and when calves were maintained exclusively on a milk-based diet, *Bacteroides* were the dominant taxa (Li et al., 2012b). However, it was also reported to be the predominant genus in 3-week old bull dairy calves offered both milk replacer and calf starter (Malmuthuge et al., 2014). This discrepancy may be attributed to divergent targeting of 16S rRNA variable regions, as well as differences between dairy and beef calves. There were also relatively high numbers of aerobic and pathogenic genera in the 7-day old calves (e.g. Comomonas, *Campylobacter*), which are not usually present in a mature rumen. These significantly reduced abundance following allocation of calf starter were barely detectable in the older animals (Fig. 2.9), indicating solid feed consumption is important for the establishment of prominent rumen bacteria. Regardless, on D7 of life the rumen contained many of the major bacterial groups found in the mature animal (Fig. 2.7) (Hobson and Stewart, 1997, Henderson et al., 2015), while Methanobrevibacter spp. along with Methanosphaera (Fig. 2.8) accounted for the majority (98.42%) of archaeal reads. This agrees with previous observations (Fonty et al., 1983a, Rey et al., 2013, Jami et al., 2013) that a complex microbiota colonises the proto-rumen of young calves, even before the provision of solid feed.

Among the observed microbial taxa, we noted significant increases of several important carbohydrate utilising and VFA producing microbial groups between days 7 and 28. VFA (mainly

acetate, propionate, and butyrate) biosynthesis by the microbiota is critical for physical and morphological development of the rumen (Heinrichs et al., 2005). This was broadly characterised by a migration toward a more mature microbial assembly, with *Prevotella* becoming the predominant bacterial genus by D14 (Fig. 2.7a). *Prevotella* is routinely reported as the most abundant bacterial genus in the adult rumen (Mao et al., 2015, Henderson et al., 2015, McCabe et al., 2015), and its establishment in early life was associated with elevated (>100g/d) levels of calf starter consumption (Rey et al., 2013), in support of our findings. We observed significantly lower abundance of *CF231 (f. Paraprevotellaceae*) by D14, agreeing with a previously demonstrated inverse relationship between starter intake and ruminal *CF231* abundance in lambs (Wang et al., 2016c).

In addition, allocation of calf starter caused the establishment of several prominent butyrate producers and the functional interdependence between different microbial groups was also evident. Butyrate is the primary energy source for rumen epithelial cells, and as such is vital for rumen development during early life (Baldwin et al., 2004). Megasphaera species produce butyrate usually via lactate metabolism, and their increased abundance between days 7 and 14 occurred in tandem with significant enrichment in the proportions of the lactate producer Bifidobacterium (Hobson and Stewart, 1997), as previously reported (Trovatelli and Matteuzzi, 1976) (Fig. 2.10b, 2.10c). Both Megasphaera and Bifidobacterium seemed to establish within the niche for lactate utilisation among the microbiota at this point, displaying only numeric changes in abundance while lactate utilisers (e.g. Veillonella) significantly decreased in proportion with increasing age (Fig. 2.10b, 2.10c). Thus, it appears that microbial mechanisms for lactate production and utilisation in the rumen become established soon after solid feed allocation. Butyrivibrio spp. are usually the predominant butyrate-producing species of the adult rumen (Hobson and Stewart, 1997, Henderson et al., 2015), but their abundance only increased significantly in both fractions between days 14-21, suggesting that higher rates of starter allocation (500g/d vs. 300g/d) offered between days 14 and 21 were required for Butyrivibrio establishment. This increase in more prominent starch utilisers (Butyrivibrio, Succinivibrio) taxa during early life co-occurred with declines in others like *Streptococcus* and *Lactobacillus* (Fig. 2.11). Succinivibrio produce succinate, a propionate precursor, and while VFAs were not measured in this study, it is likely that *Succinivibrio* contribute to propionate production and thus host development in early life, as previously postulated (Meale et al., 2016). However, this is speculative, and requires validation by measurement of VFA profiles.

While many of the major rumen bacteria showed diet- and age-related changes in the first weeks of life, the archaeal community was more stable, with the dominant *Methanobrevibacter* species remaining unchanged throughout the preweaning phase. Archaeal richness increased by D21, suggesting that establishment of a mature-like bacterial assembly may be required for the diversification of the ruminal archaeome. The *Methanomassilicoccaceae* species were not detected prior to D21. These methylotrophs are typically less abundant than the *Methanobrevibacter spp.* (Tapio et al., 2017), and likely required increased fermentation rates by rumen bacteria for substrate availability. However as discussed below, the rumen archaea appeared to be more sensitive to farm environment than the bacteria. Overall, both bacterial and archaeal communities had settled by the third week of life, as evidenced by the lack of change between days 21 and 28, suggesting that this may represent the limit of any "window of opportunity" for interventions to take advantage of the heterogenous nature of the developing rumen microbiota. While there were small differences in microbial composition in the rumen fluid, the impact of these small changes on rumen fermentation is likely negligible due to the redundant and pleiotropic nature of the rumen microbiota (Weimer, 2015).

The weaning transition is a time of significant physiological and metabolic change and in ruminants and encompasses a substantial change in composition and function of the rumen microbiome (Meale et al., 2016, Meale et al., 2017) driven by dietary alteration, and physical maturation of the calf. The microbial changes accompanying the weaning transition have been comprehensively described recently (Dill-McFarland et al., 2018, Meale et al., 2016, Meale et al., 2017). However, while we observed higher bacterial richness and evenness in the post-weaning rumen, Meale et al. (2016) reported decreased microbial richness and evenness in rumen fluid collected from calves one week following weaning versus fluid collected from milk-fed calves. This discrepancy may be due to elevated stresses around weaning (Enríquez et al., 2011), which can reduce intakes and hence substrate for bacterial action (Eckert et al., 2015), and may not have been a factor at D96 in this present study.

The most prominent changes between days 28 and 96 concerned minor taxa or those with poor phylogenetic resolution, making it difficult to relate biological function to these taxonomic shifts. For instance, while *Ruminococcaceae* contains noted ruminal fibre degraders (Hobson and Stewart, 1997), it also contains species capable of starch hydrolysis (Klieve et al., 2007), and has previously been associated with a high-energy diet in beef steers (Li and Guan, 2017). We cannot conclude whether the observed increase of this taxa following weaning and forage allocation is driven by the fibre- or starch-utilising species, or a combination of both. However, it is notable that the abundances of other important ruminal fibre degraders (e.g. *Fibrobacter, Ruminococcus*) remained stable between pre- and postweaning (Fig. 2.12), whilst those of starch utilisers like *Succinivibrio* and *Catenibacterium* significantly decreased, a reversal of their earlier increase following calf starter allocation on D7 (Fig. 2.11). Therefore, it is possible that the major starch-utilising members of the preweaning rumen microbiota were outcompeted for substrate by members of the *Ruminococcaceae* but elucidating the precise nature of this transition will require further investigation at lower taxonomic (i.e. species/strain) levels.

In addition to characterising the temporal sequence of prokaryotic succession in the rumen during early life, this study also highlights a substantial impact of the farm environment on the developing rumen microbiota (Fig. 2.13). F2 calves, as well as being more similar to one another (Fig. 2.5), were dominated by the Mbb. gottschalkii and Ruminantium clades and harboured a significantly less diverse archaeome in their rumen than the F1 animals (Fig. 2.3). On the other hand, *Mbb. smithii*, a major human archaeon which is not usually prevalent in the rumen, was highly abundant in the F1 animals (Fig. 2.8) and was the sole species to display a consistent response to farm throughout the experiment. Mbb. smithii can produce  $CH_4$  via hydrogenotrophic and formate-utilising pathways, making it more metabolically flexible to available substrates (Samuel et al., 2007). While methane was not recorded in this study, this large shift in methanogenic composition may have implications in strategies to reduce enteric methanogenesis and must be investigated further. F1 animals also contained more Methanomassilicoccaceae taxa following calf starter allocation, as well as higher Mbb. wolinii and Mbb. boviskoreani postweaning. Together, this indicates that farm environment had a substantial impact on the development of the archaeal communities during early life. The rumen methanogens are often the target of efforts to manipulate rumen microbial composition and/or function (Abecia et al., 2017, Abecia et al., 2014b, Abecia et al., 2013), and our findings indicate that the effectiveness of such strategies may be significantly influenced by the farm or facility where the calves are raised.

Interestingly, the bacteria displayed an opposite response to farm, being more diverse on F2 (Fig. 2.3). At the genus level, *Dialister* was consistently the most strongly influenced by farm, and was more abundant on F1. *Dialister* is associated with feed efficiency (Myer et al., 2015a) and methane formation (Roehe et al., 2016), suggesting it might play an important role in rumen microbial function. While *Dialister* was not a major (<1%) member of the rumen bacteriome in the present study, the relationship between the presence of this taxa and calf performance should be investigated further. Moreover, other more prominent taxa (e.g. *Fibrobacter, Succinivibrio*)

were affected by farm at multiple time-points, showing that any farm effect is not restricted to minor or transient taxa. A limited number of studies have reported a farm effect on the bovine gut microbiota (Weese and Jelinski, 2017, Indugu et al., 2017). It is difficult to speculate as to the reason for the farm-wise differences observed here. All calves were raised in a comparable manner, fed the same diet, and were of good health status throughout the experimental period. The only major difference was that F2 calves were housed in the same barn as their dams, though without direct contact after 48 hours. Maternal interaction is a determinant of the rumen microbiota during early life (Abecia et al., 2017), and it may be that even the presence of mature ruminants in the same barn influenced colonisation dynamics in this study. This may have been more of an indirect effect (e.g. contribution to a divergent air microbiome by the mature animals, which may have colonised calf feed). More work is needed to confirm these findings however, as this study was not designed to explicitly test for a farm effect.

## 2.5 Conclusion

To summarise the temporal changes in microbial composition observed during early life, allocating increasing amounts of calf starter from D7, possibly aided by forage consumption in the first week of life, led to the establishment of a settled microbial community in the rumen by D21 which resembled that of the mature animal. The community stabilised by week three, suggesting that manipulation to take advantage of the heterogenous rumen microbiome should take place prior to D21 of life. This is among the first surveys of the temporal dynamics of the rumen microbiota in beef calves, and is, to the best of our knowledge, the first study to report a substantial farm effect on the dynamics of microbial colonisation, a finding that must be considered in future attempts to redirect microbial establishment patterns in young ruminants.

## 2.6 Literature cited

- ABECIA, L., JIMENEZ, E., MARTINEZ-FERNANDEZ, G., MARTIN-GARCIA, A. I., RAMOS-MORALES, E., PINLOCHE, E., DENMAN, S. E., NEWBOLD, C. J. & YANEZ-RUIZ, D. R. 2017. Natural and artificial feeding management before weaning promote different rumen microbial colonization but not differences in gene expression levels at the rumen epithelium of new-born goats. 12, e0182235.
- ABECIA, L., MARTÍN-GARCÍA, A. I., MARTÍNEZ, G., NEWBOLD, C. J. & YÁÑEZ-RUIZ, D. R. 2013. Nutritional intervention in early life to manipulate rumen microbial colonization and methane output by kid goats postweaning1. *Journal of Animal Science*, 91, 4832-4840.
- ABECIA, L., WADDAMS, K. E., MARTINEZ-FERNANDEZ, G., MARTIN-GARCIA, A. I., RAMOS-MORALES, E., NEWBOLD, C. J. & YANEZ-RUIZ, D. R. 2014. An antimethanogenic

nutritional intervention in early life of ruminants modifies ruminal colonization by Archaea. *Archaea*, 2014, 841463.

- ALTSCHUL, S. F., GISH, W., MILLER, W., MYERS, E. W. & LIPMAN, D. J. 1990. Basic local alignment search tool. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, 215, 403-410.
- BUSHNELL, B. 2015. BBtools. (no. LBNL-7065E).
- CAMMACK, K. M., AUSTIN, K. J., LAMBERSON, W. R., CONANT, G. C. & CUNNINGHAM, H. C. 2018. Tiny but mighty: The role of the rumen microbes in livestock production. *J Anim Sci.*
- CAPORASO, J. G., LAUBER, C. L., WALTERS, W. A., BERG-LYONS, D., LOZUPONE, C. A., TURNBAUGH, P. J., FIERER, N. & KNIGHT, R. 2011. Global patterns of 16S rRNA diversity at a depth of millions of sequences per sample. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 108 Suppl 1, 4516-22.
- CARBERRY, C. A., KENNY, D. A., HAN, S., MCCABE, M. S. & WATERS, S. M. 2012. Effect of phenotypic residual feed intake and dietary forage content on the rumen microbial community of beef cattle. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 78, 4949-58.
- CARBERRY, C. A., KENNY, D. A., KELLY, A. K. & WATERS, S. M. 2014a. Quantitative analysis of ruminal methanogenic microbial populations in beef cattle divergent in phenotypic residual feed intake (RFI) offered contrasting diets. *J Anim Sci Biotechnol*, *5*, 41.
- CARBERRY, C. A., WATERS, S. M., KENNY, D. A. & CREEVEY, C. J. 2014b. Rumen methanogenic genotypes differ in abundance according to host residual feed intake phenotype and diet type. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 80, 586-94.
- CASTRO, J. J., GOMEZ, A., WHITE, B., LOFTEN, J. R. & DRACKLEY, J. K. 2016. Changes in the intestinal bacterial community, short-chain fatty acid profile, and intestinal development of preweaned Holstein calves. 2. Effects of gastrointestinal site and age. *J Dairy Sci*, 99, 9703-9715.
- CUNNINGHAM, H. C., AUSTIN, K. J. & CAMMACK, K. M. 2018. Influence of maternal factors on the rumen microbiome and subsequent host performance1. *Translational Animal Science*, 2, S101-S105.
- DE MENEZES, A. B., LEWIS, E., O'DONOVAN, M., O'NEILL, B. F., CLIPSON, N. & DOYLE, E. M. 2011. Microbiome analysis of dairy cows fed pasture or total mixed ration diets. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol*, 78, 256-65.
- DENMAN, S. E. & MCSWEENEY, C. S. 2015. The early impact of genomics and metagenomics on ruminal microbiology. *Annu Rev Anim Biosci*, *3*, 447-65.
- DILL-MCFARLAND, K. A., WEIMER, P. J., BREAKER, J. D. & SUEN, G. 2018. Diet influences early microbiota development in dairy calves without long-term impacts on milk production. *bioRxiv*.
- DIXON, P. 2003. VEGAN, a package of R functions for community ecology. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 14, 927-930.
- DUNN, O. J. 1964. Multiple Comparisons Using Rank Sums. Technometrics, 6, 241-252.
- ECKERT, E., BROWN, H. E., LESLIE, K. E., DEVRIES, T. J. & STEELE, M. A. 2015. Weaning age affects growth, feed intake, gastrointestinal development, and behavior in Holstein calves fed an elevated plane of nutrition during the preweaning stage. *J Dairy Sci*, 98, 6315-26.
- EDGAR, R. C. 2010. Search and clustering orders of magnitude faster than BLAST. *Bioinformatics*, 26, 2460-2461.
- ENRÍQUEZ, D., HÖTZEL, M. J. & UNGERFELD, R. 2011. Minimising the stress of weaning of beef calves: a review. *Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica*, 53, 28-28.
- FONTY, G., GOUET, P., JOUANY, J.-P. & SENAUD, J. 1987. Establishment of the Microflora and Anaerobic Fungi in the Rumen of Lambs. *Journal of General Microbiology*, 133, 1835-1843.

- FONTY, G., GOUET, P., JOUANY, J. P. & SENAUD, J. 1983. Ecological factors determining establishment of cellulolytic bacteria and protozoa in the rumens of meroxenic lambs. *J Gen Microbiol*, 129, 213-23.
- FONTY, G., GOUET, P. & NEBOUT, J. M. 1989. Development of the cellulolytic microflora in the rumen of lambs transferred into sterile isolators a few days after birth. *Can J Microbiol*, 35, 416-22.
- GUAN, L. L., NKRUMAH, J. D., BASARAB, J. A. & MOORE, S. S. 2008. Linkage of microbial ecology to phenotype: correlation of rumen microbial ecology to cattle's feed efficiency. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, 288, 85-91.
- GUZMAN, C. E., BEREZA-MALCOLM, L. T., DE GROEF, B. & FRANKS, A. E. 2015. Presence of Selected Methanogens, Fibrolytic Bacteria, and Proteobacteria in the Gastrointestinal Tract of Neonatal Dairy Calves from Birth to 72 Hours. *PLoS One,* 10, e0133048.
- HE, X., MCLEAN, J. S., EDLUND, A., YOOSEPH, S., HALL, A. P., LIU, S.-Y., DORRESTEIN, P. C., ESQUENAZI, E., HUNTER, R. C., CHENG, G., NELSON, K. E., LUX, R. & SHI, W. 2015. Cultivation of a human-associated TM7 phylotype reveals a reduced genome and epibiotic parasitic lifestyle. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 112, 244-249.
- HEINRICHS, A. J., HEINRICHS, B. S., HAREL, O., ROGERS, G. W. & PLACE, N. T. 2005. A prospective study of calf factors affecting age, body size, and body condition score at first calving of holstein dairy heifers. *J Dairy Sci*, 88, 2828-35.
- HENDERSON, G., COX, F., GANESH, S., JONKER, A., YOUNG, W. & JANSSEN, P. H. 2015. Rumen microbial community composition varies with diet and host, but a core microbiome is found across a wide geographical range. *Sci Rep*, *5*, 14567.
- HOBSON, P. N. & STEWART, C. S. 1997. *The Rumen Microbial Ecosystem,* London, Blackie Academic & Professional.
- INDUGU, N., VECCHIARELLI, B., BAKER, L. D., FERGUSON, J. D., VANAMALA, J. K. P. & PITTA, D. W. 2017. Comparison of rumen bacterial communities in dairy herds of different production. *BMC Microbiology*, 17, 190.
- JAMI, E., ISRAEL, A., KOTSER, A. & MIZRAHI, I. 2013. Exploring the bovine rumen bacterial community from birth to adulthood. *Isme j*, *7*, 1069-79.
- JAMI, E., WHITE, B. A. & MIZRAHI, I. 2014. Potential role of the bovine rumen microbiome in modulating milk composition and feed efficiency. *PLoS One*, 9, e85423.
- JEYANATHAN, J., KIRS, M., RONIMUS, R. S., HOSKIN, S. O. & JANSSEN, P. H. 2011. Methanogen community structure in the rumens of farmed sheep, cattle and red deer fed different diets. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol*, *7*6, 311-26.
- KLIEVE, A. V., O'LEARY, M. N., MCMILLEN, L. & OUWERKERK, D. 2007. Ruminococcus bromii, identification and isolation as a dominant community member in the rumen of cattle fed a barley diet. *J Appl Microbiol*, 103, 2065-73.
- LI, F. & GUAN, L. L. 2017. Metatranscriptomic Profiling Reveals Linkages between the Active Rumen Microbiome and Feed Efficiency in Beef Cattle. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 83.
- LI, R. W., CONNOR, E. E., LI, C., BALDWIN VI, R. L. & SPARKS, M. E. 2012a. Characterization of the rumen microbiota of pre-ruminant calves using metagenomic tools. *Environ Microbiol*, 14, 129-39.
- LI, R. W., CONNOR, E. E., LI, C., BALDWIN, V. I. R. L. & SPARKS, M. E. 2012b. Characterization of the rumen microbiota of pre-ruminant calves using metagenomic tools. *Environmental Microbiology*, 14, 129-139.
- LOVE, M. I., HUBER, W. & ANDERS, S. 2014. Moderated estimation of fold change and dispersion for RNA-seq data with DESeq2. *Genome Biol*, 15, 550.
- MALMUTHUGE, N. 2016. *Role of Commensal Microbiota in Neonatal Calf Development*. PhD, University of Alberta.

- MALMUTHUGE, N., GRIEBEL, P. J. & GUAN, L. L. 2014. Taxonomic Identification of Commensal Bacteria Associated with the Mucosa and Digesta throughout the Gastrointestinal Tracts of Preweaned Calves. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 80, 2021-8.
- MAO, S., ZHANG, M., LIU, J. & ZHU, W. 2015. Characterising the bacterial microbiota across the gastrointestinal tracts of dairy cattle: membership and potential function. 5, 16116.
- MARTÍNEZ-FERNÁNDEZ, G., ABECIA, L., ARCO, A., CANTALAPIEDRA-HIJAR, G., MARTÍN-GARCÍA, A. I., MOLINA-ALCAIDE, E., KINDERMANN, M., DUVAL, S. & YÁÑEZ-RUIZ, D. R. 2014. Effects of ethyl-3-nitrooxy propionate and 3-nitrooxypropanol on ruminal fermentation, microbial abundance, and methane emissions in sheep. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 97, 3790-3799.
- MARTINEZ-FERNANDEZ, G., ABECIA, L., MARTIN-GARCIA, A. I., RAMOS-MORALES, E., DENMAN, S. E., NEWBOLD, C. J., MOLINA-ALCAIDE, E. & YANEZ-RUIZ, D. R. 2015. Response of the rumen archaeal and bacterial populations to anti-methanogenic organosulphur compounds in continuous-culture fermenters. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol*.
- MCALLISTER, T. A. & NEWBOLD, C. J. 2008. Redirecting rumen fermentation to reduce methanogenesis. *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture*, 48, 7-13.
- MCCABE, M. S., CORMICAN, P., KEOGH, K., O'CONNOR, A., O'HARA, E., PALLADINO, R. A., KENNY, D. A. & WATERS, S. M. 2015. Illumina MiSeq Phylogenetic Amplicon Sequencing Shows a Large Reduction of an Uncharacterised Succinivibrionaceae and an Increase of the Methanobrevibacter gottschalkii Clade in Feed Restricted Cattle. *PLoS One*, 10, e0133234.
- MCMURDIE, P. J. & HOLMES, S. 2013. phyloseq: An R Package for Reproducible Interactive Analysis and Graphics of Microbiome Census Data. *PLOS ONE*, 8, e61217.
- MEALE, S. J., LI, S., AZEVEDO, P., DERAKHSHANI, H., PLAIZIER, J. C., KHAFIPOUR, E. & STEELE, M. A. 2016. Development of Ruminal and Fecal Microbiomes Are Affected by Weaning But Not Weaning Strategy in Dairy Calves. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 7, 582.
- MEALE, S. J., LI, S. C., AZEVEDO, P., DERAKHSHANI, H., DEVRIES, T. J., PLAIZIER, J. C., STEELE, M. A. & KHAFIPOUR, E. 2017. Weaning age influences the severity of gastrointestinal microbiome shifts in dairy calves. *Scientific Reports*, *7*, 198.
- MYER, P. R., SMITH, T. P. L., WELLS, J. E., KUEHN, L. A. & FREETLY, H. C. 2015. Rumen Microbiome from Steers Differing in Feed Efficiency. *PLOS ONE*, 10, e0129174.
- REY, M., ENJALBERT, F., COMBES, S., CAUQUIL, L., BOUCHEZ, O. & MONTEILS, V. 2013. Establishment of ruminal bacterial community in dairy calves from birth to weaning is sequential. *J Appl Microbiol*.
- ROEHE, R., DEWHURST, R. J., DUTHIE, C. A., ROOKE, J. A., MCKAIN, N., ROSS, D. W., HYSLOP, J. J., WATERHOUSE, A., FREEMAN, T. C., WATSON, M. & WALLACE, R. J. 2016. Bovine Host Genetic Variation Influences Rumen Microbial Methane Production with Best Selection Criterion for Low Methane Emitting and Efficiently Feed Converting Hosts Based on Metagenomic Gene Abundance. *PLoS Genet*, 12, e1005846.
- SAMUEL, B. S., HANSEN, E. E., MANCHESTER, J. K., COUTINHO, P. M., HENRISSAT, B., FULTON, R., LATREILLE, P., KIM, K., WILSON, R. K. & GORDON, J. I. 2007. Genomic and metabolic adaptations of <em>Methanobrevibacter smithii</em> to the human gut. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 104, 10643-10648.
- SASSON, G., KRUGER BEN-SHABAT, S., SEROUSSI, E., DORON-FAIGENBOIM, A., SHTERZER, N., YAACOBY, S., BERG MILLER, M. E., WHITE, B. A., HALPERIN, E. & MIZRAHI, I. 2017. Heritable Bovine Rumen Bacteria Are Phylogenetically Related and Correlated with the Cow's Capacity To Harvest Energy from Its Feed. *mBio*, 8.
- SEEDORF, H., KITTELMANN, S., HENDERSON, G. & JANSSEN, P. H. 2014. RIM-DB: a taxonomic framework for community structure analysis of methanogenic archaea from the rumen and other intestinal environments. *PeerJ*, 2, e494.

- SHABAT, S. K., SASSON, G., DORON-FAIGENBOIM, A., DURMAN, T., YAACOBY, S., BERG MILLER, M. E., WHITE, B. A., SHTERZER, N. & MIZRAHI, I. 2016. Specific microbiomedependent mechanisms underlie the energy harvest efficiency of ruminants. *Isme j.*
- SONG, Y., MALMUTHUGE, N., STEELE, M. A. & GUAN, L. L. 2018. Shift of hindgut microbiota and microbial short chain fatty acids profiles in dairy calves from birth to pre-weaning. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, 94, fix179-fix179.
- STEWART, C. S., FONTY, G. & GOUET, P. 1988. The establishment of rumen microbial communities. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, 21, 69-97.
- SURLIS, C., MCNAMARA, K., O'HARA, E., WATERS, S., BELTMAN, M., CASSIDY, J. & KENNY, D. 2017. Birth delivery method affects expression of immune genes in lung and jejunum tissue of neonatal beef calves. *BMC Veterinary Research*, 13, 391.
- TAPIO, I., SNELLING, T. J., STROZZI, F. & WALLACE, R. J. 2017. The ruminal microbiome associated with methane emissions from ruminant livestock. *J Anim Sci Biotechnol*, 8, 7.
- TROVATELLI, L. D. & MATTEUZZI, D. 1976. Presence of bifidobacteria in the rumen of calves fed different rations. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 32, 470-473.
- WANG, W., LI, C., LI, F., WANG, X., ZHANG, X., LIU, T., NIAN, F., YUE, X., LI, F., PAN, X., LA, Y., MO, F., WANG, F. & LI, B. 2016. Effects of early feeding on the host rumen transcriptome and bacterial diversity in lambs. *Scientific Reports*, 6, 32479.
- WANG, Z., ELEKWACHI, C. O., JIAO, J., WANG, M., TANG, S., ZHOU, C., TAN, Z. & FORSTER,
  R. J. 2017. Investigation and manipulation of metabolically active methanogen community composition during rumen development in black goats. *Scientific Reports*, 7, 422.
- WEESE, J. S. & JELINSKI, M. 2017. Assessment of the Fecal Microbiota in Beef Calves. *Journal of Veterinary Internal Medicine*, 31, 176-185.
- WEIMER, P. J. 2015. Redundancy, resilience, and host specificity of the ruminal microbiota: implications for engineering improved ruminal fermentations. *Front Microbiol*, 6, 296.
- WEIMER, P. J., STEVENSON, D. M., MANTOVANI, H. C. & MAN, S. L. 2010. Host specificity of the ruminal bacterial community in the dairy cow following near-total exchange of ruminal contents. *J Dairy Sci*, 93, 5902-12.
- Wickham H. (2016). ggplot2: Elegant Graphics for Data Analysis. Springer-Verlag New York. ISBN 978-3-319-24277-4, http://ggplot2.org.
- YANEZ-RUIZ, D. R., ABECIA, L. & NEWBOLD, C. J. 2015. Manipulating rumen microbiome and fermentation through interventions during early life: a review. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 6.
- YANEZ-RUIZ, D. R., MACIAS, B., PINLOCHE, E. & NEWBOLD, C. J. 2010. The persistence of bacterial and methanogenic archaeal communities residing in the rumen of young lambs. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol*, 72, 272-8.
- YANG, B., LE, J., WU, P., LIU, J., GUAN, L. L. & WANG, J. 2018. Alfalfa Intervention Alters Rumen Microbial Community Development in Hu Lambs During Early Life. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 9.
- ZHOU, M., PENG, Y.-J., CHEN, Y., KLINGER, C. M., OBA, M., LIU, J.-X. & GUAN, L. L. 2018. Assessment of microbiome changes after rumen transfaunation: implications on improving feed efficiency in beef cattle. *Microbiome*, 6, 62.

## 2.7 Tables and figures

**Table 2.1:**PERMANOVA results based on Bray-Curtis dissimilarity matrices of rarefiedOTU count tables for bacterial and archaeal communities during early life.

		ria	Archaea				
Factor	<b>R2</b> <sup>1</sup>	F <sup>2</sup>	P-value	R <sup>2</sup>	F	P-value	
Age	0.24	7.03	<0.01	0.15	4.46	<0.01	
Location	0.07	8.18	<0.01	0.18	21.53	<0.01	
Fraction	0.01	0.93	0.52	0.00	0.37	0.88	
Age*Farm	0.09	2.73	<0.01	0.07	2.06	0.01	
Age*Fraction	0.01	0.41	1.00	0.01	0.33	1.00	
Farm*Fraction	0.01	0.63	0.94	0.00	0.18	0.98	

<sup>1</sup>Percentage of total variation in the model explained by each factor. <sup>2</sup>Test statistic. Larger values represent larger dispersions from the mean.

**Table 2.2:** Abundances of taxa which were differentially abundant according to rumen fraction during early life. Archaea were unaffected by fraction at any timepoint and so are not presented.

Genus	Solid Digesta %	Liquid Digesta %	P-value			
Day 7						
Fusobacterium	4.48%1	2.43%	$0.025^{2}$			
Veillonella	3.87%	1.01%	0.049			
Porphyromonas	3.51%	4.62%	0.001			
f. Lachnospiraceae	2.27%	2.86%	<0.001			
o. Bacteroidales	2.07%	1.50%	0.001			
Odoribacter	1.68%	0.06%	0.006			
Succiniclasticum	1.56%	1.22%	0.001			
Fibrobacter	1.44%	0.85%	<0.001			
f. Alcaligenaceae	1.35%	2.21%	0.001			
Comamonas	1.35%	3.55%	<0.001			
Parvimonas	0.63%	0.28%	<0.001			
Parabacteroides	0.51%	1.52%	0.003			
Treponema	0.50%	0.18%	0.011			
f. Veillonellaceae	0.49%	0.42%	<0.001			
Butyrivibrio	0.33%	0.16%	<0.001			
f. [Paraprevotellaceae]	0.24%	0.17%	0.007			
Pseudobutyrivibrio	0.19%	0.07%	0.008			
Mogibacterium	0.17%	0.09%	0.030			
f. [Weeksellaceae]	0.15%	0.16%	0.041			
Collinsella	0.15%	0.06%	0.043			
Anaerovibrio	0.14%	0.11%	0.001			
Lactobacillus	0.12%	0.05%	0.001			
Filifactor	0.10%	0.18%	0.025			
p-75-a5	0.09%	0.12%	0.006			
c. Alphaproteobacteria	0.02%	0.12%	0.003			
Paludibacter	0.00%	1.17%	<0.001			
Day 14	No sig					
Dy 21	No sig	nificant differences				
Day 28						
[Prevotella]	0.32%	1.66%	0.026			
Day 96No significant differences						

<sup>1</sup>Percentage of total bacterial 16S rRNA reads at the relevant timepoint. <sup>2</sup>FDR-corrected *P*-value generated using DeSeq2.

## (a) Feeding management



**Figure 2.1:** Experimental animal trial design and calf management. Calves raised on different farms received the same diet and were housed in the same manner.



**Figure 2.2:** Temporal dynamics of (a) bacterial and (b) archaeal alpha diversity metrics during early life. \* denotes significant differences (P<0.05).



**Figure 2.3:** Effect of farm environment on alpha diversity indices of (a) bacterial and (b) archaeal communities during early life. \* denotes significantly different values (P<0.05).



**Figure 2.4:** nMDS plots of (a) bacterial and (b) archaeal communities of the rumen solid and liquid digesta. Plots are based on Bray-Curtis dissimilarity matrices.



**Figure 2.5.** The effect of farm location on (a) bacterial and (b) archaeal communities during early life. Figures (c) & (d) depict the divergence ( $\beta$ -dispersion) of bacterial and archaeal communities according to farm.



**Figure 2.6:** Stacked barchart of bacterial phyla composition in the rumen solid and liquid digesta during early life



	Abundances					P-values				
Genus	<u>D7</u>	D14	D21	D28	D96	SEM	D7-D14	D14-D21	D21-D28	D28-D96
Prevotella	9.85%	22.90%	28.54%	32.38%	21.75%	3.42%	0.081	0.86	0.92	0.25
f. Lachnospiraceae	2.86%	7.86%	2.86%	6.36%	4.73%	0.88%	0.01	0.03	0.51	0.44
Bacteroides	13.23%	4.53%	1.78%	1.20%	0.11%	2.13%	0.02	0.01	0.99	< 0.01
o. Clostridiales	2.70%	1.15%	3.20%	2.80%	8.71%	1.16%	0.07	0.14	0.92	0.01
f. Ruminococcaceae	2.85%	4.22%	3.30%	1.80%	5.79%	0.60%	0.91	0.34	0.92	< 0.01
Succinivibrio	0.05%	0.72%	6.10%	9.45%	1.25%	1.63%	<0.01	0.26	0.71	< 0.01
Catenibacterium	0.01%	6.30%	3.16%	5.82%	0.37%	1.18%	< 0.01	0.84	0.92	< 0.01
o. Bacteroidales	1.50%	1.08%	5.34%	1.83%	5.70%	0.89%	0.48	0.84	0.92	0.02
Megasphaera	0.01%	5.60%	4.10%	3.21%	1.94%	0.85%	<0.01	0.73	0.92	0.17
Succiniclasticum	1.22%	0.63%	2.96%	2.75%	5.09%	0.70%	0.25	0.13	0.96	0.68



**Figure 2.7:** Details of the 10 most abundant bacterial taxa detected in (a) rumen liquid and (b) rumen solid digesta during early life. Values in the accompanying tables are group mean relative abundances and FDR-corrected *P*-values generated by temporally adjacent contrasts in DeSeq2.

89



**Figure 2.8:** Barcharts depicting relative abundances of archaeal species and predominant bacterial genera across age, digesta fraction and farm location (F1 vs. F2) during early life.




		Abund	lances				P-va	lues	
D7	D14	D21	D28	D96	SEM	D7-D14	D14-D21	D21-D28	D28-D96
5.30%	0.20%	0.02%	0.01%	<0.01%	0.94%	< 0.01	0.00	0.82	0.01
4.62%	0.27%	0.02%	0.02%	<0.01%	0.81%	< 0.01	0.01	0.99	< 0.01
4.01%	0.80%	0.35%	0.05%	0.01%	0.67%	0.02	0.58	0.78	0.02
3.55%	0.04%	0.05%	0.02%	<0.01%	0.63%	NA	NA	NA	NA
2.43%	0.19%	0.01%	0.01%	<0.01%	0.43%	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.92	0.07
2.23%	0.68%	0.07%	0.01%	<0.01%	0.38%	< 0.01	0.01	0.70	0.12
2.21%	0.20%	<0.01%	0.02%	<0.01%	0.39%	NA	NA	NA	NA
1.37%	0.30%	0.28%	0.08%	0.02%	0.22%	< 0.01	0.58	0.85	0.02
1.18%	0.90%	0.77%	0.47%	0.04%	0.17%	0.85	0.89	0.94	< 0.01
1.04%	0.53%	0.37%	0.32%	0.11%	0.14%	< 0.01	0.02	0.92	0.01
	5.30% 4.62% 4.01% 3.55% 2.43% 2.23% 2.21% 1.37% 1.18%	5.30%         0.20%           4.62%         0.27%           4.01%         0.80%           3.55%         0.04%           2.43%         0.19%           2.23%         0.68%           2.21%         0.20%           1.37%         0.30%           1.18%         0.90%	D7         D14         D21           5.30%         0.20%         0.02%           4.62%         0.27%         0.02%           4.01%         0.80%         0.35%           3.55%         0.04%         0.05%           2.43%         0.19%         0.01%           2.23%         0.68%         0.07%           2.21         0.20%         <0.01%           1.37%         0.30%         0.28%           1.18%         0.90%         0.77%	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	D7         D14         D21         D28         D96           5.30%         0.20%         0.02%         0.01%         <0.01%           4.62%         0.27%         0.02%         0.02%         <0.01%           4.01%         0.80%         0.35%         0.05%         0.01%           3.55%         0.04%         0.05%         0.02%         <0.01%           2.43%         0.19%         0.01%         0.01%         <0.01%           2.23%         0.68%         0.07%         0.01%         <0.01%           2.21%         0.20%         <0.01%         0.02%         <0.01%           1.37%         0.30%         0.28%         0.08%         0.02%           1.18%         0.90%         0.77%         0.47%         0.04%	D7         D14         D21         D28         D96         SEM           5.30%         0.20%         0.02%         0.01%         <0.01%         0.94%           4.62%         0.27%         0.02%         0.02%         <0.01%         0.81%           4.01%         0.80%         0.35%         0.05%         0.01%         0.67%           3.55%         0.04%         0.05%         0.01%         0.63%           2.43%         0.19%         0.01%         0.01%         0.43%           2.23%         0.68%         0.07%         0.01%         <0.01%         0.38%           2.21%         0.20%         <0.01%         0.02%         <0.01%         0.38%           3.37%         0.30%         0.28%         0.08%         0.02%         <0.22%           1.18%         0.90%         0.77%         0.47%         0.04%         0.17%	D7         D14         D21         D28         D96         SEM         D7-D14           5.30%         0.20%         0.02%         0.01%         <0.01%         0.94%         <0.01           4.62%         0.27%         0.02%         0.02%         <0.01%         0.81%         <0.01           4.01%         0.80%         0.35%         0.05%         0.01%         0.67%         0.02           3.55%         0.04%         0.05%         0.01%         <0.01%         0.63%         NA           2.43%         0.19%         0.01%         <0.01%         <0.01%         0.43%         <0.01           2.23%         0.68%         0.07%         0.01%         <0.01%         0.38%         <0.01           2.21%         0.20%         <0.01%         0.01%         0.38%         <0.01           2.21%         0.20%         <0.01%         0.02%         <0.01%         0.39%         NA           1.37%         0.30%         0.28%         0.08%         0.02%         <0.01         1.18%         0.90%         0.77%         0.447%         0.04%         0.17%         0.85	D7         D14         D21         D28         D96         SEM         D7-D14         D14-D21           5.30%         0.20%         0.02%         0.01%         <0.01%         0.94%         <0.01         0.00           4.62%         0.27%         0.02%         0.02%         <0.01%         0.81%         <0.01         0.01           4.01%         0.80%         0.35%         0.05%         0.01%         0.67%         0.02         0.58           3.55%         0.04%         0.05%         0.02%         <0.01%         0.63%         NA         NA           2.43%         0.19%         0.01%         0.01%         <0.01%         0.43%         <0.01         <0.01           2.23%         0.68%         0.07%         0.01%         <0.01%         0.38%         <0.01         <0.01           2.21%         0.20%         <0.01%         <0.01%         0.38%         <0.01         <0.01           2.21%         0.20%         <0.01%         0.02%         <0.01%         0.38%         <0.01         <0.01           2.21%         0.20%         <0.01%         0.22%         <0.01         0.58         <0.85         <0.89           1.37%         0.30	D7         D14         D21         D28         D96         SEM         D7-D14         D14-D21         D21-D28           5.30%         0.20%         0.02%         0.01%         <0.01%         0.94%         <0.01         0.00         0.82           4.62%         0.27%         0.02%         0.02%         <0.01%         0.81%         <0.01         0.01         0.99           4.01%         0.80%         0.35%         0.05%         0.01%         0.67%         0.02         0.58         0.78           3.55%         0.04%         0.05%         0.02%         <0.01%         0.63%         NA         NA         NA           2.43%         0.19%         0.01%         <0.01%         0.43%         <0.01         <0.01         0.92           2.23%         0.68%         0.07%         0.01%         <0.01%         0.38%         <0.01         0.01         0.70           2.21%         0.20%         <0.01%         <0.01%         0.38%         <0.01         0.01         0.70           2.21%         0.20%         <0.01%         0.02%         <0.01%         0.38%         <0.01         0.01         0.70           2.21%         0.20%         <0.01%

(b) Decline of solid phase aerobes and transient taxa during early life



**Figure 2.9:** Line charts showing temporal dynamics of selected transient taxa in (a) the rumen liquid and (b) the rumen solid digesta during early life. Values in the accompanying tables are group mean relative abundances and FDR-corrected P-values generated by temporally adjacent contrasts in DeSeq2.



			Abund	lances				P-va	lues	
Genus	<u>D7</u>	D14	D21	D28	D96	SEM	D7-D14	D14-D21	D21-D28	D28-D96
Prevotella - Liq	9.85%	22.90%	28.54%	32.38%	21.75%	3.42%	0.08	0.86	0.92	0.25
<b>Bacteroides</b> -Liq	13.23%	4.53%	1.78%	1.20%	0.11%	2.13%	0.02	0.01	0.99	< 0.01
Prevotella - Sol	9.90%	23.67%	24.97%	30.13%	19.85%	3.02%	0.06	0.81	1.00	0.12
<b>Bacteroides - Sol</b>	13.60%	4.68%	0.50%	0.36%	0.02%	2.31%	<0.01	< 0.01	1.00	< 0.01



Liquid Phase			Abund	dances				P-va	alues	
Genus	<u>D7</u>	D14	D21	D28	D96	SEM	D7-D14	D14-D21	D21-D28	D28-D96
Bifidobacterium	0.01%	5.16%	1.33%	1.07%	0.35%	0.83%	< 0.01	0.19	0.94	0.57
Megasphaera	0.01%	5.60%	4.10%	3.21%	1.94%	0.85%	<0.01	0.73	0.92	0.17
Veillonella	1.01%	3.02%	0.27%	0.04%	<0.01%	0.51%	0.59	< 0.01	0.47	0.03
Lactobacillus	0.05%	1.01%	0.14%	0.13%	0.02%	0.17%	<0.01	0.01	0.96	0.03
Solid Phase			Abund	lances				P-va	luce	
				anices				F-Va	nues	
Genus	<u>D7</u>	D14	D21	D28	D96	SEM	D7-D14	D14-D21	D21-D28	D28-D96
Genus Bifidobacterium	<u>D7</u> 0.01%	<u>D14</u> 5.90%			<u>D96</u> 0.62%	<u>SEM</u> 0.93%	<b>D7-D14</b> <0.01			D28-D96
			<u>D21</u>	D28				D14-D21	D21-D28	
Bifidobacterium	0.01%	5.90%	<u>D21</u> 1.31%	<u>D28</u> 1.58%	0.62%	0.93%	<0.01	<b>D14-D21</b> 0.06	<b>D21-D28</b> 1.00	0.15

**Figure 2.10:** Line charts depicting the predominance of *Prevotella* and the decline of *Bacteroides* from day 7 onward, and the dynamics of lactate producing and utilising bacteria in the rumen (a) solid and (b) liquid digesta during early life. Values in the accompanying tables are group mean relative abundances and FDR-corrected *P*-values generated by temporally adjacent contrasts in DeSeq2.



**Figure 2.11:** Line charts depicting temporal dynamics of selected VFA producers and starch utilising groups during early life in (a) the rumen solid and (b) the rumen liquid digesta. Values in the accompanying tables are group mean relative abundances and FDR-corrected *P*-values generated by temporally adjacent contrasts in DeSeq2.



Genus	<u>D7</u>	<u>D14</u>	<u>D21</u>	D28	D96	<u>SEM</u>	D7-D14	D14-D21	D21-D28	D28-D96
Ruminococcus	0.73%	2.15%	4.10%	3.06%	2.6%	0.50%	NA	NA	NA	NA
Fibrobacter	1.44%	1.02%	1.14%	1.81%	2.8%	0.29%	0.68	0.88	1.00	0.58
f. Ruminococcaceae	1.34%	2.02%	2.14%	2.04%	5.3%	0.63%	0.68	0.72	1.00	0.01

**Figure 2.12**: Line charts depicting temporal dynamics of selected fibrolytic taxa during early life and postweaning in (a) the rumen solid and (b) the rumen liquid digesta. Values in the accompanying tables are group mean relative abundances and FDR-corrected *P*-values generated by temporally adjacent contrasts in DeSeq2.



**Figure 2.13:** Visual representation of taxa which were affected by farm during early life. Values in the Venn diagram denote the numbers of unique or shared taxa among MR (D7), MS (D14-28), and HS (D96) groups that were significantly differentially abundant across farm environments. The table describes the 7 "core" taxa affected by farm at each timepoint, and the values represent the log<sub>2</sub> fold-change in taxon abundance between farms, calculated in DeSeq2.

#### Chapter 3

# Temporal dynamics of the rumen transcriptome of beef calves from birth to post-weaning

#### 3.1 Introduction

Ruminants have the unique ability to convert human indigestible grains and forages into protein-rich meat and dairy products. Volatile fatty acids (VFA) produced by rumen microbial fermentation (mainly acetate, propionate, and butyrate) provide up to 70% of host energy requirements (Bergman, 1990). The rumen itself has evolved to facilitate the absorption and transport of dietary nutrients, and to protect the host from the potentially pathogenic microbial inhabitants of the lumen. Rumen development entails growth and differentiation of the rumen epithelium, resulting in a substantial change in hepatic and lower-intestinal nutrient profiles, and consequentially those of the peripheral tissues (Baldwin et al., 2004). Barrier function of the rumen epithelium is a key facet of the host immune system, responsible for maintaining concentration gradients necessary for ionic absorption, and preventing the translocation of pathogenic bacteria (e.g. *Fusobacterium*) and their components (e.g. lipopolysaccharide (LPS)) into the circulatory system (Penner et al., 2011)

At birth, the rumen is essentially non-functional, lacking the characteristic papillae of adults, and proper development and function of the rumen prior to weaning is critical to general health and lifelong productivity of young ruminants (Baldwin et al., 2004, Khan et al., 2011a). Solid feed consumption during early life stimulates rumen development via increased microbial VFA biosynthesis (Drackley et al., 2008). Therefore, an integrated understanding of host and microbial co-development in the rumen is important to gain complete understanding rumen development and function during early life. Interest in the ontogeny of the rumen microbiota during early life has increased greatly in recent years (Jami et al., 2013, Rey et al., 2014), but understanding of how colonisation by a diverse microbiota contributes to the physical maturation of the rumen organ remains limited.

In chapter 2, the temporal colonisation patterns of the rumen bacteria and archaea during early life were discussed. However, despite its obvious importance, knowledge of the molecular mechanisms underpinning rumen physical development and nutrient absorption in calves during early life is limited. Studies to date have largely focused on the weaning transition (Nishihara et al., 2018) and gene expression changes in response to a nutritional insult or disorder like feed restriction or acidosis (Steele et al., 2011a, Penner et al., 2011, Steele et al., 2011b, Keogh et al., 2017). Moreover, most studies performed in the first weeks of life have used small ruminants like sheep and goats, which may not be comparable to cattle due to physiological and management differences between large and small ruminants (Jiao et al., 2015b, Wang et al., 2016b). Furthermore, despite being among the most common surgical procedures in cattle, it is unknown if caesarean section (CS) delivery can influence rumen development.

Considering these knowledge gaps, our objective was to characterise the transcriptional mechanisms governing rumen development during early life in terms of (i) physical development, (ii) VFA and nutrient absorption, (iii) the establishment of host-microbial homeostasis, and (iv) to assess variation due to mode of delivery at birth.

#### 3.2 Materials and methods

#### 3.2.1 Ethical statement

All experimental animal procedures described herein were carried out at Teagasc Mellows Campus (Athenry, Co. Galway, Ireland – F1) and DAFM Longtown (Clane, Co. Kildare, Ireland – F2) under licence from the Irish Health Products Regulatory Authority (Licence no.: AE19142), and the Teagasc Animal Ethics Committee (TAEC). All individuals were further licenced to perform euthanasia of calves, and to carry all procedures described in this Chapter3.2.3 .

#### **3.2.2** Experimental animal model

Data presented in this chapter were obtained using a subset of the same animal model as detailed in Chapter 2. Briefly, 66 artificially inseminated Aberdeen Angus x Charolais heifers were blocked by foetal sex and randomly allocated into one of seven experimental groups based on the date of calf slaughter as detailed in Chapter 2: NB.NAT, NB.CS (ECS), D7, D14, D28, and D96. Calves not assigned to the NB groups remained with their dam for 48h to facilitate adequate colostrum consumption. Calves were penned individually and offered milk replacer (13.5% solids when reconstituted to 5L) daily in one morning feeding via teeted bucket. Calves were bedded on straw and allocated calf starter from day 7 onward, with weekly increases in volume until day 28 as detailed in Chapter 2. Between days 28 and weaning on day 56, calves received 1kg of calf starter daily. Following weaning, calves in the D96 group had *ad libitum* access to grass hay and calf starter until slaughter.

#### 3.2.3 Rumen tissue sampling

On the day of slaughter as described above, calves were euthanised via an intravenous overdose of pentobarbital sodium (Dolethal<sup>™</sup>, Vetoquinol, UK, or Euthatal<sup>™</sup>, Boehringer Ingelheim, UK: 1ml/1.4kg live weight). Calves assigned to both NB treatments were delivered onto sterilised plastic and euthanised within 5 minutes of delivery. The absence of both a heartbeat and a corneal reflex was used to verify death. Following euthanasia, the gastrointestinal tract was quickly exteriorised, and a 1cm<sup>2</sup> portion of the rumen wall was collected from the ventral sac. The tissue was washed in sterile phosphate buffered saline and immediately snap frozen in liquid nitrogen. All tissues were processed and frozen within 25 minutes of death and were subsequently stored at -80°C pending molecular analysis.

#### 3.2.4 RNA isolation

Frozen rumen tissue samples were ground to a fine powder under constant liquid nitrogen using a pestle and mortar previously chilled in a -80°C freezer. Total RNA was extracted from ~80mg of ground tissue using the mirVana RNA extraction kit (Ambion, Austin, TX), following the manufacturer's instructions. RNA quality and quantity were assessed by 2 consecutive readings on a NanoDrop1000 (Thermo-Fisher, DE) and a Qubit 3.0 fluorometer (Invitrogen, CA) and assessed for integrity on an Agilent TapeStation<sup>TM</sup> (Agilent, CA). RNA integrity (RIN) numbers (cut-off of RIN  $\geq$  7) along with RNA quality and quantity values were used to select 8 samples from each treatment group for sequencing.

#### 3.2.5 RNA-seq library construction and sequencing

RNA-seq libraries were constructed from 100ng of RNA using the Illumina TruSeq Stranded mRNA Sample Preparation kit, with mRNA enrichment (San Diego, CA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, following RNA fragmentation, cDNA was synthesised via reverse transcription. The resulting double-stranded cDNA underwent end-repair and 3' adenylation, followed by sequence adapter ligation. Libraries were amplified via 15 cycles of PCR (98C for 30s, followed by 15 cycles of: 98°C for 10 seconds, 60°C for 30 seconds, and 72°C for 30s, with a final elongation at 72°C for 5 minutes. Library quality and quality were validated using a Qubit fluorometer 3.0 (Invitrogen, CA) and further assessed using the Agilent 2200 TapeStation<sup>™</sup> (Agilent, CA). Indexed libraries were pooled and sequenced in four lanes on an

Illumina HiSeq2500 platform at the Genome Quebec Innovation Centre (McGill University, Quebec, Canada), to generate high quality 2x100 base pair paired-end sequences.

### 3.2.6 Bioinformatic and statistical analysis

Visual quality inspection of raw sequence libraries was performed using the FASTQC tool (Andrews, 2010). All reads were subjected to quality filtering and trimming using the BBTools suite (Bushnell, 2015), with a q-score cut-off of 25. The STAR short read aligner (Dobin et al., 2013) was used to map the reads to the bovine genome (UMD 3.1, Ensembl v.83.31). The resulting BAM files were used as input for the featureCounts tool (Liao et al., 2014) to count the number of reads per gene, using Ensembl (v. 83.31) bovine gene IDs. The final gene count table was exported for downstream analysis, and bovine gene symbols corresponding to the Ensembl ID were downloaded from Biomart (Durinck S, 2005) in RStudio (Team., 2008)

Differential gene expression analysis was performed using the edgeR (Robinson et al., 2010) package from Bioconductor in R. Prior to analysis, the gene count data was filtered to retain only those genes with a counts-per-million (CPM) value > 1 (corresponding to 12 reads) in at least 50% of the samples. Count data was corrected for differential library size using the TMM method implemented in edgeR. To identify differentially expressed genes (DEG), several temporally adjacent and biologically relevant contrasts (1. NB.NAT v NB.CS , 2. D7 vs. NB.NAT, 3. D14 vs. NB.NAT, 4. D28 vs. NB.NAT, 5. D96 vs. NB.NAT, 6. D14 vs. D7, 7. D28 vs. D14, 8. D96 vs. D28 and 9. D28 vs. D7) were performed using a Quasi-likelihood F-test under a generalised linear model in edgeR, which included age, farm, and calf gender. Using stringent parameters, only genes that displayed an absolute  $Log_2Fold$ -change > 2 with an FDR-corrected P-value < 0.001 were considered significantly differentially expressed between groups.

Volcano plots of differentially expressed genes were prepared in edgeR. Hierarchical clustering and Principal Component Analysis (PCA) plots were prepared using DeSeq2 (Love et al., 2014). Ingenuity Pathway Analysis (IPA, Qiagen, CA) was used for the canonical pathway analysis of DE genes, with pathways considered enriched at *P*<0.05, and activated/supressed at |z-score|  $\geq 2$ . Predicted molecular, cellular, and physiological functions of the DEG were also predicted by IPA. Gene Set Enrichment Analysis was performed using the Fast Gene Set Enrichment Analysis (FGSEA) R package in R (Sergushichev, 2016), focussing on Gene ontology (GO) categories Biological Processes, Cellular Component, and Molecular Functions. Significance was declared at *P*<0.05, |NES (normalised enrichment score, indicating activation or suppression

of the term)  $| \ge 1.5$ , and only terms containing at least five DEG were considered of biological relevance.

#### 3.3 Results & Discussion

RNA sequencing of rumen tissue collected from 48 Aberdeen Angus calves generated an average of  $22,438,172 \pm 663,636$  reads per sample. After quality filtering and normalisation, 13,154/24,616 genes were declared as expressed (CPM > 1 in at least 50% of the animals). We first investigated the number of shared and uniquely expressed genes among all timepoints. A total of 12,635 core genes (those expressed at all timepoints) were identified (Fig. 3.1a). New-born animals had the highest number of unique genes with 1,983, and 20 unique genes were identified on day 7, 8 genes on day 14, 21 genes on day 28 and 1 genes was unique to the 96-day old calves.

The DEG identified in each temporal comparison in edgeR are presented in Table 3.1, and graphically in Fig. 3.3. Two genes were differentially expressed between naturally delivered and ECS calves at birth (P<0.05). The most apparent divergence in gene expression profiles was when new-born animals were compared to older calves, but temporal changes in the rumen wall transcriptome during the milk-feeding period were also evident. Between days 7 (calves fed exclusively with milk replacer) and day 14 (milk replacer plus calf starter), 25 genes were differentially expressed (13 upregulated vs. 12 downregulated, P<0.05), while two genes were differentially expressed between days 14 and 28 (both downregulated, P<0.05, Fig. 3.2). Because of the relatively small temporally adjacent differences during the milk-feeding period, gene expression profiles were also compared between days 7 and 28, with 103 DEG identified (42 upregulated vs. 63 downregulated; P<0.05). There were 213 DEG between days 28 and 96 (21 upregulated vs. 192 downregulated), indicating a substantial shift in the transcriptome profile with increasing age and changing diet across weaning.

Hierarchical clustering and PCA based on the normalised count data was used to broadly compare the rumen transcriptome profile at different time-points during early life (Fig. 3.2). The new-born calves clustered closely together, regardless of delivery method. The transcriptome profiles on days 7, 14, and 28 were generally similar, but sub-clustering corresponding to calf age was also evident, indicating some differences in the transcriptome profile in this period. The 96-day old calves form their own distinct cluster, though two animals from day 28 clustered closely to the day 96 animals in both the PCA and dendrogram.

GO term enrichment analysis, IPA canonical pathway analysis, and IPA molecular and cellular function analysis was used to investigate the biological roles of the DEG. The top 20 GO terms, and IPA-predicted canonical pathways, and molecular functions are presented in Tables 3.2, 3.3, and 3.4 respectively. Histomorphogical analysis of rumen tissue cross sections collected throughout early life was carried out in a sister study (Lyons et al, unpublished data). The following sections will detail the temporal changes in the rumen transcriptome, and their functional implications for rumen development in the young calf.

#### 3.3.1 Mechanisms underpinning physical development of the rumen

Rumen maturation entails both physical enlargement and papillary development. Allocation of calf starter early in life is recommended to promote early rumen development (Meale et al., 2017), via stimulation of microbial VFA synthesis (Laarman et al., 2012, Sun et al., 2018), and previous studies have shown substantial improvements in rumen development following solid feed consumption (Naeem et al., 2014, Lesmeister and Heinrichs, 2004). Initial histomorphological evaluation of rumen wall samples collected from calves throughout early life showed clear development of the rumen following calf starter consumption on day 7, with papillary growth evident within the first week of life (Lyons et al., data not shown).

Cellular proliferation and apoptosis are two important biological mechanisms governing the cell life cycle and thus critical for rumen development. However, most studies to date examining the cell cycle dynamics in the rumen have focussed on its response to a nutritional insult (e.g. high grain feeding) in mature animals (Penner et al., 2011), and there is only limited information available in calves (Naeem et al., 2014, Naeem et al., 2012). Therefore, focus was directed to genes and pathways related to tissue development, to understand the molecular mechanisms underlying these improvements. Indicative of physical growth of the rumen, the GO terms "Tissue Development" and "Epithelium development" were enriched on day 28 of life compared to new-borns (P<0.05, Table 3.2). Moreover, the top IPA molecular and physiological functions predicted to be enriched by IPA throughout early life included "Cellular Development", "Cell Cycle", "Tissue Morphology" and "Cellular Assembly and Organisation" (P<0.05, Table 3.4). The "Cyclins and Cell Cycle Regulation" canonical pathway was also enriched in IPA (P<0.05) on days 28 and 96, compared to new-borns.

Cyclins and cyclin-dependant kinases are key molecules involved in cell proliferation (Norbury and Nurse, 1992), and in goat kids, early life growth of the rumen epithelium was associated with accelerated cell cycle processes, regulated by these molecules (Liu et al., 2013). Five DEG enriched on day 28 (vs. new-borns) were involved in the "Cyclins and Cell Cycle Regulation" pathway in the present study: Cyclin A2 (*CCNA2*), *CCNB1*, *CCNB2*, Cyclin-dependant kinase 1 (*CDK1*), and *E2F8* (a transcription factor) (*P*<0.05). *CDK* proteins only possess kinase activity when they are complexed with a cyclin, and different CKD-Cyclin complexes have specific roles at various points in the cell cycle. The CDK1-Cylin B complex triggers mitosis (M phase of the cell cycle) in mammalian cells (Lindqvist et al., 2009), and is therefore critical for correct cell division. Cyclin-A (*CCNA*) forms a complex with *CDK2* to initiate DNA replication in the S phase of the cell cycle, but can also complex with *CDK1* to reinitiate the M phase (Plopper et al., 2013). Therefore, the increased expression of *CCNB1*, *CCNB2*, *CCNA2*, and *CDK1* genes in the present study from day 7 onward, compared to new-borns (Fig. 3.4), indicates elevated mitotic activity underpins the morphological development of the rumen during early life in beef calves.

In lambs, the upregulation of cyclin A (*CCNA*), cyclin D (*CCND1*), and *CDK2* genes was observed in animals fed starter and milk replacer compared to those raised exclusively on milk replacer, and the expression of these genes was positively correlated to rumen papillae development (Sun et al., 2018). Moreover, enhanced expression of cyclin and CDK genes in the rumen following grain consumption has also been reported in goat kids (Gui and Shen, 2016, Sun et al., 2018). In the present study, calves had access to calf starter in increasing quantities from day 7 onward, but the expression of cyclin and *CDK* genes only changed significantly in the week after birth and remained stable between days 7-96 (Fig. 3.4). This indicates that in beef calves, the activity of cyclin and CDK genes was not influenced by either starter allocation or the amount of starter offered. Histomorphological analysis showed significant papillary development as early as day 7 (Lyons et al., data not shown), and as discussed in Chapter 2, there was evidence that calves had been consuming straw bedding prior to day 7. Therefore, the consumption of even small amounts of forage during the first days of life might be sufficient to kickstart rumen fermentation, VFA production, and subsequent epithelial development.

Rumen papillae development increases the surface area for VFA and nutrient absorption and is key for animal growth. Papillae elongation, driven by butyrate metabolism in the rumen epithelium, is also thought to be mediated by activation of mitosis as described above, and an inhibition of cell death via apoptosis (Mentschel et al., 2001). Cellular apoptosis is coordinated by cysteine-aspartase-specific proteases (caspases), divided into initiators and executioners (Plopper et al., 2013). Decreased expression of Caspase 3 and 8 (*CASP3, CASP8*) genes was associated with accelerated cell cycle activity and enhanced rumen morphological development in starter fed lambs (Sun et al., 2018), suggesting that apoptosis may be supressed to allow for rapid rumen tissue development during early life. Based on these findings, the expression of caspase genes in the rumen tissue during early life were investigated. Seven caspase genes were detected in the present study, but their expression did not change significantly until day 96, when the expression of Caspase 4 (*CASP4*) decreased compared to the new-borns (P<0.05, Table 3.1).

Sun and colleagues (2018) reported concordant acceleration of the cell cycle with depression in apoptosis-associated gene expression as discussed above, concluding that starter feeding enhanced cell proliferation while reducing apoptosis in the rumen. However, while elevated expression of cell cycle genes in the first weeks of life were observed in the present study, it appears that apoptosis was not inhibited until at least day 96. Previous work has demonstrated that butyrate enhances mitosis in rumen tissue *in vivo*, while inhibiting apoptosis (Mentschel et al., 2001). In this study, calves had access to 1kg of calf starter daily from day 28-56 and had *ad libitum* access post weaning. It may be that a certain threshold of starter consumption (and thus butyrate production) is required to suppress the apoptotic process. Thus, we speculate that while apoptosis does not appear to be inhibited in the first month of life, elevated starter feeding after day 28 may contribute to its downregulation, contributing to further ruminal development. This is supported by morphological data from the same animals, which showed papillae development was accelerated after day 28 (Lyons et al., data not shown).

Taken together, these data indicate that by day 28 of life, genes and pathways critical for cellular proliferation were established in the rumen tissue. The cell cycle genes showed trends of increase as early as day 7 and their expression remained stable throughout the rest of the experimental period (Fig. 3.4), so we cannot conclude if this activation is due to dietary grain consumption or age. In constrast to previous findings, this did not appear to be accompanied by a suppression of apoptosis, as caspase gene expression did not change until post-weaning. High levels ( $\geq 1$ kg/day) of concentrate feeding might be required to propagate rumen development in beef calves, and this should be noted in further investigations.

# **3.3.2 Transcriptional dynamics of genes and pathways underpinning VFA absorption in the rumen**

VFA produced by microbial carbohydrate fermentation are the principle energy source for ruminants (Bergman, 1990), with butyrate the preferred energy source of epithelial cells (Bedford

and Gong, 2017). Moreover, VFA absorption across the rumen wall contributes to rumen stability via pH regulation (Penner, 2014). Apical uptake of VFA may occur via passive diffusion of undissociated VFA, or active transport of dissociated VFA mediated by host transporter genes (den Besten et al., 2013). In the rumen, the majority of VFA are in the dissociated state (Penner et al., 2011) but the mechanisms underpinning their active transport across the apical membrane and subsequent transfer to the portal circulatory system remain poorly understood. To this end, the activity of genes and pathways involved in VFA metabolism were investigated in the present study, and were found to increase following allocation of calf starter on D7. GO term analysis of the 25 DEG identified between days 7 and 14 showed enrichment of 9 functional terms, including "Lipid Metabolic Process", "Monocarboxylic Acid Metabolic Process", and "Monocarboxylic Acid Binding", "Cellular Response To Oxygen Containing Compound", "Inorganic Ion Transmembrane Transport", "Response to Organic Cyclic Compound", and "Passive Transmembrane Transporter Activity" (P<0.05, Table 3.2). Moreover, the top molecular functions assigned to the DEG in IPA following calf starter allocation on day 7 included "Lipid Metabolism", "Molecular Transport", and "Small Molecule Biochemistry" (P<0.05, Table 3.3).

Several candidate genes belonging to the SLC (Solute Carrier) family have been proposed as mediators of VFA transport in the rumen (Stumpff, 2018) with monocarboxylic transporters (MCT – SLC16 family) thought to play a primary role (Connor et al., 2010). Among the 14 MCT genes known to be expressed in the bovine GIT (Kirat et al., 2013), MCT1 and MCT4 are believed to be involved in ruminal VFA transport (Connor et al., 2010). Higher transcriptional abundance of MCT1 (SLC16A1) was observed on day 28, and again on day 96 compared to the new-borns (P < 0.05, Fig. 3.5), indicative of elevated rates of VFA transport. This is consistent with the findings of Laarman and colleagues in dairy calves (2012) but disagrees with those of Sun et al, (2018) who reported decreased *MCT1* expression with increased calf starter consumption in lambs. This inconsistency may point to divergent mechanisms for VFA absorption between bovine and ovine animals, which requires verification. Previous studies have speculated that MCT4, located on the luminal side of the rumen epithelium, is key to ruminal VFA absorption (Connor et al., 2010, Kirat et al., 2007). However, the expression of MCT4 did not change throughout early life in the present study (P>0.05), suggesting that it may not be a major player in VFA absorption during early life, and that other transporter genes may facilitate transfer of VFA from the lumen to the basolateral membrane. To this end, we observed increased expression of another transporter-encoding gene, DRA (SLC26A3), on D14 vs D7, and again on D28 vs D7 (P<0.05, Fig. 3.5), corresponding to allocation of increasing amounts of calf starter as well as the expression

pattern of *MCT1*. Like *MCT4*, this gene is expressed on the apical (luminal) epithelium and has been previously proposed as a candidate protein mediating rumen VFA transport across the apical membrane (Penner et al., 2011, Stumpff, 2018, Schlau et al., 2012), but this has not yet been confirmed. This gene was also involved in several of the GO terms related to metabolism and transport listed above which were significantly enriched during early life (*P*<0.05, Table 3.2), indicating its metabolic importance in the developing rumen. It is plausible that *DRA* may have a prominent role in the initial take-up of VFA across the apical epithelium, and this warrants further study.

Following absorption, acetate and propionate are mostly transferred to the portal circulation system in their native form, but up to 90% of ruminal butyrate is metabolised to ketone bodies in the rumen wall (mainly  $\beta$ -hydroxybutyrate (BHBA)), where it is used as an energy source for ruminal epithelial cells (Penner et al., 2011). The rumen is the principle source of ketone body synthesis in the animal, providing a significant amount of energy substrate to the peripheral tissues (Penner et al., 2011, Aschenbach et al., 2011). Corresponding to increased allocation of calf starter (calves received 700g/d in the week up to day 28 of life, and had *ad libitum* access post weaning), the "Ketogenesis" pathway was enriched at days 28 and 96, compared to the new-born calves (P<0.05). The expression of key genes involved in this pathway (BDH1, ACAT1, HMGCL, and HMGCS2) increased numerically following calf starter allocation on day 7, and their expression levels were all higher on day 28 (P < 0.05, Fig. 3.6) compared to new-borns. The respective roles of these genes in BHBA production in the rumen epithelium have been extensively summarised elsewhere (Steele et al., 2011a). It is also suggested that ruminal VFA are alternatively metabolised in the rumen for cholesterol synthesis (Steele et al., 2011b), but this has not been widely investigated in calves. The "Superpathway of Cholesterol Synthesis" was also enriched on days 28 and 96 compared to new-borns (P<0.05), indicating that VFA metabolism may proceed via cholesterol synthesis during early life. A recent study in lambs showed upregulation of genes involved in ketogenesis concomitant with downregulation of those involved in cholesterol synthesis in the rumen epithelium following starter consumption (Sun et al., 2018). Previous studies (Steele et al., 2011b, Sun et al., 2018) have reported the HMGCS1 gene as a key regulator of VFA metabolism to cholesterol in the rumen epithelium, but we did not observe differential expression of this gene in our dataset (P>0.05). However, several other genes associated with this pathway in IPA (DHCR7, NSDHL, IDI1) were among the genes upregulated following calf starter allocation in the present study (P<0.05). These data indicate that by day 28, the rumen wall expresses the genes and pathways necessary to obtain energy for growth and development, and

that this may occur via both ketogenic and cholesterol synthesis pathways. The further enrichment of genes involved in the "Ketogenesis" pathway on day 96 (P<0.05, Table 3.3, Fig. 3.6), suggests that the rate of ketogenesis increases further across weaning. However, due to the limitations of our experiment, we cannot conclude if this is due to the dietary change after weaning, increased calf age, or, as is more likely, a combination of both. Nonetheless, these data provide valuable fundamental knowledge concerning molecular control VFA metabolism during early life in beef calves and will be valuable in development of optimum calf management strategies.

# **3.3.3** Genes and pathways involved in the host immune response are enriched in the rumen during early life

Microbial stability within an ecosystem is important in maintaining microbial function under changing conditions (Loreau et al., 2001), and perturbation of host-microbial homeostasis may lead to impaired microbial function, thereby affecting host health. The rumen lacks the organised lymphoid tissues (MALT and GALT) present in the lower gut (Yanez-Ruiz et al., 2015) and has been somewhat neglected in studies of the GIT immune system in cattle to date, with its major protective function presumed to be as a physical barrier. However, as recently reviewed (Yanez-Ruiz et al., 2015), immune homeostasis in the rumen is mediated through a number of mechanisms beyond barrier function, including secretory immunoglobulin (IgA, IgG) supply from saliva (Fouhse et al., 2017), and the activity of various pattern-recognition receptors (e.g. toll-like receptors (TLRs), and other antimicrobial peptides (e.g. defensins) (Malmuthuge et al., 2013, Malmuthuge and Guan, 2017). These mechanisms remain poorly understood in the rumen during the early life period, when they may be amenable to manipulation for microbial programming. Though our initial objective was to examine molecular control of rumen development and nutrient metabolism during early life, investigation of the DEG and associated functional annotations showed substantial enrichment of host immune function following birth. Therefore, we expanded our analysis to include genes, functions, and pathways involved in the enriched host immune response from birth.

Feeding elevated quantities of grain during early life is recommended to improve rumen development and calf growth (Drackley, 2008). However, there is evidence that such dietary programs severely disrupt the integrity of the rumen epithelial barrier (Liu et al., 2013). Tight junction proteins (TJP) including claudins and occludin control rumen permeability (Penner et al., 2011), and previous work has reported a decline in their expression following starter consumption in calves (Malmuthuge et al., 2013) and goats (Jiao et al., 2017), indicating that higher rumen permeability might be necessary to facilitate greater nutrient absorption under grain feeding in early life as the papillae continue to develop. Three genes, encoding Claudins 4, 11, and 17, displayed temporal changes in expression in expression in the present study. The expression of Claudin 4 (CLD4) was higher at all timepoints compared to new-born animals (P<0.05, Fig. 3.7). Claudin 17 (CLD17) expression was upregulated on day 7 (P<0.05, Fig. 3.7), but remained stable thereafter (P<0.05, Fig. 3.7). Finally, Claudin 11 (CLD11) expression was stable throughout early life until day 96 when it was downregulated compared to the new-born calves (P<0.05, Fig. 3.7), but its expression was substantially lower at all timepoints than the other claudin genes, suggesting a minor role in the rumen. The bovine occludin (OCLD) gene did not change significantly in expression at any timepoint in the present study (P>0.05, Fig. 3.7). There were no significant changes in expression levels of any TJP genes following starter allocation on day 7, indicating that neither starter feed consumption nor the amount of feed offered had a significant impact on rumen integrity. These findings disagree with published data which showed decreased expression of claudins and occludin, and thus increased rumen permeability, following starter consumption during early life (Jiao et al., 2017, Malmuthuge et al., 2013). Offering goats a high-grain diet caused a massive disruption of rumen epithelial tight junctions (Liu et al., 2013). In adult cattle, impaired rumen barrier function is usually associated with a nutritional insult like acidosis (Aschenbach et al., 2010), and episodes of temporary hyperosmolarity during periods of rapid ruminal fermentation (Penner et al., 2010). That there was no effect of early life grain feeding on the expression of TJP in the rumen epithelium in the present study suggests that steady increases in the amount of feed offered in the first weeks of life might have allowed the rumen to adapt to solid feed digestion, and this might have been aided by straw consumption even before D7. However, more studies in young calves are required to verify this.

Beyond barrier function, there is increasing evidence that epithelial immune cells play a key role in recognising the early gut microbiota of calves (Malmuthuge et al., 2012). However, there is limited knowledge of such mechanisms in the rumen. The substantial shift in the rumen transcriptome profile between birth (naturally delivered calves) and day 7 (Fig. 3.2) included many genes encoding hallmarks of the host immune response, such as cytokines (inc. *IL36a*, *IL36β*, *IL1β*) and antimicrobial peptides (inc. *LAP*, *TAP*) (Table 3.1). Functional annotation of the DEG using GO Biological Process term analysis showed significant enrichment of immune-related processes including "Response to Type 1 Interferon", "Cytokine Mediated Signalling Pathway",

"Response to Cytokine", "Innate Immune Response", "Interleukin 1 Receptor Binding", and "Cytokine Activity" (P<0.05, Table 3.2). We also observed enrichment of GO terms related to contact with foreign organisms; "Defence Response to Bacterium", "Response to Virus", and "Defence Response to Other Organism" (P<0.05, Table 3.2), suggesting that contact with microbial life in the rumen may prime early host immune function. Moreover, IPA classified the genes which were differentially expressed during early life compared to new-borns into functions like "Cell-mediated Immune Trafficking" and "Immune Cell Trafficking" (P<0.05, Table 3.4). Eighteen 18 IPA canonical pathways were found to be consistently enriched among the DEG when new-borns were compared to 7, 14, and 28-day old calves (P<0.05), including pathways activated by microbial stimuli (e.g. "Dendritic Cell Maturation", "NF-kB Signalling", "Toll-like Receptor Signalling", Table 3.3), indicating sustained enrichment of host-microbial related functions during early life in the rumen.

As presented in Chapter 2 of this thesis, it proved impossible to generate microbial amplicons from contents of the new-born rumen, but found that by D7 the rumen contained a microbiota of comparable diversity to that of older milk-fed calves (days 14-28). Early life microbial exposure is thought to be key in establishing a tolerogenic environment between host and microbe in the lower gut regions (Sommer and Backhed, 2013), and our data may indicate similar mechanisms exist in the developing rumen. The ability to distinguish between pathogenic and commensal microbiota is a key feature in maintaining intestinal homeostasis, and this is performed in the gut by Toll-like Receptors (TLRs) (Rakoff-Nahoum et al., 2004). TLRs are pattern recognition receptors that activate a pro-inflammatory signalling pathway following exposure to microbial ligands, and are thought to be responsible for early monitoring of the rumen microbiota during colonisation prior to weaning (Malmuthuge et al., 2012). IPA predicted significant enrichment of the "Toll-like Receptor Signalling" pathway throughout preweaning compared to new-born calves (P<0.05). On day 7, the "Role of Pattern Recognition Receptors in Recognition of Bacteria and Viruses" pathway was also predicted to be activated (P<0.05, Table 3.3). Previous studies have reported that ruminal TLR expression generally declines with increasing age, and the expression of TLRs in the rumen is lower than in other gut regions (Jiao et al., 2017, Malmuthuge et al., 2012). We saw similar trends in our own data, whereby TLR4 showed a trend (P < 0.05, not evident following FDR-adjustment) toward increased expression between birth and day 7 (Fig. 3.8) but declined in expression in later life. The lack of statistical significance is likely due both to our stringent DE cut-offs and high variability in gene expression profiles among the individual calves at each timepoint. Nonetheless, activation of the TLR-

signalling cascade is supported by the observed upregulated expression of other genes involved in this pathway, including lipopolysaccharide binding protein (*LPB*), and several interleukins and their receptors (*IL1, IL36*) (P<0.05, Table 3.1). Most of the TLRs in our dataset (TLRs 2-7 were expressed) displayed a similar temporal expression profiles to *TLR4*, except for *TLR5*, which had greater expression on day 96 compared to new-borns (P<0.05, Fig. 3.8). This suggests that the mechanisms underpinning TLR-sensing of the rumen microbiota may evolve during calf development and, should be investigated further.

*TLR5* is expressed on the cell surface and recognises bacterial flagella (Miao et al., 2007), and its elevated expression in postweaning in the current study corresponds to the increased richness and diversity of the luminal bacteriome on day 96 calves versus milk-fed calves discussed in Chapter 3. Prior studies that observed a temporal decrease in TLR expression in the rumen during early life (Jiao et al., 2017, Malmuthuge et al., 2012) did not examine *TLR5* expression. Activation of *TLR5* signalling was identified as a potentially important function of the commensal microbiota to maintain stability following a nutritional challenge in the adult goat rumen (Shen et al., 2017, Liu et al., 2015), but the enrichment of *TLR5* has not, to our knowledge, been associated with increasing age during early life in the rumen. Therefore, it is possible that upregulation of *TLR5* and its associated cytokines observed here indicates a role of *TLR5* signalling in maintaining rumen-microbial homeostasis in older animals, supported by the enrichment of "Toll-like Receptor Signalling" pathway on day 96 versus new-borns in IPA (P < 0.05, Table 3.3). More studies are required to confirm this hypothesis.

TLR signalling is not the only PRR-associated pathway thought to be implicated in hostmicrobial homeostasis in the rumen; Malmuthuge and colleagues (2012) reported reduced expression of the *PGLYRP1* (encoding Peptidoglycan Recognition Protein 1) gene in the rumen prior to weaning compared to in older animals, but this gene was only expressed on day 14 in the present study. Expression of another member of the same family, *PLGYRP2* increased following birth in the present study (P<0.05) but was expressed at relatively low numbers (Fig. 3.8). *PGLYRP* mRNA expression was observed to be lower in the rumen compared to other GIT compartments (Malmuthuge et al., 2012), so these proteins may not be of great biological relevance in the rumen.

Defensins are a family of antimicrobial peptides that may also play a role in host-microbial sensing in the developing rumen (Malmuthuge et al., 2012, Yanez-Ruiz et al., 2015). These

proteins resist microbial invasion of mucosal surfaces by disrupting microbial cell membranes of a wide range of microbial groups (Ganz, 2003). Corresponding to a previous study (Malmuthuge et al., 2012), the *DEFB* (encoding a  $\beta$ -defensin) gene was poorly expressed prior to weaning in the current study but increased significantly by day 96 (P<0.05, Fig. 3.9). Two other defensinencoding genes, LAP (lingual AMP) and TAP (tracheal AMP), were consistently among the most significantly enriched genes during early life compared to new-borns (P<0.05, Fig. 3.9). A previous study demonstrated that *LAP* is highly expressed in the stratum corneum of the rumen epithelium (Isobe et al., 2011), and so is in direct contact with the rumen microbiota. TAP expression is induced by proinflammatory stimuli, including interleukins and LPS (Mitchell et al., 2007). Expression of both AMPs is induced by Mannheimia haemolytica infection; however, this is a respiratory pathogen and was not detected in the microbial data presented in Chapter 2, indicating that it was not the cause of *LAP* and *TAP* upregulation. The expression level of both genes was similar between days 7-96, indicating their role may be critical throughout early life (Fig. 3.9). The elevated expression of these AMPs from birth corresponds to the microbial colonisation of the rumen in the first week following birth (Malmuthuge et al., 2013, Jami et al., 2013), and they may be important mediators of host tolerance to the rumen microbiota during early life. *DEFB* ( $\beta$ -defensin) only became significantly upregulated post weaning as previously noted (Malmuthuge et al., 2012), providing further evidence that the immune effector mechanisms regulating host response to the commensal microbiota evolve as the animal ages, as seen with the divergent TLR expression profiles discussed above, probably in response to changes in bacterial community composition. Finally, there is some evidence that stability of the ruminal microbiota may be mediated through activity of salivary immunoglobulins, including IgG and IgA (Williams et al., 2009, Fouhse et al., 2017). IgA receptors were not detected in the present study, but Fc receptors for both IgG and IgE were upregulated from day 7 onward (P<0.05, not shown), corresponding to microbial colonisation of the rumen following birth as discussed in Chapter 2. Further studies are warranted to identify the precise relationship between colonisation patterns and Ig activity in the rumen, as this may offer a mechanism to selectively inhibit undesirable microbial groups (e.g. methanogens).

The mature rumen epithelium is clearly delineated into four layers, as shown in Fig. 1.1, and gene expression patterns vary between each layer (Penner et al., 2011). However, as the rumen continues to develop during early life, there is no clear distinction between each layer (Graham et al., 2005). It is possible that the expression of key immune genes before full rumen development is important in protecting the host from luminal microbiota during early life, via similar

mechanisms that exist in the lower gut. Investigating spatial immune cell protein expression in the rumen tissue throughout early life might offer more information.

## 3.3.4 Upregulation of genes involved in stress response and collagen formation in the rumen of naturally delivered calves compared to calves delivered via elective caesarean section

There is evidence that CS delivery may affect gene expression in the neonatal jejunum and lung (Surlis et al., 2017), and have a longitudinal impact on rumen (Cunningham et al., 2018) and human gut (Korpela et al., 2018) microbial profiles during early life. However, despite the importance of rumen function for nutrient absorption, there is no data concerning any potential impact of CS delivery on gene expression profiles in the rumen. Our data showed that two genes, *FKBP5* and *P4HA3*, were differentially expressed in the rumen wall according to the mode of delivery, both of which were upregulated in naturally delivered calves compared to those born by elective caesarean section (ECS) (P<0.05, Table 3.1, Fig. 3.3). *P4HA3* encodes a component of prolyl 4-hydroxylase, an enzyme which is critical to collagen formation (Myllyharju, 2003), and so this upregulation in naturally delivered animals may suggest a potentially negative effect of ECS on rumen wall structure in neonates, but this should be investigated further.

*FKBP5* encodes FK506-binding protein 51 (Matosin et al., 2018), which is vital to the glucocorticoid receptor (GR) complex and contributes to restored hypothalamic–pituitary– adrenal axis homeostasis following exposure to stress (Grad and Picard, 2007, Matosin et al., 2018). Delivery, regardless of the method, is a stressful event for the calf, but the longer duration of trans-vaginal delivery compared to more abrupt event of ECS may cause elevated stress levels in the naturally delivered offspring as previously shown (Cho and Norman, 2013). In a previous publication using the current animal model, the NR3C1 gene, which encodes the glucocorticoid receptor Nuclear Receptor Subfamily 3 Group C Member 1, tended (P=0.1) to be downregulated in the jejunum of calves delivered via ECS (Surlis et al., 2017). High levels of neonatal corticosteroids are important for adequate colostrum absorption, thus ECS may have a negative impact on passive Ig transfer in the gut during early life (Sangild, 2003).

The "Glucocorticoid Receptor Signalling" canonical pathway was enriched in the NB.CS calves (Table 3). *FKBP5* is activated by glucocorticoids and the upregulation of *FKBP5* in this study suggests elevated GR signalling, which in turn is an indication of elevated stress experienced by NAT calves. Overall, only 2/13,154 expressed genes (0.015%) were differentially expressed

among ECS and NAT new-borns (Table 1) indicating a limited transcriptional response to mode of delivery in the rumen wall. However, a limitation of the current study is that samples were only collected from ECS calves immediately following birth, and there may be a longitudinal impact of ECS delivery on the transcriptome profile of the rumen wall, which is evident later in life. This has recently been demonstrated for calf haematological profiles (Probo et al., 2012), and rumen microbial communities (Cunningham et al., 2018) and so should be considered in any future studies.

#### 3.4 Conclusions and summary

Physical maturation of the rumen is critical to facilitate a smooth weaning transition in calves and confers the capability to digest the high-forage diet of adult ruminants. To our knowledge, this study is among the first comprehensive investigations of early life transcriptome dynamics in beef calves. Cellular development processes and VFA transport and metabolism mechanisms are dynamic during early life and appear to be influenced by diet and age. We observed a substantial enrichment in immune related genes, processes and pathways in rumen tissue during early life. These changes occurred independently of any decrease in TJP expression, indicating that this elevated immune activity did not compromise rumen permeability. In particular, we have highlighted several mechanisms that may underpin the tolerogenic relationship between the host and the rumen microbiota during early life. Understanding the dynamics of host immune function during rumen colonisation is important in terms of early life manipulation. If a specific microbial group is prevented from establishing early in life, exposure during adulthood may elicit a detrimental immune response from the host (Yanez-Ruiz et al., 2015), and this must be considered in targeting the colonisation of undesirable microbial taxa.

The nature of the rumen wall sample used in this study may be a potential source of bias. A cross section of the entire rumen wall, which includes the rumen epithelium, papillae (where present) and the underlying muscular and vascular tissues was collected. This was necessary as it was impossible to effectively separate the epithelium from the underlying tissue in the younger calves (new-borns, day 7), and thus in the interests of consistency all samples were collected in the same manner. Future studies should devise an effective method to separate the epithelium from the underlying muscle, to ensure the accuracy of findings.

In summary, the data presented in this study provides valuable information concerning the potential interrelationship between host and microbe in rumen development, host mechanistic control of rumen development, and the potential impact of CS delivery on rumen wall gene expression in beef calves.

### 3.5 Literature cited

- ANDREWS, S. 2010. FastQC: a quality control tool for high throughput sequence data. Available online at: http://www.bioinformatics.babraham.ac.uk/projects/fastqc
- ASCHENBACH, J. R., PENNER, G. B., STUMPFF, F. & GABEL, G. 2011. Ruminant Nutrition Symposium: Role of fermentation acid absorption in the regulation of ruminal pH. *J Anim Sci*, 89, 1092-107.
- BALDWIN, R. L. V., MCLEOD, K. R., KLOTZ, J. L. & HEITMANN, R. N. 2004. Rumen Development, Intestinal Growth and Hepatic Metabolism In The Pre- and Postweaning Ruminant. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 87, E55-E65.
- BEDFORD, A. & GONG, J. 2017. Implications of butyrate and its derivatives for gut health and animal production. *Animal Nutrition*.
- BERGMAN, E. N. 1990. Energy contributions of volatile fatty acids from the gastrointestinal tract in various species. *Physiol Rev*, 70, 567-90.
- BUSHNELL, B. 2015. BBtools. (no. LBNL-7065E).
- CHO, C. E. & NORMAN, M. 2013. Cesarean section and development of the immune system in the offspring. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 208, 249-254.
- CONNOR, E. E., LI, R. W., BALDWIN, R. L. & LI, C. 2010. Gene expression in the digestive tissues of ruminants and their relationships with feeding and digestive processes. *Animal*, 4, 993-1007.
- DEN BESTEN, G., VAN EUNEN, K., GROEN, A. K., VENEMA, K., REIJNGOUD, D.-J. & BAKKER, B. M. 2013. The role of short-chain fatty acids in the interplay between diet, gut microbiota, and host energy metabolism. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 54, 2325-2340.
- DOBIN, A., DAVIS, C. A., SCHLESINGER, F., DRENKOW, J., ZALESKI, C., JHA, S., BATUT, P., CHAISSON, M. & GINGERAS, T. R. 2013. STAR: ultrafast universal RNA-seq aligner. *Bioinformatics*, 29, 15-21.
- DRACKLEY, J. K. 2008. Calf nutrition from birth to breeding. *Vet Clin North Am Food Anim Pract*, 24, 55-86.
- DURINCK S, M. Y., KASPRZYK A, DAVIS S, DE MOOR B, BRAZMA A, HUBER W 2005. BioMart and Bioconductor: a powerful link between biological databases and microarray data analysis. *Bioinformatics*, 21, 3439–3440.
- FOUHSE, J. M., SMIEGIELSKI, L., TUPLIN, M., GUAN, L. L. & WILLING, B. P. 2017. Host Immune Selection of Rumen Bacteria through Salivary Secretory IgA. *Front Microbiol*, 8, 848.
- GANZ, T. 2003. Defensins: antimicrobial peptides of innate immunity. *Nat Rev Immunol,* 3, 710-20.
- GRAD, I. & PICARD, D. 2007. The glucocorticoid responses are shaped by molecular chaperones. *Mol Cell Endocrinol*, 275, 2-12.
- GUI, H. & SHEN, Z. 2016. Concentrate diet modulation of ruminal genes involved in cell proliferation and apoptosis is related to combined effects of short-chain fatty acid and pH in rumen of goats. *J Dairy Sci*, 99, 6627-6638.
- ISOBE, N., SUGINO, T., TANIGUCHI, K., MORIYA, N., HOSODA, K. & YOSHIMURA, Y. 2011. Differential localization of lingual antimicrobial peptide in the digestive tract mucosal epithelium of calves. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol*, 142, 87-94.

- JAMI, E., ISRAEL, A., KOTSER, A. & MIZRAHI, I. 2013. Exploring the bovine rumen bacterial community from birth to adulthood. *Isme j*, 7, 1069-79.
- JIAO, J., LI, X., BEAUCHEMIN, K. A., TAN, Z., TANG, S. & ZHOU, C. 2015. Rumen development process in goats as affected by supplemental feeding v. grazing: age-related anatomic development, functional achievement and microbial colonisation. *Br J Nutr*, 113, 888-900.
- JIAO, J., ZHOU, C., GUAN, L. L., MCSWEENEY, C. S., TANG, S., WANG, M. & TAN, Z. 2017. Shifts in Host Mucosal Innate Immune Function Are Associated with Ruminal Microbial Succession in Supplemental Feeding and Grazing Goats at Different Ages. Frontiers in Microbiology, 8, 1655.
- KEOGH, K., WATERS, S. M., CORMICAN, P., KELLY, A. K., O'SHEA, E. & KENNY, D. A. 2017. Effect of dietary restriction and subsequent re-alimentation on the transcriptional profile of bovine ruminal epithelium. *PLOS ONE*, 12, e0177852.
- KHAN, M. A., WEARY, D. M. & VON KEYSERLINGK, M. A. 2011. Invited review: effects of milk ration on solid feed intake, weaning, and performance in dairy heifers. *J Dairy Sci*, 94, 1071-81.
- KIRAT, D., MATSUDA, Y., YAMASHIKI, N., HAYASHI, H. & KATO, S. 2007. Expression, cellular localization, and functional role of monocarboxylate transporter 4 (MCT4) in the gastrointestinal tract of ruminants. *Gene*, 391, 140-9.
- KIRAT, D., SALLAM, K. I. & KATO, S. 2013. Expression and cellular localization of monocarboxylate transporters (MCT2, MCT7, and MCT8) along the cattle gastrointestinal tract. *Cell Tissue Res*, 352, 585-98.
- KORPELA, K., COSTEA, P., COELHO, L. P., KANDELS-LEWIS, S., WILLEMSEN, G., BOOMSMA, D. I., SEGATA, N. & BORK, P. 2018. Selective maternal seeding and environment shape the human gut microbiome. *Genome Research*, 28, 561-568.
- LAARMAN, A. H., RUIZ-SANCHEZ, A. L., SUGINO, T., GUAN, L. L. & OBA, M. 2012. Effects of feeding a calf starter on molecular adaptations in the ruminal epithelium and liver of Holstein dairy calves. *J Dairy Sci*, 95, 2585-94.
- LESMEISTER, K. E. & HEINRICHS, A. J. 2004. Effects of corn processing on growth characteristics, rumen development, and rumen parameters in neonatal dairy calves. *J Dairy Sci*, 87, 3439-50.
- LIAO, Y., SMYTH, G. K. & SHI, W. 2014. featureCounts: an efficient general purpose program for assigning sequence reads to genomic features. *Bioinformatics*, 30, 923-30.
- LINDQVIST, A., RODRÍGUEZ-BRAVO, V. & MEDEMA, R. H. 2009. The decision to enter mitosis: feedback and redundancy in the mitotic entry network. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 185, 193-202.
- LIU, J.-H., BIAN, G.-R., ZHU, W.-Y. & MAO, S.-Y. 2015. High-grain feeding causes strong shifts in ruminal epithelial bacterial community and expression of Toll-like receptor genes in goats. *Frontiers in microbiology*, 6, 167-167.
- LIU, J.-H., XU, T.-T., LIU, Y.-J., ZHU, W.-Y. & MAO, S.-Y. 2013. A high-grain diet causes massive disruption of ruminal epithelial tight junctions in goats. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 305, R232-R241.
- LOREAU, M., NAEEM, S., INCHAUSTI, P., BENGTSSON, J., GRIME, J. P., HECTOR, A., HOOPER, D. U., HUSTON, M. A., RAFFAELLI, D., SCHMID, B., TILMAN, D. & WARDLE, D. A. 2001. Biodiversity and ecosystem functioning: current knowledge and future challenges. *Science*, 294, 804-8.
- LOVE, M. I., HUBER, W. & ANDERS, S. 2014. Moderated estimation of fold change and dispersion for RNA-seq data with DESeq2. *Genome Biol*, 15, 550.
- MALMUTHUGE, N. & GUAN, L. L. 2017. Understanding host-microbial interactions in rumen: searching the best opportunity for microbiota manipulation. *J Anim Sci Biotechnol*, 8, 8.

- MALMUTHUGE, N., LI, M., FRIES, P., GRIEBEL, P. J. & GUAN, L. L. 2012. Regional and age dependent changes in gene expression of Toll-like receptors and key antimicrobial defence molecules throughout the gastrointestinal tract of dairy calves. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol*, 146, 18-26.
- MALMUTHUGE, N., LI, M., GOONEWARDENE, L. A., OBA, M. & GUAN, L. L. 2013. Effect of calf starter feeding on gut microbial diversity and expression of genes involved in host immune responses and tight junctions in dairy calves during weaning transition. *J Dairy Sci*, 96, 3189-200.
- MATOSIN, N., HALLDORSDOTTIR, T. & BINDER, E. B. 2018. Understanding the Molecular Mechanisms Underpinning Gene by Environment Interactions in Psychiatric Disorders: The FKBP5 Model. *Biological Psychiatry*, 83, 821-830.
- MEALE, S. J., LI, S. C., AZEVEDO, P., DERAKHSHANI, H., DEVRIES, T. J., PLAIZIER, J. C., STEELE, M. A. & KHAFIPOUR, E. 2017. Weaning age influences the severity of gastrointestinal microbiome shifts in dairy calves. *Scientific Reports*, 7, 198.
- MENTSCHEL, J., LEISER, R., MULLING, C., PFARRER, C. & CLAUS, R. 2001. Butyric acid stimulates rumen mucosa development in the calf mainly by a reduction of apoptosis. *Arch Tierernahr*, 55, 85-102.
- MYLLYHARJU, J. 2003. Prolyl 4-hydroxylases, the key enzymes of collagen biosynthesis. *Matrix Biol*, 22, 15-24.
- NAEEM, A., DRACKLEY, J. K., LANIER, J. S., EVERTS, R. E., RODRIGUEZ-ZAS, S. L. & LOOR, J. J. 2014. Ruminal epithelium transcriptome dynamics in response to plane of nutrition and age in young Holstein calves. *Funct Integr Genomics*, 14, 261-73.
- NAEEM, A., DRACKLEY, J. K., STAMEY, J. & LOOR, J. J. 2012. Role of metabolic and cellular proliferation genes in ruminal development in response to enhanced plane of nutrition in neonatal Holstein calves. *J Dairy Sci*, 95, 1807-20.
- NISHIHARA, K., KATO, D., SUZUKI, Y., KIM, D., NAKANO, M., YAJIMA, Y., HAGA, S., NAKANO, M., ISHIZAKI, H., KAWAHARA-MIKI, R., KONO, T., KATOH, K. & ROH, S. G. 2018. Comparative transcriptome analysis of rumen papillae in suckling and weaned Japanese Black calves using RNA sequencing. *J Anim Sci*, 96, 2226-2237.
- NORBURY, C. & NURSE, P. 1992. Animal cell cycles and their control. *Annu Rev Biochem*, 61, 441-70.
- PENNER, G. B., STEELE, M. A., ASCHENBACH, J. R. & MCBRIDE, B. W. 2011. Ruminant Nutrition Symposium: Molecular adaptation of ruminal epithelia to highly fermentable diets. *J Anim Sci*, 89, 1108-19.
- PLOPPER, G., SHARP, D. & SIKORSKI, E. 2013. *Lewin's Cells, Third Edition*, Jones & Bartlett Learning.
- PROBO, M., GIORDANO, A., MORETTI, P., OPSOMER, G., FIEMS, L. O. & VERONESI, M. C. 2012. Mode of delivery is associated with different hematological profiles in the new-born calf. *Theriogenology*, *77*, 865-72.
- RAKOFF-NAHOUM, S., PAGLINO, J., ESLAMI-VARZANEH, F., EDBERG, S. & MEDZHITOV, R. 2004. Recognition of commensal microflora by toll-like receptors is required for intestinal homeostasis. *Cell*, 118, 229-41.
- REY, M., ENJALBERT, F., COMBES, S., CAUQUIL, L., BOUCHEZ, O. & MONTEILS, V. 2014. Establishment of ruminal bacterial community in dairy calves from birth to weaning is sequential. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 116, 245-257.
- ROBINSON, M. D., MCCARTHY, D. J. & SMYTH, G. K. 2010. edgeR: a Bioconductor package for differential expression analysis of digital gene expression data. *Bioinformatics*, 26, 139-140.
- SANGILD, P. T. 2003. Uptake of Colostral Immunoglobulins by the Compromised New-born Farm Animal. *Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica*, 44, S105.

- SCHLAU, N., GUAN, L. L. & OBA, M. 2012. The relationship between rumen acidosis resistance and expression of genes involved in regulation of intracellular pH and butyrate metabolism of ruminal epithelial cells in steers. *J Dairy Sci*, 95, 5866-75.
- SERGUSHICHEV, A. 2016. An algorithm for fast preranked gene set enrichment analysis using cumulative statistic calculation. *bioRxiv*.
- SHEN, H., CHEN, Z., SHEN, Z. & LU, Z. 2017. Maintaining stability of the rumen ecosystem is associated with changes of microbial composition and epithelial TLR Signalling. *Microbiologyopen*, 6.
- SOMMER, F. & BACKHED, F. 2013. The gut microbiota--masters of host development and physiology. *Nat Rev Microbiol*, 11, 227-38.
- STEELE, M. A., CROOM, J., KAHLER, M., ALZAHAL, O., HOOK, S. E., PLAIZIER, K. & MCBRIDE, B. W. 2011a. Bovine rumen epithelium undergoes rapid structural adaptations during grain-induced subacute ruminal acidosis. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol*, 300, R1515-23.
- STEELE, M. A., VANDERVOORT, G., ALZAHAL, O., HOOK, S. E., MATTHEWS, J. C. & MCBRIDE, B. W. 2011b. Rumen epithelial adaptation to high-grain diets involves the coordinated regulation of genes involved in cholesterol homeostasis. *Physiol Genomics*, 43, 308-16.
- STUMPFF, F. 2018. A look at the smelly side of physiology: transport of short chain fatty acids. *Pflugers Arch*, 470, 571-598.
- SUN, D. M., MAO, S. Y., ZHU, W. Y. & LIU, J. H. 2018. Effect of starter diet supplementation on rumen epithelial morphology and expression of genes involved in cell proliferation and metabolism in pre-weaned lambs. *Animal*, 1-10.
- SURLIS, C., MCNAMARA, K., O'HARA, E., WATERS, S., BELTMAN, M., CASSIDY, J. & KENNY, D. 2017. Birth delivery method affects expression of immune genes in lung and jejunum tissue of neonatal beef calves. *BMC Veterinary Research*, 13, 391.
- TEAM., R. D. C. 2008. R: A language and environment for statistical computing.
- WANG, W., LI, C., LI, F., WANG, X., ZHANG, X., LIU, T., NIAN, F., YUE, X., LI, F., PAN, X., LA, Y., MO, F., WANG, F. & LI, B. 2016. Effects of early feeding on the host rumen transcriptome and bacterial diversity in lambs. 6, 32479.
- WILLIAMS, Y. J., POPOVSKI, S., REA, S. M., SKILLMAN, L. C., TOOVEY, A. F., NORTHWOOD,
  K. S. & WRIGHT, A. D. 2009. A vaccine against rumen methanogens can alter the composition of archaeal populations. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 75, 1860-6.
- YANEZ-RUIZ, D. R., ABECIA, L. & NEWBOLD, C. J. 2015. Manipulating rumen microbiome and fermentation through interventions during early life: a review. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 6.

## 3.6 Tables and figures

	NB.NAT vs	s. NB.CS	
Ensemble Gene ID	<u>Bovine Gene</u> <u>Symbol</u>	<u>logFC</u>	<u>FDR</u>
ENSBTAG0000047502	FKBP5	2.53	3.64E-06
ENSBTAG0000006579	P4HA3	3.17	6.47E-06
	Do <sup>1</sup> vs	. D7	
Ensemble Gene ID	Bovine Gene	logFC	<u>FDR</u>
	<u>Name</u>		07 0
ENSBTAG0000048171	TAP	10.97	1.98E-08
ENSBTAG00000027225	LAP	10.09	5.60E-10
ENSBTAG0000002087	IL36A	8.53	4.84E-10
ENSBTAG0000038033	KRT6B	8.30	2.49E-09
ENSBTAG0000039028	PI3	7.76	2.19E-08
ENSBTAG0000001785	$TGM_3$	7.49	1.27E-12
ENSBTAG0000039425	KRT6A	7.23	7.47E-14
ENSBTAG0000002088	IL36B	6.70	4.69E-08
ENSBTAG0000010433	M-SAA3.2	6.58	5.72E-05
ENSBTAG0000004272	ISG12(B)	6.53	7.47E-07
ENSBTAG0000024255	UOX	6.48	1.16E-08
ENSBTAG0000017718	CCL22	6.22	1.33E-10
ENSBTAG0000014707	ISG15	6.13	1.63E-04
ENSBTAG0000011941	LYZ1	6.11	4.72E-07
ENSBTAG0000012538	KLK14	5.71	3.53E-07
ENSBTAG0000031750	PLAC8	5.58	3.71E-08
ENSBTAG0000002288	NT5DC4	5.57	1.65E-07
ENSBTAG0000007554	IFI6	5.36	1.04E-05
ENSBTAG0000009382	KLK13	5.32	4.46E-06
ENSBTAG0000046158	CFB	5.28	1.27E-08
	Do vs.	D14	
Ensemble Gene ID	Bovine Gene	logFC	<u>FDR</u>
ENSBTAG00000048171	<u>Name</u> TAP	11.62	3.01E-09
ENSBTAG00000038033	KRT6B	10.92	4.12E-12
ENSBTAG00000027225	LAP	10.52	4.12E-12 1.13E-10
ENSBTAG0000002/225 ENSBTAG00000002087	ILAI IL36A		3.19E-11
ENSBTAG00000039028	PI3	9.25 8.70	3.19E-11 1.13E-09
ENSBTAG00000039028 ENSBTAG00000039425	KRT6A	8.69	2.01E-16
	HMGCS2	-	
ENSBTAG0000003898	HMGC52	8.50	2.53E-10

**Table 3.1**:Details of selected DEG within each statistical contrast performed in EdgeR. Thetop 20 DEG within each contrast (ranked by abs. fold change) are presented.

ENSBTAG0000004272	ISG12(B)	8.21	1.14E-08
ENSBTAG0000002288	NT5DC4	8.03	4.20E-12
ENSBTAG0000001785	TGM3	8.01	4.12E-14
ENSBTAG0000006806	KRT17	7.76	3.99E-12
ENSBTAG0000021118	CYP26A1	7.24	7.02E-16
ENSBTAG0000011941	LYZ1	7.20	2.54E-08
ENSBTAG0000015547	SLC26A3	7.09	1.46E-10
ENSBTAG0000031376	BSP30C	6.99	9.02E-10
ENSBTAG0000024255	UOX	6.83	9.20E-10
ENSBTAG0000017531	FETUB	6.70	6.64E-08
ENSBTAG0000016239	DUOXA2	6.66	1.65E-10
ENSBTAG00000014707	ISG15	6.65	2.31E-05
ENSBTAG0000017718	CCL22	6.39	1.62E-11

### Do vs. D28

	Do vs.	D28	
Ensemble Gene ID	Bovine Gene	<u>logFC</u>	FDR
	Name	0	<b>2 7</b>
ENSBTAG0000038033	KRT6B	11.78	8.49E-13
ENSBTAG0000048171	TAP	11.61	1.64E-09
ENSBTAG0000002087	IL36A	9.78	1.03E-11
ENSBTAG0000027225	LAP	9.74	2.28E-10
ENSBTAG0000039425	KRT6A	9.62	2.53E-17
ENSBTAG0000003898	HMGCS2	9.44	2.84E-11
ENSBTAG0000039028	PI3	8.87	7.52E-10
ENSBTAG0000001785	$TGM_3$	8.31	2.09E-14
ENSBTAG0000004272	ISG12(B)	8.23	8.78E-09
ENSBTAG0000021118	CYP26A1	8.06	5.72E-17
ENSBTAG0000006806	KRT17	7.88	2.06E-12
ENSBTAG0000016239	DUOXA2	7.71	8.10E-12
ENSBTAG0000002288	NT5DC4	7.55	1.59E-11
ENSBTAG0000020597	FMO3	-7.55	6.48E-15
ENSBTAG00000015252	CHRNA9	7.13	1.24E-12
ENSBTAG0000016234	DUOX2	7.11	4.29E-13
ENSBTAG0000045786	KLRC1	-6.90	4.04E-11
ENSBTAG0000031376	BSP30C	6.79	1.30E-09
ENSBTAG0000011941	LYZ1	6.78	6.32E-08
ENSBTAG0000011976	CYP4B1	-6.78	6.00E-11
	Do vs.	D96	
Ensemble Gene ID	Bovine Gene	<u>logFC</u>	<u>FDR</u>
	<u>Name</u>		
ENSBTAG00000012034	KRT4	-12.65	3.61E-18
ENSBTAG0000038033	KRT6B	11.95	1.86E-13
ENSBTAG0000003898	HMGCS2	10.63	1.09E-12

ENSBTAG0000013928	WFDC2	-10.54	6.82E-10
ENSBTAG00000015547	SLC26A3	10.04	5.03E-14
ENSBTAG0000002087	IL36A	9.93	2.07E-12
ENSBTAG0000039425	KRT6A	9.75	3.83E-18
ENSBTAG0000027225	LAP	9.59	9.90E-11
ENSBTAG0000048171	TAP	9.50	1.97E-08
ENSBTAG0000020597	FMO3	-9.39	3.92E-17
ENSBTAG00000045786	KLRC1	-9.01	4.23E-13
ENSBTAG0000021118	CYP26A1	8.86	2.43E-18
ENSBTAG0000004272	ISG12(B)	8.80	9.62E-10
ENSBTAG0000005330	KRTDAP	-8.47	1.35E-15
ENSBTAG0000002974	FMO2	-8.45	4.44E-19
ENSBTAG00000011976	CYP4B1	-8.39	5.16E-13
ENSBTAG0000002288	NT5DC4	8.29	3.42E-13
ENSBTAG00000021408	FMO1	-8.23	5.65E-14
ENSBTAG00000016234	DUOX2	8.11	8.68E-15
ENSBTAG0000006806	KRT17	7.91	5.05E-13
	D7 vs. I	014	
Ensemble Gene ID	Bovine Gene	logFC	<u>FDR</u>
	Name		-
ENSBTAG00000017531	FETUB	4.15	5.10E-04
ENSBTAG0000015547	SLC26A3	4.14	4.41E-05
ENSBTAG0000046587	Uncharacterised	3.82	5.10E-04
	protein coding gene		
ENSBTAG0000040393	AKR1C1	3.26	3.65E-04
ENSBTAG0000021118	<i>CYP26A1</i>	3.19	1.10E-06
ENSBTAG00000040019	KRT6C	2.79	2.02E-04
ENSBTAG0000039991	UGT2B10	2.59	2.09E-04
ENSBTAG0000017794	CCDC153	2.50	2.78E-04
ENSBTAG00000012507	PDZD3	2.03	6.09E-05
ENSBTAG0000003300	MFGE8	2.00	3.60E-04
ENSBTAG0000032821	SCEL	-2.18	6.85E-05
ENSBTAG0000032424	FSHR	-2.42	1.21E-04
ENSBTAG0000010163	SCNN1G	-2.56	1.74E-05
ENSBTAG0000019125	SLC1A1	-2.65	3.12E-05
ENSBTAG00000014296	NCCRP1	-2.68	8.79E-06
ENSBTAG0000021408	FMO1	-3.29	1.15E-05
ENSBTAG00000011976	CYP4B1	-3.51	2.71E-05
ENSBTAG00000016305	ATP13A4	-3.63	1.57E-06
ENSBTAG00000020597	FMO3	-3.92	9.46E-08
	6	- /	· · ·

	D14 vs.	D28	
Ensemble Gene ID	Bovine Gene	<u>logFC</u>	<u>FDR</u>
	<u>Name</u>	(2)	_
ENSBTAG00000012034	KRT4	-3.68	2.40E-04
ENSBTAG0000005330	KRTDAP	-3.29	2.50E-04
	D28 vs.	-	
Ensemble Gene ID	<u>Bovine Gene</u> <u>Name</u>	<u>logFC</u>	<u>FDR</u>
ENSBTAG00000012034	KRT4	-8.38	5.99E-13
ENSBTAG0000008238	S100A7	-6.34	1.77E-06
ENSBTAG00000021306	CHRDL2	-4.98	1.92E-06
ENSBTAG0000000828	CAPN6	-4.98	8.25E-05
ENSBTAG0000013155	COL2A1	-4.61	1.12E-05
ENSBTAG0000019977	PCDH10	-4.57	1.93E-04
ENSBTAG00000014340	KERA	-4.53	6.38E-05
ENSBTAG0000037899	DLK1	-4.46	1.99E-05
ENSBTAG0000020979	NGFR	-4.45	1.66E-07
ENSBTAG00000016801	RXRG	-4.38	1.13E-05
ENSBTAG0000002974	FMO2	-4.34	7.64E-09
ENSBTAG0000005330	KRTDAP	-4.31	1.17E-07
ENSBTAG00000044010	EMB	-4.25	6.85E-08
ENSBTAG0000000703	ST6GAL2	-4.13	6.38E-05
ENSBTAG0000006977	PLP1	-4.02	3.06E-05
ENSBTAG0000006451	GAP43	-3.87	3.30E-04
ENSBTAG0000017627	STMN4	-3.78	4.43E-04
ENSBTAG0000015581	COL9A3	-3.76	3.39E-05
ENSBTAG0000004503	NPY	-3.73	4.16E-04
ENSBTAG0000012909	CRABP1	-3.69	7.12E-05
	D7 vs.	D28	
Ensemble Gene ID	Bovine Gene	<u>logFC</u>	<u>FDR</u>
	Name	<u>,</u>	_
ENSBTAG00000016305	ATP13A4	-6.95	5.70E-11
ENSBTAG00000011976	CYP4B1	-6.65	1.47E-09
ENSBTAG00000020597	FMO3	-5.90	5.70E-11
ENSBTAG0000045786	KLRC1	-5.47	1.31E-07
ENSBTAG0000037800	APOBEC3Z1	-5.30	2.01E-04
ENSBTAG00000012034	KRT4	-5.04	3.35E-08
ENSBTAG00000019540	CRNN	-4.85	5.66E-05
ENSBTAG00000014296	NCCRP1	-4.63	2.96E-10
ENSBTAG0000003898	HMGCS2	4.50	2.41E-05
ENSBTAG0000021408	FMO1	-4.34	1.77E-07
ENSBTAG00000010163	SCNN1G	-4.06	1.96E-09
ENSBTAG0000021118	<i>CYP26A1</i>	4.01	1.47E-09

ENSBTAG0000005330	KRTDAP	-3.99	3.34E-07
ENSBTAG0000001021	CYP1A1	3.89	9.85E-05
ENSBTAG0000001595	MT1E	3.88	1.07E-04
ENSBTAG0000002029	IGSF5	-3.87	1.39E-07
ENSBTAG0000032424	FSHR	-3.70	1.77E-07
ENSBTAG00000015547	SLC26A3	3.68	5.03E-05
ENSBTAG0000002974	FMO2	-3.51	1.47E-09
ENSBTAG0000019125	SLC1A1	-3.49	2.94E-07

<sup>1</sup> Do vs. D7			
<u>Gene Ontology Term</u>	<u>P-value</u>	<u>NES</u>	Gene Count
GO: MICROTUBULE CYTOSKELETON	5.03E-03	-2.47	43
GO: RESPONSE TO TYPE I INTERFERON	1.09E-04	2.41	20
GO: DEFENSE RESPONSE TO BACTERIUM	1.06E-04	2.38	25
GO: DEFENSE RESPONSE TO OTHER ORGANISM	1.01E-04	2.32	56
GO: RESPONSE TO BIOTIC STIMULUS	1.00E-04	2.31	78
GO: CYTOKINE MEDIATED SIGNALLING PATHWAY	1.01E-04	2.24	52
GO: CELLULAR RESPONSE TO CYTOKINE STIMULUS	1.01E-04	2.20	59
GO: INNATE IMMUNE RESPONSE	1.00E-04	2.17	81
GO: RESPONSE TO VIRUS	1.04E-04	2.17	32
GO: NUCLEOSIDE TRIPHOSPHATE METABOLIC PROCESS	2.18E-03	-2.17	9
GO: RESPONSE TO CYTOKINE	1.01E-04	2.15	69
GO: CYTOKINE RECEPTOR BINDING	3.51E-04	2.12	12
GO: CYTOKINE ACTIVITY	4.48E-04	2.08	16
GO: PROTEIN LOCALIZATION TO NUCLEUS	2.64E-03	-2.07	5
GO: DEFENSE RESPONSE	1.00E-04	2.06	131
GO: CHROMOSOME ORGANIZATION GO: REG. OF SYMBIOSIS ENCOMPASSING MUTUALISM	9.17E-03	-2.04	54
THROUGH PARASITISM	7.89E-04	2.01	15
GO: INTERLEUKIN 1 RECEPTOR BINDING	2.56E-04	2.00	7
Do vs. D14			
<u>Gene Ontology Term</u>	<u>P-value</u>	<u>NES</u>	Gene Count
GO: RESPONSE TO BIOTIC STIMULUS	1.09E-04	2.57	60
GO: DEFENSE RESPONSE TO OTHER ORGANISM	1.16E-04	2.50	37
GO: DEFENSE RESPONSE TO BACTERIUM	1.31E-04	2.47	17
GO: DEFENSE RESPONSE	2.10E-04	2.11	95
GO: RESPONSE TO EXTERNAL STIMULUS	2.10E-04	2.07	95
GO: SINGLE ORGANISM CATABOLIC PROCESS	2.22E-04	2.29	51
GO: MONOCARBOXYLIC ACID BINDING	2.92E-04	2.20	8
GO: CELLULAR COMPONENT MORPHOGENESIS	4.18E-04	-2.48	16
GO: FERTILIZATION	4.72E-04	2.01	5
GO: RESPONSE TO VIRUS	5.07E-04	2.22	21
GO: PROTEINACEOUS EXTRACELLULAR MATRIX	5.54E-04	-2.61	26
GO: NEURON MIGRATION	5.84E-04	-2.40	6
GO: RESPONSE TO BACTERIUM	5.87E-04	2.10	35
GO: EXTRACELLULAR MATRIX	6.09E-04	-2.41	30
GO: STEM CELL DIFFERENTIATION	6.35E-04	-2.46	8
GO: APPENDAGE DEVELOPMENT	8.21E-04	-2.18	5
GO: EXTRACELLULAR SPACE	8.49E-04	2.02	83

**Table 3.2:**Top Gene Ontology (GO) terms enriched among the DEG in each contrast. Onlyterms with an absolute NES score > |1.5| and containing 5 DEG are presented.

GO: RESPONSE TO ORGANOPHOSPHORUS	8.50E-04	2.09	10
GO: RESPONSE TO CAMP	8.91E-04	2.05	7
GO: MICROTUBULE CYTOSKELETON	1.26E-03	-2.15	32
Do vs. D28			
<u>Gene Ontology Term</u>	<u>P-value</u>	<u>NES</u>	Gene Count
GO: RESPONSE TO BIOTIC STIMULUS	1.27E-04	2.73	43
GO: DEFENSE RESPONSE TO OTHER ORGANISM	1.33E-04	2.41	28
GO: RESPONSE TO BACTERIUM	1.33E-04	2.36	29
GO: GROWTH FACTOR RECEPTOR BINDING	1.56E-04	2.30	9
GO: DEFENSE RESPONSE	1.20E-04	2.28	65
GO: INTERLEUKIN 1 RECEPTOR BINDING	1.60E-04	2.21	7
GO: CELLULAR HORMONE METABOLIC PROCESS	1.59E-04	2.17	8
GO: CYTOKINE RECEPTOR BINDING	3.04E-04	2.40	11
GO: CYTOKINE ACTIVITY	2.92E-04	2.34	15
GO: RESPONSE TO ORGANOPHOSPHORUS	4.50E-04	2.21	13
GO: HORMONE METABOLIC PROCESS	4.50E-04	2.21	13
GO: CELLULAR RESPONSE TO INORGANIC SUBSTANCE	4.76E-04	2.04	8
GO: DEFENSE RESPONSE TO BACTERIUM	5.85E-04	2.24	15
GO: ISOPRENOID METABOLIC PROCESS	6.23E-04	2.16	9
GO: CYTOKINE MEDIATED SIGNALLING PATHWAY	6.81E-04	2.13	25
GO: REGULATION OF INTERLEUKIN 6 PRODUCTION	9.35E-04	2.08	9
GO: STEROID METABOLIC PROCESS	1.29E-03	2.13	17
GO: RESPONSE TO INORGANIC SUBSTANCE	1.17E-03	2.09	34
GO: TERPENOID METABOLIC PROCESS	1.28E-03	2.03	7
GO: MONOCARBOXYLIC ACID BINDING	1.25E-03	2.02	9
Do vs. D96			
<u>Gene Ontology Term</u>	<u>P-value</u>	NES	Gene Count
GO: ORGANELLE FISSION	2.60E-04	3.45	59
GO: CHROMOSOME SEGREGATION	2.57E-04	3.40	43
GO: MITOTIC NUCLEAR DIVISION	2.55E-04	3.36	48
GO: CHROMOSOMAL REGION	2.49E-04	3.31	35
GO: SISTER CHROMATID SEGREGATION	2.47E-04	3.28	31
GO: NUCLEAR CHROMOSOME SEGREGATION	2.50E-04	3.25	37
GO: RESPONSE TO TOXIC SUBSTANCE	2.52E-04	3.17	39
GO: CELL CYCLE	2.70E-04		94
GO: SISTER CHROMATID COHESION	2.38E-04	3.11	20
GO: MITOTIC CELL CYCLE	2.66E-04	3.11	65
GO: CELL CYCLE PROCESS	2.68E-04	3.04	82
GO: CHROMOSOME CENTROMERIC REGION	2.48E-04		30
GO: CONDENSED CHROMOSOME CENTROMERIC REGION	2.41E-04		22
GO: KINETOCHORE	2.41E-04		22
GO: CONDENSED CHROMOSOME	2.49E-04		34
100		-	5.

GO: DETOXIFICATION	2.36E-04	2.86	16					
GO: CELL DIVISION	2.56E-04	2.86	55					
GO: LIPID CATABOLIC PROCESS	2.59E-04	2.86	44					
GO: CELLULAR CATABOLIC PROCESS	2.78E-04	2.84	112					
GO: ELECTRON CARRIER ACTIVITY	2.37E-04	2.80	18					
D7 vs. D14								
<u>Gene Ontology Term</u>	<u>P-value</u>	<u>NES</u>	<u>Gene Count</u>					
GO: LIPID METABOLIC PROCESS	9.37E-03	1.90	12					
GO: MONOCARBOXYLIC ACID METABOLIC PROCESS	1.33E-02	1.80	9					
GO: DRUG METABOLIC PROCESS	2.87E-02	-1.64	5					
GO: MONOCARBOXYLIC ACID BINDING	3.29E-02	1.64	5					
GO: MOLECULAR FUNCTION REGULATOR	3.61E-02	1.63	6					
GO: HORMONE METABOLIC PROCESS	4.12E-02	1.61	5					
GO: LIPID BINDING	4.18E-02	1.62	7					
GO: SMALL MOLECULE CATABOLIC PROCESS	4.98E-02	1.58	7					
GO: MITOCHONDRION	4.98E-02	1.58	7					
D14 vs. D28								
<u>Gene Ontology Term</u>	<u>P-value</u>	<u>NES</u>	<u>Gene Count</u>					
No significantly enriched terms.	N/A	N/A	N/A					
D28 vs. D96								
<u>Gene Ontology Term</u>	<u>P-value</u>	NES	Gene Count					
GO: CHROMOSOME ORGANIZATION	4.87E-03							
	4.0/E-03	2.07	7					
GO: PROTEIN HOMODIMERIZATION ACTIVITY	4.87E-03 9.18E-03	2.07 1.92	7 6					
GO: REGULATION OF RESPONSE TO WOUNDING GO: DEVELOPMENTAL PROCESS INVOLVED IN	9.18E-03 2.08E-02	1.92 1.80	6 6					
GO: REGULATION OF RESPONSE TO WOUNDING GO: DEVELOPMENTAL PROCESS INVOLVED IN REPRODUCTION	9.18E-03 2.08E-02 2.37E-02	1.92 1.80 1.77	6 6 10					
GO: REGULATION OF RESPONSE TO WOUNDING GO: DEVELOPMENTAL PROCESS INVOLVED IN REPRODUCTION GO: CHROMATIN ORGANIZATION	9.18E-03 2.08E-02 2.37E-02 2.62E-02	1.92 1.80 1.77 1.74	6 6					
GO: REGULATION OF RESPONSE TO WOUNDING GO: DEVELOPMENTAL PROCESS INVOLVED IN REPRODUCTION GO: CHROMATIN ORGANIZATION GO: HYDROLASE ACTIVITY ACTING ON ESTER BONDS	9.18E-03 2.08E-02 2.37E-02 2.62E-02 2.68E-02	1.92 1.80 1.77 1.74 1.73	6 6 10					
<ul> <li>GO: REGULATION OF RESPONSE TO WOUNDING</li> <li>GO: DEVELOPMENTAL PROCESS INVOLVED IN</li> <li>REPRODUCTION</li> <li>GO: CHROMATIN ORGANIZATION</li> <li>GO: HYDROLASE ACTIVITY ACTING ON ESTER BONDS</li> <li>GO: CELLULAR MODIFIED AMINO ACID METABOLIC PROCESS</li> </ul>	9.18E-03 2.08E-02 2.37E-02 2.62E-02 2.68E-02 2.90E-02	1.92 1.80 1.77 1.74	6 6 10 5					
<ul> <li>GO: REGULATION OF RESPONSE TO WOUNDING</li> <li>GO: DEVELOPMENTAL PROCESS INVOLVED IN</li> <li>REPRODUCTION</li> <li>GO: CHROMATIN ORGANIZATION</li> <li>GO: HYDROLASE ACTIVITY ACTING ON ESTER BONDS</li> <li>GO: CELLULAR MODIFIED AMINO ACID METABOLIC PROCESS</li> <li>GO: RESPONSE TO ABIOTIC STIMULUS</li> </ul>	9.18E-03 2.08E-02 2.37E-02 2.62E-02 2.68E-02 2.90E-02 2.69E-02	1.92 1.80 1.77 1.74 1.73 1.72 1.70	6 6 10 5 10					
<ul> <li>GO: REGULATION OF RESPONSE TO WOUNDING</li> <li>GO: DEVELOPMENTAL PROCESS INVOLVED IN</li> <li>REPRODUCTION</li> <li>GO: CHROMATIN ORGANIZATION</li> <li>GO: HYDROLASE ACTIVITY ACTING ON ESTER BONDS</li> <li>GO: CELLULAR MODIFIED AMINO ACID METABOLIC PROCESS</li> <li>GO: RESPONSE TO ABIOTIC STIMULUS</li> <li>GO: TUBE DEVELOPMENT</li> </ul>	9.18E-03 2.08E-02 2.37E-02 2.62E-02 2.68E-02 2.90E-02 2.69E-02 3.44E-02	1.92 1.80 1.77 1.74 1.73 1.72 1.70 1.68	6 6 10 5 10 5 17 13					
<ul> <li>GO: REGULATION OF RESPONSE TO WOUNDING</li> <li>GO: DEVELOPMENTAL PROCESS INVOLVED IN</li> <li>REPRODUCTION</li> <li>GO: CHROMATIN ORGANIZATION</li> <li>GO: HYDROLASE ACTIVITY ACTING ON ESTER BONDS</li> <li>GO: CELLULAR MODIFIED AMINO ACID METABOLIC PROCESS</li> <li>GO: RESPONSE TO ABIOTIC STIMULUS</li> <li>GO: TUBE DEVELOPMENT</li> <li>GO: IMMUNE SYSTEM DEVELOPMENT</li> </ul>	9.18E-03 2.08E-02 2.37E-02 2.62E-02 2.68E-02 2.90E-02 2.69E-02 3.44E-02 3.62E-02	1.92 1.80 1.77 1.74 1.73 1.72 1.70 1.68 1.67	6 6 10 5 10 5 17					
<ul> <li>GO: REGULATION OF RESPONSE TO WOUNDING GO: DEVELOPMENTAL PROCESS INVOLVED IN REPRODUCTION</li> <li>GO: CHROMATIN ORGANIZATION</li> <li>GO: HYDROLASE ACTIVITY ACTING ON ESTER BONDS</li> <li>GO: CELLULAR MODIFIED AMINO ACID METABOLIC PROCESS</li> <li>GO: RESPONSE TO ABIOTIC STIMULUS</li> <li>GO: TUBE DEVELOPMENT</li> <li>GO: IMMUNE SYSTEM DEVELOPMENT</li> <li>GO: PROTEIN DIMERIZATION ACTIVITY</li> </ul>	9.18E-03 2.08E-02 2.37E-02 2.62E-02 2.68E-02 2.90E-02 2.69E-02 3.44E-02 3.62E-02 4.03E-02	1.92 1.80 1.77 1.74 1.73 1.72 1.70 1.68 1.67 1.62	6 6 10 5 10 5 17 13					
<ul> <li>GO: REGULATION OF RESPONSE TO WOUNDING GO: DEVELOPMENTAL PROCESS INVOLVED IN REPRODUCTION</li> <li>GO: CHROMATIN ORGANIZATION</li> <li>GO: HYDROLASE ACTIVITY ACTING ON ESTER BONDS</li> <li>GO: CELLULAR MODIFIED AMINO ACID METABOLIC PROCESS</li> <li>GO: RESPONSE TO ABIOTIC STIMULUS</li> <li>GO: TUBE DEVELOPMENT</li> <li>GO: IMMUNE SYSTEM DEVELOPMENT</li> <li>GO: PROTEIN DIMERIZATION ACTIVITY</li> <li>GO: SIGNALLING RECEPTOR ACTIVITY</li> </ul>	9.18E-03 2.08E-02 2.37E-02 2.62E-02 2.68E-02 2.90E-02 2.69E-02 3.44E-02 3.62E-02 4.03E-02 4.20E-02	1.92 1.80 1.77 1.74 1.73 1.72 1.70 1.68 1.67 1.62 -1.61	6 6 10 5 10 5 17 13 8					
<ul> <li>GO: REGULATION OF RESPONSE TO WOUNDING GO: DEVELOPMENTAL PROCESS INVOLVED IN REPRODUCTION</li> <li>GO: CHROMATIN ORGANIZATION</li> <li>GO: HYDROLASE ACTIVITY ACTING ON ESTER BONDS</li> <li>GO: CELLULAR MODIFIED AMINO ACID METABOLIC PROCESS</li> <li>GO: RESPONSE TO ABIOTIC STIMULUS</li> <li>GO: TUBE DEVELOPMENT</li> <li>GO: IMMUNE SYSTEM DEVELOPMENT</li> <li>GO: SIGNALLING RECEPTOR ACTIVITY</li> <li>GO: NEURON DEVELOPMENT</li> </ul>	9.18E-03 2.08E-02 2.37E-02 2.62E-02 2.68E-02 2.90E-02 2.69E-02 3.44E-02 3.62E-02 4.03E-02 4.20E-02 4.21E-02	1.92 1.80 1.77 1.74 1.73 1.72 1.70 1.68 1.67 1.62 -1.61 -1.63	6 6 10 5 10 5 17 13 8 10					
<ul> <li>GO: REGULATION OF RESPONSE TO WOUNDING GO: DEVELOPMENTAL PROCESS INVOLVED IN REPRODUCTION</li> <li>GO: CHROMATIN ORGANIZATION</li> <li>GO: HYDROLASE ACTIVITY ACTING ON ESTER BONDS</li> <li>GO: CELLULAR MODIFIED AMINO ACID METABOLIC PROCESS</li> <li>GO: RESPONSE TO ABIOTIC STIMULUS</li> <li>GO: TUBE DEVELOPMENT</li> <li>GO: IMMUNE SYSTEM DEVELOPMENT</li> <li>GO: SIGNALLING RECEPTOR ACTIVITY</li> <li>GO: NEURON DEVELOPMENT</li> <li>GO: NEURON DEVELOPMENT</li> <li>GO: NEURON DEVELOPMENT</li> <li>GO: OS GLYCOPROTEIN METABOLIC PROCESS</li> </ul>	9.18E-03 2.08E-02 2.37E-02 2.62E-02 2.68E-02 2.90E-02 2.69E-02 3.44E-02 3.62E-02 4.03E-02 4.20E-02	1.92 1.80 1.77 1.74 1.73 1.72 1.70 1.68 1.67 1.62 -1.61 -1.63	6 6 10 5 10 5 17 13 8 10 10					
<ul> <li>GO: REGULATION OF RESPONSE TO WOUNDING GO: DEVELOPMENTAL PROCESS INVOLVED IN REPRODUCTION</li> <li>GO: CHROMATIN ORGANIZATION</li> <li>GO: HYDROLASE ACTIVITY ACTING ON ESTER BONDS</li> <li>GO: CELLULAR MODIFIED AMINO ACID METABOLIC PROCESS</li> <li>GO: RESPONSE TO ABIOTIC STIMULUS</li> <li>GO: TUBE DEVELOPMENT</li> <li>GO: IMMUNE SYSTEM DEVELOPMENT</li> <li>GO: SIGNALLING RECEPTOR ACTIVITY</li> <li>GO: NEURON DEVELOPMENT</li> </ul>	9.18E-03 2.08E-02 2.37E-02 2.62E-02 2.68E-02 2.90E-02 2.69E-02 3.44E-02 3.62E-02 4.03E-02 4.20E-02 4.21E-02	1.92 1.80 1.77 1.74 1.73 1.72 1.70 1.68 1.67 1.62 -1.61 -1.63 -1.63	6 6 10 5 10 5 17 13 8 10 10 10 17					
<ul> <li>GO: REGULATION OF RESPONSE TO WOUNDING GO: DEVELOPMENTAL PROCESS INVOLVED IN REPRODUCTION</li> <li>GO: CHROMATIN ORGANIZATION</li> <li>GO: HYDROLASE ACTIVITY ACTING ON ESTER BONDS</li> <li>GO: CELLULAR MODIFIED AMINO ACID METABOLIC PROCESS</li> <li>GO: RESPONSE TO ABIOTIC STIMULUS</li> <li>GO: TUBE DEVELOPMENT</li> <li>GO: IMMUNE SYSTEM DEVELOPMENT</li> <li>GO: SIGNALLING RECEPTOR ACTIVITY</li> <li>GO: NEURON DEVELOPMENT</li> <li>GO: NEURON DEVELOPMENT</li> <li>GO: NEURON DEVELOPMENT</li> <li>GO: OS GLYCOPROTEIN METABOLIC PROCESS</li> </ul>	9.18E-03 2.08E-02 2.37E-02 2.62E-02 2.68E-02 2.90E-02 3.44E-02 3.62E-02 4.03E-02 4.20E-02 4.21E-02 3.02E-02	1.92 1.80 1.77 1.74 1.73 1.72 1.70 1.68 1.67 1.62 -1.61 -1.63 -1.63 -1.72	6 6 10 5 10 5 17 13 8 10 10 10 17 5					
<ul> <li>GO: REGULATION OF RESPONSE TO WOUNDING GO: DEVELOPMENTAL PROCESS INVOLVED IN REPRODUCTION</li> <li>GO: CHROMATIN ORGANIZATION</li> <li>GO: HYDROLASE ACTIVITY ACTING ON ESTER BONDS</li> <li>GO: CELLULAR MODIFIED AMINO ACID METABOLIC PROCESS</li> <li>GO: RESPONSE TO ABIOTIC STIMULUS</li> <li>GO: TUBE DEVELOPMENT</li> <li>GO: IMMUNE SYSTEM DEVELOPMENT</li> <li>GO: SIGNALLING RECEPTOR ACTIVITY</li> <li>GO: NEURON DEVELOPMENT</li> <li>GO: GLYCOPROTEIN METABOLIC PROCESS</li> <li>GO: STRUCTURAL MOLECULE ACTIVITY</li> </ul>	9.18E-03 2.08E-02 2.37E-02 2.62E-02 2.68E-02 2.90E-02 2.69E-02 3.44E-02 3.62E-02 4.03E-02 4.20E-02 4.20E-02 3.02E-02 2.19E-02	1.92 1.80 1.77 1.74 1.73 1.72 1.70 1.68 1.67 1.62 -1.61 -1.63 -1.63 -1.72 -1.80	6 6 10 5 10 5 17 13 8 10 10 17 5 11					

D7 vs. D28

Gene Ontology Term	<u>P-value</u>	NES	Gene Count
GO: ISOPRENOID METABOLIC PROCESS	1.23E-03	2.15	5
GO: CELLULAR RESPONSE TO ORGANIC CYCLIC COMPOUND	8.20E-03	1.91	5
GO: GLAND DEVELOPMENT GO: CELLULAR RESPONSE TO OXYGEN CONTAINING	1.14E-02	1.87	5
COMPOUND	1.23E-02	1.84	5
GO: CELLULAR HORMONE METABOLIC PROCESS	1.25E-02	1.84	5
GO: CELL DEVELOPMENT	1.30E-02	1.86	7
GO: CELLULAR LIPID METABOLIC PROCESS	2.06E-02	1.77	10
GO: REGULATION OF HORMONE LEVELS	2.10E-02	1.77	9
GO: RESPONSE TO METAL ION	2.11E-02	1.76	5
GO: TISSUE DEVELOPMENT	2.11E-02	1.74	18
GO: CELLULAR RESPONSE TO ORGANIC SUBSTANCE	2.14E-02	1.76	10
GO: INORGANIC ION TRANSMEMBRANE TRANSPORT	2.44E-02	1.73	6
GO: RESPONSE TO OXYGEN CONTAINING COMPOUND	2.46E-02	1.73	11
GO: DRUG METABOLIC PROCESS	2.76E-02	-1.62	5
GO: RESPONSE TO ORGANIC CYCLIC COMPOUND	2.91E-02	1.69	12
GO: HORMONE METABOLIC PROCESS	3.46E-02	1.67	6
GO: STEROID METABOLIC PROCESS	3.83E-02	1.65	7
GO: LIPID METABOLIC PROCESS	4.22E-02	1.60	15
GO: RESPONSE TO INORGANIC SUBSTANCE	4.77E-02	1.60	6
GO: PASSIVE TRANSMEMBRANE TRANSPORTER ACTIVITY	2.89E-02	1.71	8

<sup>1</sup>For comparisons of new-borns with older animals, NAT calves were used to represent new-borns (Do) as there was limited difference between NAT and CS calves.

<b>Table 3.3</b> :	Top Canonical Pathways enriched among the DEG using Ingenuity Pathway
Analysis.	

NB.NAT vs. NB.CS					
Pathway	<u>logFDR</u>	<u>Ratio</u>	Z-Score		
NRF2-mediated Oxidative Stress Response	1.50	0.01	N/A		
Glucocorticoid Receptor Signalling	1.50	0.00	N/A		
<sup>1</sup> Do vs. D7					
Pathway	<u>logFDR</u>	<u>Ratio</u>	Z-Score		
Dendritic Cell Maturation	8.55	0.09	3.87		
Role of NFAT in Regulation of the Immune Response	6.33	0.08	3.87		
Acute Phase Response Signalling	5.28	0.07	3.32		
p38 MAPK Signalling	4.56	0.08	3.16		
Th1 Pathway	4.16	0.07	3.00		
NF-ĸB Signalling	2.50	0.05	3.00		
iCOS-iCOSL Signalling in T Helper Cells	9.10	0.13	2.89		
PKC0 Signalling in T Lymphocytes	4.16	0.07	2.71		
PPAR Signalling	2.77	0.07	-2.65		
Interferon Signalling	6.50	0.22	2.65		
Toll-like Receptor Signalling	5.21	0.12	2.65		
Intrinsic Prothrombin Activation Pathway	5.02	0.17	2.65		
IL-6 Signalling	2.77	0.06	2.65		
Cholecystokinin/Gastrin-mediated Signalling	2.65	0.07	2.65		
Phospholipase C Signalling	2.28	0.04	2.65		
Adrenomedullin Signalling pathway	2.85	0.05	2.53		
CD28 Signalling in T Helper Cells	5.65	0.09	2.24		
Role of Pattern Recognition Receptors in Recognition of Bacteria and Viruses	3.38	0.07	2.24		
TREM1 Signalling	1.92	0.07	2.24		
Fcy Receptor-mediated Phagocytosis in Macrophages and Monocytes	1.54	0.05	2.24		
Do vs. D14					
Pathway	<u>logFDR</u>	<u>Ratio</u>	Z-Score		
Oxidative Phosphorylation	7.09	0.17	4.24		
Role of NFAT in Regulation of the Immune Response	3.09	0.08	3.50		
Dendritic Cell Maturation	5.53	0.11	3.30		
p38 MAPK Signalling	2.48	0.09	3.16		
Acute Phase Response Signalling	3.01	0.09	2.89		
PPAR Signalling	1.54	0.08	-2.83		
Calcium-induced T Lymphocyte Apoptosis	4.41	0.17	2.71		
Th1 Pathway	3.04	0.10	2.71		
IL-6 Signalling	2.58	0.09	2.71		
Adrenomedullin Signalling pathway	1.09	0.06	2.71		
Toll-like Receptor Signalling	2.66	0.12	2.65		
Cholecystokinin/Gastrin-mediated Signalling	0.97	0.07	2.65		
-----------------------------------------------------------	------	------	------		
Type I Diabetes Mellitus Signalling	2.66	0.10	2.45		
Intrinsic Prothrombin Activation Pathway	2.21	0.14	2.45		
TREM1 Signalling	1.15	0.08	2.45		
Neuroinflammation Signalling Pathway	1.64	0.05	2.32		
iCOS-iCOSL Signalling in T Helper Cells	4.44	0.12	2.31		
NF-ĸB Signalling	1.60	0.06	2.31		
Cytotoxic T Lymphocyte-mediated Apoptosis of Target Cells	2.66	0.19	2.24		
Glutathione Redox Reactions I	2.45	0.21	2.24		

Do vs.	D28
--------	-----

D0 v5. D28			
Pathway	<u>logFDR</u>	<u>Ratio</u>	Z-Score
p38 MAPK Signalling	1.74	0.08	3.00
Toll-like Receptor Signalling	3.35	0.13	2.83
PPAR Signalling	1.65	0.08	-2.83
Acute Phase Response Signalling	2.90	0.08	2.71
Dendritic Cell Maturation	3.70	0.09	2.67
Cholecystokinin/Gastrin-mediated Signalling	1.11	0.07	2.65
LXR/RXR Activation	3.56	0.11	-2.50
Role of NFAT in Regulation of the Immune Response	2.17	0.07	2.50
Glutathione Redox Reactions I	3.25	0.25	2.45
Superpathway of Cholesterol Biosynthesis	2.29	0.18	2.24
Glutathione-mediated Detoxification	2.13	0.16	2.24
Type I Diabetes Mellitus Signalling	1.05	0.06	2.24
TREM1 Signalling	0.81	0.07	2.24
Cyclins and Cell Cycle Regulation	0.73	0.06	2.24
Oxidative Phosphorylation	0.49	0.05	2.24
Calcium-induced T Lymphocyte Apoptosis	2.65	0.12	2.12
Ketogenesis	2.96	0.40	2.00
Cytotoxic T Lymphocyte-mediated Apoptosis of Target Cells	2.08	0.16	2.00
Salvage Pathways of Pyrimidine Ribonucleotides	0.37	0.04	2.00
Adrenomedullin Signalling pathway	2.06	0.07	1.94
Do ve Do6			

Do vs. D	96
----------	----

D0 VS. D96			
Pathway	<u>logFDR</u>	<u>Ratio</u>	Z-Score
RhoGDI Signalling	1.50	0.10	3.74
Signalling by Rho Family GTPases	1.52	0.10	-3.58
GP6 Signalling Pathway	4.46	0.16	-3.41
Glioblastoma Multiforme Signalling	2.66	0.13	-3.13
Colorectal Cancer Metastasis Signalling	1.27	0.09	-3.13
Actin Cytoskeleton Signalling	0.81	0.08	-3.05
Gαs Signalling	1.66	0.12	-2.89
Relaxin Signalling	1.37	0.10	-2.89
p38 MAPK Signalling	2.43	0.13	2.84

2.22	0.13	-2.32
1.68	0.14	2.33
0.29	0.07	-2.45
1.80	0.11	-2.50
1.91	0.14	2.53
2.33	0.16	-2.53
0.85	0.10	2.65
1.90	0.16	-2.65
6.30	0.20	-2.68
3.04	0.17	2.71
2.16	0.11	-2.84
	3.04 6.30 1.90 0.85 2.33 1.91 1.80 0.29	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$

D7 vs. D14

D7 vs. D14			
Pathway	<u>logFDR</u>	<u>Ratio</u>	Z-Score
Nicotine Degradation II	4.88	0.06	-1.00
Oestrogen Biosynthesis	1.91	0.05	N/A
Nicotine Degradation III	1.84	0.04	N/A
Melatonin Degradation I	1.84	0.03	N/A
Superpathway of Melatonin Degradation	1.84	0.03	N/A
Xenobiotic Metabolism Signalling	1.81	0.01	N/A
UDP-N-acetyl-D-glucosamine Biosynthesis II	1.52	0.17	N/A
Salvage Pathways of Pyrimidine Deoxyribonucleotides	1.46	0.13	N/A
Pregnenolone Biosynthesis	1.40	0.08	N/A
Bile Acid Biosynthesis, Neutral Pathway	1.40	0.08	N/A
Androgen Biosynthesis	1.40	0.07	N/A
RAR Activation	1.40	0.01	N/A
Histidine Degradation VI	1.40	0.07	N/A
Ubiquinol-10 Biosynthesis (Eukaryotic)	1.39	0.05	N/A
Methylglyoxal Degradation III	1.39	0.05	N/A
LPS/IL-1 Mediated Inhibition of RXR Function	1.39	0.01	N/A
The Visual Cycle	1.39	0.05	N/A
Bupropion Degradation	1.32	0.04	N/A
Acetone Degradation I (to Methylglyoxal)	1.26	0.03	N/A
Retinoate Biosynthesis I	1.23	0.03	N/A
Retinol Biosynthesis	1.17	0.02	N/A
Thyroid Hormone Metabolism II (via Conjugation and/or Degradation)	1.17	0.02	N/A
Glutamate Receptor Signalling	1.07	0.02	N/A
Eicosanoid Signalling	1.02	0.01	N/A
Serotonin Degradation	0.98	0.01	N/A
Salvage Pathways of Pyrimidine Ribonucleotides	0.91	0.01	N/A
TR/RXR Activation	0.91	0.01	N/A
Gas Signalling	0.88	0.01	N/A
FXR/RXR Activation	0.84	0.01	N/A

Gustation Pathway       0.80       0.01       N/A         Aldosterone Signalling in Epithelial Cells       0.78       0.01       N/A         Aldosterone Signalling in Epithelial Cells       0.78       0.01       N/A         CAMP-mediated Signalling       0.68       0.00       N/A         Ge-Protein Coupled Receptor Signalling       0.61       0.00       N/A         Gucocorticoid Receptor Signalling       0.51       0.00       N/A         Glucocorticoid Receptor Signalling       0.56       0.00       N/A         Glucocorticoid Receptor Signalling       0.50       0.00       N/A         Clucocorticoid Receptor Signalling       0.50       0.00       N/A         Teathway       logEDR       Ratio       Z-Scor         Glucocorticoid Receptor Signalling       0.56       0.01       -1.34         Protein Kinase A Signalling       0.56       0.01       -1.34         Hepatic Fibrosis / Hepatic Stellate Cell Activation       4.39       0.55       N/A         Aconal Guidance Signalling       2.63       0.22       N/A         Intrinsic Prothrombin Activation Pathway       2.23       0.77       N/A <td< th=""><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th></td<>				
Aldosterone Signalling in Epithelial Cells0.780.01N/ANRF2-mediated Oxidative Stress Response0.730.01N/AcAMP-mediated Signalling0.680.00N/ACaProtein Compled Receptor Signalling0.610.00N/ANeuroinflammation Signalling Pathway0.590.00N/AGlucocorticoid Receptor Signalling0.560.00N/AD14 vs. D28EnthwaylogFDRRatioZ-ScorGlucocorticoid Receptor Signalling0.500.00N/AD28 vs. D96RatioZ-ScorPathway0.900.02-2.00Integrin Signalling0.560.01-1.34Hepatic Fibrosis / Hepatic Stellate Cell Activation4.390.02-2.00ILK Signalling by Rho Family GTPases0.750.02-2.00ILK Signalling hog Rho Family GTPases0.560.01-1.34Hepatic Fibrosis / Hepatic Stellate Cell Activation4.390.02N/AAronal Guidance Signalling2.580.22N/AProtein Kinase A Signalling2.580.22N/AProtein Biosynthesis1.730.08N/AProtein Citrullination1.770.02N/ASuper Rothymbin Activation Pathway1.660.03N/ALXR/RX Activation1.670.02N/ASuper Rothymbin Degradation 11.770.13N/ASuper Rothymbin Degradation 102.310.02N/A	Insulin Receptor Signalling	0.80	0.01	N/A
NRF2-mediated Oxidative Stress Response       0.73       0.01       N/A         CAMP-mediated Signalling       0.68       0.00       N/A         G-Protein Coupled Receptor Signalling Pathway       0.59       0.00       N/A         Glucocorticoid Receptor Signalling       0.54       0.00       N/A         Glucocorticoid Receptor Signalling       0.56       0.00       N/A         Data vs. D28       1.50       0.00       N/A         Glucocorticoid Receptor Signalling       1.50       0.00       N/A         Data vs. D26       1.50       0.00       N/A         Integrin Signalling       0.57       0.02       -2.00         Signalling by Rho Family GTPases       0.56       0.01       -1.34         Protein Kinase A Signalling       0.56       0.01       -1.34         Hepatic Fibrosis / Hepatic Stellate Cell Activation       4.39       0.05       N/A         Axonal Guidance Signalling       2.58       0.22       N/A         Intrinsic Prothrombin Activation Pathway       2.23       0.07       N/A         Quathione Redox Reactions I       1.76       0.50       N/A         Signalling Pathway	Gustation Pathway	0.80	0.01	N/A
cAMP-mediated Signalling       0.68       0.00       N/A         GP-rotein Coupled Receptor Signalling       0.61       0.00       N/A         Reuroinflammation Signalling Pathway       0.59       0.00       N/A         Glucocorticoid Receptor Signalling       D14 vs. D28       V       Z         Pathway       logFDR       Ratio       Z-Scor         Glucocorticoid Receptor Signalling       1.50       0.00       N/A         Pathway       logFDR       Ratio       Z-Scor         Glucocorticoid Receptor Signalling       0.90       0.02       -2.00         Signalling by Rho Family GTPases       0.75       0.02       -2.00         Signalling by Rho Family GTPases       0.75       0.02       -2.00         N/A       Xonal Guidance Signalling       1.53       0.02       N/A         Protein Kinase A Signalling       1.53       0.02       N/A         Axonal Guidance Signalling       2.58       0.02       N/A         Protein Guinadiance Signalling       1.53       0.02       N/A         Motioni Beisoynthesis III       1.53       0.02       N/A         MSP -RON Signalling Pathway       <	Aldosterone Signalling in Epithelial Cells	0.78	0.01	N/A
G-Protein Coupled Receptor Signalling       0.61       0.00       N/A         Neuroinflammation Signalling Pathway       0.59       0.00       N/A         Glucocorticoid Receptor Signalling       0.56       0.00       N/A         Pathway       logFDR       Ratio       Z-Scor         Glucocorticoid Receptor Signalling       1.50       0.00       N/A         Pathway       logFDR       Ratio       Z-Scor         Signalling by Rho Family GTPases       0.75       0.02       -2.00         Signalling by Rho Family GTPases       0.75       0.02       -2.00         ILK Signalling       1.53       0.03       -1.34         Protein Kinase A Signalling       0.56       0.01       -1.34         Hepatic Fibrosis / Hepatic Stellate Cell Activation       4.39       0.05       N/A         Axonal Guidance Signalling       2.58       0.22       N/A         Intrinsic Prothrombin Activation Pathway       2.23       0.07       N/A         Superoxide Reactions I       1.76       0.50       N/A         Glutathione Redox Reactions I       1.77       0.02       N/A         Coteo Osteoblasts, Osteoclasts and Chondrocyt	NRF2-mediated Oxidative Stress Response	0.73	0.01	N/A
Neuroinflammation Signalling Pathway0.590.00N/AGlucocorticoid Receptor SignallingD14 vs. D28PathwaylogFDRRatioZ-ScortGlucocorticoid Receptor SignallingD28 vs. D96RatioZ-ScortPathwaylogFDRRatioZ-ScortIntegrin Signalling0.900.02-2.00Signalling by Rho Family GTPases0.750.02-2.00ILK Signalling0.560.01-1.34Protein Kinase A Signalling0.560.01-1.34Protein Kinase A Signalling2.680.22N/AAxonal Guidance Signalling2.630.02N/AProstanoid Biosynthesis1.730.08N/AProtein Kinase A Signalling2.680.22N/AProstanoid Biosynthesis2.580.22N/AIntrinsic Prothrombin Activation Pathway2.630.02N/AProstanoid Biosynthesis III1.760.50N/AGlutathione Redox Reactions I1.730.08N/ALXR/RX Activation1.660.03N/AMSP-RON Signalling1.230.02N/ACDK5 Signalling1.170.13N/ASuperoxide Radicals Degradation1.170.13N/ATryptophan Degradation to 2-amino-3-carboxymuconate Semialdehyde1.170.13N/AMyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis Signalling1.330.02N/ANototine Degradation II2.310.061.00Nicotine Degradation III<	cAMP-mediated Signalling	0.68	0.00	N/A
Glucocorticoid Receptor Signalling       0.56       0.00       N/A         D14 vs. D28       D3       Zesteway       1.50       0.00       N/A         Glucocorticoid Receptor Signalling       1.50       0.00       N/A         D28 vs. D96       Ratio       Z-Scor         Pathway       0.96 DR       Ratio       Z-Scor         Signalling Signalling       0.900       0.02       -2.00         Signalling by Rho Family GTPases       0.75       0.02       -2.00         ILK Signalling       1.53       0.03       -1.34         Protein Kinase A Signalling       1.53       0.02       N/A         Axonal Guidance Signalling       2.58       0.22       N/A         Protein Kinase A Signalling       2.63       0.02       N/A         Axonal Guidance Signalling       2.63       0.02       N/A         Protein Biosynthesis       2.58       0.22       N/A         MARONALXR/KXR Activation       1.66       0.04       N/A         MSP-RON Signalling Pathway       1.60       0.04       N/A         Superoxide Radicals Degradation       1.17       0.13       N/A	G-Protein Coupled Receptor Signalling	0.61	0.00	N/A
D14 vs. D28         Pathway       logFDR       Ratio       Z-Scor         Glucocorticoid Receptor Signalling       1.50       0.00       N/A         D28 vs. D96       Pathway       logFDR       Ratio       Z-Scor         Integrin Signalling       0.90       0.02       -2.00         Signalling by Rho Family GTPases       0.75       0.02       -2.00         ILK Signalling       1.53       0.03       -1.34         Protein Kinase A Signalling       0.56       0.01       -1.34         Hepatic Fibrosis / Hepatic Stellate Cell Activation       4.39       0.02       N/A         Axonal Guidance Signalling       2.58       0.22       N/A         Protein Kinase A Signalling       2.58       0.22       N/A         Prostanoid Biosynthesis       2.58       0.22       N/A         Intrinsic Prothrombin Activation Pathway       2.23       0.07       N/A         Putrescine Biosynthesis III       1.76       0.50       N/A         MSP-RON Signalling Pathway       1.60       0.4       N/A         NSP-RON Signalling       1.23       0.02       N/A         Superoxide Radicals	Neuroinflammation Signalling Pathway	0.59	0.00	N/A
Pathway       logFDR       Ratio       Z-Scor         Glucocorticoid Receptor Signalling       1.50       0.00       N/A         D28 vs. D96         Pathway       logFDR       Ratio       Z-Scor         Integrin Signalling       0.90       0.02       -2.00         Signalling by Rho Family GTPases       0.75       0.02       -2.00         ILK Signalling       1.53       0.03       -1.34         Protein Kinase A Signalling       0.56       0.01       -1.34         Hepatic Fibrosis / Hepatic Stellate Cell Activation       4.39       0.05       N/A         Axonal Guidance Signalling       2.63       0.02       N/A         Prostanoid Biosynthesis       1.76       0.50       N/A         Intrinsic Prothrombin Activation Pathway       2.23       0.07       N/A         Putescine Biosynthesis III       1.76       0.50       N/A         Gole of Osteoblasts, Osteoclasts and Chondrocytes in Rheumatoid Arthritis       1.27       0.02       N/A         Role of Osteoblasts, Osteoclasts and Chondrocytes in Rheumatoid Arthritis       1.23       0.02       N/A         CDK5 Signalling       1.19       0.03 <td>Glucocorticoid Receptor Signalling</td> <td>0.56</td> <td>0.00</td> <td>N/A</td>	Glucocorticoid Receptor Signalling	0.56	0.00	N/A
Glucocorticoid Receptor Signalling       1.50       0.00       N/A         Data vs. D96       Ratio       Z-Scor         Integrin Signalling       0.90       0.02       -2.00         Signalling by Rho Family GTPases       0.75       0.02       -2.00         ILK Signalling       1.53       0.03       -1.34         Protein Kinase A Signalling       0.56       0.01       -1.34         Hepatic Fibrosis / Hepatic Stellate Cell Activation       4.39       0.05       N/A         Axonal Guidance Signalling       2.63       0.02       N/A         Protein Kinase A Signalling       2.63       0.02       N/A         Protein Charoni Biosynthesis       2.58       0.22       N/A         Intrinsic Prothrombin Activation Pathway       2.23       0.07       N/A         Putrescine Biosynthesis III       1.76       0.50       N/A         Strapper Contrombin Activation       1.66       0.03       N/A         Strapper Contrombin Activation       1.66       0.03       N/A         Strapper Contrombin Activation       1.66       0.03       N/A         Strapper Contorulination       1.66       0.03	D14 vs. D28			
D28 vs. D96         Pathway       logFDR       Ratio       Z-Scon         Integrin Signalling       0.90       0.02       -2.00         Signalling by Rho Family GTPases       0.75       0.02       -2.00         ILK Signalling       1.53       0.03       -1.34         Protein Kinase A Signalling       0.56       0.01       -1.34         Hepatic Fibrosis / Hepatic Stellate Cell Activation       4.39       0.05       N/A         Axonal Guidance Signalling       2.63       0.02       N/A         Prostanoid Biosynthesis       2.58       0.22       N/A         Putrescine Biosynthesis III       1.76       0.50       N/A         Glutathione Redox Reactions I       1.73       0.08       N/A         MSP-RON Signalling Pathway       1.60       0.04       N/A         Role of Osteoblasts, Osteoclasts and Chondrocytes in Rheumatoid Arthritis       1.27       0.02       N/A         Superoxide Radicals Degradation       1.17       0.13       N/A         Superoxide Radicals Degradation to 2-amino-3-carboxymuconate Semialdehyde       1.17       0.13       N/A         Anyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis Signalling       1.10	Pathway	<u>logFDR</u>	<u>Ratio</u>	Z-Score
Pathway       logFDR       Ratio       Z-Scor         Integrin Signalling       0.90       0.02       -2.00         Signalling by Rho Family GTPases       0.75       0.02       -2.00         ILK Signalling       1.53       0.03       -1.34         Protein Kinase A Signalling       0.56       0.01       -1.34         Hepatic Fibrosis / Hepatic Stellate Cell Activation       4.39       0.05       N/A         Axonal Guidance Signalling       2.63       0.02       N/A         Intrinsic Prothrombin Activation Pathway       2.23       0.07       N/A         Putrescine Biosynthesis III       1.76       0.50       N/A         Glutathione Redox Reactions I       1.73       0.08       N/A         LXR/RXR Activation       1.66       0.03       N/A         Nole of Osteoblasts, Osteoclasts and Chondrocytes in Rheumatoid Arthritis       1.27       0.02       N/A         Superoxide Radicals Degradation       1.17       0.13       N/A         Tryptophan Degradation to 2-amino-3-carboxymuconate Semialdehyde       1.17       0.30       N/A         Mayotrophic Lateral Sclerosis Signalling       1.19       0.30       N/A	Glucocorticoid Receptor Signalling	1.50	0.00	N/A
Integrin Signalling       0.90       0.02       -2.00         Signalling by Rho Family GTPases       0.75       0.02       -2.00         ILK Signalling       1.53       0.03       -1.34         Protein Kinase A Signalling       0.56       0.01       -1.34         Hepatic Fibrosis / Hepatic Stellate Cell Activation       4.39       0.05       N/A         Axonal Guidance Signalling       2.63       0.02       N/A         Prostanoid Biosynthesis       2.58       0.22       N/A         Putrescine Biosynthesis III       1.76       0.50       N/A         Glutathione Redox Reactions I       1.73       0.08       N/A         LXR/RXR Activation       1.66       0.03       N/A         MSP-RON Signalling Pathway       1.60       0.04       N/A         Role of Osteoblasts, Osteoclasts and Chondrocytes in Rheumatoid Arthritis       1.27       0.02       N/A         Superoxide Radicals Degradation       1.17       0.13       N/A         CDK5 Signalling       1.19       0.03       N/A         Anyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis Signalling       1.17       0.13       N/A         CDK Signalling       1.	D28 vs. D96			
Signalling by Rho Family GTPases     0.75     0.02     -2.00       ILK Signalling     1.53     0.03     -1.34       Protein Kinase A Signalling     0.56     0.01     -1.34       Hepatic Fibrosis / Hepatic Stellate Cell Activation     4.39     0.05     N/A       Axonal Guidance Signalling     2.63     0.02     N/A       Prostanoid Biosynthesis     2.58     0.22     N/A       Intrinsic Prothrombin Activation Pathway     2.23     0.07     N/A       Putrescine Biosynthesis III     1.76     0.50     N/A       Glutathione Redox Reactions I     1.73     0.08     N/A       XR/RXR Activation     1.60     0.04     N/A       Role of Osteoblasts, Osteoclasts and Chondrocytes in Rheumatoid Arthritis     1.27     0.02     N/A       Superoxide Radicals Degradation     1.17     0.13     N/A       Myotrophic Lateral Sclerosis Signalling     1.13     0.03     N/A       Myotrophic Lateral Sclerosis Signalling     1.13     0.31     N/A       Myotrophic Lateral Sclerosis Signalling     2.31     0.06     1.00       Nicotine Degradation II     2.33     0.07     1.00	Pathway	<u>logFDR</u>	<u>Ratio</u>	Z-Score
ILK Signalling     1.53     0.03     -1.34       Protein Kinase A Signalling     0.56     0.01     -1.34       Hepatic Fibrosis / Hepatic Stellate Cell Activation     4.39     0.05     N/A       Axonal Guidance Signalling     2.63     0.02     N/A       Prostanoid Biosynthesis     2.58     0.22     N/A       Prostanoid Biosynthesis     2.58     0.22     N/A       Putrescine Biosynthesis III     1.76     0.50     N/A       Glutathione Redox Reactions I     1.73     0.08     N/A       LXR/RXR Activation     1.66     0.03     N/A       Role of Osteoblasts, Osteoclasts and Chondrocytes in Rheumatoid Arthritis     1.27     0.02     N/A       CDK5 Signalling     1.19     0.03     N/A       Superoxide Radicals Degradation     1.17     0.13     N/A       Tryptophan Degradation to 2-amino-3-carboxymuconate Semialdehyde     1.17     0.13     N/A       Motorib Degradation II     5.95     0.11     -0.38     S       Estrogen Biosynthesis     2.69     0.01     1.00     0.06     1.00       Nicotine Degradation III     2.31     0.02     <	Integrin Signalling	0.90	0.02	-2.00
Protein Kinase A Signalling     0.56     0.01     -1.34       Hepatic Fibrosis / Hepatic Stellate Cell Activation     4.39     0.05     N/A       Axonal Guidance Signalling     2.63     0.02     N/A       Prostanoid Biosynthesis     2.58     0.22     N/A       Intrinsic Prothrombin Activation Pathway     2.23     0.07     N/A       Putrescine Biosynthesis III     1.76     0.50     N/A       Glutathione Redox Reactions I     1.73     0.08     N/A       LXR/RXR Activation     1.66     0.03     N/A       MSP-RON Signalling Pathway     1.60     0.04     N/A       Protein Citrullination     1.37     0.20     N/A       Role of Osteoblasts, Osteoclasts and Chondrocytes in Rheumatoid Arthritis     1.27     0.02     N/A       Superoxide Radicals Degradation     1.17     0.13     N/A       Superoxide Radicals Degradation to 2-amino-3-carboxymuconate Semialdehyde     1.17     0.13     N/A       Myotrophic Lateral Sclerosis Signalling     1.95     0.11     -0.38       Nicotine Degradation II     2.09     0.11     -0.38       Strogen Biosynthesis     2.69     0.10	Signalling by Rho Family GTPases	0.75	0.02	-2.00
Hepatic Fibrosis / Hepatic Stellate Cell Activation4.390.05N/AAxonal Guidance Signalling2.630.02N/AProstanoid Biosynthesis2.580.22N/AIntrinsic Prothrombin Activation Pathway2.230.07N/APutrescine Biosynthesis III1.760.50N/AGlutathione Redox Reactions I1.730.08N/ALXR/RXR Activation1.660.03N/AMSP-RON Signalling Pathway1.600.04N/AProtein Citrullination1.370.20N/ARole of Osteoblasts, Osteoclasts and Chondrocytes in Rheumatoid Arthritis1.270.02N/ATight Junction Signalling1.190.03N/ASuperoxide Radicals Degradation1.170.13N/ATryptophan Degradation to 2-amino-3-carboxymuconate Semialdehyde1.170.13N/AMayotrophic Lateral Sclerosis Signalling1.130.03N/ANicotine Degradation II5.950.11-0.38Estrogen Biosynthesis2.690.101.00Nicotine Degradation III2.310.061.00Melatonin Degradation I2.310.02N/ASuperpoino Degradation I2.310.02N/ASuperpathway of Melatonin Degradation2.310.02N/A	ILK Signalling	1.53	0.03	-1.34
Axonal Guidance Signalling2.630.02N/AProstanoid Biosynthesis2.580.22N/AIntrinsic Prothrombin Activation Pathway2.230.07N/APutrescine Biosynthesis III1.760.50N/AGlutathione Redox Reactions I1.730.08N/ALXR/RXR Activation1.660.03N/AMSP-RON Signalling Pathway1.600.04N/AProtein Citrullination1.370.20N/ARole of Osteoblasts, Osteoclasts and Chondrocytes in Rheumatoid Arthritis1.270.02N/ACDK5 Signalling1.190.03N/ASuperoxide Radicals Degradation1.170.13N/AAmyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis Signalling1.130.03N/AStrogen Biosynthesis2.690.101.00Nicotine Degradation II5.950.11-0.38Estrogen Biosynthesis2.690.101.00Nicotine Degradation III2.310.061.00Melatonin Degradation II2.310.02N/ASupropion Degradation I <td< td=""><td>Protein Kinase A Signalling</td><td>0.56</td><td>0.01</td><td>-1.34</td></td<>	Protein Kinase A Signalling	0.56	0.01	-1.34
Prostanoid Biosynthesis       2.58       0.22       N/A         Intrinsic Prothrombin Activation Pathway       2.23       0.07       N/A         Putrescine Biosynthesis III       1.76       0.50       N/A         Glutathione Redox Reactions I       1.73       0.08       N/A         LXR/RXR Activation       1.66       0.03       N/A         MSP-RON Signalling Pathway       1.60       0.04       N/A         Protein Citrullination       1.37       0.02       N/A         Role of Osteoblasts, Osteoclasts and Chondrocytes in Rheumatoid Arthritis       1.27       0.02       N/A         Tight Junction Signalling       1.23       0.02       N/A         Superoxide Radicals Degradation       1.17       0.13       N/A         Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis Signalling       1.17       0.13       N/A         Pathway       IogFDR       Ratio       Z-Scon         Nicotine Degradation II       5.95       0.11       -0.38         Estrogen Biosynthesis       2.69       0.10       1.00         Nicotine Degradation II       2.31       0.06       1.00         Nicotine Degradation II       2.31	Hepatic Fibrosis / Hepatic Stellate Cell Activation	4.39	0.05	N/A
Intrinsic Prothrombin Activation Pathway2.230.07N/APutrescine Biosynthesis III1.760.50N/AGlutathione Redox Reactions I1.730.08N/ALXR/RXR Activation1.660.03N/AMSP-RON Signalling Pathway1.600.04N/AProtein Citrullination1.370.20N/ARole of Osteoblasts, Osteoclasts and Chondrocytes in Rheumatoid Arthritis1.270.02N/ATight Junction Signalling1.230.02N/ASuperoxide Radicals Degradation1.170.13N/AAmyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis Signalling1.130.03N/AD7 vs. D28Pathway2.690.101.00Nicotine Degradation II2.330.071.00Nicotine Degradation III2.310.061.00Superopion Degradation I2.310.02N/ASuperopion Degradation I2.310.02N/ASuperpathway2.310.02N/ASuperpathway2.310.02N/ASuperpathway2.310.061.00Buropion Degradation I2.310.02N/A	Axonal Guidance Signalling	2.63	0.02	N/A
Putrescine Biosynthesis III     1.76     0.50     N/A       Glutathione Redox Reactions I     1.73     0.08     N/A       LXR/RXR Activation     1.66     0.03     N/A       MSP-RON Signalling Pathway     1.60     0.04     N/A       Protein Citrullination     1.37     0.20     N/A       Role of Osteoblasts, Osteoclasts and Chondrocytes in Rheumatoid Arthritis     1.27     0.02     N/A       Tight Junction Signalling     1.23     0.02     N/A       CDK5 Signalling     1.19     0.03     N/A       Superoxide Radicals Degradation     1.17     0.13     N/A       Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis Signalling     1.13     0.03     N/A       Nicotine Degradation II     5.95     0.11     -0.38       Estrogen Biosynthesis     2.69     0.10     1.00       Nicotine Degradation IIII     2.33     0.07     1.00       Melatonin Degradation I     2.31     0.06     1.00       Supropion Degradation I     2.31     0.02     N/A       Superpoint Metabolism Signalling     2.31     0.02     N/A	Prostanoid Biosynthesis	2.58	0.22	N/A
Glutathione Redox Reactions I1.730.08N/ALXR/RXR Activation1.660.03N/AMSP-RON Signalling Pathway1.600.04N/AProtein Citrullination1.370.20N/ARole of Osteoblasts, Osteoclasts and Chondrocytes in Rheumatoid Arthritis1.270.02N/ATight Junction Signalling1.230.02N/ACDK5 Signalling1.190.03N/ASuperoxide Radicals Degradation1.170.13N/ATryptophan Degradation to 2-amino-3-carboxymuconate Semialdehyde1.170.13N/AAmyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis Signalling1.130.03N/ANicotine Degradation II5.950.11-0.38Estrogen Biosynthesis2.690.101.00Nicotine Degradation III2.330.071.00Bupropion Degradation II2.310.061.00Superopion Degradation II2.310.02N/ASuperopion Degradation II2.310.061.00Superopion Degradation II2.310.061.00Superopion Degradation II2.310.061.00Bupropion Degradation II2.310.02N/AXenobiotic Metabolism Signalling2.310.02N/ASuperpathway of Melatonin Degradation2.310.061.00	Intrinsic Prothrombin Activation Pathway	2.23	0.07	N/A
LXR/RXR Activation1.660.03N/AMSP-RON Signalling Pathway1.600.04N/AProtein Citrullination1.370.20N/ARole of Osteoblasts, Osteoclasts and Chondrocytes in Rheumatoid Arthritis1.270.02N/ATight Junction Signalling1.230.02N/ACDK5 Signalling1.190.03N/ASuperoxide Radicals Degradation1.170.13N/ATryptophan Degradation to 2-amino-3-carboxymuconate Semialdehyde1.170.13N/AAmyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis Signalling1.130.03N/AD7 vs. D28Pathway10gFDRRatioZ-SconNicotine Degradation II5.950.11-0.38Estrogen Biosynthesis2.690.101.00Nicotine Degradation II2.310.061.00Bupropion Degradation II2.310.02N/ASuperpathway of Melatonin Degradation2.310.02N/A	Putrescine Biosynthesis III	1.76	0.50	N/A
MSP-RON Signalling Pathway1.600.04N/AProtein Citrullination1.370.20N/ARole of Osteoblasts, Osteoclasts and Chondrocytes in Rheumatoid Arthritis1.270.02N/ATight Junction Signalling1.230.02N/ACDK5 Signalling1.190.03N/ASuperoxide Radicals Degradation1.170.13N/ATryptophan Degradation to 2-amino-3-carboxymuconate Semialdehyde1.170.13N/AAmyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis Signalling1.130.03N/AD7 vs. D28PathwaySuperoxide Radicon II5.950.11-0.38Nicotine Degradation II5.950.11-0.38Superoxide II0.061.00Nicotine Degradation III2.330.071.001.001.001.00Nicotine Degradation III2.310.061.001.00Nicotine Degradation II2.310.061.001.00Melatonin Degradation I2.310.02N/ASuperpathway of Melatonin Degradation2.310.02N/A	Glutathione Redox Reactions I	1.73	0.08	N/A
Protein Citrullination1.370.20N/ARole of Osteoblasts, Osteoclasts and Chondrocytes in Rheumatoid Arthritis1.270.02N/ATight Junction Signalling1.230.02N/ACDK5 Signalling1.190.03N/ASuperoxide Radicals Degradation1.170.13N/ATryptophan Degradation to 2-amino-3-carboxymuconate Semialdehyde1.170.13N/AAmyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis Signalling1.130.03N/AD7 vs. D28Estrogen Biosynthesis2.690.101.00Nicotine Degradation II2.330.071.00Nicotine Degradation III2.310.061.00Bupropion Degradation II2.310.02N/ASuperprint Degradation III2.310.02N/ASuperprint Degradation III2.310.02N/ASuperpathway of Melatonin Degradation2.310.02N/A	LXR/RXR Activation	1.66	0.03	N/A
Role of Osteoblasts, Osteoclasts and Chondrocytes in Rheumatoid Arthritis1.270.02N/ATight Junction Signalling1.230.02N/ACDK5 Signalling1.190.03N/ASuperoxide Radicals Degradation1.170.13N/ATryptophan Degradation to 2-amino-3-carboxymuconate Semialdehyde1.170.13N/AAmyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis Signalling1.130.03N/AD7 vs. D28PathwaylogFDRRatioZ-SconNicotine Degradation II5.950.11-0.38Estrogen Biosynthesis2.690.101.00Nicotine Degradation II2.310.061.00Bupropion Degradation II2.310.02N/ASuperpathway of Melatonin Degradation2.310.02N/A	MSP-RON Signalling Pathway	1.60	0.04	N/A
Tight Junction Signalling $1.23$ $0.02$ N/ACDK5 Signalling $1.19$ $0.03$ N/ASuperoxide Radicals Degradation $1.17$ $0.13$ N/ATryptophan Degradation to 2-amino-3-carboxymuconate Semialdehyde $1.17$ $0.13$ N/AAmyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis Signalling $1.13$ $0.03$ N/AD7 vs. D28PathwaylogFDRRatioZ-SconNicotine Degradation II $5.95$ $0.11$ $-0.38$ Estrogen Biosynthesis $2.69$ $0.10$ $1.00$ Nicotine Degradation III $2.33$ $0.07$ $1.00$ Melatonin Degradation I $2.31$ $0.12$ N/ASuperprint Degradation I $2.31$ $0.02$ N/ASuperpathway of Melatonin Degradation $2.31$ $0.06$ $1.00$	Protein Citrullination	1.37	0.20	N/A
CDK5 Signalling1.190.03N/ASuperoxide Radicals Degradation1.170.13N/ATryptophan Degradation to 2-amino-3-carboxymuconate Semialdehyde1.170.13N/AAmyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis Signalling1.130.03N/AD7 vs. D28PathwaylogFDRRatioZ-SconNicotine Degradation II5.950.11-0.38Estrogen Biosynthesis2.690.101.00Nicotine Degradation III2.330.071.00Melatonin Degradation I2.310.061.00Superprive Degradation I2.310.02N/ASuperpathway of Melatonin Degradation2.310.02N/A	Role of Osteoblasts, Osteoclasts and Chondrocytes in Rheumatoid Arthritis	1.27	0.02	N/A
Superoxide Radicals Degradation1.170.13N/ATryptophan Degradation to 2-amino-3-carboxymuconate Semialdehyde1.170.13N/AAmyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis Signalling1.130.03N/AD7 vs. D28PathwaylogFDRRatioZ-SconNicotine Degradation II5.950.11-0.38Estrogen Biosynthesis2.690.101.00Nicotine Degradation III2.330.071.00Melatonin Degradation I2.310.061.00Superpathway of Melatonin Degradation2.310.02N/A	Tight Junction Signalling	1.23	0.02	N/A
Tryptophan Degradation to 2-amino-3-carboxymuconate Semialdehyde1.170.13N/AAmyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis Signalling1.130.03N/AD7 vs. D28PathwaylogFDRRatioZ-SconNicotine Degradation II5.950.11-0.38Estrogen Biosynthesis2.690.101.00Nicotine Degradation III2.330.071.00Melatonin Degradation I2.310.061.00Supropion Degradation I2.310.02N/ASuperpathway of Melatonin Degradation2.310.061.00	CDK5 Signalling	1.19	0.03	N/A
Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis Signalling1.130.03N/AD7 vs. D28PathwaylogFDRRatioZ-ScorNicotine Degradation II5.950.11-0.38Estrogen Biosynthesis2.690.101.00Nicotine Degradation III2.330.071.00Nicotine Degradation II2.310.061.00Melatonin Degradation I2.310.061.00Bupropion Degradation2.310.12N/AXenobiotic Metabolism Signalling2.310.02N/ASuperpathway of Melatonin Degradation2.310.061.00	Superoxide Radicals Degradation	1.17	0.13	N/A
D7 vs. D28PathwaylogFDRRatioZ-ScoreNicotine Degradation II5.950.11-0.38Estrogen Biosynthesis2.690.101.00Nicotine Degradation III2.330.071.00Melatonin Degradation I2.310.061.00Bupropion Degradation2.310.12N/AXenobiotic Metabolism Signalling2.310.02N/ASuperpathway of Melatonin Degradation2.310.061.00	Tryptophan Degradation to 2-amino-3-carboxymuconate Semialdehyde	1.17	0.13	N/A
PathwaylogFDRRatioZ-ScortNicotine Degradation II5.950.11-0.38Estrogen Biosynthesis2.690.101.00Nicotine Degradation III2.330.071.00Melatonin Degradation I2.310.061.00Bupropion Degradation2.310.12N/AXenobiotic Metabolism Signalling2.310.02N/ASuperpathway of Melatonin Degradation2.310.061.00	Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis Signalling	1.13	0.03	N/A
Nicotine Degradation II5.950.11-0.38Estrogen Biosynthesis2.690.101.00Nicotine Degradation III2.330.071.00Melatonin Degradation I2.310.061.00Bupropion Degradation2.310.12N/AXenobiotic Metabolism Signalling2.310.02N/ASuperpathway of Melatonin Degradation2.310.061.00	D7 vs. D28			
Estrogen Biosynthesis2.690.101.00Nicotine Degradation III2.330.071.00Melatonin Degradation I2.310.061.00Bupropion Degradation2.310.12N/AXenobiotic Metabolism Signalling2.310.02N/ASuperpathway of Melatonin Degradation2.310.061.00	Pathway	<u>logFDR</u>	<u>Ratio</u>	Z-Score
Nicotine Degradation III2.330.071.00Melatonin Degradation I2.310.061.00Bupropion Degradation2.310.12N/AXenobiotic Metabolism Signalling2.310.02N/ASuperpathway of Melatonin Degradation2.310.061.00	Nicotine Degradation II	5.95	0.11	-0.38
Melatonin Degradation I2.310.061.00Bupropion Degradation2.310.12N/AXenobiotic Metabolism Signalling2.310.02N/ASuperpathway of Melatonin Degradation2.310.061.00	Estrogen Biosynthesis	2.69	0.10	1.00
Bupropion Degradation2.310.12N/AXenobiotic Metabolism Signalling2.310.02N/ASuperpathway of Melatonin Degradation2.310.061.00	Nicotine Degradation III	2.33	0.07	1.00
Xenobiotic Metabolism Signalling2.310.02N/ASuperpathway of Melatonin Degradation2.310.061.00	Melatonin Degradation I	2.31	0.06	1.00
Superpathway of Melatonin Degradation2.310.061.00	Bupropion Degradation	2.31	0.12	N/A
	Xenobiotic Metabolism Signalling	2.31	0.02	N/A
LPS/IL-1 Mediated Inhibition of RXR Function 2.28 0.03 N/A	Superpathway of Melatonin Degradation	2.31	0.06	1.00
	LPS/IL-1 Mediated Inhibition of RXR Function	2.28	0.03	N/A

Acetone Degradation I (to Methylglyoxal)	2.28	0.10	N/A
Ketogenesis	1.82	0.20	N/A
The Visual Cycle	1.25	0.10	N/A
ErbB2-ErbB3 Signalling	1.24	0.04	N/A
eNOS Signalling	1.12	0.02	N/A
Retinoate Biosynthesis I	0.90	0.06	N/A
Glucocorticoid Receptor Signalling	0.81	0.01	N/A
Retinol Biosynthesis	0.79	0.05	N/A
L-carnitine Biosynthesis	0.79	0.33	N/A
Th1 Pathway	0.71	0.02	N/A
Protein Citrullination	0.64	0.20	N/A
UDP-N-acetyl-D-glucosamine Biosynthesis II	0.58	0.17	N/A

<sup>1</sup>For comparisons of new-borns with older animals, NAT calves were used to represent new-borns (Do) as there was limited difference between NAT and CS calves.

NB.NAT vs. NB. CS		
Molecular and Cellular Funct	ion	
Name	<u>Median P-value</u>	<u># Gene</u>
Cell-To-Cell Signalling and Interactions	2.8E-04	1
Cellular Growth and Proliferation	2.5E-02	1
Drug Metabolism	3.7E-04	1
Lipid Metabolism	3.7E-04	1
Small Molecule Biochemistry	3.7E-04	1
Physiological System Development an	d Function	
Name	<u>Median P-value</u>	<u># Gene</u>
Haematological System Development and Function	2.8E-04	1
Endocrine System Development and Function	3.7E-04	1
Behaviour	2.4E-02	1
Nervous System Development and Function	4.9E-02	1
Tissue Development	4.9E-02	1
<sup>1</sup> Do vs. D7		
Molecular and Cellular Funct	ion	
Name	<u>Median P-value</u>	<u># Gene</u>
Cell-To-Cell Signalling and Interaction	2.4E-05	80
Cellular Movement	1.7E-05	76
Cellular Function and Maintenance	2.4E-05	87
Cellular Development	2.3E-05	81
Cellular Growth and Proliferation	2.3E-05	80
Physiological System Development an	d Function	
Name	<u>Median P-value</u>	<u># Gene</u>
Haematological System Development and Function	2.4E-05	112
Tissue Morphology	2.4E-05	81
Immune Cell Trafficking	2.4E-05	75
Cell-mediated Immune Response	2.1E-05	50
Lymphoid Tissue Structure and Development	2.4E-05	86
Do vs. D14	1 0	
Molecular and Cellular Function	ons	
Name	Median P-value	<u># Gene</u>
Cell Death and Survival	7.5E-05	207
Cellular Movement	9.5E-05	124
Cellular Function and Maintenance	1.5E-04	116
Cell-To-Cell Signalling and Interaction	1.5E-04	96
Cell Cycle	3.4E-05	76
Physiological System Development an		/ -

**Table 3.4**:Top Molecular and Cellular Functions of the DEG using Ingenuity Pathway<br/>Analysis.

<u>Name</u>	<u>Median P-value</u>	<u># Genes</u>
Haematological System Development and Function	1.5E-04	149
Tissue Morphology	1.3E-04	134
Lymphoid Tissue Structure and Development	1.5E-04	114
Organ Morphology	1.0E-04	69
Organismal Survival	3.3E-07	161
Do vs. D28		
Molecular and Cellular Function		
Name	<u>Median P-value</u>	<u># Genes</u>
Cell Cycle	2.7E-04	94
Cell Death and Survival	3.3E-04	184
Drug Metabolism	3.3E-04	26
Cellular Assembly and Organization	3.3E-04	39
DNA Replication, Recombination, and Repair	2.8E-04	33
Physiological System Development and	<u>Function</u>	
<u>Name</u>	<u>Median P-value</u>	<u># Genes</u>
Organismal Survival	5.2E-07	151
Cardiovascular System Development and Function	2.3E-04	64
Hematological System Development and Function	3.3E-04	121
Tissue Morphology	2.8E-04	131
Immune Cell Trafficking	3.2E-04	76
Do vs. D96		
Molecular and Cellular Function	<u>15</u>	
<u>Name</u>	<u>Median P-value</u>	# Genes
Cell Cycle	2.7E-04	94
Cell Death and Survival	3.3E-04	184
Drug Metabolism	3.3E-04	26
Cellular Assembly and Organization	3.3E-04	39
Cellular Assembly and Organization DNA Replication, Recombination, and Repair	3.3E-04 2.8E-04	-
	2.8E-04	39
DNA Replication, Recombination, and Repair	2.8E-04	39
DNA Replication, Recombination, and Repair <u>Physiological System Development and</u>	2.8E-04 <u>Function</u>	39 33
DNA Replication, Recombination, and Repair <u>Physiological System Development and</u> <u>Name</u>	2.8E-04 <u>Function</u> <u>Median P-value</u>	39 33 <u># Genes</u>
DNA Replication, Recombination, and Repair <u>Physiological System Development and</u> <u>Name</u> Organismal Survival	2.8E-04 <u>Function</u> <u>Median P-value</u> 5.2E-07	39 33 <u># Genes</u> 151
DNA Replication, Recombination, and Repair <u>Physiological System Development and</u> <u>Name</u> Organismal Survival Cardiovascular System Development and Function Hematological System Development and Function	2.8E-04 <u>Function</u> <u>Median P-value</u> 5.2E-07 2.3E-04	39 33 <u># Genes</u> 151 64 121
DNA Replication, Recombination, and Repair <u>Physiological System Development and</u> <u>Name</u> Organismal Survival Cardiovascular System Development and Function Hematological System Development and Function Tissue Morphology	2.8E-04 <u>Function</u> <u>Median P-value</u> 5.2E-07 2.3E-04 3.3E-04 2.8E-04	39 33 <u># Genes</u> 151 64 121 131
DNA Replication, Recombination, and Repair <u>Physiological System Development and</u> <u>Name</u> Organismal Survival Cardiovascular System Development and Function Hematological System Development and Function Tissue Morphology Immune Cell Trafficking	2.8E-04 <u>Function</u> <u>Median P-value</u> 5.2E-07 2.3E-04 3.3E-04	39 33 <u># Genes</u> 151 64 121
DNA Replication, Recombination, and Repair <u>Physiological System Development and</u> <u>Name</u> Organismal Survival Cardiovascular System Development and Function Hematological System Development and Function Tissue Morphology	2.8E-04 <u>Function</u> <u>Median P-value</u> 5.2E-07 2.3E-04 3.3E-04 2.8E-04 3.2E-04	39 33 <u># Genes</u> 151 64 121 131
DNA Replication, Recombination, and Repair <u>Physiological System Development and</u> <u>Name</u> Organismal Survival Cardiovascular System Development and Function Hematological System Development and Function Tissue Morphology Immune Cell Trafficking <u>D7 vs. D14</u>	2.8E-04 <u>Function</u> <u>Median P-value</u> 5.2E-07 2.3E-04 3.3E-04 2.8E-04 3.2E-04 3.2E-04	39 33 <u># Genes</u> 151 64 121 131 76
DNA Replication, Recombination, and Repair <u>Physiological System Development and</u> <u>Name</u> Organismal Survival Cardiovascular System Development and Function Hematological System Development and Function Tissue Morphology Immune Cell Trafficking <u>D7 vs. D14</u> <u>Molecular and Cellular Function</u>	2.8E-04 <u>Function</u> <u>Median P-value</u> 5.2E-07 2.3E-04 3.3E-04 2.8E-04 3.2E-04 3.2E-04	39 33 <u># Genes</u> 151 64 121 131
DNA Replication, Recombination, and Repair Physiological System Development and Name Organismal Survival Cardiovascular System Development and Function Hematological System Development and Function Tissue Morphology Immune Cell Trafficking D7 vs. D14 <u>Molecular and Cellular Function</u> Name Lipid Metabolism	2.8E-04 <u>Function</u> <u>Median P-value</u> 5.2E-07 2.3E-04 3.3E-04 2.8E-04 3.2E-04 3.2E-04 3.2E-04 3.2E-04 3.2E-04	39 33 <u># Genes</u> 151 64 121 131 76 <u># Genes</u>
DNA Replication, Recombination, and Repair <u>Physiological System Development and</u> <u>Name</u> Organismal Survival Cardiovascular System Development and Function Hematological System Development and Function Tissue Morphology Immune Cell Trafficking <u>D7 vs. D14</u> <u>Molecular and Cellular Function</u>	2.8E-04 <u>Function</u> <u>Median P-value</u> 5.2E-07 2.3E-04 3.3E-04 2.8E-04 3.2E-04 3.2E-04	39 33 <u># Genes</u> 151 64 121 131 76 <u># Genes</u> 8

Vitamin and Mineral Metabolism	2.3E-02	5
Carbohydrate Metabolism	2.4E-02	3
Physiological System Development and	<u>l Function</u>	
Name	<u>Median P-value</u>	<u># Genes</u>
Organ Morphology	2.2E-02	6
Organismal Development	2.2E-02	6
Reproductive System Development and Function	2.1E-02	7
Embryonic Development	2.4E-02	3
Organ Development	2.2E-02	3
D14 vs. D28		
Molecular and Cellular Function		
Name	<u>Median P-value</u>	<u># Genes</u>
Cellular Development	3.8E-02	1
Physiological System Development and	<u>l Function</u>	
Name	<u>Median P-value</u>	<u># Genes</u>
Hair and Skin Development and Function	4.6E-04	1
Organ Morphology	3.0E-03	1
Digestive System Development and Function	9.7E-04	1
Organismal Development	1.6E-03	1
Tissue Morphology	1.6E-03	1
D28 vs. D96		
Molecular and Cellular Function		
Name	<u>Median P-value</u>	<u># Genes</u>
Cell Morphology	3.3E-03	55
Cellular Movement	1.8E-03	61
Cellular Development	3.2E-03	75
Cellular Growth and Proliferation	3.6E-03	68
Carbohydrate Metabolism	1.0E-03	6
Physiological System Development and		
Name	<u>Median P-value</u>	<u># Genes</u>
Nervous System Development and Function	3.2E-03	69
Organismal Development	3.4E-03	93
Tissue Morphology	3.6E-03	71
Organ Morphology	3.4E-03	58
Organismal Survival	9.9E-04	62
D7 vs. D28		
Molecular and Cellular Functio		
<u>Name</u>	<u>Median P-value</u>	<u># Genes</u>
Carbohydrate Metabolism	1.9E-03	8
Lipid Metabolism	3.7E-03	23
Molecular Transport	3.4E-03	28
Small Molecule Biochemistry	3.7E-03	32
100		

Protein Synthesis	3.7E-03	5				
Physiological System Development and	Physiological System Development and Function					
Name	<u>Median P-value</u>	<u># Genes</u>				
Connective Tissue Development and Function	3.7E-03	9				
Skeletal and Muscular System Development and Function	3.7E-03	13				
Endocrine System Development and Function	3.8E-03	8				
Organismal Development	3.8E-03	26				
Reproductive System Development and Function	3.8E-03	14				

<sup>1</sup>For comparisons of new-borns with older animals, NAT calves were used to represent new-borns (Do) as there was limited difference between NAT and CS calves.



**Figure 3.1**: (a) Venn diagram showing numbers of expressed genes in the rumen wall in each age group. A gene was considered expressed within an age group if it had a CPM value > 1 in at least half of the samples. (b) Numbers of DEG in each statistical contrast as detected using edgeR.



**Figure 3.2**: Cluster analysis generated using the Bray-Curtis Dissimilarity matrix: (a) Hierarchical clustering dendrogram using Ward disequilibrium linkage, (b) principle component analysis (PCA) plot.



**Figure 3.3**: Volcano plots of differential gene expression profiles within each statistical contrast. Each data point represents an expressed gene. Red = FDR < 0.001. Blue = absolute fold change > 2. Green = both conditions met, gene is differentially expressed in this contrast.



**Figure 3.4**: Boxplots depicting the expression profiles of selected genes involved in the cell cycle process in the rumen wall during early life. The Y-axis represents normalised CPM values.



**Figure 3.5**: Boxplots depicting the expression profiles of VFA transporter genes in the rumen wall during early life. The Y-axis represents normalised CPM values.



**Figure 3.6**: Boxplots depicting the expression profiles of genes involved in ketogenesis detected in the rumen wall during early life. The Y-axis represents normalised CPM values.



**Figure 3.7:** Boxplots depicting the expression profiles of tight junction protein genes detected in the rumen wall during early life. The Y-axis represents normalised CPM values.



**Figure 3.8**: Boxplots depicting the expression profiles of pattern recognition receptors detected in the rumen wall during early life. The Y-axis represents normalised CPM values.



**Figure 3.9**: Boxplots depicting the expression of defensin genes detected in the rumen wall during early life. The Y-axis represents normalised CPM values.

#### Chapter 4

## Effect of a butyrate-fortified milk replacer on gastrointestinal microbiota and products of fermentation in artificially reared dairy calves at weaning.

#### 4.1 Introduction

The digestive physiology of the calf changes dramatically in the first weeks and months of life, and the transition from a nominal monogastric to functional ruminant is fraught with challenges (Steele et al., 2016, Ryle, 1992). The occurrence of gastrointestinal disorders in this period is a source of substantial economic loss in dairy production systems, responsible for around 10% of calf mortality (USDA, 2010). With rising concerns surrounding the prophylactic and growth-promoting use of antibiotics in livestock production promotion (Van Boeckel et al., 2015), there is much interest in the development of synthetic and natural alternatives to promote bovine intestinal health and development in early life.

The gastrointestinal tract (GIT) microbiota of ruminants and other production animals is well established as a key feature underscoring animal health, development and productivity (Yeoman and White, 2014). In adult cattle, the rumen microbiota is the predominant feeddegrading microbial community. However, up to 20% of milk solids may pass to the hindgut for digestion during the milk feeding phase, placing elevated importance on the hindgut microbiota in this period (Castro et al., 2016). Volatile chain fatty acids (VFAs) are organic acids produced throughout the intestinal tract by microbial fermentation, and are vital in the stimulation of intestinal growth and development (Zhou et al., 2014, Firkins and Yu, 2015). The antimicrobial properties of VFAs and their natural presence in the mammalian digestive tract suggested that VFA-derived feed additives may be an alternative to conventional antimicrobials in livestock production (Guilloteau et al., 2009b). Among the most prominent of the luminal VFAs, butyrate has been investigated for its effectiveness in enhancing animal growth and intestinal integrity and development in young livestock, with promising results (Gorka et al., 2009, Niwińska et al., 2017). Butyrate is the primary energy source for rumen epithelial cells and colonocytes, which are important mediators of water, mineral, and nutrient absorption (Bedford and Gong, 2017). Butyrate inclusion in both milk replacer and solid feed has been shown to have beneficial effects on both intestinal development and animal growth in young livestock (Xu et al., 2016, Gorka et al., 2011a, Gorka et al., 2009, Guilloteau et al., 2009b).

Enteric disorders in calves are associated with microbial dysbiosis in the gut (Oikonomou et al., 2013), and thus the health-promoting effects of exogenous butyrate may be underpinned by modulation of the GIT microbiota. There is evidence that encapsulated butyrate can reduce enteric pathogen colonisation in swine and poultry (Czerwinski et al., 2012, Hu and Guo, 2007, Xu et al., 2016), and direct infusion of butyrate into the mature cow rumen caused significant changes to the resident microbiota (Li et al., 2012c). However, there are little data concerning the effect of long-term supplementation of butyrate on GIT microbial communities in pre-weaned calves. Given the established impact of butyrate on animal growth and intestinal development, we hypothesised that provision of a butyrate-fortified milk replacer impacts microbial communities throughout the GIT while improving host performance. Therefore, the objective of this study was to assess microbial composition and fermentation in the rumen and hindgut at weaning in dairy calves offered milk replacer enriched with butyrate during early life.

## 4.2 Materials and methods

## 4.2.1 Ethical statement

All procedures involving animals were approved by University College Dublin Animal Research Ethics Committee (UCD AREC), under licence from the Irish Department of Health and Children in accordance with the Cruelty to Animals Act (Ireland 1897) and European Community Directive 86/609/EC.

## 4.2.2 Animal study

Forty-four male Holstein-Friesian calves ( $13\pm5$  days of age) were obtained from one dairy farm and were placed at a research facility for use in this study (UCD Lyons Farm, Clane, Co. Kildare, Ireland). Calves were blocked according to age and body weight and were randomly assigned to one of two treatment groups; CON (fed unaltered milk replacer, n=22) or SB (encapsulated sodium butyrate included in milk replacer at 4g/kg of DM daily, n = 22). Calves were placed on a standard 56-day calf rearing program upon arrival at the research farm, with milk replacer (12.5% solids; Crude Protein 23% and Crude Fat 20%; Blossom<sup>TM</sup>, Volac, UK) offered at 6L/day via an automatic feeder (Forester Tecknik, KFA3-MA3). Concentrates (rolled barley 26.5%; soya bean meal 25%; maize 15%; beet pulp 12.5%; soya hulls 12.5%; molasses 5%; minerals & vitamins 2.5%; vegetable oil 1%; Nutriad, Belgium) and water were offered on an *ad libitum* basis throughout the experimental period. All calves were in good health throughout the experimental period. Calves were weaned over a 7-day period (D49-56) via gradual reduction in the allocation of milk replacer. On D56, eight animals from each group were randomly selected for euthanasia using an intravenous overdose of sodium pentobarbitone (Dolethal<sup>TM</sup>, 1.4ml/kg live body-weight). Death was confirmed by lack of a corneal reflex and heartbeat. The gastrointestinal tract was quickly exteriorised and digesta samples from the rumen, cecum, and colon were collected, immediately snap frozen on liquid nitrogen, and stored at -80°C pending molecular analysis. A further digesta sample was collected from both the rumen and colon (representative of the total hindgut VFA profile, as previously shown (Elsden et al., 1946)) for VFA analysis. These samples were passed through four layers of cheesecloth and stored in H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> at -80°C prior to VFA analysis using gas chromatography.

## 4.2.3 DNA isolation

Frozen digesta from the cecum, colon and rumen was ground under liquid nitrogen to a fine powder. Total DNA was extracted using the RBB+C method as previously described (Yu and Morrison, 2004); approximately 250mg of ground frozen sample was subjected to repeated bead beating followed by column purification with a QIAGEN DNeasy Stool Kit (Qiagen, UK). DNA quantity and purity were assessed by two consecutive readings at A260nm and A280nm on a Nanodrop 1000 spectrophotometer, and visualisation with UV light in a 0.8% agarose gel. Samples with DNA purity values < 1.6 were re-extracted, as were samples of low concentration (< 100ng/ $\mu$ l).

#### 4.2.4 Microbial profiling using amplicon sequencing

Amplicons of the V4 hyper-variable region of the 16S rRNA gene were prepared using Illumina Nextera chemistry, as previously reported (McCabe et al., 2015). DNA concentrations recorded on the Nanodrop were used to normalise each sample to a concentration of 100ng/µl with molecular water. A 25µl PCR reaction using 20ng of DNA, and KAPA Hi-Fi PCR mix (New England Biolabs Inc.) was prepared using 515F/806R primers (Caporaso et al., 2011) to simultaneously characterise bacterial and archaeal members using the following cycle programme: 95°C for 3 minutes, and 25 cycles of: 95°C for 30sec, 55°C for 30sec, 72°C for 30sec, with a final elongation step of 72°C for 30 seconds. Amplicons were purified using the QIAGEN QIAquick PCR Purification Kit. A second PCR step was performed to add Illumina dual indices and Nextera<sup>™</sup> adapters to the purified fragments (Illumina, San Diego, CA, USA). Following another column purification, the barcoded amplicon products were combined into two pools in equimolar quantities to ensure adequate sequencing coverage. Each pool was subjected to gel (QIAquick Gel Extraction Kit, Qiagen) and column purification (QIAquick Purification Kit, Qiagen) to remove primer dimers and any residual agarose. Purified pools were quantified by qPCR using the KAPA SYBR FAST Universal kit with Illumina Primer Premix (New England Biolabs Inc.). Pools were then diluted and denatured according to the Illumina MiSeq library preparation guide. A 6pM amplicon library was spiked with 30% denatured and diluted PhiX Illumina control library (version 3, 12.5 pM), and subjected to sequencing on the Illumina MiSeq platform with one pool per run.

#### 4.2.5 Sequence data quality control and pre-processing

Demultiplexed paired end reads were trimmed and filtered to remove low quality reads and bases (Phred quality score threshold of 20), and simultaneously merged using the BBTools suite (Bushnell, 2015). The resulting merged reads were then size selected to retain only reads  $\pm$ 2 standard deviations from the mean read length, to minimise spurious OTU creation. Finally, merged pairs were combined into a single file for downstream processing using the Quantitative Insights Into Molecular Ecology (QIIME v.1.9) tool (Caporaso et al., 2010).

#### 4.2.6 Bioinformatic analysis

Operational taxonomic unit (OTU) identification using a similarity level of 97% was carried out using the open reference picking method implemented in QIIME (Caporaso et al., 2010). A representative sequence from each identified OTU was then aligned against the reference Greengenes database (v.13\_8) (Guilloteau et al., 2010). A graphical representation of the phylogenetic trees created in QIIME was generated using the Interactive Tree of Life software (Letunic and Bork, 2016). The raw and unfiltered OTU table created in QIIME was imported into R to create a Phyloseq class object (McMurdie and Holmes, 2013).  $\alpha$ -diversity was computed by first randomly subsampling (rarefying) the OTU table to the lowest read number, to reduce bias due to differential sequencing depth. The Shannon and Chao1 metrics were used to assess diversity and evenness of the rumen and hindgut microbiota.  $\beta$ -diversity was calculated in a similar manner, with a Bray Curtis Dissimilarity matrix constructed from the same OTU table. A cluster dendrogram using Ward linkage equilibrium was generated from the same OTU table in R. Principle Coordinate Analysis (PCoA) was performed in Phyloseq and used to visualise these distance matrices in 2-dimensional space. Singleton OTUs were removed, and relative abundances of taxa at the phylum, family, and genus levels were computed in R.

## 4.2.7 Statistical analysis

Permutation based Analysis of Variance (PERMANOVA) analysis based on the Bray Curtis Dissimilarity Matrix was carried out in R using the Vegan package to compare microbial structure between groups and GIT region (Dixon, 2003, Anderson, 2001). Taxonomic abundances at the phylum and genus levels were compared across treatments (within GI compartment) using a Wald parametric test, offered within the DESeq2 Bioconductor package in R (Love et al., 2014). A falsediscovery rate (FDR) threshold of 0.15 was used to determine statistical significance (Benjamini and Hochberg, 1995). Only taxa represented by  $\geq$  0.01% of all 16S rRNA sequences in either treatment group were considered present. Exploratory investigation of taxonomic profiles revealed two outlier animals (one from each group), and they were removed from subsequent analysis leaving a total of 7 animals in each treatment group.

## 4.3 Results

#### 4.3.1 Animal performance

This experiment was conducted in association with a larger study designed to examine the effect of SB supplementation on the performance, feed efficiency and immune status of artificially reared dairy calves (Pierce et al., 2014). Briefly, from this perspective, calves supplemented with SB tended (P=0.08) to have a higher pre-weaning growth rate compared to CON (0.69 versus 0.59 kg/day). At weaning SB calves (80.2 kg) were 3.1 kg heavier than the CON group (76.9 kg) with bodyweight differences detected from day 42 until weaning. Total DMI was not different between dietary treatments but pre-weaning SB supplementation tended (P=0.08) to improve feed efficiency (measured using feed conversion ratio) of the calves (SB; 1.7:1 compared to CON; 2.5:1; P=0.07). Feed intakes and growth rates are presented in Appendix F.

#### 4.3.2 Fermentation profiles in the rumen and hindgut at weaning

Volatile fatty acid (VFA) profiles of the rumen and colon contents at weaning are presented in Table 4.1. Colonic concentrations of total VFA, propionate, and acetate were higher for SB fed calves (P<0.05). SB supplementation reduced ruminal butyrate concentration (P<0.05), but total VFA concentration was unaffected.

#### 4.3.3 Microbial structure and diversity in the rumen and hindgut in response to SB

Amplicon sequencing of rumen and hindgut digesta samples from calves at weaning yielded a total of 10,348,464 high quality reads, with an average of  $215,593 \pm 75,380$  sequences

per sample. Taxon abundance was agglomerated at the genus and phylum levels for comparisons across treatments, and relative abundances of all detected taxa are summarised in Appendix E.

Alpha diversity measured using the *Shannon* index was not affected by treatment in any region studied, though was higher in both hindgut regions than in the rumen (P<0.05, Table 4.2). The *Chao1* index of species richness was lower in the rumen of SB animals (P<0.05), but was similar across treatments in the hindgut (Table 4.2), and was higher in the colon than both other compartments (P<0.05, Table 4.2). Principal Coordinate Anlaysis (PCoA) and cluster analysis showed some evidence of separation according to treatment, independent of GIT region in the hindgut (Fig. 4.1), but comparisons using PERMANOVA failed to detect any differences (P<0.05, Table 4.3). There was, however, clear separation according to gastrointestinal region, with the rumen community clustering away from both hindgut regions (P<0.05), while both hindgut regions appeared to harbour a similar microbial community (Fig 4.1).

# 4.3.4 Microbial composition in the rumen and hindgut in response to SB4.3.4.1 Rumen

Among the bacterial phyla detected in the rumen, *Bacteroidetes*, *Firmicutes*, and *Proteobacteria* were predominant, followed by *Actinobacteria* and *Cyanobacteria* (Fig. 4.2), while the remaining minor phyla (< 1% 16S rRNA reads) are presented in Fig. 4.2. Archaea were represented by the *Euryarchaetota* phylum. 60 genus-level assignements were reported from the rumen, with *Prevotella*, *f.Succivibrionaceae* and *f.Lachnospiraceae* predominant at weaning, regardless of dietary treatment. Notably, only 48.14% of reads recovered from the rumen could not be confidently assigned at the genus level. This is reflected in the high abundances of *f.Succinivibrionaceae* (f = family level, unassigned at genus level in QIIME), *f.Lachnospiraceae* and o.*Clostridiales* in the rumen samples, as well as a further 21 unclassifed genus-level taxa (Appendix E, Fig. 4.3a). Comparisons of taxon abundance in DESeq2 between SB and CON animals showed no statistically significant effect of dietary treatment on the rumen microbiota at either phylum or genus level following adjustment into FDR.

## 4.3.4.2 Hindgut

Twelve bacterial phyla and a single archaeal phyla were detected in the hindgut, among which *Defferibacteres* was unique to the colon (Fig. 4.2). Like the rumen, a significant proportion of 16S rRNA reads recovered from the cecum and colon could not be resolved taxonomically to the genus level (~59%). Ninety-three and 88 genera were detected in the cecum and colon,

respectively. Genera annotated only as f.*Lachnospiraceae* and f.*Ruminococcaceae* were the most abundant in both compartments (Fig. 4.3). There was a minor impact of treatment on composition of the hindgut microbiota. For instance, in the colon, *Prevotella* was enriched in SB animals (P<0.05). In the cecum, several taxa were different between treatments; as in the colon *Prevotella* (4.31- 9.48%) was numerically higher in the SB cohort, but this difference was not significant, possibly due to the large inter-animal variaiton observed (Appendix E).

An additional 9 genera were different between dietary treatments in the cecum (P<0.05); *Shuttleworthia* (0.01 vs. 0.06%), *Butyrivibrio* (0.13 vs. 0.81), *Sharpea* (0.32 vs. 1.09%), and *Mogibacterium* (0.12 vs. 0.26%) were all reduced by SB supplementation (P<0.05), as well an unidentified member of the f.[*Mogibacteriaceae*] (0.65 vs. 1.56%) (Fig. 4.3b). A genus belonging to the Cyanobacterial *YS2* order was increased by SB, as were *Lachnospira* (0.13 vs. 0.06%), *Phascolarctobacterium* (1.40% vs. 0.66%), and a genus annotated as *p*-75-*af* belonging to *Erysipelotrichaceae* (0.31 vs. 0.11%, P<0.05). A single genus from the *Tenericutes* phylum classified only as 0. *ML615J-28* was also increased in the SB group (0.19 vs. 0.04%, P<0.05). Additionally, an undetermined genus assigned to the *Coriobacteriaceae* family was reduced by SB in the cecum (3.96 vs. 8.17%, P<0.05, Fig 4.3b).

## 4.4 Discussion

The beneficial effects of dietary butyrate supplementation (often included in salt form as calcium or sodium butyrate) on animal growth and intestinal development have been demonstrated in calves (Gorka et al., 2009, Guilloteau et al., 2009a, Gorka et al., 2011a), chickens (Hu and Guo, 2007) and pigs (Kotunia et al., 2004). While there is now an established body of evidence supporting the potential of butyrate as a beneficial feed additive, its impact on the gut microbiota is unknown. In adult animals, hindgut fermentation typically provides 5-10% of dietary energy, but this may be elevated during the pre-weaning phase of calf growth, when up to 20% of ingested milk solids may pass to the hindgut (Gressley et al., 2011, Castro et al., 2016). Thus microbial fermentation in the cecum and colon is an important host energy source during this period (Castro et al., 2016). Given that the importance of the hindgut in feed digestion is accentuated during early ruminal development, it is of interest to ascertain what changes may occur in the microbiota and fermentation patterns following SB supplementation. In a previous study, our group showed positive effects on growth and efficiency when dairy calves were supplemented with SB (Pierce, 2014). Here, we provide evidence that such improved performance

is accompanied by changes in microbial composition and fermentation in the hindgut compartments, while the rumen microbiota is mostly unaffected.

## 4.4.1 Sodium butyrate does not induce substantial changes in the rumen microbiota or fermentation profile

In terms of bacterial composition, the rumen microbiota was unaffected by SB. However, species richness (assessed using the Chao1 estimator) was lower in the SB animals, indicative of a greater number of sparsely abundant OTUs being present the rumen of CON animals than the SB group. Interestingly, we also observed a reduction in ruminal butyrate concentration in the SB cohort. The digestive physiology of the milk-fed calf effectively precludes entry of liquid feed into the reticulorumen via action of the reticular groove (Black and Sharkey, 1970), and so these changes are likely due to an indirect effect of SB on the rumen microbiota, as the exogenous butyrate in the milk replacer did not enter the rumen. Such indirect influences of SB on the rumen have previously been observed; SB-fortified MR significantly improved rumen growth and papillae development compared to calves fed conventional MR (Gorka et al., 2011b), but we did not observe such effects in the present study where rumen papillae length, width, and perimeter were not affected by SB supplementation (data not shown). Thus, though we observed a reduction in the concentration of ruminal butyrate, this does not appear to have had any detrimental effects on rumen development. It is possible that if the excess dietary butyrate was absorbed in the gut, it may have reduced the requirement for ruminal butyrate in the SB calves. It is also worth noting that many inconsistent results have been reported in the literature when butyrate or its derivatives are used as supplements in livestock diets, as recently reviewed (Bedford and Gong, 2017). Nonetheless, this suggests cross-talk mechanisms may exist between the lower gut and the rumen and warrant further investigation. In studies where SB was included in calf starter, significant development of the rumen epithelium was observed (Górka et al., 2011, Gorka et al., 2009), and future work should also examine changes in the rumen microbiota and fermentation profiles when calves are supplemented with SB in solid feed.

# **4.4.2** Sodium butyrate modifies the hindgut microbiota and fermentation profiles in early life

The microbial profiles of the cecum and colon were highly similar. No significant clustering was observed in the PCoA plot according to treatment within either compartment, but finer shifts in the microbial profile were evident in both. In the colon, the proportion of *Prevotella* 

was increased by SB, with a similar numerical increase observed in the cecum. Enrichment of *Prevotella* in the colon and stomach of neonatal piglets has previously been reported following SB supplementation (Xu et al., 2016). Prevotella is established as a primary member of the mammalian gut ecosystem, comprising species capable of fermenting a wide range of noncellulosic plant polysaccharides and protein (Purushe et al., 2010a). Prevotella spp. positively correlated with intestinal butyrate concentrations in growing pigs (Ivarsson et al., 2014), and it is possible that excess dietary butyrate reaching the colon conferred a competitive advantage on Prevotella, as they are not notable butyrate producers (Emerson and Weimer, 2017), aligning with the significant reduction in known butyrate producing taxa discussed below. Supplementing the diet of neonatal piglets and poultry with SB has previously been reported to reduce the abundance of known gut pathogens (e.g. E. coli) (Xiong et al., 2016). We did not observe similar effects in our study, which may be attributable to differences in analytical approach (e.g. qPCR for specific scour causing bacteria). We did detect *Escherichia* in our dataset, but its proportion was very low (<0.005% of total 16S rRNA sequences) and so was not considered in our final analysis. This highlights a limitation of amplicon sequencing surveys, whereby potentially important taxa may be under- or over-represented due to variation in 16S rRNA gene copy number among microbial species (Klappenbach et al., 2001).

We observed most evidence of microbial manipulation through SB supplementation, in the cecum. Most notably, the abundances of several important VFA producers were changed. *Phascolarctobacterium* rapidly converts succinate to propionate in the gut (Watanabe et al., 2012, Aschenbach et al., 2010). The higher abundance of this genus in the cecum of SB animals may have contributed to improved growth via increased host energy substrate, as propionate is the primary precursor for gluconeogenesis in ruminants (Aschenbach et al., 2010). This, combined with our observation of higher levels of propionate and total VFA, provides evidence that improved rates of bacterial fermentation in the hindgut may also contribute to SB-driven performance improvements, as well as the increased activation of the IGF-1 pathway previously reported (Guilloteau et al., 2009b). Abundances of known butyrate-producing Butyrivibrio and Shuttleworthia were reduced in the cecum under SB supplementation, suggesting that exogenous butyrate suppresses microbial biosynthesis of butyrate in the gut. The reduction of the lactate producer Sharpea may also contribute to lower microbial butyrate as lactate is an intermediate molecule formed by bacterial action in the GIT. Lactate is usually rapidly utilised for VFA (primarily butyrate) synthesis, as accumulation can lead to harmful acidotic conditions (Flint et al., 2014, Bourriaud et al., 2005). While the mechanisms and occurrence of ruminal acidosis has been extensively investigated in cattle (Gao and Oba, 2016, Kim et al., 2016), there is little

knowledge of the prevalence of hindgut acidosis in calves. Lactate was not measured in the present study, but our results suggest that lactate metabolism may be an important intermediary in the response of the gut microbiota to exogenous butyrate, warranting further investigation.

Sodium butyrate supplementation in reduced cecal abundance of taxa associated with lowered gut health and integrity, and elevated inflammation. For instance, Mogibacterium, a known genus of the oral microbiota, was reduced in response to SB supplementation. Whilst the role of Mogibacterium in the gut is not fully understood, previous studies have observed a decreased faecal abundance of this genus in response to beneficial prebiotic supplementation in neonatal piglets (Berding et al., 2016), and mucosal abundance of *Mogibacterium* was higher in the distal gut of human colorectal cancer patients than healthy controls (Chen et al., 2012). Therefore, while the dearth of knowledge concerning the characteristics of *Mogibacterium spp*. in the gut ecosystem make it difficult to speculate as to why SB may affect it, it's reduction may be indicative of favourable changes in the gut microbiota of calves fed SB. Similarly, the abundance of Actinobacteria was also significantly lower in the cecum of SB calves, driven by a significant reduction in a genus classified only as part of the Coriobacteriaceae family (reported as "f\_\_Coriobacteriaceae\_\_\_" in QIIME). There were several other low-abundance genera assigned to Coriobacteriaceae (<0.01%), so this is likely an undescribed genus or genera which may have an important role in the maintenance of gut health. Several novel members of this family have been described recently (Kobayashi et al., 2017, Looft et al., 2015), and further advances in our knowledge of the role of *Coriobacteriaceae* in the gut may resolve the possible role of as-yet undefined Coriobacteriaceae species in SB-driven growth improvements. The Coriobacteriaceae in the gut have been associated with a suppression in host inflammatory response. Reduced abundance of this family was previously observed in tandem with lower detection of the proinflammatory IL-6 in blood plasma (Kemp and Lander, 1984), and so our results may indicate reduced immunogenicity among the cecal microbiota of SB fed calves.

The higher abundance of *Cyanobacteria* observed in the cecum of SB animals was driven by significant increases of a genus assigned to the *YS2* order. This highlights a wider issue concerning 16S rRNA gene investigations of intestinal microbial communities. Although *Cyanobacteria* have been widely reported as minor contributors to GIT microbial diversity in mammals (Meale et al., 2017, Kittelmann et al., 2013, Jenkins et al., 2008), the validity of their role in the anaerobic gut ecosystem is questionable, as many species of this phylum are native to marine environments and are notable performers of complex oxygenic photosynthesis (Ley et al., 2005). Recent studies have revealed that the *Cyanobacteria* found in the gut are genetically dissimilar to their photosynthetic relatives, and likely diverged prior to the latter developing the capability for photosynthesis (Veneman et al., 2015, Bickerstaffe et al., 1972). Two such novel *Cyanobacteria*-like lineages have been described in the human GIT to date, the *Melainabacteria* (Veneman et al., 2015), and the *Sericytochromatia* (Bickerstaffe et al., 1972), but there is not yet a consensus on the correct nomenclature (Soo et al., 2014). Neither is it known if these novel taxa are also the same *Cyanobacteria*-derivatives present in the ruminant gut, and this warrants urgent investigation. Regardless, increased abundance of *Cyanobacteria* has not been previously reported in the gut of SB supplemented calves, suggesting a potential role of the newly described *Cyanobacteria* groups in the developing intestine, but further work is needed to confirm their role in the ruminant gut ecosystem.

# 4.4.3 The rumen and hindgut harbour significantly different microbial communities at weaning

While patterns of microbial colonisation in the pre-functioning rumen have been the subject of several investigations recently (Jami et al., 2013, Rey et al., 2013, Malmuthuge et al., 2014, Malmuthuge et al., 2013), there are noticeably fewer published reports concerning the hindgut microbiota of young ruminants. In agreement with the available literature, we found that the rumen and hindgut microbiota differed significantly at weaning (Meale et al., 2017, Meale et al., 2016). In addition to lower rumen bacterial diversity, VFA levels were higher in the rumen than in the colon, suggesting that at weaning, the rumen microbiota ferments plant biomass at a greater rate than that of the hindgut. It is likely that the greater range of secondary fermentation products entering the lower gut is the driver of the increased bacterial diversity of the cecum and colon. The bacterial profile of the rumen was resembled that previously reported in young animals and was dominated by Firmicutes and Bacteroidetes. Bacteroidetes have previously been reported as the predominant bacterial phyla in the rumen and hindgut of 3-week old and weaned diary calves (Malmuthuge et al., 2014, Meale et al., 2016), and in the rumen of 6-week old lambs (Wang et al., 2016b). *Prevotella* was the most abundant bacterial genus in the rumen at weaning which is in agreement with published reports (Meale et al., 2016). Our data showed the principal bacterial phylum *Firmicutes* was dominated by unclassified *Succinivibrionaceae* in the rumen, but that the hindgut regions harboured higher relative abundances of unclassified genera from the Lachnospiraceae and Ruminococcaceae families while the Succinivibrionaceae members were minor contributors. *Succinivibrionaceae* has been reported as a member of the core active rumen microbiota in adult cattle (Li and Guan, 2017), and is implicated in reduced methane formation in both ruminants and macropods (Danielsson et al., 2017, Pope et al., 2011, McCabe

et al., 2015). The predominance of *Prevotella* and *Succinivibrionaceae* has been previously documented in the rumen of adult dairy cows (Dill-McFarland et al., 2017), but the high abundance of uncharacterised *Succinivibrionaceae* in the rumen at weaning has not, to our knowledge, been reported to date. However, caution should be exercised when comparing results of multiple amplicon sequencing surveys, as amplification primer choice can significantly bias results (Nelson et al., 2014). Popova et al. (2013) and Zhou et al. (2014) have previously described the hindgut methanogen populations in lambs and dairy calves, and our findings are largely similar to theirs, with *Methanobrevibacter* as the predominant genus.

Unclassified genera of the Lachnospiraceae were previously reported as comprising just 5.58% of faecal 16S rRNA sequences 5 days after weaning, in contrast to our observation of high abundance in the cecum and colon (Meale et al., 2016). The same study revealed high abundance of an unclassified Ruminococcaceae genus in the faeces of dairy calves shortly after weaning which is consistent with our results (Meale et al., 2016). Both taxa have been widely reported as important members of the gut microbiota, containing prominent plant polysaccharide hydrolysing species (Flint et al., 2012). Interestingly, visualisation of the phylogenetic tree generated in QIIME shows Prevotella sequences recovered from the rumen appeared to cluster away from the other Bacteroidetes taxa (Fig. 4.3(a)), suggesting that at weaning the rumen may contain a phylogenetically distinct cohort of *Prevotella spp.* compared to that of the hindgut, where Prevotella sequences clustered broadly as expected (Fig. 4.3(b), 4.3(c)). This warrants further investigation, given the ubiquitous and abundant presence of Prevotella in the mammalian digestive tract. Also evident in our dataset is the dominance of undescribed microorganisms in the mammalian GIT. Indeed, among the ten most abundant genus level taxa reported in the hindgut regions, only four (Prevotella, Clostridium, Bacteroides and *Ruminococcus*) were annotated as a known bacterial genus. This underlines the large number of as-yet uncharacterised bacteria that exist within the mammalian gut, and highlights the inherent difficulties in accurate compositional and functional profiling of the GIT microbiota.

### 4.5 Conclusions

The data presented here and in our companion study (Pierce, 2014) provide evidence that the improved performance recorded for SB supplemented calves may be mediated through minor changes in the rumen and hindgut microbiota, with a particularly notable response to SB evident in the cecum. However, it is impossible to conclude whether changes in microbial composition are actively contributing to this improved growth and performance, or whether the host phenotype is driving changes in the microbial community. It is possible that the major effects of exogenous butyrate supplementation on the GIT microbiota may occur during the first weeks of life and are not evident at weaning, and indeed previous work has suggested that for maximum impact, butyrate should be supplemented from the first day of life (Bedford and Gong, 2017). The present study may also be limited by the fact that the calves had already undergone a weaning process (between days 49-56) when the samples were collected, and the amount of exogenous butyrate entering the GIT was thus reduced in the week preceding slaughter. It may be advantageous to collect digesta samples throughout the milk-feeding period in future studies, to assess if SB supplementation may facilitate a smoother weaning transition. Nonetheless, considering the significant differences that were still evident one week following the onset of the weaning process, SB supplementation appears to impart persistent changes on gut microbial composition and fermentation in dairy calves, and may be a candidate additive for "microbial programming" of gut microbial communities in early life (Yanez-Ruiz et al., 2015). In summary, we conclude that positive trends in growth rate and feed efficiency associated with SB supplementation in early life occur in tandem with changes in bacterial composition and fermentation in the hindgut. More thorough investigations using metagenomic or metatranscriptomic approaches may offer further information as to the mechanisms by which sodium butyrate modulates the gut microbial community in young ruminants.

## 4.6 Literature cited

- ANDERSON, M. J. 2001. A new method for non-parametric multivariate analysis of variance. *Austral Ecology*, 26, 32-46.
- ASCHENBACH, J. R., KRISTENSEN, N. B., DONKIN, S. S., HAMMON, H. M. & PENNER, G. B. 2010. Gluconeogenesis in dairy cows: the secret of making sweet milk from sour dough. *IUBMB Life*, 62, 869-77.
- BEDFORD, A. & GONG, J. 2017. Implications of butyrate and its derivatives for gut health and animal production. *Animal Nutrition*.
- BENJAMINI, Y. & HOCHBERG, Y. 1995. Controlling the False Discovery Rate: A Practical and Powerful Approach to Multiple Testing. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society. Series B* (*Methodological*), 57, 289-300.
- BERDING, K., WANG, M., MONACO, M. H., ALEXANDER, L. S., MUDD, A. T., CHICHLOWSKI, M., WAWORUNTU, R. V., BERG, B. M., MILLER, M. J., DILGER, R. N. & DONOVAN, S. M. 2016. Prebiotics and Bioactive Milk Fractions Affect Gut Development, Microbiota, and Neurotransmitter Expression in Piglets. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr, 63, 688-697.
- BICKERSTAFFE, D., NOAKES, D. E. & ANNISON, E. F. 1972. Quantitative aspects of fatty acid biohydrogenation, absorption and transfer into milk fat in the lactating goat, with special reference to the cis- and trans-isomers of octadecenoate and linoleate. *Biochem J*, 130.
- BLACK, J. & SHARKEY, M. 1970. RETICULAR GROOVE (SULCUS RETICULI) : AN OBLIGATORY ADAPTATION IN RUMINANT-LIKE HERBIVORES? *Mammalia*.

BOURRIAUD, C., ROBINS, R. J., MARTIN, L., KOZLOWSKI, F., TENAILLEAU, E., CHERBUT, C. & MICHEL, C. 2005. Lactate is mainly fermented to butyrate by human intestinal microfloras but inter-individual variation is evident. *J Appl Microbiol*, 99, 201-12.

BUSHNELL, B. 2015. BBtools. (no. LBNL-7065E).

- CAPORASO, J. G., KUCZYNSKI, J., STOMBAUGH, J., BITTINGER, K., BUSHMAN, F. D., COSTELLO, E. K., FIERER, N., PENA, A. G., GOODRICH, J. K., GORDON, J. I., HUTTLEY, G. A., KELLEY, S. T., KNIGHTS, D., KOENIG, J. E., LEY, R. E., LOZUPONE, C. A., MCDONALD, D., MUEGGE, B. D., PIRRUNG, M., REEDER, J., SEVINSKY, J. R., TURNBAUGH, P. J., WALTERS, W. A., WIDMANN, J., YATSUNENKO, T., ZANEVELD, J. & KNIGHT, R. 2010. QIIME allows analysis of high-throughput community sequencing data. Nat Methods, 7, 335-6.
- CAPORASO, J. G., LAUBER, C. L., WALTERS, W. A., BERG-LYONS, D., LOZUPONE, C. A., TURNBAUGH, P. J., FIERER, N. & KNIGHT, R. 2011. Global patterns of 16S rRNA diversity at a depth of millions of sequences per sample. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 108 Suppl 1, 4516-22.
- CASTRO, J. J., GOMEZ, A., WHITE, B., LOFTEN, J. R. & DRACKLEY, J. K. 2016. Changes in the intestinal bacterial community, short-chain fatty acid profile, and intestinal development of preweaned Holstein calves. 2. Effects of gastrointestinal site and age. *J Dairy Sci*, 99, 9703-9715.
- CHEN, W., LIU, F., LING, Z., TONG, X. & XIANG, C. 2012. Human Intestinal Lumen and Mucosa-Associated Microbiota in Patients with Colorectal Cancer. *PLOS ONE*, 7, e39743.
- CZERWINSKI, J., HOJBERG, O., SMULIKOWSKA, S., ENGBERG, R. M. & MIECZKOWSKA, A. 2012. Effects of sodium butyrate and salinomycin upon intestinal microbiota, mucosal morphology and performance of broiler chickens. *Arch Anim Nutr*, 66, 102-16.
- DANIELSSON, R., DICKSVED, J., SUN, L., GONDA, H., MÜLLER, B., SCHNÜRER, A. & BERTILSSON, J. 2017. Methane Production in Dairy Cows Correlates with Rumen Methanogenic and Bacterial Community Structure. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 8, 226.
- DILL-MCFARLAND, K. A., BREAKER, J. D. & SUEN, G. 2017. Microbial succession in the gastrointestinal tract of dairy cows from 2 weeks to first lactation. 7, 40864.
- DIXON, P. 2003. VEGAN, a package of R functions for community ecology. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 14, 927-930.
- ELSDEN, S. R., HITCHCOCK, M. W. & ET AL. 1946. Volatile acid in the digesta of ruminants and other animals. *J Exp Biol*, 22, 191-202.
- EMERSON, E. L. & WEIMER, P. J. 2017. Fermentation of model hemicelluloses by Prevotella strains and Butyrivibrio fibrisolvens in pure culture and in ruminal enrichment cultures. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol*, 101, 4269-4278.
- FIRKINS, J. L. & YU, Z. 2015. RUMINANT NUTRITION SYMPOSIUM: How to use data on the rumen microbiome to improve our understanding of ruminant nutrition. *J Anim Sci*, 93, 1450-70.
- FLINT, H. J., DUNCAN, S. H., SCOTT, K. P. & LOUIS, P. 2014. Links between diet, gut microbiota composition and gut metabolism. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*, 74, 13-22.
- FLINT, H. J., SCOTT, K. P., DUNCAN, S. H., LOUIS, P. & FORANO, E. 2012. Microbial degradation of complex carbohydrates in the gut. *Gut Microbes*, 3, 289-306.
- GAO, X. & OBA, M. 2016. Characteristics of dairy cows with a greater or lower risk of subacute ruminal acidosis: Volatile fatty acid absorption, rumen digestion, and expression of genes in rumen epithelial cells. *J Dairy Sci*.
- GORKA, P., KOWALSKI, Z. M., PIETRZAK, P., KOTUNIA, A., JAGUSIAK, W., HOLST, J. J., GUILLOTEAU, P. & ZABIELSKI, R. 2011a. Effect of method of delivery of sodium butyrate on rumen development in new-born calves. *J Dairy Sci*, 94, 5578-88.

- GÓRKA, P., KOWALSKI, Z. M., PIETRZAK, P., KOTUNIA, A., JAGUSIAK, W., HOLST, J. J., GUILLOTEAU, P. & ZABIELSKI, R. 2011. Effect of method of delivery of sodium butyrate on rumen development in new-born calves. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 94, 5578-5588.
- GORKA, P., KOWALSKI, Z. M., PIETRZAK, P., KOTUNIA, A., JAGUSIAK, W. & ZABIELSKI, R. 2011b. Is rumen development in new-born calves affected by different liquid feeds and small intestine development? *J Dairy Sci*, 94, 3002-13.
- GORKA, P., KOWALSKI, Z. M., PIETRZAK, P., KOTUNIA, A., KILJANCZYK, R., FLAGA, J., HOLST, J. J., GUILLOTEAU, P. & ZABIELSKI, R. 2009. Effect of sodium butyrate supplementation in milk replacer and starter diet on rumen development in calves. J Physiol Pharmacol, 60 Suppl 3, 47-53.
- GRESSLEY, T. F., HALL, M. B. & ARMENTANO, L. E. 2011. Ruminant Nutrition Symposium: Productivity, digestion, and health responses to hindgut acidosis in ruminants. *J Anim Sci*, 89, 1120-30.
- GUILLOTEAU, P., MARTIN, L., EECKHAUT, V., DUCATELLE, R., ZABIELSKI, R. & VAN IMMERSEEL, F. 2010. From the gut to the peripheral tissues: the multiple effects of butyrate. *Nutr Res Rev*, 23, 366-84.
- GUILLOTEAU, P., ZABIELSKI, R. & BLUM, J. W. 2009a. Gastrointestinal tract and digestion in the young ruminant: ontogenesis, adaptations, consequences and manipulations. *J Physiol Pharmacol*, 60 Suppl 3, 37-46.
- GUILLOTEAU, P., ZABIELSKI, R., DAVID, J. C., BLUM, J. W., MORISSET, J. A., BIERNAT, M., WOLINSKI, J., LAUBITZ, D. & HAMON, Y. 2009b. Sodium-butyrate as a growth promoter in milk replacer formula for young calves. *J Dairy Sci*, 92, 1038-49.
- HU, Z. & GUO, Y. 2007. Effects of dietary sodium butyrate supplementation on the intestinal morphological structure, absorptive function and gut flora in chickens. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, 132, 240-249.
- IVARSSON, E., ROOS, S., LIU, H. Y. & LINDBERG, J. E. 2014. Fermentable non-starch polysaccharides increases the abundance of Bacteroides-Prevotella-Porphyromonas in ileal microbial community of growing pigs. *Animal*, 8, 1777-87.
- JAMI, E., ISRAEL, A., KOTSER, A. & MIZRAHI, I. 2013. Exploring the bovine rumen bacterial community from birth to adulthood. *Isme j*, *7*, 1069-79.
- JENKINS, T. C., WALLACE, R. J., MOATE, P. J. & MOSLEY, E. E. 2008. Recent advances in biohydrogenation of unsaturated fatty acids within the rumen microbial ecosystem. *J Anim Sci*, 86.
- KEMP, P. & LANDER, D. J. 1984. Hydrogenation in vitro of α-linolenic acid to stearic acid by mixed cultures of pure strains of rumen bacteria. *J Gen Microbiol*, 130.
- KIM, Y. H., NAGATA, R., OHTANI, N., ICHIJO, T., IKUTA, K. & SATO, S. 2016a. Effects of Dietary Forage and Calf Starter Diet on Ruminal pH and Bacteria in Holstein Calves during Weaning Transition. *Front Microbiol*, *7*, 1575.
- KIM, Y. H., TOJI, N., KIZAKI, K., KUSHIBIKI, S., ICHIJO, T. & SATO, S. 2016b. Effects of dietary forage and calf starter on ruminal pH and transcriptomic adaptation of the rumen epithelium in Holstein calves during the weaning transition. *Physiol Genomics*, 48, 803-809.
- KITTELMANN, S., SEEDORF, H., WALTERS, W. A., CLEMENTE, J. C., KNIGHT, R., GORDON, J. I. & JANSSEN, P. H. 2013. Simultaneous amplicon sequencing to explore co-occurrence patterns of bacterial, archaeal and eukaryotic microorganisms in rumen microbial communities. *PLoS One*, 8, e47879.
- KLAPPENBACH, J. A., SAXMAN, P. R., COLE, J. R. & SCHMIDT, T. M. 2001. rrndb: the Ribosomal RNA Operon Copy Number Database. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 29, 181-184.
- KOBAYASHI, H., FU, Q., MAEDA, H. & SATO, K. 2017. Draft Genome Sequence of a Novel Coriobacteriaceae sp. Strain, EMTCatB1, Reconstructed from the Metagenome of a Thermophilic Electromethanogenic Biocathode. *Genome Announcements*, 5, e00022-17.

- KOTUNIA, A., WOLINSKI, J., LAUBITZ, D., JURKOWSKA, M., ROME, V., GUILLOTEAU, P. & ZABIELSKI, R. 2004. Effect of sodium butyrate on the small intestine development in neonatal piglets fed [correction of feed] by artificial sow. *J Physiol Pharmacol*, 55 Suppl 2, 59-68.
- LETUNIC, I. & BORK, P. 2016. Interactive tree of life (iTOL) v3: an online tool for the display and annotation of phylogenetic and other trees. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 44, W242-5.
- LEY, R. E., BÄCKHED, F., TURNBAUGH, P., LOZUPONE, C. A., KNIGHT, R. D. & GORDON, J. I. 2005. Obesity alters gut microbial ecology. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 102, 11070-11075.
- LI, F. & GUAN, L. L. 2017. Metatranscriptomic Profiling Reveals Linkages between the Active Rumen Microbiome and Feed Efficiency in Beef Cattle. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 83.
- LI, R. W., WU, S., BALDWIN, R. L. T., LI, W. & LI, C. 2012. Perturbation dynamics of the rumen microbiota in response to exogenous butyrate. *PLoS One*, *7*, e29392.
- LOOFT, T., BAYLES, D. O., ALT, D. P. & STANTON, T. B. 2015. Complete Genome Sequence of Coriobacteriaceae Strain 68-1-3, a Novel Mucus-Degrading Isolate from the Swine Intestinal Tract. *Genome Announcements*, 3, e01143-15.
- LOVE, M. I., HUBER, W. & ANDERS, S. 2014. Moderated estimation of fold change and dispersion for RNA-seq data with DESeq2. *Genome Biol*, 15, 550.
- M. RYLE, E. R. Ø. 1992. Energy Nutrition in Ruminants, Springer, Dordrecht.
- MALMUTHUGE, N., GRIEBEL, P. J. & GUAN, L. L. 2014. Taxonomic Identification of Commensal Bacteria Associated with the Mucosa and Digesta throughout the Gastrointestinal Tracts of Preweaned Calves. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 80, 2021-8.
- MALMUTHUGE, N., LI, M., GOONEWARDENE, L. A., OBA, M. & GUAN, L. L. 2013. Effect of calf starter feeding on gut microbial diversity and expression of genes involved in host immune responses and tight junctions in dairy calves during weaning transition. *J Dairy Sci*, 96, 3189-200.
- MCCABE, M. S., CORMICAN, P., KEOGH, K., O'CONNOR, A., O'HARA, E., PALLADINO, R. A., KENNY, D. A. & WATERS, S. M. 2015. Illumina MiSeq Phylogenetic Amplicon Sequencing Shows a Large Reduction of an Uncharacterised Succinivibrionaceae and an Increase of the Methanobrevibacter gottschalkii Clade in Feed Restricted Cattle. *PLoS One*, 10, e0133234.
- MCMURDIE, P. J. & HOLMES, S. 2013. phyloseq: An R Package for Reproducible Interactive Analysis and Graphics of Microbiome Census Data. *PLOS ONE*, 8, e61217.
- MEALE, S. J., LI, S., AZEVEDO, P., DERAKHSHANI, H., PLAIZIER, J. C., KHAFIPOUR, E. & STEELE, M. A. 2016. Development of Ruminal and Fecal Microbiomes Are Affected by Weaning But Not Weaning Strategy in Dairy Calves. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 7, 582.
- MEALE, S. J., LI, S. C., AZEVEDO, P., DERAKHSHANI, H., DEVRIES, T. J., PLAIZIER, J. C., STEELE, M. A. & KHAFIPOUR, E. 2017. Weaning age influences the severity of gastrointestinal microbiome shifts in dairy calves. *Scientific Reports*, *7*, 198.
- NELSON, M. C., MORRISON, H. G., BENJAMINO, J., GRIM, S. L. & GRAF, J. 2014. Analysis, optimization and verification of Illumina-generated 16S rRNA gene amplicon surveys. *PLoS One*, 9, e94249.
- NIWIŃSKA, B., HANCZAKOWSKA, E., ARCISZEWSKI, M. B. & KLEBANIUK, R. 2017. Review: Exogenous butyrate: implications for the functional development of ruminal epithelium and calf performance. *animal*, 11, 1522-1530.
- OIKONOMOU, G., TEIXEIRA, A. G. V., FODITSCH, C., BICALHO, M. L., MACHADO, V. S. & BICALHO, R. C. 2013. Fecal Microbial Diversity in Pre-Weaned Dairy Calves as Described by Pyrosequencing of Metagenomic 16S rDNA. Associations of Faecalibacterium Species with Health and Growth. *PLOS ONE*, 8, e63157.

- PIERCE, K. M., BOLAND, T. M., KENNY, D. A., O'DOHERTY, J. V., KELLY, A. K., Performance and rumen development of artificially reared calves to dietary butyrate supplementation. 2014 ADSA-ASAS-CSAS Joint Annual Meeting, July 20 - 24, 2014 2014 Kansas City, MO.
- POPE, P. B., SMITH, W., DENMAN, S. E., TRINGE, S. G., BARRY, K., HUGENHOLTZ, P., MCSWEENEY, C. S., MCHARDY, A. C. & MORRISON, M. 2011. Isolation of Succinivibrionaceae implicated in low methane emissions from Tammar wallabies. *Science*, 333, 646-8.
- POPOVA, M., MORGAVI, D. P. & MARTIN, C. 2013. Methanogens and Methanogenesis in the Rumens and Ceca of Lambs Fed Two Different High-Grain-Content Diets. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 79, 1777-1786.
- PURUSHE, J., FOUTS, D. E., MORRISON, M., WHITE, B. A., MACKIE, R. I., COUTINHO, P. M., HENRISSAT, B. & NELSON, K. E. 2010. Comparative genome analysis of Prevotella ruminicola and Prevotella bryantii: insights into their environmental niche. *Microb Ecol*, 60, 721-9.
- REY, M., ENJALBERT, F., COMBES, S., CAUQUIL, L., BOUCHEZ, O. & MONTEILS, V. 2013. Establishment of ruminal bacterial community in dairy calves from birth to weaning is sequential. *J Appl Microbiol*.
- SNELLING, T. J., GENÇ, B., MCKAIN, N., WATSON, M., WATERS, S. M., CREEVEY, C. J. & WALLACE, R. J. 2014. Diversity and Community Composition of Methanogenic Archaea in the Rumen of Scottish Upland Sheep Assessed by Different Methods. *PLOS ONE*, 9, e106491.
- SOO, R. M., SKENNERTON, C. T., SEKIGUCHI, Y., IMELFORT, M., PAECH, S. J., DENNIS, P. G., STEEN, J. A., PARKS, D. H., TYSON, G. W. & HUGENHOLTZ, P. 2014. An Expanded Genomic Representation of the Phylum Cyanobacteria. *Genome Biology and Evolution*, 6, 1031-1045.
- STEELE, M. A., PENNER, G. B., CHAUCHEYRAS-DURAND, F. & GUAN, L. L. 2016. Development and physiology of the rumen and the lower gut: Targets for improving gut health. *J Dairy Sci.*
- USDA 2010. Dairy 2007, Heifer calf health and management practices on US dairy operations. CEAH. Fort Collins, CO.: USDA:APHIS:VS.
- VAN BOECKEL, T. P., BROWER, C., GILBERT, M., GRENFELL, B. T., LEVIN, S. A., ROBINSON, T. P., TEILLANT, A. & LAXMINARAYAN, R. 2015. Global trends in antimicrobial use in food animals. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 112, 5649-5654.
- VENEMAN, J. B., MUETZEL, S., HART, K. J., FAULKNER, C. L., MOORBY, J. M., PERDOK, H. B. & NEWBOLD, C. J. 2015. Does Dietary Mitigation of Enteric Methane Production Affect Rumen Function and Animal Productivity in Dairy Cows? *PLoS One*, 10, e0140282.
- WANG, W., LI, C., LI, F., WANG, X., ZHANG, X., LIU, T., NIAN, F., YUE, X., LI, F., PAN, X., LA, Y., MO, F., WANG, F. & LI, B. 2016. Effects of early feeding on the host rumen transcriptome and bacterial diversity in lambs. 6, 32479.
- WATANABE, Y., NAGAI, F. & MOROTOMI, M. 2012. Characterization of Phascolarctobacterium succinatutens sp. nov., an Asaccharolytic, Succinate-Utilizing Bacterium Isolated from Human Feces. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 78, 511-518.
- XIONG, H., GUO, B., GAN, Z., SONG, D., LU, Z., YI, H., WU, Y., WANG, Y. & DU, H. 2016. Butyrate upregulates endogenous host defense peptides to enhance disease resistance in piglets via histone deacetylase inhibition. *Scientific Reports*, 6, 27070.
- XU, J., CHEN, X., YU, S., SU, Y. & ZHU, W. 2016. Effects of Early Intervention with Sodium Butyrate on Gut Microbiota and the Expression of Inflammatory Cytokines in Neonatal Piglets. *PLoS One*, 11, e0162461.
- YANEZ-RUIZ, D. R., ABECIA, L. & NEWBOLD, C. J. 2015. Manipulating rumen microbiome and fermentation through interventions during early life: a review. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 6.

- YEOMAN, C. J. & WHITE, B. A. 2014. Gastrointestinal tract microbiota and probiotics in production animals. *Annu Rev Anim Biosci*, 2, 469-86.
- YU, Z. & MORRISON, M. 2004. Improved extraction of PCR-quality community DNA from digesta and fecal samples. *BioTechniques*, 36, 808-812.
- ZHOU, M., CHEN, Y., GRIEBEL, P. J. & GUAN LE, L. 2014. Methanogen prevalence throughout the gastrointestinal tract of pre-weaned dairy calves. *Gut Microbes*, *5*, 628-38.

## 4.7 Tables and figures

**Table 4.1**: The effect of SB inclusion in milk replacer on Volatile Fatty Acid (VFA) profiles in the rumen and colon. P-values were obtained using a Monte-Carlo permutational t-test in R.

		<u>Rumen</u>			<u>Colon</u>	
Item	CON	SB	P-value	CON	SB	P-value
Total VFA (	Concentrations	(mmol/L)				
Acetate	<sup>1</sup> 90.56 ± 7.51	78.46 ± 1.93	$^{2}NS$	$39.48 \pm 3.49$	$60.84 \pm 6.03$	0.01
Propionate	$62.43 \pm 7.51$	$58.26 \pm 1.73$	NS	$10.77 \pm 1.20$	$17.06 \pm 2.00$	0.02
Butyrate	$16.21 \pm 1.17$	$11.49 \pm 0.57$	0.04	$3.56 \pm 0.40$	$5.01 \pm 0.84$	NS
Isobutyrate	$0.71 \pm 0.37$	$0.33 \pm 0.06$	NS	$0.53 \pm 0.05$	$0.50 \pm 0.09$	NS
Valerate	$4.91 \pm 0.61$	$3.43 \pm 0.09$	NS	$0.75 \pm 0.13$	$0.85 \pm 0.09$	NS
Isovalerate	$1.79 \pm 0.28$	$1.05 \pm 0.08$	NS	$0.37 \pm 0.06$	$0.31 \pm 0.06$	NS
Total VFA	$176.44 \pm 16.02$	$152.82 \pm 3.67$	NS	$55.46 \pm 4.87$	$84.57 \pm 8.60$	0.02
Molar Prop	ortions of VFA					
Acetate	$0.517\pm0.01$	$0.513 \pm 0.003$	NS	$0.712\pm0.01$	$0.721\pm0.01$	NS
Propionate	$0.346 \pm 0.01$	$0.379 \pm 0.004$	NS	$0.192 \pm 0.01$	$0.200\pm0.01$	NS
Butyrate	$0.094 \pm 0.004$	$0.077 \pm 0.004$	NS	$0.064 \pm 0.003$	$0.057 \pm 0.01$	NS
Isobutyrate	$0.003 \pm 0.002$	$0.001 \pm 0.001$	NS	$0.010 \pm 0.001$	$0.007 \pm 0.001$	NS
Valerate	$0.028 \pm 0.003$	$0.023\pm0.001$	NS	$0.014 \pm 0.001$	$0.010 \pm 0.001$	NS
Isovalerate	$0.011\pm0.002$	$0.007 \pm 0.001$	NS	$0.007 \pm 0.001$	$0.004 \pm 0.001$	NS

<sup>1</sup>Mean±SEM, <sup>2</sup>Not significantly different.
**Table 4.2:**Comparisons of alpha diversity metrics in the rumen, cecum, and colon of calvesat weaning. *P*-values show significant differences according to dietary treatment. Significantdifferences according to gastrointestinal region are denoted with different letters.

	Chao1					Shannon			
GI Region	<u>Overall</u>	CON	<u>SB</u>	<u>P-value</u>	Overall	CON	<u>SB</u>	<u>P-value</u>	
Rumen	1698.0ª	1887.2	1508.7	0.01	3.6ª	3.7	3.6	0.15	
Cecum	1728.7 <sup>a</sup>	1630.3	1827.0	0.30	4.9 <sup>b</sup>	4.8	5.0	0.28	
Colon	2849.0 <sup>b</sup>	2827.3	2870.7	0.87	5.1 <sup>b</sup>	5.1	5.1	0.76	

**Table 4.3:**Comparing microbial communities between treatments and gastrointestinal region in the<br/>rumen, cecum and colon. *P*-values obtained using PERMANOVA analysis based on Bray Curtis dissimilarity<br/>matrices.

	Treatment		GI Region			
GI Region	<u>F-value</u>	<u>P-value</u>		<u>F-value</u>	<u>P-value</u>	
Rumen	1.04	0.37	Rumen vs. Cecum	21.44	0.001	
Cecum	1.30	0.16	Rumen vs. Colon	21.15	0.001	
Colon	1.28	0.12	Cecum vs. Colon	0.82	0.700	



**Figure 4.1:** (a) Principal Coordinate Analysis plot and (b) cluster dendrogram plot generated using a Bray-Curtis dissimilarity matrix of operational taxonomic units (OTUs) present in the rumen, cecum, and colon at weaning in calves fed milk replacer ± sodium butyrate.



**Figure 4.2:** Stacked bar chart of microbial abundances at the phylum level, calculated as a percentage of total 16S rRNA reads within each group.



**Figure 4.3:** Phylogenetic Trees of (a) rumen, (b) cecum, and (c) colon microbiota, built from a multiple sequence alignment generated in QIIME. OTUs were agglomerated at the genus level in R. The trees were visualised using the Interactive Tree of Life (ITOL) software package

# <u>Chapter Five</u> General Discussion

#### 5.1 Background

There is increasing evidence that dietary modification in the first days and weeks of life may offer an opportunity to permanently manipulate rumen microbial composition and function, in order to improve nutrient utilisation and/or reduce wasteful processes like methanogenesis (Abecia et al., 2017, Abecia et al., 2014, Abecia et al., 2013). However significant gaps in the knowledge remain concerning the optimum timeframe for such interventions, and existing data is largely drawn from studies in small ruminants and dairy calves. Furthermore, despite the importance of proper physical maturation of the rumen during early life, the molecular mechanisms underpinning its development during microbial colonisation are largely unknown in calves. The data presented in this thesis outlines the ontogeny of the rumen microbiota (Chapter 2) and the molecular dynamics of physical rumen development (Chapter 3) during early life. These findings fill a major gap in the knowledge, providing an integrative understanding of the co-development of both host and microbe in the young ruminant, which will be key in optimising potential modification strategies. Moreover, these are among the first comprehensive investigations of the developing rumen and its microbial populations in beef calves.

In contrast to the rumen, little is known regarding the composition and activity of the hindgut microbiota during early life, though this was partially addressed in a recent study (Song et al., 2018). There is increasing evidence that the lower GIT, and its resident microbiota, make important contributions to animal health (Malmuthuge and Guan, 2017). As such, targeting the function of the hindgut microbiota is an alternative approach to improving calf health and performance during rumen development in the pre-weaning period. Chapter 4 examined the effect of a butyrate-enriched milk replacer on animal performance and rumen and hindgut microbiota in dairy calves, showing an association between elevated growth and microbial community composition and fermentation in the hindgut in response to exogenous butyrate. Overall, the data presented in this thesis contribute to our fundamental understanding of rumen microbial composition and molecular development during early life (Chapters 2 & 3) and highlights that enhanced activity of the hindgut microbiota may contribute to early life calf growth (Chapter 4).

# 5.2 Understanding microbial establishment and development in the developing rumen

### 5.2.1 Does mode of delivery influence the rumen and its resident microbes?

At present there is extensive disagreement surrounding the validity of the "in utero colonisation" hypothesis in mammals, whereby the mammalian GIT acquires a microbiota prior to birth (Perez-Muñoz et al., 2017), and the source of the initial microbial inoculum of the rumen is unknown. While there is some evidence of a microbial presence in the bovine uterus (Machado et al., 2012, Santos and Bicalho, 2012), both the foetal environment and GIT were recently shown to be sterile during the third trimester of pregnancy in cattle (Malmuthuge and Griebel, 2018). This indicates that microbial colonisation of the rumen occurs during or after birth. However, in this thesis (Chapter 2), attempts to characterise the pioneer rumen microbiota of new-born calves delivered naturally or via elective caesarean section were unsuccessful, possibly due to low microbial density which rendered our sampling procedure (swabbing of the interior rumen surfaces) insufficient. In order to examine the effect of the birthing process on rumen colonisation in new-borns, it may be necessary to collect the entire rumen compartment as previously reported (Malmuthuge, 2016). Studies in neonates might also be limited by external contamination, as samples cannot be collected under completely sterile conditions. Moreover, commercial reagents used in laboratory analysis are known sources of contamination, which could be magnified in studies of low-density microbial communities (Hilali et al., 1997, Corless et al., 2000). Every reasonable precaution was taken to ensure that no environmental microbiota contaminated our samples, so it may be that microbial colonisation of the rumen only occurs following birth, from maternal or environmental microbial reservoirs. The use of RNA-based approaches may also be preferential, as these will assess only the active (live) microorganisms present.

A recent study in dairy calves reported that while there was a measurable longitudinal effect of delivery process and other maternal factors on the rumen microbiota, this was outweighed by other factors like diet and age (Cunningham et al., 2018), and there was not a major effect of birthing process on the transcriptomic profile of the rumen wall as discussed in Chapter 3. Therefore, it may be beneficial to focus future research efforts toward postnatal colonisation patterns rather than further work concerning in utero colonisation, or exposure to maternal birth canal microbiota.

# 5.2.2 Understanding colonisation and succession among the early rumen microbiota

Identification of the precise "window of opportunity" for early life rumen manipulation, outside of which intervention is ineffective, is currently of great priority (Huws et al., 2018). Most studies to date used rumen fluid sampling from dairy calves, which may not be sufficient to describe the full extent of rumen microbial diversity (Rey et al., 2014, Jami et al., 2013, Cammack et al., 2018). Examining the temporal development of both rumen solid and liquid digesta microbiota during early life in Chapter 2 revealed that establishment patterns of bacteria and archaea was highly similar across rumen fraction after day 7, despite previous reports to the contrary (Sadet et al., 2007, Deusch et al., 2017). This discrepancy may be explained by different methods of fraction separation, and also by the fact that most previous studies were performed in adult ruminants. Nonetheless, based on these findings and another recent study in dairy calves (Dill-McFarland et al., 2018), it may not be necessary to analyse solid- and liquid-phase microbiota separately during early life.

The temporal data showed that the pioneer rumen microbiota settled by day 21, suggesting that for optimum effectiveness, interventions to modify the rumen microbial community must occur prior to this point. In practise, it is likely that to be effective, dietary modification/supplementation should begin as early as possible after birth, as we observed a migration toward a mature-like composition even in the first week of life. Moreover, that a major difference across rumen fractions was only observed on day 7 also indicates that the first week of life might be a critical period for intervention, to take advantage of the more heterogenous microbiota. Future investigations should also record solid feed intakes, as this was a limitation of this study work, given the major influence of diet on rumen microbial composition (Henderson et al., 2015). These data are further limited by the fact that VFA profiles could not be analysed. This should be prioritised in future studies, as it offers insight into changes in microbial function to accompany those found in microbial composition using 16S rRNA sequencing. The microbial succession process evident in Chapter 3, whereby major rumen taxa become established in the first 3 weeks of life, should also be validated using qPCR, as amplicon sequencing is biased by gene copy number variation (Louca et al., 2018). Moreover, samples were only available at three timepoints prior to settlement of the microbiota, so future studies should include more sampling points to clearly define the precise "window of opportunity" for intervention.

It was unavoidably necessary to relocate heifers in replicates 3 and 4 to a second research facility for calving and subsequent calf rearing. We noted a substantial farm effect on the microbial communities of the rumen throughout early life. Both bacterial and archaeal communities were influenced by farm, but the effect of farm on the archaea appeared to outweigh that of age.

Animals raised on F1 harboured high abundances of *Mbb. smithii* throughout early life, and greater abundances of *Mbb. boviskoreani* on days 28 and 96, indicating an evolution of the farm effect with advancing age. These findings are particularly relevant as the methanogens are often the target of efforts to manipulate the rumen microbiota to reduce methane emissions (Abecia et al., 2013). Future experimental manipulation of the rumen microbiota should be replicated at multiple locations, to ensure consistency of effect. These studies should also include methane measurements where possible, to assess if a farm effect on the rumen archaeal composition corresponds to changes in methane production.

It is difficult to define exactly the source of this farm effect. As detailed in Chapter 2, heifers and calves received the same dietary and veterinary care pre- and post-partum and were housed in a similar manner. A farm effect on the rumen microbiota has been reported previously (Weese and Jelinski, 2017, Indugu et al., 2017), but as in the present study, the authors could not point to any significant geographical or management factors which may have underpinned this. One difference which may have contributed to this discrepancy was that calves on F2 were housed in a different building. Previous studies have reported that maternal contact is a significant determinant of microbial composition in the rumen (Cunningham et al., 2018, Fonty et al., 1989, Stewart et al., 1988). Whatever the underlying reason might be, these are, to the best of our knowledge, the first data to show significant differences in rumen colonisation patterns among animals raised on different farms, and these findings must be considered in future attempts at redirection.

#### 5.2.3 Understanding ruminal transcriptomic dynamics during early life

Proper physical maturation of the rumen is critical to the lifetime performance of the animal. The close relationship between the rumen and its resident microbiota indicates the need to study both to fully understand the implications of microbial shifts during early life (Chapter 2) for the host animal. Studies in young bovines to date have mostly used dairy bull calves (Naeem et al., 2014, Jiao et al., 2016). Therefore Chapter 3 examined the molecular mechanisms underpinning ruminal ontogeny during early life in heifer and bull beef calves. There was a major effect of location on the rumen microbiota, but the transcriptome profile was unaffected, indicating that microbial shifts may not necessarily be important to the host, possibly due to the functional redundancy of the microbiota (Weimer, 2015). Furthermore, Chapter 2 showed that diet was a major driver of microbial changes during early life, but this was less evident for the

transcriptome, with limited temporally adjacent changes evident after day 7. Genes and pathways involved in VFA absorption and metabolism increased linearly during early life, probably driven by elevated starter consumption as previously reported (Jiao et al., 2016). However, functions which underpin the morphological development of the rumen (cellular proliferation, apoptosis) did not appear to change until post-weaning, indicating that high levels of solid feed consumption, and/or a greater density of bacterial life (as reported in Chapter 2) might be necessary for significant papillary growth. Calf starter consumption and VFA profiles were not recorded in the present study, which limits analysis of these potentially important factors, and this could be addressed in future studies.

There was a striking upregulation of immune-related genes and processes in the rumen wall following birth, corresponding to microbial colonisation within the first week as discussed in Chapter 2. The role of the rumen in host immunity is poorly understood, but the tolerogenic relationship between the host and microbes is one which could potentially be manipulated for the purposes of microbial programming in rumen (Yanez-Ruiz et al., 2015). Existing knowledge is largely drawn from qPCR studies in small ruminants and dairy calves (Liu et al., 2015, Liu et al., 2013, Malmuthuge et al., 2013, Malmuthuge et al., 2012). This enrichment of host immune processes did not appear to be influenced by diet after the first week, as there was little change in activity of immune-related genes or pathways from day 7 onward. This indicates that hostmicrobial homeostasis in the rumen may be mediated less by salivary Ig and more extensively by host-expressed genes than previously speculated (Fouhse et al., 2017). Taken together, these data point to extensive activity of cellular immune genes and pathways in the rumen tissue during early life and post-weaning. Moreover, previous work has shown that starter consumption might increase rumen permeability (Aschenbach and Gäbel, 2000), but we found TJP gene expression generally remained constant throughout early life, indicating that beef animals may be more resistant to grain-induced ruminal dysfunction. Correlation analysis (not shown) of differentially expressed genes in rumen tissue with the differentially abundant taxa in the digesta did not show any significant associations, indicating that rumen development might be more closely related to microbial function rather than simply microbial composition. It might also be more influenced by the epimural microbiota, which should be assessed in future studies. Finally, the mature rumen comprises four clearly delineated layers (Fig. 1.2), and gene expression varies spatially across these layers. The data in this thesis was derived from transcriptomics of a cross section of the entire rumen wall, and so represent gene expression profiles in all four layers of the rumen epithelium. Devising a method to effectively separate the four rumen epithelial layers, even during early life development, will allow these data to be validated.

#### 5.2.4 Butyrate supplementation modifies hindgut microbiota and fermentation

Gastrointestinal disorders are the leading cause of preweaned calf mortality (USDA, 2010), and are therefore of major economic concern. Conventional antibiotics have traditionally been widely applied to prevent or reduce occurrence of gut infections in young calves (Trevisi et al., 2014). However, concerns surrounding the emergence of antibiotic resistant pathogens and their subsequent transfer to the food chain have led to much interest in the development of natural and synthetic alternatives to promote enhanced gut health during early life. Butyrate is a VFA produced by the gut microbiota, and has shown promise in improving gut health and animal performance in a range of livestock species (Bedford and Gong, 2017). Despite knowledge of the close relationship between gut function and the resident microbiota, there was little data concerning the impact of butyrate supplementation on gut microbial communities. Offering dairy calves a milk replacer enriched with protected butyrate during early life (Chapter 4) tended to improve both growth rates and feed efficiency at weaning. This was accompanied by an increase in VFA concentrations in the colon of supplemented animals, compared to untreated calves, indicating that enhanced hindgut fermentation could contribute to the performance improvements under exogenous butyrate supplementation. Moreover, while butyrate concentration in the hindgut was unchanged by treatment, there was a decrease in the abundance of several native butyrate producing bacteria (e.g. *Butyrivibrio*) in the cecum. This suggests that the microbial community responded to butyrate supplementation by suppressing microbial biosynthesis of this acid. While this is an intriguing finding from a microbiological perspective, it may be a limiting factor for the effectiveness of butyrate as a feed supplement to promote gastrointestinal health. This study was limited in that the calves had undergone a weaning process in the week prior to slaughter, reducing the amount of exogenous butyrate present at sample collection. However, this in itself indicates that feeding organic acids during early life might be a mechanism for persistent change of the gut microbiota. Further studies using metagenomic or metatranscriptomic approaches might offer deeper insight into the mechanisms by which the early life hindgut microbiota respond to exogenous butyrate and contribute to host growth. Moreover, examination of the mucosal microbiota may offer further clues as to the extent to which host-microbial interactions modulate the effect of exogenous dietary butyrate.

### 5.3 Caveats, implications, and future directions

The data presented in this thesis offers more fundamental understanding of early life dynamics of rumen and hindgut microbiota, and molecular control of rumen development. There are several caveats to these studies, which must be noted when considering their application outside of a research setting. High-throughput sequencing efforts are known to be subject to a range of biases, including method of sample collection (Paz et al., 2016), method and duration of sample preservation prior to analysis (Granja-Salcedo et al., 2017), and choice of nucleic acid extraction protocol (Henderson et al., 2013, Villegas-Rivera et al., 2013). Furthermore, a large variety of bioinformatic tools has been developed for the analysis of high-throughput sequencing data in recent years but have not been widely compared for their consistency.

The studies outlined in Chapters 2 and 4 relied on 16S rRNA gene surveys to generate a snapshot of bacterial and archaeal populations in the rumen and hindgut. While rapid and costeffective, amplicon sequencing is not quantitative, and offers limited resolution beyond the genus level, particularly for bacteria. Primer biases inherent to amplicon sequencing were discussed in Chapter 1. The studies outlined in both Chapters 2 and 4 used a primer set which targeted the V4 hypervariable region of the 16S rRNA gene (515F/806R). This primer pair was originally chosen as it allows for simultaneous investigation of both bacterial and archaeal communities using a single amplicon (Caporasso et al., 2011), and a modified version is recommended by the Earth Microbiome Project (www.earthmicrobiome.org/). However, previous studies have shown that combined amplification of archaeal and bacterial 16S rRNA domains may not be accurate, and there are concerns that V4 amplification is biased against the Methanobrevibacter gottshalkii clade (Klindworth et al., 2013, Fischer et al., 2016, Zhou, M., personal communication). Therefore, for the study detailed in Chapter 2, we selected a second primer pair (915aF/1386R) to amplify the V6-V8 region of the archaeal 16S rRNA gene, previously reported as the region of choice to study the rumen archaea (Snelling et al., 2014). For the analysis described in Chapter 4, the combined (515F/806R) primer was retained for co-analysis of the bacteria and archaea, and so this may have biased our findings. It is advisable that to avoid this, future studies should amplify bacterial and archaeal 16S rRNA gene fragments separately.

We must also consider that amplicon sequencing does not offer the opportunity to robustly assess microbial function within an ecosystem. While tools like CowPi (Wilkinson et al., 2018), PICRUSt (Langille et al., 2013), and Tax4Fun (Abhauer et al., 2015) allow predicted function to be inferred from amplicon sequencing data, these are extrapolated from the compositional profile and so are subject to the same biases described above and in Chapter 1. Metatranscriptomics has recently been applied in the rumen to verify the existence of a relationship between the active rumen microbiota and feed efficiency (Li and Guan, 2017). A similar survey of the early rumen microbiota would offer a more comprehensive picture of microbial composition and function during early life, its contribution to rumen development, and serve to verify our findings. This would also allow for concurrent investigation of the rumen eukaryotes (i.e. fungi and protozoa) that play important roles in fibre degradation, but which were not assessed in this thesis. Moreover, such an approach could elucidate if compositional variation due to farm environment or diet is replicated in the functional profile, which may be a more favourable way to assess changes in the rumen microbial environment moving forward.

This range of potential sources of variation in studies of the ruminant gut microbiome suggests that there is an urgent need for comprehensive discussion between research groups internationally to standardise all protocols, from sample collection and storage through to laboratory processing, sequencing, and data analysis. Steps have been taken in this regard in recent years with the formation of international research consortiums like Ruminomics (http://www.ruminomics.eu/) and the Rumen Microbial Genomics Network (http://www.rmgnetwork.org/). Further expansion of these forums will allow for reliable comparisons of published literature, but in the meantime, scientists should remain reticent of these potential biases when comparing results obtained across different studies.

In a larger context, there is perhaps an overreliance currently on reporting associative interactions between host phenotypes and taxonomy of the rumen microbial community (e.g. feed efficiency (Ellison et al., 2017, Carberry et al., 2012, McGovern et al., 2018), though this is not limited only to studies of the rumen microbes. Such studies (including those presented in this thesis) typically produce a list of "biomarker" taxa, associated with a particular diet/age/disease state etc., but often without any clear biological relevance to the study at hand (Surana & Kasper, 2017). With such an approach, it cannot be concluded if microbial changes are a driver or a product of phenotypic variation. There is scant evidence of any robust cause-effect relationships between the microbiome and host phenotype in ruminants, and for all the recent advances in our knowledge of the rumen microbiome, including during early life, much remains unknown. For instance, the "million-dollar question" is unanswered: what is the "ideal" rumen microbiome? Can it be determined if one exists? And if so, can the microbial colonisation patterns of a young animal be modulated effectively enough to ensure the desired community becomes established? The vast functional redundancy among the microorganisms makes it unlikely that the removal of a small number of bacterial groups from the rumen would have any lasting impact on community function or host metabolism (Weimer, 2015). Conversely, in order to seed a more favourable microbiota, functional niches for these microbial groups to occupy would need to be available, so measuring the effectiveness of manipulation via functional changes rather than taxonomic

changes is preferable. Early life manipulation is a promising strategy to improve host production, but much remains to be discovered in this regard. A shift in thinking from associative to causal relationships between the microbe and host traits will likely be required for the field of "Rumen-Omics" to contribute significantly to enhanced production strategies. A limited number of recent studies have proposed a degree of host genetic control over the rumen microbiota (Sasson et al., 2017, Roehe et al., 2016), but it is unknown if host genetics might influence colonisation patterns during early life. If strongly defined heritable relationships between the host and the early microbiome can be fully elucidated, it might be possible to target the host (e.g. via genetic selection) to improve the microbiome, rather than vice versa, as is the current practise. It is likely that multi-omic frameworks incorporating a several datasets may be necessary to fully elucidate causal relationships between host and microbe in the ruminant gut, and future studies of the developing rumen microbiota should also include other omics data (e.g. host genotype, metabolomics etc.) in their analysis where possible, to define such relationships.

In summary, and despite the limitations described above, this thesis contributes fundamental knowledge concerning early life dynamics of the rumen and hindgut microbiota, as well as the molecular mechanisms underpinning rumen development in young calves. The data discussed in Chapter 2 indicates that the optimum timeframe for early life manipulation occurs within the first three weeks of life, and that the first week of life could be key. This is the first study to show that the early life rumen microbiota might be significantly influenced by local environment, a finding which warrants urgent validation. Lack of reproducibility due to a farm effect could be a significant limiting factor in efforts to module the rumen microbiota in largescale beef or dairy operations. Chapter 3 shows that the rumen transcriptome evolves with age, but to a lesser degree than the microbiota. There was no measurable impact of farm at the transcriptomic level, indicating that it might be somewhat more resilient to external pressures than the microbiota. The substantial enrichment of immune-related functions following birth has not been reported previously, to our knowledge, and building on this knowledge might offer a mechanism to selectively inhibit certain microbial groups from becoming established. The microbial signature associated with exogenous butyrate supplementation in Chapter 4 indicates that the hindgut microbiota may also be a promising target to improve animal performance during the milk-feeding period. These microbial data require validation at the RNA level, and/or quantitative analysis using qPCR. The transcriptomic data should be verified using proteomic analysis, as mRNA expression does not necessarily reflect protein production. Nonetheless, the studies detailed in this thesis provide further understanding of the co-evolution of the rumen and its resident microbiota during the first weeks of life, and indicate that manipulation of the hindgut

microbiota might offer further possibilities to improve animal performance via early life management.

## 5.4 Literature Cited

- ABECIA, L., JIMENEZ, E., MARTINEZ-FERNANDEZ, G., MARTIN-GARCIA, A. I., RAMOS-MORALES, E., PINLOCHE, E., DENMAN, S. E., NEWBOLD, C. J. & YANEZ-RUIZ, D. R. 2017. Natural and artificial feeding management before weaning promote different rumen microbial colonization but not differences in gene expression levels at the rumen epithelium of new-born goats. 12, e0182235.
- ABECIA, L., MARTÍN-GARCÍA, A. I., MARTÍNEZ, G., NEWBOLD, C. J. & YÁÑEZ-RUIZ, D. R. 2013. Nutritional intervention in early life to manipulate rumen microbial colonization and methane output by kid goats postweaning1. *Journal of Animal Science*, 91, 4832-4840.
- ABECIA, L., WADDAMS, K. E., MARTINEZ-FERNANDEZ, G., MARTIN-GARCIA, A. I., RAMOS-MORALES, E., NEWBOLD, C. J. & YANEZ-RUIZ, D. R. 2014. An antimethanogenic nutritional intervention in early life of ruminants modifies ruminal colonization by Archaea. *Archaea*, 2014, 841463.
- ASCHENBACH, J. R. & GÄBEL, G. 2000. Effect and absorption of histamine in sheep rumen: significance of acidotic epithelial damage1. *Journal of Animal Science*, 78, 464-470.
- ASSHAUER, K. P., WEMHEUER, B., DANIEL, R. & MEINICKE, P. 2015. Tax4Fun: predicting functional profiles from metagenomic 16S rRNA data. *Bioinformatics*, 31, 2882-4.
- BEDFORD, A. & GONG, J. 2017. Implications of butyrate and its derivatives for gut health and animal production. *Animal Nutrition*.
- CAMMACK, K. M., AUSTIN, K. J., LAMBERSON, W. R., CONANT, G. C. & CUNNINGHAM, H. C. 2018. Tiny but mighty: The role of the rumen microbes in livestock production. *J Anim Sci.*
- CARBERRY, C. A., KENNY, D. A., HAN, S., MCCABE, M. S. & WATERS, S. M. 2012. Effect of phenotypic residual feed intake and dietary forage content on the rumen microbial community of beef cattle. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 78, 4949-58.
- CASTRO, J. J., GOMEZ, A., WHITE, B., LOFTEN, J. R. & DRACKLEY, J. K. 2016. Changes in the intestinal bacterial community, short-chain fatty acid profile, and intestinal development of preweaned Holstein calves. 2. Effects of gastrointestinal site and age. *J Dairy Sci*, 99, 9703-9715.
- CORLESS, C. E., GUIVER, M., BORROW, R., EDWARDS-JONES, V., KACZMARKSKI, E. B., FOX, A. J. 2000. Contamination and sensitivity issues with a real-time universal 16S rRNA PcR. *J Clin Microbiol. 38*(5):1747-52.
- CUNNINGHAM, H. C., AUSTIN, K. J. & CAMMACK, K. M. 2018. Influence of maternal factors on the rumen microbiome and subsequent host performance1. *Translational Animal Science*, 2, S101-S105.
- DEUSCH, S., CAMARINHA-SILVA, A., CONRAD, J., BEIFUSS, U., RODEHUTSCORD, M. & SEIFERT, J. 2017. A Structural and Functional Elucidation of the Rumen Microbiome Influenced by Various Diets and Microenvironments. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 8, 1605.
- DILL-MCFARLAND, K. A., WEIMER, P. J., BREAKER, J. D. & SUEN, G. 2018. Diet influences early microbiota development in dairy calves without long-term impacts on milk production. *bioRxiv*.
- ELLISON, M. J., CONANT, G. C., LAMBERSON, W. R., COCKRUM, R. R., AUSTIN, K. J., RULE, D. C. & CAMMACK, K. M. 2017. Diet and feed efficiency status affect rumen microbial profiles of sheep. *Small Ruminant Research*, 156, 12-19.

- FISCHER, M. A., GÜLLERT, S., NEULINGER, S. C., STREIT, W. R. & SCHMITZ, R. A. 2016. Evaluation of 16S rRNA Gene Primer Pairs for Monitoring Microbial Community Structures Showed High Reproducibility within and Low Comparability between Datasets Generated with Multiple Archaeal and Bacterial Primer Pairs. *Frontiers in microbiology*, 7, 1297-1297.
- FONTY, G., GOUET, P. & NEBOUT, J. M. 1989. Development of the cellulolytic microflora in the rumen of lambs transferred into sterile isolators a few days after birth. *Can J Microbiol*, 35, 416-22.
- GRANJA-SALCEDO, Y. T., RAMIREZ-USCATEGUI, R. A., MACHADO, E. G., DUARTE MESSANA, J., TAKESHI KISHI, L., LINO DIAS, A. V. & BERCHIELLI, T. T. 2017. Studies on bacterial community composition are affected by the time and storage method of the rumen content. *PLOS ONE*, 12, e0176701.
- GUAN, L. L., NKRUMAH, J. D., BASARAB, J. A. & MOORE, S. S. 2008. Linkage of microbial ecology to phenotype: correlation of rumen microbial ecology to cattle's feed efficiency. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, 288, 85-91.
- HENDERSON, G., COX, F., KITTELMANN, S., MIRI, V. H., ZETHOF, M., NOEL, S. J., WAGHORN, G. C. & JANSSEN, P. H. 2013. Effect of DNA extraction methods and sampling techniques on the apparent structure of cow and sheep rumen microbial communities. *PLoS One*, 8, e74787.
- HILALI, F., SAULNIER, P., CHACHATY, E., ANDREMONT, A. 1997. Decontamination of polymerase chain reaction reagents for detection of low concentrations of 16S rRNA genes. *Mol Biotechnol.* 7(3):207-16. PubMed PMID: 9219235
- JAMI, E., ISRAEL, A., KOTSER, A. & MIZRAHI, I. 2013. Exploring the bovine rumen bacterial community from birth to adulthood. *Isme j*, 7, 1069-79.
- KLINDWORTH, A., PRUESSE, E., SCHWEER, T., PEPLIES, J., QUAST, C., HORN, M. & GLÖCKNER, F. O. 2013. Evaluation of general 16S ribosomal RNA gene PCR primers for classical and next-generation sequencing-based diversity studies. *Nucleic acids research*, 41, e1-e1.
- LI, F. & GUAN, L. L. 2017. Metatranscriptomic Profiling Reveals Linkages between the Active Rumen Microbiome and Feed Efficiency in Beef Cattle. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 83.
- LIU, J.-H., BIAN, G.-R., ZHU, W.-Y. & MAO, S.-Y. 2015. High-grain feeding causes strong shifts in ruminal epithelial bacterial community and expression of Toll-like receptor genes in goats. *Frontiers in microbiology*, 6, 167-167.
- LIU, J.-H., XU, T.-T., LIU, Y.-J., ZHU, W.-Y. & MAO, S.-Y. 2013. A high-grain diet causes massive disruption of ruminal epithelial tight junctions in goats. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 305, R232-R241.
- LOUCA, S., DOEBELI, M. & PARFREY, L. W. 2018. Correcting for 16S rRNA gene copy numbers in microbiome surveys remains an unsolved problem. *Microbiome*, 6, 41.
- MACHADO, V. S., OIKONOMOU, G., BICALHO, M. L. S., KNAUER, W. A., GILBERT, R. & BICALHO, R. C. 2012. Investigation of postpartum dairy cows' uterine microbial diversity using metagenomic pyrosequencing of the 16S rRNA gene. *Veterinary Microbiology*, 159, 460-469.
- MALMUTHUGE, N. 2016. *Role of Commensal Microbiota in Neonatal Calf Development*. PhD, University of Alberta.
- MALMUTHUGE, N. & GRIEBEL, P. J. 2018. Fetal environment and fetal intestine are sterile during the third trimester of pregnancy. *Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology*, 204, 59-64.
- MALMUTHUGE, N., GRIEBEL, P. J. & GUAN LE, L. 2015. The Gut Microbiome and Its Potential Role in the Development and Function of New-born Calf Gastrointestinal Tract. *Front Vet Sci*, 2, 36.

- MALMUTHUGE, N. & GUAN, L. L. 2017. Understanding host-microbial interactions in rumen: searching the best opportunity for microbiota manipulation. *J Anim Sci Biotechnol*, 8, 8.
- MALMUTHUGE, N., LI, M., FRIES, P., GRIEBEL, P. J. & GUAN, L. L. 2012. Regional and age dependent changes in gene expression of Toll-like receptors and key antimicrobial defence molecules throughout the gastrointestinal tract of dairy calves. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol*, 146, 18-26.
- MALMUTHUGE, N., LI, M., GOONEWARDENE, L. A., OBA, M. & GUAN, L. L. 2013. Effect of calf starter feeding on gut microbial diversity and expression of genes involved in host immune responses and tight junctions in dairy calves during weaning transition. *J Dairy Sci*, 96, 3189-200.
- MARTIN, C., MORGAVI, D. P. & DOREAU, M. 2010. Methane mitigation in ruminants: from microbe to the farm scale. *Animal*, 4, 351-65.
- MCGOVERN, E., KENNY, D. A., MCCABE, M. S., FITZSIMONS, C., MCGEE, M., KELLY, A. K. & WATERS, S. M. 2018. 16S rRNA Sequencing Reveals Relationship Between Potent Cellulolytic Genera and Feed Efficiency in the Rumen of Bulls. *Frontiers in microbiology*, 9, 1842-1842.
- PAZ, H. A., ANDERSON, C. L., MULLER, M. J., KONONOFF, P. J. & FERNANDO, S. C. 2016. Rumen Bacterial Community Composition in Holstein and Jersey Cows Is Different under Same Dietary Condition and Is Not Affected by Sampling Method. *Front Microbiol*, 7, 1206.
- PEREZ-MUÑOZ, M. E., ARRIETA, M.-C., RAMER-TAIT, A. E. & WALTER, J. 2017. A critical assessment of the "sterile womb" and "in utero colonization" hypotheses: implications for research on the pioneer infant microbiome. *Microbiome*, *5*, 48.
- REY, M., ENJALBERT, F., COMBES, S., CAUQUIL, L., BOUCHEZ, O. & MONTEILS, V. 2014. Establishment of ruminal bacterial community in dairy calves from birth to weaning is sequential. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 116, 245-257.
- ROEHE, R., DEWHURST, R. J., DUTHIE, C. A., ROOKE, J. A., MCKAIN, N., ROSS, D. W., HYSLOP, J. J., WATERHOUSE, A., FREEMAN, T. C., WATSON, M. & WALLACE, R. J. 2016. Bovine Host Genetic Variation Influences Rumen Microbial Methane Production with Best Selection Criterion for Low Methane Emitting and Efficiently Feed Converting Hosts Based on Metagenomic Gene Abundance. *PLoS Genet*, 12, e1005846.
- SADET, S., MARTIN, C., MEUNIER, B. & MORGAVI, D. P. 2007. PCR-DGGE analysis reveals a distinct diversity in the bacterial population attached to the rumen epithelium. *Animal*, 1, 939-44.
- SANTOS, T. M. A. & BICALHO, R. C. 2012. Diversity and Succession of Bacterial Communities in the Uterine Fluid of Postpartum Metritic, Endometritic and Healthy Dairy Cows. *PLOS ONE*, 7, e53048.
- SASSON, G., KRUGER BEN-SHABAT, S., SEROUSSI, E., DORON-FAIGENBOIM, A., SHTERZER, N., YAACOBY, S., BERG MILLER, M. E., WHITE, B. A., HALPERIN, E. & MIZRAHI, I. 2017. Heritable Bovine Rumen Bacteria Are Phylogenetically Related and Correlated with the Cow's Capacity To Harvest Energy from Its Feed. *mBio*, 8.
- SHABAT, S. K. B., SASSON, G., DORON-FAIGENBOIM, A., DURMAN, T., YAACOBY, S., BERG MILLER, M. E., WHITE, B. A., SHTERZER, N. & MIZRAHI, I. 2016. Specific microbiomedependent mechanisms underlie the energy harvest efficiency of ruminants. *The ISME journal*, 10, 2958-2972.
- SURANA, N. K., KASPER, D. L. 2017. Moving beyond microbiome-wide associations to causal microbe identification. Nature. 2017 Dec 14;552(7684):244-247. doi: 10.1038/nature25019. Epub 2017 Dec 6.
- SONG, Y., MALMUTHUGE, N., STEELE, M. A. & GUAN, L. L. 2018. Shift of hindgut microbiota and microbial short chain fatty acids profiles in dairy calves from birth to pre-weaning. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, 94, fix179-fix179.

- STEWART, C. S., FONTY, G. & GOUET, P. 1988. The establishment of rumen microbial communities. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, 21, 69-97.
- TREVISI, E., ZECCONI, A., COGROSSI, S., RAZZUOLI, E., GROSSI, P., AMADORI, M. 2014. Strategies for reduced antibiotic usage in dairy cattle farms. *Res. Vet. Sci.* 96;2, 229-233.
- VILLEGAS-RIVERA, G., VARGAS-CABRERA, Y., GONZALEZ-SILVA, N., AGUILERA-GARCIA, F., GUTIERREZ-VAZQUEZ, E., BRAVO-PATINO, A., CAJERO-JUAREZ, M., BAIZABAL-AGUIRRE, V. M. & VALDEZ-ALARCON, J. J. 2013. Evaluation of DNA extraction methods of rumen microbial populations. *World J Microbiol Biotechnol*, 29, 301-7.
- WEIMER, P. J. 2015. Redundancy, resilience, and host specificity of the ruminal microbiota: implications for engineering improved ruminal fermentations. *Front Microbiol*, 6, 296.
- WILKINSON, T. J., HUWS, S. A., EDWARDS, J. E., KINGSTON-SMITH, A. H., SIU-TING, K., HUGHES, M., RUBINO, F., FRIEDERSDORFF, M. & CREEVEY, C. J. 2018. CowPI: A Rumen Microbiome Focussed Version of the PICRUSt Functional Inference Software. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 9.
- YANEZ-RUIZ, D. R., ABECIA, L. & NEWBOLD, C. J. 2015. Manipulating rumen microbiome and fermentation through interventions during early life: a review. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 6.

## **Bibliography**

- AAGAARD, K., MA, J., ANTONY, K. M., GANU, R., PETROSINO, J. & VERSALOVIC, J. 2014. The placenta harbors a unique microbiome. *Sci Transl Med*, 6, 237ra65.
- ABE, M., IRIKI, T., TOBE, N. & SHIBUI, H. 1981. Sequestration of Holotrich Protozoa in the Reticulo-Rumen of Cattle.
- ABECIA, L., JIMENEZ, E., MARTINEZ-FERNANDEZ, G., MARTIN-GARCIA, A. I., RAMOS-MORALES, E., PINLOCHE, E., DENMAN, S. E., NEWBOLD, C. J. & YANEZ-RUIZ, D. R. 2017. Natural and artificial feeding management before weaning promote different rumen microbial colonization but not differences in gene expression levels at the rumen epithelium of new-born goats. 12, e0182235.
- ABECIA, L., MARTÍN-GARCÍA, A. I., MARTÍNEZ, G., NEWBOLD, C. J. & YÁÑEZ-RUIZ, D. R. 2013. Nutritional intervention in early life to manipulate rumen microbial colonization and methane output by kid goats postweaning1. *Journal of Animal Science*, 91, 4832-4840.
- ABECIA, L., WADDAMS, K. E., MARTINEZ-FERNANDEZ, G., MARTIN-GARCIA, A. I., RAMOS-MORALES, E., NEWBOLD, C. J. & YANEZ-RUIZ, D. R. 2014b. An antimethanogenic nutritional intervention in early life of ruminants modifies ruminal colonization by Archaea. *Archaea*, 2014, 841463.
- ALEMU, A. W., VYAS, D., MANAFIAZAR, G., BASARAB, J. A. & BEAUCHEMIN, K. A. 2017. Enteric methane emissions from low– and high–residual feed intake beef heifers measured using GreenFeed and respiration chamber techniques12. *Journal of Animal Science*, 95, 3727-3737.
- ALTSCHUL, S. F., GISH, W., MILLER, W., MYERS, E. W. & LIPMAN, D. J. 1990. Basic local alignment search tool. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, 215, 403-410.
- ANDERSON, K. L., NAGARAJA, T. G., MORRILL, J. L., AVERY, T. B., GALITZER, S. J. & BOYER, J. E. 1987. Ruminal microbial development in conventionally or early-weaned calves. J Anim Sci, 64, 1215-26.
- ANDERSON, M. J. 2001. A new method for non-parametric multivariate analysis of variance. *Austral Ecology*, 26, 32-46.
- ARNOLD, J. W., ROACH, J. & AZCARATE-PERIL, M. A. 2016. Emerging Technologies for Gut Microbiome Research. *Trends Microbiol*, 24, 887-901.
- ARRIETA, M.-C., STIEMSMA, L. T., AMENYOGBE, N., BROWN, E. M. & FINLAY, B. 2014. The Intestinal Microbiome in Early Life: Health and Disease. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 5.
- ASCHENBACH, J. R., KRISTENSEN, N. B., DONKIN, S. S., HAMMON, H. M. & PENNER, G. B. 2010. Gluconeogenesis in dairy cows: the secret of making sweet milk from sour dough. *IUBMB Life*, 62, 869-77.
- ASCHENBACH, J. R., PENNER, G. B., STUMPFF, F. & GABEL, G. 2011. Ruminant Nutrition Symposium: Role of fermentation acid absorption in the regulation of ruminal pH. *J Anim Sci*, 89, 1092-107.
- ASSHAUER, K. P., WEMHEUER, B., DANIEL, R. & MEINICKE, P. 2015. Tax4Fun: predicting functional profiles from metagenomic 16S rRNA data. *Bioinformatics*, 31, 2882-4.
- BACH, A., TERRÉ, M. & PINTO, A. 2013. Performance and health responses of dairy calves offered different milk replacer allowances. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 96, 7790-7797.
- BALDWIN, R. L. T. & CONNOR, E. E. 2017. Rumen Function and Development. *Vet Clin North Am Food Anim Pract*, 33, 427-439.
- BALDWIN, R. L. V., MCLEOD, K. R., KLOTZ, J. L. & HEITMANN, R. N. 2004. Rumen Development, Intestinal Growth and Hepatic Metabolism In The Pre- and Postweaning Ruminant. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 87, E55-E65.
- BASARAB, J. A., BEAUCHEMIN, K. A., BARON, V. S., OMINSKI, K. H., GUAN, L. L., MILLER, S. P. & CROWLEY, J. J. 2013. Reducing GHG emissions through genetic improvement for

feed efficiency: effects on economically important traits and enteric methane production. *animal*, 7, 303-315.

- BEDFORD, A. & GONG, J. 2017. Implications of butyrate and its derivatives for gut health and animal production. *Animal Nutrition*.
- BELANCHE, A., DE LA FUENTE, G., PINLOCHE, E., NEWBOLD, C. J. & BALCELLS, J. 2012. Effect of diet and absence of protozoa on the rumen microbial community and on the representativeness of bacterial fractions used in the determination of microbial protein synthesis. *Journal of Animal Science*, 90, 3924-3936.
- BENJAMINI, Y. & HOCHBERG, Y. 1995. Controlling the False Discovery Rate: A Practical and Powerful Approach to Multiple Testing. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society. Series B* (*Methodological*), 57, 289-300.
- BERDING, K., WANG, M., MONACO, M. H., ALEXANDER, L. S., MUDD, A. T., CHICHLOWSKI, M., WAWORUNTU, R. V., BERG, B. M., MILLER, M. J., DILGER, R. N. & DONOVAN, S. M. 2016. Prebiotics and Bioactive Milk Fractions Affect Gut Development, Microbiota, and Neurotransmitter Expression in Piglets. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr, 63, 688-697.
- BERG MILLER, M. E., YEOMAN, C. J., CHIA, N., TRINGE, S. G., ANGLY, F. E., EDWARDS, R. A., FLINT, H. J., LAMED, R., BAYER, E. A. & WHITE, B. A. 2012. Phage-bacteria relationships and CRISPR elements revealed by a metagenomic survey of the rumen microbiome. *Environmental Microbiology*, 14, 207-227.
- BERGMAN, E. N. 1990. Energy contributions of volatile fatty acids from the gastrointestinal tract in various species. *Physiol Rev*, 70, 567-90.
- BERRY, D. P. & CROWLEY, J. J. 2013. CELL BIOLOGY SYMPOSIUM: Genetics of feed efficiency in dairy and beef cattle1. *Journal of Animal Science*, 91, 1594-1613.
- BICKERSTAFFE, D., NOAKES, D. E. & ANNISON, E. F. 1972. Quantitative aspects of fatty acid biohydrogenation, absorption and transfer into milk fat in the lactating goat, with special reference to the cis- and trans-isomers of octadecenoate and linoleate. *Biochem J*, 130.
- BLACK, J. & SHARKEY, M. 1970. RETICULAR GROOVE (SULCUS RETICULI) : AN OBLIGATORY ADAPTATION IN RUMINANT-LIKE HERBIVORES? *Mammalia*.
- BOUCHET, V., HUOT, H. & GOLDSTEIN, R. 2008. Molecular Genetic Basis of Ribotyping. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, 21, 262-273.
- BOURRIAUD, C., ROBINS, R. J., MARTIN, L., KOZLOWSKI, F., TENAILLEAU, E., CHERBUT, C. & MICHEL, C. 2005. Lactate is mainly fermented to butyrate by human intestinal microfloras but inter-individual variation is evident. *J Appl Microbiol*, 99, 201-12.
- BROWNLEE, A. 1956. The Development of Rumen Papillæ in Cattle Fed on Different Diets. British Veterinary Journal, 112, 369-375.
- BRULC, J. M., ANTONOPOULOS, D. A., BERG MILLER, M. E., WILSON, M. K., YANNARELL,
  A. C., DINSDALE, E. A., EDWARDS, R. E., FRANK, E. D., EMERSON, J. B., WACKLIN,
  P., COUTINHO, P. M., HENRISSAT, B., NELSON, K. E. & WHITE, B. A. 2009. Genecentric metagenomics of the fiber-adherent bovine rumen microbiome reveals forage specific glycoside hydrolases. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 106, 1948-1953.
- BRULC, J. M., YEOMAN, C. J., WILSON, M. K., BERG MILLER, M. E., JERALDO, P., JINDOU, S., GOLDENFELD, N., FLINT, H. J., LAMED, R., BOROVOK, I., VODOVNIK, M., NELSON, K. E., BAYER, E. A. & WHITE, B. A. 2011. Cellulosomics, a Gene-Centric Approach to Investigating the Intraspecific Diversity and Adaptation of Ruminococcus flavefaciens within the Rumen. *PLOS ONE*, 6, e25329.
- BUSHNELL, B. 2015. BBtools. (no. LBNL-7065E).
- CAMMACK, K. M., AUSTIN, K. J., LAMBERSON, W. R., CONANT, G. C. & CUNNINGHAM, H. C. 2018. Tiny but mighty: The role of the rumen microbes in livestock production. *J Anim Sci.*

- CAPORASO, J. G., KUCZYNSKI, J., STOMBAUGH, J., BITTINGER, K., BUSHMAN, F. D., COSTELLO, E. K., FIERER, N., PENA, A. G., GOODRICH, J. K., GORDON, J. I., HUTTLEY, G. A., KELLEY, S. T., KNIGHTS, D., KOENIG, J. E., LEY, R. E., LOZUPONE, C. A., MCDONALD, D., MUEGGE, B. D., PIRRUNG, M., REEDER, J., SEVINSKY, J. R., TURNBAUGH, P. J., WALTERS, W. A., WIDMANN, J., YATSUNENKO, T., ZANEVELD, J. & KNIGHT, R. 2010. QIIME allows analysis of high-throughput community sequencing data. Nat Methods, 7, 335-6.
- CAPORASO, J. G., LAUBER, C. L., WALTERS, W. A., BERG-LYONS, D., LOZUPONE, C. A., TURNBAUGH, P. J., FIERER, N. & KNIGHT, R. 2011. Global patterns of 16S rRNA diversity at a depth of millions of sequences per sample. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 108 Suppl 1, 4516-22.
- CARBERRY, C. A., KENNY, D. A., HAN, S., MCCABE, M. S. & WATERS, S. M. 2012. Effect of phenotypic residual feed intake and dietary forage content on the rumen microbial community of beef cattle. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 78, 4949-58.
- CARBERRY, C. A., KENNY, D. A., KELLY, A. K. & WATERS, S. M. 2014a. Quantitative analysis of ruminal methanogenic microbial populations in beef cattle divergent in phenotypic residual feed intake (RFI) offered contrasting diets. *J Anim Sci Biotechnol*, 5, 41.
- CARBERRY, C. A., WATERS, S. M., KENNY, D. A. & CREEVEY, C. J. 2014b. Rumen methanogenic genotypes differ in abundance according to host residual feed intake phenotype and diet type. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 80, 586-94.
- CASTRO-CARRERA, T., TORAL, P. G., FRUTOS, P., MCEWAN, N. R., HERVAS, G., ABECIA, L., PINLOCHE, E., GIRDWOOD, S. E. & BELENGUER, A. 2014. Rumen bacterial community evaluated by 454 pyrosequencing and terminal restriction fragment length polymorphism analyses in dairy sheep fed marine algae. *J Dairy Sci*, 97, 1661-9.
- CASTRO, J. J., GOMEZ, A., WHITE, B., LOFTEN, J. R. & DRACKLEY, J. K. 2016. Changes in the intestinal bacterial community, short-chain fatty acid profile, and intestinal development of preweaned Holstein calves. 2. Effects of gastrointestinal site and age. *J Dairy Sci*, 99, 9703-9715.
- CHABAN, B. & HILL, J. E. 2012. A 'universal' type II chaperonin PCR detection system for the investigation of Archaea in complex microbial communities. *Isme j*, 6, 430-9.
- CHAKRAVORTY, S., HELB, D., BURDAY, M., CONNELL, N. & ALLAND, D. 2007. A detailed analysis of 16S ribosomal RNA gene segments for the diagnosis of pathogenic bacteria. *J Microbiol Methods*, 69, 330-9.
- CHAUCHEYRAS-DURAND, F. & FONTY, G. 2002. Influence of a Probiotic Yeast ( Saccharomyces cerevisiae CNCM I-1077) on Microbial Colonization and Fermentations in the Rumen of New-born Lambs. *Microbial Ecology in Health and Disease*, 14, 30-36.
- CHAUCHEYRAS-DURAND, F. & OSSA, F. 2014. Review: The rumen microbiome: Composition, abundance, diversity, and new investigative tools. *The Professional Animal Scientist*, 30, 1-12.
- CHEN, W., LIU, F., LING, Z., TONG, X. & XIANG, C. 2012. Human Intestinal Lumen and Mucosa-Associated Microbiota in Patients with Colorectal Cancer. *PLOS ONE*, 7, e39743.
- CHENG, K. J., MCCOWAN, R. P. & COSTERTON, J. W. 1979. Adherent epithelial bacteria in ruminants and their roles in digestive tract function. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 32, 139-48.
- CHO, C. E. & NORMAN, M. 2013. Cesarean section and development of the immune system in the offspring. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 208, 249-254.
- CHOUDHURY, P. K., SALEM, A. Z. M., JENA, R., KUMAR, S., SINGH, R. & PUNIYA, A. K. 2015. Rumen Microbiology: An Overview. *In:* PUNIYA, A. K., SINGH, R. & KAMRA, D. N. (eds.) *Rumen Microbiology: From Evolution to Revolution.* New Delhi: Springer India.
- COLEMAN, G. S. 1975. The interrelationship between rumen ciliate protozoa and bacteria. *Digestion and Metabolism in the Ruminant*, 149 - 164.

- COMTET-MARRE, S., PARISOT, N., LEPERCQ, P., CHAUCHEYRAS-DURAND, F., MOSONI, P., PEYRETAILLADE, E., BAYAT, A. R., SHINGFIELD, K. J., PEYRET, P. & FORANO, E. 2017. Metatranscriptomics Reveals the Active Bacterial and Eukaryotic Fibrolytic Communities in the Rumen of Dairy Cow Fed a Mixed Diet. *Front Microbiol*, 8, 67.
- CONNOR, E. E., BALDWIN, R. L. T., LI, C. J., LI, R. W. & CHUNG, H. 2013. Gene expression in bovine rumen epithelium during weaning identifies molecular regulators of rumen development and growth. *Funct Integr Genomics*, 13, 133-42.
- CONNOR, E. E., LI, R. W., BALDWIN, R. L. & LI, C. 2010. Gene expression in the digestive tissues of ruminants and their relationships with feeding and digestive processes. *Animal*, 4, 993-1007.
- CORLESS, C. E., GUIVER, M., BORROW, R., EDWARDS-JONES, V., KACZMARKSKI, E. B., FOX, A. J. 2000. Contamination and sensitivity issues with a real-time universal 16S rRNA PcR. *J Clin Microbiol. 3*8(5):1747-52.
- CREEVEY, C. J., KELLY, W. J., HENDERSON, G. & LEAHY, S. C. 2014. Determining the culturability of the rumen bacterial microbiome. *Microb Biotechnol*, 7, 467-79.
- CUNNINGHAM, H. C., AUSTIN, K. J. & CAMMACK, K. M. 2018. Influence of maternal factors on the rumen microbiome and subsequent host performance1. *Translational Animal Science*, 2, S101-S105.
- CZERWINSKI, J., HOJBERG, O., SMULIKOWSKA, S., ENGBERG, R. M. & MIECZKOWSKA, A. 2012. Effects of sodium butyrate and salinomycin upon intestinal microbiota, mucosal morphology and performance of broiler chickens. *Arch Anim Nutr*, 66, 102-16.
- DANIELSSON, R., DICKSVED, J., SUN, L., GONDA, H., MÜLLER, B., SCHNÜRER, A. & BERTILSSON, J. 2017. Methane Production in Dairy Cows Correlates with Rumen Methanogenic and Bacterial Community Structure. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 8, 226.
- DANIELSSON, R., SCHNURER, A., ARTHURSON, V. & BERTILSSON, J. 2012. Methanogenic population and CH(4) production in swedish dairy cows fed different levels of forage. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 78, 6172-9.
- DE MENEZES, A. B., LEWIS, E., O'DONOVAN, M., O'NEILL, B. F., CLIPSON, N. & DOYLE, E. M. 2011. Microbiome analysis of dairy cows fed pasture or total mixed ration diets. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol*, 78, 256-65.
- DEHORITY, B. A. 1973. Hemicellulose degradation by rumen bacteria. Fed Proc, 32, 1819-25.
- DEHORITY, B. A. B. A. 2003. Rumen microbiology.
- DEN BESTEN, G., VAN EUNEN, K., GROEN, A. K., VENEMA, K., REIJNGOUD, D.-J. & BAKKER, B. M. 2013. The role of short-chain fatty acids in the interplay between diet, gut microbiota, and host energy metabolism. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 54, 2325-2340.
- DENMAN, S. E. & MCSWEENEY, C. S. 2015. The early impact of genomics and metagenomics on ruminal microbiology. *Annu Rev Anim Biosci*, *3*, 447-65.
- DENTON, B. L., DIESE, L. E., FIRKINS, J. L. & HACKMANN, T. J. 2015. Accumulation of reserve carbohydrate by rumen protozoa and bacteria in competition for glucose. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 81, 1832-8.
- DEPPENMEIER, U. 2002. The unique biochemistry of methanogenesis. *Prog Nucleic Acid Res Mol Biol*, 71, 223-83.
- DESANTIS, T. Z., HUGENHOLTZ, P., LARSEN, N., ROJAS, M., BRODIE, E. L., KELLER, K., HUBER, T., DALEVI, D., HU, P. & ANDERSEN, G. L. 2006. Greengenes, a chimerachecked 16S rRNA gene database and workbench compatible with ARB. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 72, 5069-72.
- DEUSCH, S., CAMARINHA-SILVA, A., CONRAD, J., BEIFUSS, U., RODEHUTSCORD, M. & SEIFERT, J. 2017. A Structural and Functional Elucidation of the Rumen Microbiome Influenced by Various Diets and Microenvironments. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 8, 1605.

- DEUSCH, S., TILOCCA, B., CAMARINHA-SILVA, A. & SEIFERT, J. 2015. News in livestock research use of Omics-technologies to study the microbiota in the gastrointestinal tract of farm animals. *Computational and Structural Biotechnology Journal*, 13, 55-63.
- DILL-MCFARLAND, K. A., BREAKER, J. D. & SUEN, G. 2017. Microbial succession in the gastrointestinal tract of dairy cows from 2 weeks to first lactation. 7, 40864.
- DILL-MCFARLAND, K. A., WEIMER, P. J., BREAKER, J. D. & SUEN, G. 2018. Diet influences early microbiota development in dairy calves without long-term impacts on milk production. *bioRxiv*.
- DIXON, P. 2003. VEGAN, a package of R functions for community ecology. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 14, 927-930.
- DOBIN, A., DAVIS, C. A., SCHLESINGER, F., DRENKOW, J., ZALESKI, C., JHA, S., BATUT, P., CHAISSON, M. & GINGERAS, T. R. 2013. STAR: ultrafast universal RNA-seq aligner. *Bioinformatics*, 29, 15-21.
- DONOHOE, D. R., GARGE, N., ZHANG, X., SUN, W., O'CONNELL, T. M., BUNGER, M. K. & BULTMAN, S. J. 2011. The Microbiome and Butyrate Regulate Energy Metabolism and Autophagy in the Mammalian Colon. *Cell metabolism*, 13, 517-526.
- DRACKLEY, J. K. 2008. Calf nutrition from birth to breeding. *Vet Clin North Am Food Anim Pract*, 24, 55-86.
- DUFFIELD, T. F., MERRILL, J. K. & BAGG, R. N. 2012. Meta-analysis of the effects of monensin in beef cattle on feed efficiency, body weight gain, and dry matter intake1. *Journal of Animal Science*, 90, 4583-4592.
- DUNN, O. J. 1964. Multiple Comparisons Using Rank Sums. Technometrics, 6, 241-252.
- DURINCK S, M. Y., KASPRZYK A, DAVIS S, DE MOOR B, BRAZMA A, HUBER W 2005. BioMart and Bioconductor: a powerful link between biological databases and microarray data analysis. *Bioinformatics*, 21, 3439–3440.
- DURUNNA, O. N., MUJIBI, F. D., GOONEWARDENE, L., OKINE, E. K., BASARAB, J. A., WANG,
   Z. & MOORE, S. S. 2011. Feed efficiency differences and reranking in beef steers fed grower and finisher diets. *J Anim Sci*, 89, 158-67.
- DUTHIE, C. A., HASKELL, M., HYSLOP, J. J., WATERHOUSE, A., WALLACE, R. J., ROEHE, R. & ROOKE, J. A. 2017. The impact of divergent breed types and diets on methane emissions, rumen characteristics and performance of finishing beef cattle. *animal*, 1-10.
- DUVAL S, K. M. 2012. Use of nitrooxy organic molecules in feed for reducing enteric methane emissions in ruminants, and/or to improve ruminant performance. .
- E. EDWARDS, J., N, R. M., A, J. T. & JOHN WALLACE, R. 2004. 16S rDNA library-based analysis of ruminal bacterial diversity. *Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek*, 86, 263-81.
- EADIE, J. M., HOBSON, P. N. & MANN, S. O. 1959. A relationship between some bacteria, protozoa and diet in early weaned calves. *Nature*, 183, 624-5.
- ECKERT, E., BROWN, H. E., LESLIE, K. E., DEVRIES, T. J. & STEELE, M. A. 2015. Weaning age affects growth, feed intake, gastrointestinal development, and behavior in Holstein calves fed an elevated plane of nutrition during the preweaning stage. *J Dairy Sci*, 98, 6315-26.
- EDGAR, R. C. 2010. Search and clustering orders of magnitude faster than BLAST. *Bioinformatics*, 26, 2460-2461.
- ELLISON, M. J., CONANT, G. C., LAMBERSON, W. R., COCKRUM, R. R., AUSTIN, K. J., RULE, D. C. & CAMMACK, K. M. 2017. Diet and feed efficiency status affect rumen microbial profiles of sheep. *Small Ruminant Research*, 156, 12-19.
- ELSDEN, S. R., HITCHCOCK, M. W. & ET AL. 1946. Volatile acid in the digesta of ruminants and other animals. *J Exp Biol*, 22, 191-202.
- EMERSON, E. L. & WEIMER, P. J. 2017. Fermentation of model hemicelluloses by Prevotella strains and Butyrivibrio fibrisolvens in pure culture and in ruminal enrichment cultures. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol*, 101, 4269-4278.

- ENRÍQUEZ, D., HÖTZEL, M. J. & UNGERFELD, R. 2011. Minimising the stress of weaning of beef calves: a review. *Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica*, 53, 28-28.
- ESCHERICH, T. 1885. The intestinal bacteria of the neonate and breast-fed infant. *Rev Infect Dis*, 11, 352-6.
- FIRKINS, J. L. 2010. Reconsidering rumen microbial consortia to enhance feed efficiency and reduce environmental impact of ruminant livestock production systems. *Revista Brasileira de Zootecnia*, 39, 445-457.
- FIRKINS, J. L. & YU, Z. 2015. RUMINANT NUTRITION SYMPOSIUM: How to use data on the rumen microbiome to improve our understanding of ruminant nutrition. *J Anim Sci*, 93, 1450-70.
- FISCHER, S. G. & LERMAN, L. S. 1979. Length-independent separation of DNA restriction fragments in two-dimensional gel electrophoresis. *Cell*, 16, 191-200.
- FISCHER, M. A., GÜLLERT, S., NEULINGER, S. C., STREIT, W. R. & SCHMITZ, R. A. 2016. Evaluation of 16S rRNA Gene Primer Pairs for Monitoring Microbial Community Structures Showed High Reproducibility within and Low Comparability between Datasets Generated with Multiple Archaeal and Bacterial Primer Pairs. *Frontiers in microbiology*, 7, 1297-1297.
- FLINT, H. J., DUNCAN, S. H., SCOTT, K. P. & LOUIS, P. 2014. Links between diet, gut microbiota composition and gut metabolism. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*, 74, 13-22.
- FLINT, H. J., SCOTT, K. P., DUNCAN, S. H., LOUIS, P. & FORANO, E. 2012. Microbial degradation of complex carbohydrates in the gut. *Gut Microbes*, 3, 289-306.
- FONTY, G., GOUET, P., JOUANY, J.-P. & SENAUD, J. 1987. Establishment of the Microflora and Anaerobic Fungi in the Rumen of Lambs. *Journal of General Microbiology*, 133, 1835-1843.
- FONTY, G., GOUET, P., JOUANY, J. P. & SENAUD, J. 1983a. Ecological factors determining establishment of cellulolytic bacteria and protozoa in the rumens of meroxenic lambs. *J Gen Microbiol*, 129, 213-23.
- FONTY, G., GOUET, P. & NEBOUT, J. M. 1989. Development of the cellulolytic microflora in the rumen of lambs transferred into sterile isolators a few days after birth. *Can J Microbiol*, 35, 416-22.
- FONTY, G., JOUANY, J. P., THIVEND, P., GOUET, P. & SENAUD, J. 1983b. A descriptive study of rumen digestion in meroxenic lambs according to the nature and complexity of the microflora. *Reprod Nutr Dev*, 23, 857-73.
- FONTY, G., SENAUD, J., JOUANY, J. P. & GOUET, P. 1988. Establishment of ciliate protozoa in the rumen of conventional and conventionalized lambs: influence of diet and management conditions. *Can J Microbiol*, 34, 235-41.
- FOUHSE, J. M., SMIEGIELSKI, L., TUPLIN, M., GUAN, L. L. & WILLING, B. P. 2017. Host Immune Selection of Rumen Bacteria through Salivary Secretory IgA. *Front Microbiol*, 8, 848.
- FOUTS, D. E., SZPAKOWSKI, S., PURUSHE, J., TORRALBA, M., WATERMAN, R. C., MACNEIL, M. D., ALEXANDER, L. J. & NELSON, K. E. 2012. Next generation sequencing to define prokaryotic and fungal diversity in the bovine rumen. *PLoS One*, 7, e48289.
- FUKUMA, N. M., KOIKE, S. & KOBAYASHI, Y. 2015. Monitoring of gene expression in Fibrobacter succinogenes S85 under the co-culture with non-fibrolytic ruminal bacteria. *Arch Microbiol*, 197, 269-76.
- GANZ, T. 2003. Defensins: antimicrobial peptides of innate immunity. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 3, 710-20.
- GAO, X. & OBA, M. 2016. Characteristics of dairy cows with a greater or lower risk of subacute ruminal acidosis: Volatile fatty acid absorption, rumen digestion, and expression of genes in rumen epithelial cells. *J Dairy Sci*.

- GIJZEN, H. J., LUBBERDING, H. J., GERHARDUS, M. J. T. & VOGELS, G. D. 1988. Contribution of rumen protozoa to fibre degradation and cellulase activity in vitro. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, 53, 35-43.
- GOODRICH, J. K., DAVENPORT, E. R., WATERS, J. L., CLARK, A. G. & LEY, R. E. 2016. Crossspecies comparisons of host genetic associations with the microbiome. *Science*, 352, 532-5.
- GORKA, P., KOWALSKI, Z. M., PIETRZAK, P., KOTUNIA, A., JAGUSIAK, W., HOLST, J. J., GUILLOTEAU, P. & ZABIELSKI, R. 2011a. Effect of method of delivery of sodium butyrate on rumen development in new-born calves. *J Dairy Sci*, 94, 5578-88.
- GÓRKA, P., KOWALSKI, Z. M., PIETRZAK, P., KOTUNIA, A., JAGUSIAK, W., HOLST, J. J., GUILLOTEAU, P. & ZABIELSKI, R. 2011. Effect of method of delivery of sodium butyrate on rumen development in new-born calves. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 94, 5578-5588.
- GORKA, P., KOWALSKI, Z. M., PIETRZAK, P., KOTUNIA, A., JAGUSIAK, W. & ZABIELSKI, R. 2011b. Is rumen development in new-born calves affected by different liquid feeds and small intestine development? *J Dairy Sci*, 94, 3002-13.
- GORKA, P., KOWALSKI, Z. M., PIETRZAK, P., KOTUNIA, A., KILJANCZYK, R., FLAGA, J., HOLST, J. J., GUILLOTEAU, P. & ZABIELSKI, R. 2009. Effect of sodium butyrate supplementation in milk replacer and starter diet on rumen development in calves. J Physiol Pharmacol, 60 Suppl 3, 47-53.
- GRAD, I. & PICARD, D. 2007. The glucocorticoid responses are shaped by molecular chaperones. *Mol Cell Endocrinol*, 275, 2-12.
- GRANJA-SALCEDO, Y. T., RAMIREZ-USCATEGUI, R. A., MACHADO, E. G., DUARTE MESSANA, J., TAKESHI KISHI, L., LINO DIAS, A. V. & BERCHIELLI, T. T. 2017. Studies on bacterial community composition are affected by the time and storage method of the rumen content. *PLOS ONE*, 12, e0176701.
- GRESSLEY, T. F., HALL, M. B. & ARMENTANO, L. E. 2011. Ruminant Nutrition Symposium: Productivity, digestion, and health responses to hindgut acidosis in ruminants. *J Anim Sci*, 89, 1120-30.
- GRUNINGER, R. J., PUNIYA, A. K., CALLAGHAN, T. M., EDWARDS, J. E., YOUSSEF, N., DAGAR, S. S., FLIEGEROVA, K., GRIFFITH, G. W., FORSTER, R., TSANG, A., MCALLISTER, T. & ELSHAHED, M. S. 2014. Anaerobic fungi (phylum Neocallimastigomycota): advances in understanding their taxonomy, life cycle, ecology, role and biotechnological potential. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol*, 90, 1-17.
- GUAN, L. L., NKRUMAH, J. D., BASARAB, J. A. & MOORE, S. S. 2008. Linkage of microbial ecology to phenotype: correlation of rumen microbial ecology to cattle's feed efficiency. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, 288, 85-91.
- GUI, H. & SHEN, Z. 2016. Concentrate diet modulation of ruminal genes involved in cell proliferation and apoptosis is related to combined effects of short-chain fatty acid and pH in rumen of goats. *J Dairy Sci*, 99, 6627-6638.
- GUILLOTEAU, P., MARTIN, L., EECKHAUT, V., DUCATELLE, R., ZABIELSKI, R. & VAN IMMERSEEL, F. 2010. From the gut to the peripheral tissues: the multiple effects of butyrate. *Nutr Res Rev*, 23, 366-84.
- GUILLOTEAU, P., ZABIELSKI, R. & BLUM, J. W. 2009a. Gastrointestinal tract and digestion in the young ruminant: ontogenesis, adaptations, consequences and manipulations. *J Physiol Pharmacol*, 60 Suppl 3, 37-46.
- GUILLOTEAU, P., ZABIELSKI, R., DAVID, J. C., BLUM, J. W., MORISSET, J. A., BIERNAT, M., WOLINSKI, J., LAUBITZ, D. & HAMON, Y. 2009b. Sodium-butyrate as a growth promoter in milk replacer formula for young calves. *J Dairy Sci*, 92, 1038-49.
- GUPTA, A., KUMAR, S., PRASOODANAN, V. P. K., HARISH, K., SHARMA, A. K. & SHARMA, V. K. 2016. Reconstruction of Bacterial and Viral Genomes from Multiple Metagenomes. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 7, 469.

- GUZMAN, C. E., BEREZA-MALCOLM, L. T., DE GROEF, B. & FRANKS, A. E. 2015. Presence of Selected Methanogens, Fibrolytic Bacteria, and Proteobacteria in the Gastrointestinal Tract of Neonatal Dairy Calves from Birth to 72 Hours. *PLoS One*, 10, e0133048.
- HARFOOT, C. G. 1978. Anatomy, physiology and microbiology of the ruminant digestive tract. *Progress in Lipid Research*, 17, 1-19.
- HE, X., MCLEAN, J. S., EDLUND, A., YOOSEPH, S., HALL, A. P., LIU, S.-Y., DORRESTEIN, P. C., ESQUENAZI, E., HUNTER, R. C., CHENG, G., NELSON, K. E., LUX, R. & SHI, W. 2015. Cultivation of a human-associated TM7 phylotype reveals a reduced genome and epibiotic parasitic lifestyle. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 112, 244-249.
- HE, Z., DING, S., XU, L., BEAUCHEMIN, K. A. & YANG, W. 2013. Using exogenous enzymes to increase the rumen degradability of wheat dried distillers grains with solubles. *Arch Anim Nutr*, 67, 381-92.
- HEGARTY, R. S., GOOPY, J. P., HERD, R. M. & MCCORKELL, B. 2007. Cattle selected for lower residual feed intake have reduced daily methane production. *J Anim Sci*, 85, 1479-86.
- HEINRICHS, A. J., HEINRICHS, B. S., HAREL, O., ROGERS, G. W. & PLACE, N. T. 2005. A prospective study of calf factors affecting age, body size, and body condition score at first calving of holstein dairy heifers. *J Dairy Sci*, 88, 2828-35.
- HENDERSON, G., COX, F., GANESH, S., JONKER, A., YOUNG, W. & JANSSEN, P. H. 2015. Rumen microbial community composition varies with diet and host, but a core microbiome is found across a wide geographical range. *Sci Rep*, *5*, 14567.
- HENDERSON, G., COX, F., KITTELMANN, S., MIRI, V. H., ZETHOF, M., NOEL, S. J., WAGHORN, G. C. & JANSSEN, P. H. 2013. Effect of DNA extraction methods and sampling techniques on the apparent structure of cow and sheep rumen microbial communities. *PLoS One*, 8, e74787.
- HERNANDEZ-SANABRIA, E., GOONEWARDENE, L. A., WANG, Z., DURUNNA, O. N., MOORE, S. S. & GUAN, L. L. 2012. Impact of feed efficiency and diet on adaptive variations in the bacterial community in the rumen fluid of cattle. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 78, 1203-14.
- HERNANDEZ-SANABRIA, E., GOONEWARDENE, L. A., WANG, Z., ZHOU, M., MOORE, S. S. & GUAN, L. L. 2013. Influence of sire breed on the interplay among rumen microbial populations inhabiting the rumen liquid of the progeny in beef cattle. *PLoS One*, 8, e58461.
- HESS, M., SCZYRBA, A., EGAN, R., KIM, T. W., CHOKHAWALA, H., SCHROTH, G., LUO, S., CLARK, D. S., CHEN, F., ZHANG, T., MACKIE, R. I., PENNACCHIO, L. A., TRINGE, S. G., VISEL, A., WOYKE, T., WANG, Z. & RUBIN, E. M. 2011. Metagenomic discovery of biomass-degrading genes and genomes from cow rumen. *Science*, 331, 463-7.
- HIBBETT, D. S., BINDER, M., BISCHOFF, J. F., BLACKWELL, M., CANNON, P. F., ERIKSSON, O. E., HUHNDORF, S., JAMES, T., KIRK, P. M., LUCKING, R., THORSTEN LUMBSCH, H., LUTZONI, F., MATHENY, P. B., MCLAUGHLIN, D. J., POWELL, M. J., REDHEAD, S., SCHOCH, C. L., SPATAFORA, J. W., STALPERS, J. A., VILGALYS, R., AIME, M. C., APTROOT, A., BAUER, R., BEGEROW, D., BENNY, G. L., CASTLEBURY, L. A., CROUS, P. W., DAI, Y. C., GAMS, W., GEISER, D. M., GRIFFITH, G. W., GUEIDAN, C., HAWKSWORTH, D. L., HESTMARK, G., HOSAKA, K., HUMBER, R. A., HYDE, K. D., IRONSIDE, J. E., KOLJALG, U., KURTZMAN, C. P., LARSSON, K. H., LICHTWARDT, R., LONGCORE, J., MIADLIKOWSKA, J., MILLER, A., MONCALVO, J. M., MOZLEY-STANDRIDGE, S., OBERWINKLER, F., PARMASTO, E., REEB, V., ROGERS, J. D., ROUX, C., RYVARDEN, L., SAMPAIO, J. P., SCHUSSLER, A., SUGIYAMA, J., THORN, R. G., TIBELL, L., UNTEREINER, W. A., WALKER, C., WANG, Z., WEIR, A., WEISS, M., WHITE, M. M., WINKA, K., YAO, Y. J. & ZHANG, N. 2007. A higher-level phylogenetic classification of the Fungi. *Mycol Res*, 111, 509-47.

- HILALI, F., SAULNIER, P., CHACHATY, E., ANDREMONT, A. 1997. Decontamination of polymerase chain reaction reagents for detection of low concentrations of 16S rRNA genes. *Mol Biotechnol.* 7(3):207-16. PubMed PMID: 9219235
- HOBSON, P. N. & STEWART, C. S. 1997. *The Rumen Microbial Ecosystem*, London, Blackie Academic & Professional.
- HRISTOV, A. N., CALLAWAY, T. R., LEE, C. & DOWD, S. E. 2012. Rumen bacterial, archaeal, and fungal diversity of dairy cows in response to ingestion of lauric or myristic acid. *J Anim Sci*, 90, 4449-57.
- HRISTOV, A. N., OH, J., FIRKINS, J. L., DIJKSTRA, J., KEBREAB, E., WAGHORN, G., MAKKAR, H. P. S., ADESOGAN, A. T., YANG, W., LEE, C., GERBER, P. J., HENDERSON, B. & TRICARICO, J. M. 2013. SPECIAL TOPICS — Mitigation of methane and nitrous oxide emissions from animal operations: I. A review of enteric methane mitigation options. *Journal of Animal Science*, 91, 5045-5069.
- HRISTOV, A. N., OH, J., GIALLONGO, F., FREDERICK, T. W., HARPER, M. T., WEEKS, H. L., BRANCO, A. F., MOATE, P. J. & DEIGHTON, M. H. 2015. An inhibitor persistently decreased enteric methane emission from dairy cows with no negative effect on milk production. 112, 10663-8.
- HU, Z. & GUO, Y. 2007. Effects of dietary sodium butyrate supplementation on the intestinal morphological structure, absorptive function and gut flora in chickens. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, 132, 240-249.
- HUNGATE, R. E. 1950. The anaerobic mesophilic cellulolytic bacteria. *Bacteriol Rev*, 14, 1-49.
- HUNGATE, R. E. 1967. Hydrogen as an intermediate in the rumen fermentation. Archiv für Mikrobiologie, 59, 158-164.
- HUNGATE, R. E. 1969. *A roll tube method for cultivation of strict anaerobes,* London, New York, Academic Press.
- HUWS, S. A., EDWARDS, J. E., CREEVEY, C. J., REES STEVENS, P., LIN, W., GIRDWOOD, S. E., PACHEBAT, J. A. & KINGSTON-SMITH, A. H. 2016. Temporal dynamics of the metabolically active rumen bacteria colonizing fresh perennial ryegrass. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol*, 92.
- INDUGU, N., VECCHIARELLI, B., BAKER, L. D., FERGUSON, J. D., VANAMALA, J. K. P. & PITTA, D. W. 2017. Comparison of rumen bacterial communities in dairy herds of different production. *BMC Microbiology*, 17, 190.
- ISOBE, N., SUGĪNO, T., TANIGUCHI, K., MORIYA, N., HOSODA, K. & YOSHIMURA, Y. 2011. Differential localization of lingual antimicrobial peptide in the digestive tract mucosal epithelium of calves. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol*, 142, 87-94.
- IVARSSON, E., ROOS, S., LIU, H. Y. & LINDBERG, J. E. 2014. Fermentable non-starch polysaccharides increases the abundance of Bacteroides-Prevotella-Porphyromonas in ileal microbial community of growing pigs. *Animal*, 8, 1777-87.
- JAMI, E., ISRAEL, A., KOTSER, A. & MIZRAHI, I. 2013. Exploring the bovine rumen bacterial community from birth to adulthood. *Isme j*, 7, 1069-79.
- JAMI, E. & MIZRAHI, I. 2012. Composition and similarity of bovine rumen microbiota across individual animals. *PLoS One*, *7*, e33306.
- JAMI, E., WHITE, B. A. & MIZRAHI, I. 2014. Potential role of the bovine rumen microbiome in modulating milk composition and feed efficiency. *PLoS One*, 9, e85423.
- JANSSEN, P. H. & KIRS, M. 2008. Structure of the Archaeal Community of the Rumen. *Applied* and *Environmental Microbiology*, 74, 3619-3625.
- JENKINS, T. C., WALLACE, R. J., MOATE, P. J. & MOSLEY, E. E. 2008. Recent advances in biohydrogenation of unsaturated fatty acids within the rumen microbial ecosystem. *J Anim Sci*, 86.

- JEYANATHAN, J., KIRS, M., RONIMUS, R. S., HOSKIN, S. O. & JANSSEN, P. H. 2011. Methanogen community structure in the rumens of farmed sheep, cattle and red deer fed different diets. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol*, 76, 311-26.
- JIAO, J., HUANG, J., ZHOU, C. & TAN, Z. 2015a. Taxonomic identification of the ruminal epithelial bacterial diversity during rumen development in goats. *Appl Environ Microbiol*.
- JIAO, J., LI, X., BEAUCHEMIN, K. A., TAN, Z., TANG, S. & ZHOU, C. 2015b. Rumen development process in goats as affected by supplemental feeding v. grazing: age-related anatomic development, functional achievement and microbial colonisation. *Br J Nutr*, 113, 888-900.
- JIAO, J., ZHOU, C., GUAN, L. L., MCSWEENEY, C. S., TANG, S., WANG, M. & TAN, Z. 2017. Shifts in Host Mucosal Innate Immune Function Are Associated with Ruminal Microbial Succession in Supplemental Feeding and Grazing Goats at Different Ages. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 8, 1655.
- JIMENEZ, E., MARIN, M. L., MARTIN, R., ODRIOZOLA, J. M., OLIVARES, M., XAUS, J., FERNANDEZ, L. & RODRIGUEZ, J. M. 2008. Is meconium from healthy new-borns actually sterile? *Res Microbiol*, 159, 187-93.
- JOHNSON, K. A. & JOHNSON, D. E. 1995. Methane emissions from cattle. *J Anim Sci*, 73, 2483-92.
- KEMP, P. & LANDER, D. J. 1984. Hydrogenation in vitro of α-linolenic acid to stearic acid by mixed cultures of pure strains of rumen bacteria. *J Gen Microbiol*, 130.
- KENTERS, N., HENDERSON, G., JEYANATHAN, J., KITTELMANN, S. & JANSSEN, P. H. 2011. Isolation of previously uncultured rumen bacteria by dilution to extinction using a new liquid culture medium. *J Microbiol Methods*, 84, 52-60.
- KEOGH, K., WATERS, S. M., CORMICAN, P., KELLY, A. K., O'SHEA, E. & KENNY, D. A. 2017. Effect of dietary restriction and subsequent re-alimentation on the transcriptional profile of bovine ruminal epithelium. *PLOS ONE*, 12, e0177852.
- KHAN, M. A., WEARY, D. M. & VON KEYSERLINGK, M. A. 2011a. Invited review: effects of milk ration on solid feed intake, weaning, and performance in dairy heifers. *J Dairy Sci*, 94, 1071-81.
- KHAN, M. A., WEARY, D. M. & VON KEYSERLINGK, M. A. G. 2011b. Invited review: Effects of milk ration on solid feed intake, weaning, and performance in dairy heifers. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 94, 1071-1081.
- KIM, M., EASTRIDGE, M. L. & YU, Z. 2014. Investigation of ruminal bacterial diversity in dairy cattle fed supplementary monensin alone and in combination with fat, using pyrosequencing analysis. *Can J Microbiol*, 60, 65-71.
- KIM, M., MORRISON, M. & YU, Z. 2011. Status of the phylogenetic diversity census of ruminal microbiomes. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol*, *7*6, 49-63.
- KIM, M., PARK, T. & YU, Z. 2017. Invited Review Metagenomic investigation of gastrointestinal microbiome in cattle. *Asian-Australas J Anim Sci*, 30, 1515-1528.
- KIM, Y. H., NAGATA, R., OHTANI, N., ICHIJO, T., IKUTA, K. & SATO, S. 2016a. Effects of Dietary Forage and Calf Starter Diet on Ruminal pH and Bacteria in Holstein Calves during Weaning Transition. *Front Microbiol*, *7*, 1575.
- KIM, Y. H., TOJI, N., KIZAKI, K., KUSHIBIKI, S., ICHIJO, T. & SATO, S. 2016b. Effects of dietary forage and calf starter on ruminal pH and transcriptomic adaptation of the rumen epithelium in Holstein calves during the weaning transition. *Physiol Genomics*, 48, 803-809.
- KIRAT, D., MATSUDA, Y., YAMASHIKI, N., HAYASHI, H. & KATO, S. 2007. Expression, cellular localization, and functional role of monocarboxylate transporter 4 (MCT4) in the gastrointestinal tract of ruminants. *Gene*, 391, 140-9.

- KIRAT, D., SALLAM, K. I. & KATO, S. 2013. Expression and cellular localization of monocarboxylate transporters (MCT2, MCT7, and MCT8) along the cattle gastrointestinal tract. *Cell Tissue Res*, 352, 585-98.
- KITTELMANN, S., DEVENTE, S. R., KIRK, M. R., SEEDORF, H., DEHORITY, B. A. & JANSSEN,
   P. H. 2015. Phylogeny of Intestinal Ciliates, Including Charonina ventriculi, and
   Comparison of Microscopy and 18S rRNA Gene Pyrosequencing for Rumen Ciliate
   Community Structure Analysis. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 81, 2433-2444.
- KITTELMANN, S., NAYLOR, G. E., KOOLAARD, J. P. & JANSSEN, P. H. 2012. A proposed taxonomy of anaerobic fungi (class neocallimastigomycetes) suitable for large-scale sequence-based community structure analysis. *PLoS One*, *7*, e36866.
- KITTELMANN, S., PINARES-PATINO, C. S., SEEDORF, H., KIRK, M. R., GANESH, S., MCEWAN, J. C. & JANSSEN, P. H. 2014. Two different bacterial community types are linked with the low-methane emission trait in sheep. *PLoS One,* 9, e103171.
- KITTELMANN, S., SEEDORF, H., WALTERS, W. A., CLEMENTE, J. C., KNIGHT, R., GORDON, J. I. & JANSSEN, P. H. 2013. Simultaneous amplicon sequencing to explore co-occurrence patterns of bacterial, archaeal and eukaryotic microorganisms in rumen microbial communities. *PLoS One*, 8, e47879.
- KLAPPENBACH, J. A., SAXMAN, P. R., COLE, J. R. & SCHMIDT, T. M. 2001. rrndb: the Ribosomal RNA Operon Copy Number Database. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 29, 181-184.
- KLEMM, D., HEUBLEIN, B., FINK, H.-P. & BOHN, A. 2005. Cellulose: Fascinating Biopolymer and Sustainable Raw Material. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition*, 44, 3358-3393.
- KLIEVE, A. V., O'LEARY, M. N., MCMILLEN, L. & OUWERKERK, D. 2007. Ruminococcus bromii, identification and isolation as a dominant community member in the rumen of cattle fed a barley diet. *J Appl Microbiol*, 103, 2065-73.
- KLINDWORTH, A., PRUESSE, E., SCHWEER, T., PEPLIES, J., QUAST, C., HORN, M. & GLÖCKNER, F. O. 2013. Evaluation of general 16S ribosomal RNA gene PCR primers for classical and next-generation sequencing-based diversity studies. *Nucleic acids research*, 41, e1-e1.
- KNAPP, J. R., LAUR, G. L., VADAS, P. A., WEISS, W. P. & TRICARICO, J. M. 2014. Invited review: Enteric methane in dairy cattle production: Quantifying the opportunities and impact of reducing emissions. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 97, 3231-3261.
- KOBAYASHI, H., FU, Q., MAEDA, H. & SATO, K. 2017. Draft Genome Sequence of a Novel Coriobacteriaceae sp. Strain, EMTCatB1, Reconstructed from the Metagenome of a Thermophilic Electromethanogenic Biocathode. *Genome Announcements*, 5, e00022-17.
- KOBAYASHI, Y., SHINKAI, T. & KOIKE, S. 2008. Ecological and physiological characterization shows that Fibrobacter succinogenes is important in rumen fiber digestion - review. *Folia Microbiol (Praha)*, 53, 195-200.
- KOCH, R. M., SWIGER, L. A., CHAMBERS, D. & GREGORY, K. E. 1963. Efficiency of Feed Use in Beef Cattle. *Journal of Animal Science*, 22, 486-494.
- KOCHERGINSKAYA, S. A., AMINOV, R. I. & WHITE, B. A. 2001. Analysis of the Rumen Bacterial Diversity under two Different Diet Conditions using Denaturing Gradient Gel Electrophoresis, Random Sequencing, and Statistical Ecology Approaches. *Anaerobe*, 7, 119-134.
- KOENIG, J. E., SPOR, A., SCALFONE, N., FRICKER, A. D., STOMBAUGH, J., KNIGHT, R., ANGENENT, L. T. & LEY, R. E. 2011. Succession of microbial consortia in the developing infant gut microbiome. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 108, 4578-4585.
- KOIKE, S., YOSHITANI, S., KOBAYASHI, Y. & TANAKA, K. 2003. Phylogenetic analysis of fiberassociated rumen bacterial community and PCR detection of uncultured bacteria. *FEMS Microbiol Lett*, 229, 23-30.

- KONG, R. S., LIANG, G., CHEN, Y., STOTHARD, P. & GUAN LE, L. 2016. Transcriptome profiling of the rumen epithelium of beef cattle differing in residual feed intake. *BMC Genomics*, 17, 592.
- KORPELA, K., COSTEA, P., COELHO, L. P., KANDELS-LEWIS, S., WILLEMSEN, G., BOOMSMA, D. I., SEGATA, N. & BORK, P. 2018. Selective maternal seeding and environment shape the human gut microbiome. *Genome Research*, 28, 561-568.
- KOTUNIA, A., WOLINSKI, J., LAUBITZ, D., JURKOWSKA, M., ROME, V., GUILLOTEAU, P. & ZABIELSKI, R. 2004. Effect of sodium butyrate on the small intestine development in neonatal piglets fed [correction of feed] by artificial sow. *J Physiol Pharmacol*, 55 Suppl 2, 59-68.
- KRAUSE, D. O., DENMAN, S. E., MACKIE, R. I., MORRISON, M., RAE, A. L., ATTWOOD, G. T.
   & MCSWEENEY, C. S. 2003. Opportunities to improve fiber degradation in the rumen: microbiology, ecology, and genomics. *FEMS Microbiol Rev*, 27, 663-93.
- KRAUSE, D. O., NAGARAJA, T. G., WRIGHT, A. D. & CALLAWAY, T. R. 2013. Board-invited review: Rumen microbiology: leading the way in microbial ecology. J Anim Sci, 91, 331-41.
- KRAUSE, K. M. & OETZEL, G. R. 2006. Understanding and preventing subacute ruminal acidosis in dairy herds: A review. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, 126, 215-236.
- KUMAR, S., CHOUDHURY, P. K., CARRO, M. D., GRIFFITH, G. W., DAGAR, S. S., PUNIYA, M., CALABRO, S., RAVELLA, S. R., DHEWA, T., UPADHYAY, R. C., SIROHI, S. K., KUNDU, S. S., WANAPAT, M. & PUNIYA, A. K. 2014. New aspects and strategies for methane mitigation from ruminants. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol*, 98, 31-44.
- LAARMAN, A. H., RUIZ-SANCHEZ, A. L., SUGINO, T., GUAN, L. L. & OBA, M. 2012. Effects of feeding a calf starter on molecular adaptations in the ruminal epithelium and liver of Holstein dairy calves. *J Dairy Sci*, 95, 2585-94.
- LANE, M. A. & JESSE, B. W. 1997. Effect of Volatile Fatty Acid Infusion on Development of the Rumen Epithelium in Neonatal Sheep1. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 80, 740-746.
- LANGILLE, M. G., ZANEVELD, J., CAPORASO, J. G., MCDONALD, D., KNIGHTS, D., REYES, J. A., CLEMENTE, J. C., BURKEPILE, D. E., VEGA THURBER, R. L., KNIGHT, R., BEIKO, R. G. & HUTTENHOWER, C. 2013. Predictive functional profiling of microbial communities using 16S rRNA marker gene sequences. *Nat Biotechnol*, 31, 814-21.
- LEAHY, S. C., KELLY, W. J., RONIMUS, R. S., WEDLOCK, N., ALTERMANN, E. & ATTWOOD, G. T. 2013. Genome sequencing of rumen bacteria and archaea and its application to methane mitigation strategies. *animal*, *7*, 235-243.
- LESMEISTER, K. E. & HEINRICHS, A. J. 2004. Effects of corn processing on growth characteristics, rumen development, and rumen parameters in neonatal dairy calves. *J Dairy Sci*, 87, 3439-50.
- LETUNIC, I. & BORK, P. 2016. Interactive tree of life (iTOL) v3: an online tool for the display and annotation of phylogenetic and other trees. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 44, W242-5.
- LEY, R. E., BÄCKHED, F., TURNBAUGH, P., LOZUPONE, C. A., KNIGHT, R. D. & GORDON, J. I. 2005. Obesity alters gut microbial ecology. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 102, 11070-11075.
- LI, F. & GUAN, L. L. 2017. Metatranscriptomic Profiling Reveals Linkages between the Active Rumen Microbiome and Feed Efficiency in Beef Cattle. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 83.
- LI, F., HENDERSON, G., SUN, X., COX, F., JANSSEN, P. H. & GUAN LE, L. 2016. Taxonomic Assessment of Rumen Microbiota Using Total RNA and Targeted Amplicon Sequencing Approaches. *Front Microbiol*, 7, 987.
- LI, F., NEVES, A. L. A., GHOSHAL, B. & GUAN, L. L. 2018. Symposium review: Mining metagenomic and metatranscriptomic data for clues about microbial metabolic functions in ruminants<sup>1</sup>. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 101, 5605-5618.

- LI, J. Z., CHAPMAN, B., CHARLEBOIS, P., HOFMANN, O., WEINER, B., PORTER, A. J., SAMUEL, R., VARDHANABHUTI, S., ZHENG, L., ERON, J., TAIWO, B., ZODY, M. C., HENN, M. R., KURITZKES, D. R., HIDE, W. & AND THE, A. A. S. T. 2014. Comparison of Illumina and 454 Deep Sequencing in Participants Failing Raltegravir-Based Antiretroviral Therapy. *PLOS ONE*, 9, e90485.
- LI, R. W., CONNOR, E. E., LI, C., BALDWIN VI, R. L. & SPARKS, M. E. 2012a. Characterization of the rumen microbiota of pre-ruminant calves using metagenomic tools. *Environ Microbiol*, 14, 129-39.
- LI, R. W., CONNOR, E. E., LI, C., BALDWIN, V. I. R. L. & SPARKS, M. E. 2012b. Characterization of the rumen microbiota of pre-ruminant calves using metagenomic tools. *Environmental Microbiology*, 14, 129-139.
- LI, R. W., WU, S., BALDWIN, R. L. T., LI, W. & LI, C. 2012c. Perturbation dynamics of the rumen microbiota in response to exogenous butyrate. *PLoS One*, *7*, e29392.
- LIANG, Y., CARROLL, J. A. & BALLOU, M. A. 2016. The digestive system of 1-week-old Jersey calves is well suited to digest, absorb, and incorporate protein and energy into tissue growth even when calves are fed a high plane of milk replacer<sup>1</sup>. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 99, 1929-1937.
- LIAO, Y., SMYTH, G. K. & SHI, W. 2014. featureCounts: an efficient general purpose program for assigning sequence reads to genomic features. *Bioinformatics*, 30, 923-30.
- LIEBETANZ, E. 1910. Die parasitischen Protozoen des Wiederkauermagens. Archiv für Protistenkunde, 19, 19-80.
- LINDQVIST, A., RODRÍGUEZ-BRAVO, V. & MEDEMA, R. H. 2009. The decision to enter mitosis: feedback and redundancy in the mitotic entry network. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 185, 193-202.
- LIU, J.-H., BIAN, G.-R., ZHU, W.-Y. & MAO, S.-Y. 2015. High-grain feeding causes strong shifts in ruminal epithelial bacterial community and expression of Toll-like receptor genes in goats. *Frontiers in microbiology*, 6, 167-167.
- LIU, J.-H., XU, T.-T., LIU, Y.-J., ZHU, W.-Y. & MAO, S.-Y. 2013. A high-grain diet causes massive disruption of ruminal epithelial tight junctions in goats. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 305, R232-R241.
- LIU, J. H., ZHANG, M. L., ZHANG, R. Y., ZHU, W. Y. & MAO, S. Y. 2016. Comparative studies of the composition of bacterial microbiota associated with the ruminal content, ruminal epithelium and in the faeces of lactating dairy cows. *Microbial Biotechnology*, 9, 257-268.
- LIU, Z., LOZUPONE, C., HAMADY, M., BUSHMAN, F. D. & KNIGHT, R. 2007. Short pyrosequencing reads suffice for accurate microbial community analysis. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 35, e120-e120.
- LOOFT, T., BAYLES, D. O., ALT, D. P. & STANTON, T. B. 2015. Complete Genome Sequence of Coriobacteriaceae Strain 68-1-3, a Novel Mucus-Degrading Isolate from the Swine Intestinal Tract. *Genome Announcements*, 3, e01143-15.
- LOPES, J. C., DE MATOS, L. F., HARPER, M. T., GIALLONGO, F., OH, J., GRUEN, D., ONO, S., KINDERMANN, M., DUVAL, S. & HRISTOV, A. N. 2016. Effect of 3-nitrooxypropanol on methane and hydrogen emissions, methane isotopic signature, and ruminal fermentation in dairy cows. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 99, 5335-5344.
- LOREAU, M., NAEEM, S., INCHAUSTI, P., BENGTSSON, J., GRIME, J. P., HECTOR, A., HOOPER, D. U., HUSTON, M. A., RAFFAELLI, D., SCHMID, B., TILMAN, D. & WARDLE, D. A. 2001. Biodiversity and ecosystem functioning: current knowledge and future challenges. *Science*, 294, 804-8.
- LOVE, M. I., HUBER, W. & ANDERS, S. 2014. Moderated estimation of fold change and dispersion for RNA-seq data with DESeq2. *Genome Biol*, 15, 550.
- LUCILA SOBRINHO, T., BRANCO, R. H., BONILHA, S. F. M., CASTILHOS, A. M., FIGUEIREDO, L. A., RAZOOK, A. G. & MERCADANTE, M. E. Z. 2011. Residual feed

intake and relationships with performance of Nellore cattle selected for post weaning weight. *Revista Brasileira de Zootecnia*, 40, 929-937.

- LUKAS, F., SIMUNEK, J., MRAZEK, J. & KOPECNY, J. 2010. PCR-DGGE analysis of bacterial population attached to the bovine rumen wall. *Folia Microbiol (Praha)*, 55, 345-8.
- LUO, C., TSEMENTZI, D., KYRPIDES, N., READ, T. & KONSTANTINIDIS, K. T. 2012. Direct Comparisons of Illumina vs. Roche 454 Sequencing Technologies on the Same Microbial Community DNA Sample. *PLoS ONE*, 7, e30087.
- M. RYLE, E. R. Ø. 1992. *Energy Nutrition in Ruminants*, Springer, Dordrecht.
- MACHADO, V. S., OIKONOMOU, G., BICALHO, M. L. S., KNAUER, W. A., GILBERT, R. & BICALHO, R. C. 2012. Investigation of postpartum dairy cows' uterine microbial diversity using metagenomic pyrosequencing of the 16S rRNA gene. *Veterinary Microbiology*, 159, 460-469.
- MACKIE, R. I. 2002. Mutualistic fermentative digestion in the gastrointestinal tract: diversity and evolution. *Integr Comp Biol*, 42, 319-26.
- MACKIE, R. I., MCSWEENEY, C. S. & AMINOV, R. I. 2001a. Rumen. *eLS*. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.
- MACKIE, R. I., MCSWEENEY, C. S. & AMINOV, R. I. 2001b. Rumen.
- MAIER, T., GÜELL, M. & SERRANO, L. 2009. Correlation of mRNA and protein in complex biological samples. *FEBS Letters*, 583, 3966-3973.
- MALMUTHUGE, N. 2016. *Role of Commensal Microbiota in Neonatal Calf Development*. PhD, University of Alberta.
- MALMUTHUGE, N. & GRIEBEL, P. J. 2018. Fetal environment and fetal intestine are sterile during the third trimester of pregnancy. *Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology*, 204, 59-64.
- MALMUTHUGE, N., GRIEBEL, P. J. & GUAN LE, L. 2015. The Gut Microbiome and Its Potential Role in the Development and Function of New-born Calf Gastrointestinal Tract. *Front Vet Sci*, 2, 36.
- MALMUTHUGE, N., GRIEBEL, P. J. & GUAN, L. L. 2014. Taxonomic Identification of Commensal Bacteria Associated with the Mucosa and Digesta throughout the Gastrointestinal Tracts of Preweaned Calves. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 80, 2021-8.
- MALMUTHUGE, N. & GUAN, L. L. 2017. Understanding host-microbial interactions in rumen: searching the best opportunity for microbiota manipulation. *J Anim Sci Biotechnol*, 8, 8.
- MALMUTHUGE, N., LI, M., FRIES, P., GRIEBEL, P. J. & GUAN, L. L. 2012. Regional and age dependent changes in gene expression of Toll-like receptors and key antimicrobial defence molecules throughout the gastrointestinal tract of dairy calves. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol*, 146, 18-26.
- MALMUTHUGE, N., LI, M., GOONEWARDENE, L. A., OBA, M. & GUAN, L. L. 2013. Effect of calf starter feeding on gut microbial diversity and expression of genes involved in host immune responses and tight junctions in dairy calves during weaning transition. *J Dairy Sci*, 96, 3189-200.
- MAO, S., ZHANG, M., LIU, J. & ZHU, W. 2015. Characterising the bacterial microbiota across the gastrointestinal tracts of dairy cattle: membership and potential function. 5, 16116.
- MARCHESI, J. R. & RAVEL, J. 2015. The vocabulary of microbiome research: a proposal. *Microbiome*, 3, 31.
- MARGULIES, M., EGHOLM, M., ALTMAN, W. E., ATTIYA, S., BADER, J. S., BEMBEN, L. A., BERKA, J., BRAVERMAN, M. S., CHEN, Y. J., CHEN, Z., DEWELL, S. B., DU, L., FIERRO, J. M., GOMES, X. V., GODWIN, B. C., HE, W., HELGESEN, S., HO, C. H., IRZYK, G. P., JANDO, S. C., ALENQUER, M. L., JARVIE, T. P., JIRAGE, K. B., KIM, J. B., KNIGHT, J. R., LANZA, J. R., LEAMON, J. H., LEFKOWITZ, S. M., LEI, M., LI, J., LOHMAN, K. L., LU, H., MAKHIJANI, V. B., MCDADE, K. E., MCKENNA, M. P., MYERS, E. W., NICKERSON, E., NOBILE, J. R., PLANT, R., PUC, B. P., RONAN, M. T., ROTH, G.

T., SARKIS, G. J., SIMONS, J. F., SIMPSON, J. W., SRINIVASAN, M., TARTARO, K. R., TOMASZ, A., VOGT, K. A., VOLKMER, G. A., WANG, S. H., WANG, Y., WEINER, M. P., YU, P., BEGLEY, R. F. & ROTHBERG, J. M. 2005. Genome sequencing in microfabricated high-density picolitre reactors. *Nature*, 437, 376-80.

- MARTIN, C., MORGAVI, D. P. & DOREAU, M. 2010. Methane mitigation in ruminants: from microbe to the farm scale. *Animal*, 4, 351-65.
- MARTÍNEZ-FERNÁNDEZ, G., ABECIA, L., ARCO, A., CANTALAPIEDRA-HIJAR, G., MARTÍN-GARCÍA, A. I., MOLINA-ALCAIDE, E., KINDERMANN, M., DUVAL, S. & YÁÑEZ-RUIZ, D. R. 2014. Effects of ethyl-3-nitrooxy propionate and 3-nitrooxypropanol on ruminal fermentation, microbial abundance, and methane emissions in sheep. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 97, 3790-3799.
- MARTINEZ-FERNANDEZ, G., ABECIA, L., MARTIN-GARCIA, A. I., RAMOS-MORALES, E., DENMAN, S. E., NEWBOLD, C. J., MOLINA-ALCAIDE, E. & YANEZ-RUIZ, D. R. 2015. Response of the rumen archaeal and bacterial populations to anti-methanogenic organosulphur compounds in continuous-culture fermenters. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol.*
- MATOSIN, N., HALLDORSDOTTIR, T. & BINDER, E. B. 2018. Understanding the Molecular Mechanisms Underpinning Gene by Environment Interactions in Psychiatric Disorders: The FKBP5 Model. *Biological Psychiatry*, 83, 821-830.
- MCALLISTER, T. A., BAE, H. D., JONES, G. A. & CHENG, K. J. 1994. Microbial attachment and feed digestion in the rumen. *J Anim Sci*, 72, 3004-18.
- MCALLISTER, T. A., MEALE, S. J., VALLE, E., GUAN, L. L., ZHOU, M., KELLY, W. J., HENDERSON, G., ATTWOOD, G. T. & JANSSEN, P. H. 2015. RUMINANT NUTRITION SYMPOSIUM: Use of genomics and transcriptomics to identify strategies to lower ruminal methanogenesis. *J Anim Sci*, 93, 1431-49.
- MCALLISTER, T. A. & NEWBOLD, C. J. 2008. Redirecting rumen fermentation to reduce methanogenesis. *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture*, 48, 7-13.
- MCCABE, M. S., CORMICAN, P., KEOGH, K., O'CONNOR, A., O'HARA, E., PALLADINO, R. A., KENNY, D. A. & WATERS, S. M. 2015. Illumina MiSeq Phylogenetic Amplicon Sequencing Shows a Large Reduction of an Uncharacterised Succinivibrionaceae and an Increase of the Methanobrevibacter gottschalkii Clade in Feed Restricted Cattle. *PLoS One*, 10, e0133234.
- MCCANN, J. C., WICKERSHAM, T. A. & LOOR, J. J. 2014a. High-throughput Methods Redefine the Rumen Microbiome and Its Relationship with Nutrition and Metabolism. *Bioinform Biol Insights*, 8, 109-25.
- MCCANN, J. C., WILEY, L. M., FORBES, T. D., ROUQUETTE, F. M. & TEDESCHI, L. O. 2014b. Relationship between the Rumen Microbiome and Residual Feed Intake-Efficiency of Brahman Bulls Stocked on Bermudagrass Pastures. *PLoS ONE*, 9, e91864.
- MCGOVERN, E., KENNY, D. A., MCCABE, M. S., FITZSIMONS, C., MCGEE, M., KELLY, A. K. & WATERS, S. M. 2018. 16S rRNA Sequencing Reveals Relationship Between Potent Cellulolytic Genera and Feed Efficiency in the Rumen of Bulls. *Frontiers in microbiology*, 9, 1842-1842.
- MCGOVERN, E., MCCABE, M. S., CORMICAN, P., POPOVA, M., KEOGH, K., KELLY, A. K., KENNY, D. A. & WATERS, S. M. 2017. Plane of nutrition affects the phylogenetic diversity and relative abundance of transcriptionally active methanogens in the bovine rumen. *Scientific Reports*, *7*, 13047.
- MCMURDIE, P. J. & HOLMES, S. 2013. phyloseq: An R Package for Reproducible Interactive Analysis and Graphics of Microbiome Census Data. *PLOS ONE*, 8, e61217.
- MEALE, S. J., LI, S., AZEVEDO, P., DERAKHSHANI, H., PLAIZIER, J. C., KHAFIPOUR, E. & STEELE, M. A. 2016. Development of Ruminal and Fecal Microbiomes Are Affected by Weaning But Not Weaning Strategy in Dairy Calves. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 7, 582.

- MEALE, S. J., LI, S. C., AZEVEDO, P., DERAKHSHANI, H., DEVRIES, T. J., PLAIZIER, J. C., STEELE, M. A. & KHAFIPOUR, E. 2017. Weaning age influences the severity of gastrointestinal microbiome shifts in dairy calves. *Scientific Reports*, *7*, 198.
- MENTSCHEL, J., LEISER, R., MULLING, C., PFARRER, C. & CLAUS, R. 2001. Butyric acid stimulates rumen mucosa development in the calf mainly by a reduction of apoptosis. *Arch Tierernahr*, 55, 85-102.
- MILTKO, R., PIETRZAK, M., BEŁŻECKI, G., WERESZKA, K., MICHAŁOWSKI, T. & HACKSTEIN, J. H. P. 2015. Isolation and in vitro cultivation of the fibrolytic rumen ciliate Eremoplastron (Eudiplodinium) dilobum. *European Journal of Protistology*, 51, 109-117.
- MIRON, J., BEN-GHEDALIA, D. & MORRISON, M. 2001. Invited review: adhesion mechanisms of rumen cellulolytic bacteria. *J Dairy Sci*, 84, 1294-309.
- MORGAVI, D. P., KELLY, W. J., JANSSEN, P. H. & ATTWOOD, G. T. 2013. Rumen microbial (meta)genomics and its application to ruminant production. *animal*, 7, 184-201.
- MORGAVI, D. P., MARTIN, C., JOUANY, J. P. & RANILLA, M. J. 2012. Rumen protozoa and methanogenesis: not a simple cause-effect relationship. *Br J Nutr*, 107, 388-97.
- MOSS, A. R., JEAN-PIERRE, J. & JOHN, N. 2000. Methane production by ruminants: its contribution to global warming. *Ann. Zootech.*, 49, 231-253.
- MULLIS, K., FALOONA, F., SCHARF, S., SAIKI, R., HORN, G. & ERLICH, H. 1986. Specific enzymatic amplification of DNA in vitro: The polymerase chain reaction. *Cold Spring Harbor Symposia on Quantitative Biology*, 51, 263-273.
- MULLIS, K. B. & FALOONA, F. A. 1987. [21] Specific synthesis of DNA in vitro via a polymerasecatalyzed chain reaction. *Methods in Enzymology*.
- MUYZER, G., DE WAAL, E. C. & UITTERLINDEN, A. G. 1993. Profiling of complex microbial populations by denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis analysis of polymerase chain reaction-amplified genes coding for 16S rRNA. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 59, 695-700.
- MYER, P. R., SMITH, T. P. L., WELLS, J. E., KUEHN, L. A. & FREETLY, H. C. 2015a. Rumen Microbiome from Steers Differing in Feed Efficiency. *PLOS ONE*, 10, e0129174.
- MYER, P. R., WELLS, J. E., SMITH, T. P. L., KUEHN, L. A. & FREETLY, H. C. 2015b. Cecum microbial communities from steers differing in feed efficiency1,2,3. *Journal of Animal Science*, 93, 5327-5340.
- MYER, P. R., WELLS, J. E., SMITH, T. P. L., KUEHN, L. A. & FREETLY, H. C. 2015c. Microbial community profiles of the colon from steers differing in feed efficiency. *SpringerPlus*, 4, 454.
- MYLLYHARJU, J. 2003. Prolyl 4-hydroxylases, the key enzymes of collagen biosynthesis. *Matrix Biol*, 22, 15-24.
- NAEEM, A., DRACKLEY, J. K., LANIER, J. S., EVERTS, R. E., RODRIGUEZ-ZAS, S. L. & LOOR, J. J. 2014. Ruminal epithelium transcriptome dynamics in response to plane of nutrition and age in young Holstein calves. *Funct Integr Genomics*, 14, 261-73.
- NAEEM, A., DRACKLEY, J. K., STAMEY, J. & LOOR, J. J. 2012. Role of metabolic and cellular proliferation genes in ruminal development in response to enhanced plane of nutrition in neonatal Holstein calves. *J Dairy Sci*, 95, 1807-20.
- NELSON, M. C., MORRISON, H. G., BENJAMINO, J., GRIM, S. L. & GRAF, J. 2014. Analysis, optimization and verification of Illumina-generated 16S rRNA gene amplicon surveys. *PLoS One,* 9, e94249.
- NEVES, A. L. A., LI, F., GHOSHAL, B., MCALLISTER, T. & GUAN, L. L. 2017. Enhancing the Resolution of Rumen Microbial Classification from Metatranscriptomic Data Using Kraken and Mothur. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 8.
- NEWBOLD, C. J., DE LA FUENTE, G., BELANCHE, A., RAMOS-MORALES, E. & MCEWAN, N. R. 2015. The Role of Ciliate Protozoa in the Rumen. *Front Microbiol*, 6, 1313.

- NISHIHARA, K., KATO, D., SUZUKI, Y., KIM, D., NAKANO, M., YAJIMA, Y., HAGA, S., NAKANO, M., ISHIZAKI, H., KAWAHARA-MIKI, R., KONO, T., KATOH, K. & ROH, S. G. 2018. Comparative transcriptome analysis of rumen papillae in suckling and weaned Japanese Black calves using RNA sequencing. *J Anim Sci*, 96, 2226-2237.
- NIWIŃSKA, B., HANCZAKOWSKA, E., ARCISZEWSKI, M. B. & KLEBANIUK, R. 2017. Review: Exogenous butyrate: implications for the functional development of ruminal epithelium and calf performance. *animal*, 11, 1522-1530.
- NOCEK, J. E. & KESLER, E. M. 1984. Growth and Rumen Characteristics of Holstein Steers Fed Pelleted or Conventional Diets<sup>1</sup>. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 63, 249-254.
- NORBURY, C. & NURSE, P. 1992. Animal cell cycles and their control. *Annu Rev Biochem*, 61, 441-70.
- NYONYO, T., SHINKAI, T. & MITSUMORI, M. 2014. Improved culturability of cellulolytic rumen bacteria and phylogenetic diversity of culturable cellulolytic and xylanolytic bacteria newly isolated from the bovine rumen. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol*, 88, 528-37.
- OH, S., SHINTANI, R., KOIKE, S. & KOBAYASHI, Y. 2017. Ginkgo fruit extract as an additive to modify rumen microbiota and fermentation and to mitigate methane production. *J Dairy Sci*.
- OIKONOMOU, G., TEIXEIRA, A. G. V., FODITSCH, C., BICALHO, M. L., MACHADO, V. S. & BICALHO, R. C. 2013. Fecal Microbial Diversity in Pre-Weaned Dairy Calves as Described by Pyrosequencing of Metagenomic 16S rDNA. Associations of Faecalibacterium Species with Health and Growth. *PLOS ONE*, 8, e63157.
- ORPIN, C. G. 1974. The rumen flagellate Callimastix frontalis: does sequestration occur? *J Gen Microbiol*, 84, 395-8.
- ORPIN, C. G. 1975. Studies on the rumen flagellate Neocallimastix frontalis. *J Gen Microbiol*, 91, 249-62.
- ORPIN, C. G. 1977. The occurrence of chitin in the cell walls of the rumen organisms Neocallimastix frontalis, Piromonas communis and Sphaeromonas communis. *J Gen Microbiol*, 99, 215-8.
- OWENS, F. N., SECRIST, D. S., HILL, W. J. & GILL, D. R. 1998. Acidosis in cattle: a review. J Anim Sci, 76, 275-86.
- OZUTSUMI, Y., TAJIMA, K., TAKENAKA, A. & ITABASHI, H. 2012. McrA gene and 16S rRNA gene in the phylogenetic analysis of methanogens in the rumen of faunated and unfaunated cattle. *Anim Sci J*, 83, 727-34.
- PARMAR, N. R., SOLANKI, J. V., PATEL, A. B., SHAH, T. M., PATEL, A. K., PARNERKAR, S., KUMAR, J. I. & JOSHI, C. G. 2014. Metagenome of Mehsani buffalo rumen microbiota: an assessment of variation in feed-dependent phylogenetic and functional classification. J Mol Microbiol Biotechnol, 24, 249-61.
- PATRA, A., PARK, T., KIM, M. & YU, Z. 2017. Rumen methanogens and mitigation of methane emission by anti-methanogenic compounds and substances. 8, 13.
- PAZ, H. A., ANDERSON, C. L., MULLER, M. J., KONONOFF, P. J. & FERNANDO, S. C. 2016. Rumen Bacterial Community Composition in Holstein and Jersey Cows Is Different under Same Dietary Condition and Is Not Affected by Sampling Method. *Front Microbiol*, 7, 1206.
- PENNER, G. B., STEELE, M. A., ASCHENBACH, J. R. & MCBRIDE, B. W. 2011. Ruminant Nutrition Symposium: Molecular adaptation of ruminal epithelia to highly fermentable diets. *J Anim Sci*, 89, 1108-19.
- PEREZ-MUÑOZ, M. E., ARRIETA, M.-C., RAMER-TAIT, A. E. & WALTER, J. 2017. A critical assessment of the "sterile womb" and "in utero colonization" hypotheses: implications for research on the pioneer infant microbiome. *Microbiome*, *5*, 48.

- PETRI, R. M., FORSTER, R. J., YANG, W., MCKINNON, J. J. & MCALLISTER, T. A. 2012. Characterization of rumen bacterial diversity and fermentation parameters in concentrate fed cattle with and without forage. *J Appl Microbiol*, 112, 1152-62.
- PICKERING, N. K., ODDY, V. H., BASARAB, J., CAMMACK, K., HAYES, B., HEGARTY, R. S., LASSEN, J., MCEWAN, J. C., MILLER, S., PINARES-PATINO, C. S. & DE HAAS, Y. 2015. Animal board invited review: genetic possibilities to reduce enteric methane emissions from ruminants. *Animal*, 9, 1431-40.
- PIERCE, K. M., BOLAND, T. M., KENNY, D. A., O'DOHERTY, J. V., KELLY, A. K., Performance and rumen development of artificially reared calves to dietary butyrate supplementation. 2014 ADSA-ASAS-CSAS Joint Annual Meeting, July 20 - 24, 2014 2014 Kansas City, MO.
- PITTA, D. W., PINCHAK, W. E., INDUGU, N., VECCHIARELLI, B., SINHA, R. & FULFORD, J. D. 2016. Metagenomic Analysis of the Rumen Microbiome of Steers with Wheat-Induced Frothy Bloat. *Front Microbiol*, *7*, 689.
- PLAIZIER, J. C., KRAUSE, D. O., GOZHO, G. N. & MCBRIDE, B. W. 2008. Subacute ruminal acidosis in dairy cows: the physiological causes, incidence and consequences. *Vet J*, 176, 21-31.
- PLOPPER, G., SHARP, D. & SIKORSKI, E. 2013. *Lewin's Cells, Third Edition*, Jones & Bartlett Learning.
- POPE, P. B., SMITH, W., DENMAN, S. E., TRINGE, S. G., BARRY, K., HUGENHOLTZ, P., MCSWEENEY, C. S., MCHARDY, A. C. & MORRISON, M. 2011. Isolation of Succinivibrionaceae implicated in low methane emissions from Tammar wallabies. *Science*, 333, 646-8.
- POPOVA, M., MORGAVI, D. P. & MARTIN, C. 2013. Methanogens and Methanogenesis in the Rumens and Ceca of Lambs Fed Two Different High-Grain-Content Diets. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 79, 1777-1786.
- PORETSKY, R., RODRIGUEZ, R. L., LUO, C., TSEMENTZI, D. & KONSTANTINIDIS, K. T. 2014. Strengths and limitations of 16S rRNA gene amplicon sequencing in revealing temporal microbial community dynamics. *PLoS One*, 9, e93827.
- POULSEN, M., SCHWAB, C., BORG JENSEN, B., ENGBERG, R. M., SPANG, A., CANIBE, N., HØJBERG, O., MILINOVICH, G., FRAGNER, L., SCHLEPER, C., WECKWERTH, W., LUND, P., SCHRAMM, A. & URICH, T. 2013. Methylotrophic methanogenic Thermoplasmata implicated in reduced methane emissions from bovine rumen. *Nature Communications*, 4, 1428.
- PROBO, M., GIORDANO, A., MORETTI, P., OPSOMER, G., FIEMS, L. O. & VERONESI, M. C. 2012. Mode of delivery is associated with different hematological profiles in the new-born calf. *Theriogenology*, 77, 865-72.
- PURUSHE, J., FOUTS, D. E., MORRISON, M., WHITE, B. A., MACKIE, R. I., COUTINHO, P. M., HENRISSAT, B. & NELSON, K. E. 2010a. Comparative genome analysis of Prevotella ruminicola and Prevotella bryantii: insights into their environmental niche. *Microb Ecol*, 60, 721-9.
- PURUSHE, J., FOUTS, D. E., MORRISON, M., WHITE, B. A., MACKIE, R. I., COUTINHO, P. M., HENRISSAT, B. & NELSON, K. E. 2010b. Comparative Genome Analysis of Prevotella ruminicola and Prevotella bryantii: Insights into Their Environmental Niche. *Microbial Ecology*, 60, 721-729.
- QIN, W. Z., LI, C. Y., KIM, J. K., JU, J. G. & SONG, M. K. 2012. Effects of Defaunation on Fermentation Characteristics and Methane Production by Rumen Microbes In vitro When Incubated with Starchy Feed Sources. *Asian-Australasian Journal of Animal Sciences*, 25, 1381-1388.
- RAKOFF-NAHOUM, S., PAGLINO, J., ESLAMI-VARZANEH, F., EDBERG, S. & MEDZHITOV, R. 2004. Recognition of commensal microflora by toll-like receptors is required for intestinal homeostasis. *Cell*, 118, 229-41.
- REY, M., ENJALBERT, F., COMBES, S., CAUQUIL, L., BOUCHEZ, O. & MONTEILS, V. 2013. Establishment of ruminal bacterial community in dairy calves from birth to weaning is sequential. *J Appl Microbiol*.
- REY, M., ENJALBERT, F., COMBES, S., CAUQUIL, L., BOUCHEZ, O. & MONTEILS, V. 2014. Establishment of ruminal bacterial community in dairy calves from birth to weaning is sequential. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 116, 245-257.
- REY, M., ENJALBERT, F. & MONTEILS, V. 2012. Establishment of ruminal enzyme activities and fermentation capacity in dairy calves from birth through weaning. *J Dairy Sci*, 95, 1500-12.
- RICHARDSON, E. C. & HERD, R. M. 2004. Biological basis for variation in residual feed intake in beef cattle. 2. Synthesis of results following divergent selection. *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture*, 44, 431-440.
- ROBINSON, M. D., MCCARTHY, D. J. & SMYTH, G. K. 2010. edgeR: a Bioconductor package for differential expression analysis of digital gene expression data. *Bioinformatics*, 26, 139-140.
- ROEHE, R., DEWHURST, R. J., DUTHIE, C. A., ROOKE, J. A., MCKAIN, N., ROSS, D. W., HYSLOP, J. J., WATERHOUSE, A., FREEMAN, T. C., WATSON, M. & WALLACE, R. J. 2016. Bovine Host Genetic Variation Influences Rumen Microbial Methane Production with Best Selection Criterion for Low Methane Emitting and Efficiently Feed Converting Hosts Based on Metagenomic Gene Abundance. *PLoS Genet*, 12, e1005846.
- ROMERO-PEREZ, A., OKINE, E. K., MCGINN, S. M., GUAN, L. L., OBA, M., DUVAL, S. M., KINDERMANN, M. & BEAUCHEMIN, K. A. 2015. Sustained reduction in methane production from long-term addition of 3-nitrooxypropanol to a beef cattle diet1. *Journal of Animal Science*, 93, 1780-1791.
- ROSS, E. M., PETROVSKI, S., MOATE, P. J. & HAYES, B. J. 2013. Metagenomics of rumen bacteriophage from thirteen lactating dairy cattle. *BMC Microbiology*, 13, 242.
- SADET-BOURGETEAU, S., MARTIN, C. & MORGAVI, D. P. 2010. Bacterial diversity dynamics in rumen epithelium of wethers fed forage and mixed concentrate forage diets. *Veterinary Microbiology*, 146, 98-104.
- SADET, S., MARTÍN, C., MEUNIER, B. & MORGAVI, D. P. 2007. PCR-DGGE analysis reveals a distinct diversity in the bacterial population attached to the rumen epithelium. *Animal*, 1, 939-44.
- SAHOO, A., KAMRA, D. N. & PATHAK, N. N. 2005. Pre- and postweaning attributes in faunated and ciliate-free calves fed calf starter with or without fish meal. *J Dairy Sci*, 88, 2027-36.
- SAMUEL, B. S., HANSEN, E. E., MANCHESTER, J. K., COUTINHO, P. M., HENRISSAT, B., FULTON, R., LATREILLE, P., KIM, K., WILSON, R. K. & GORDON, J. I. 2007. Genomic and metabolic adaptations of <em>Methanobrevibacter smithii</em> to the human gut. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 104, 10643-10648.
- SANGER, F., NICKLEN, S. & COULSON, A. R. 1977. DNA sequencing with chain-terminating inhibitors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 74, 5463-7.
- SANGILD, P. T. 2003. Uptake of Colostral Immunoglobulins by the Compromised New-born Farm Animal. *Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica*, 44, S105.
- SANTOS, T. M. A. & BICALHO, R. C. 2012. Diversity and Succession of Bacterial Communities in the Uterine Fluid of Postpartum Metritic, Endometritic and Healthy Dairy Cows. *PLOS ONE*, 7, e53048.
- SASSON, G., KRUGER BEN-SHABAT, S., SEROUSSI, E., DORON-FAIGENBOIM, A., SHTERZER, N., YAACOBY, S., BERG MILLER, M. E., WHITE, B. A., HALPERIN, E. & MIZRAHI, I. 2017. Heritable Bovine Rumen Bacteria Are Phylogenetically Related and Correlated with the Cow's Capacity To Harvest Energy from Its Feed. *mBio*, 8.

- SCHAFF, C. T., GRUSE, J., MACIEJ, J., PFUHL, R., ZITNAN, R., RAJSKY, M. & HAMMON, H.
   M. 2017. Effects of feeding unlimited amounts of milk replacer for the first 5 weeks of age on rumen and small intestinal growth and development in dairy calves. *J Dairy Sci.*
- SCHLAU, N., GUAN, L. L. & OBA, M. 2012. The relationship between rumen acidosis resistance and expression of genes involved in regulation of intracellular pH and butyrate metabolism of ruminal epithelial cells in steers. *J Dairy Sci*, 95, 5866-75.
- SCHMIEDER, R. & EDWARDS, R. 2011. Quality control and preprocessing of metagenomic datasets. *Bioinformatics*, 27, 863-4.
- SEEDORF, H., KITTELMANN, S., HENDERSON, G. & JANSSEN, P. H. 2014. RIM-DB: a taxonomic framework for community structure analysis of methanogenic archaea from the rumen and other intestinal environments. *PeerJ*, 2, e494.
- SERGUSHICHEV, A. 2016. An algorithm for fast preranked gene set enrichment analysis using cumulative statistic calculation. *bioRxiv*.
- SHABAT, S. K., SASSON, G., DORON-FAIGENBOIM, A., DURMAN, T., YAACOBY, S., BERG MILLER, M. E., WHITE, B. A., SHTERZER, N. & MIZRAHI, I. 2016. Specific microbiomedependent mechanisms underlie the energy harvest efficiency of ruminants. *Isme j*.
- SHARP, R., ZIEMER, C. J., STERN, M. D. & STAHL, D. A. 1998. Taxon-specific associations between protozoal and methanogen populations in the rumen and a model rumen system. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, 26, 71-78.
- SHEN, H., CHEN, Z., SHEN, Z. & LU, Z. 2017. Maintaining stability of the rumen ecosystem is associated with changes of microbial composition and epithelial TLR Signalling. *Microbiologyopen*, 6.
- SHENDURE, J. & JI, H. 2008. Next-generation DNA sequencing. Nat Biotech, 26, 1135-1145.
- SHERMAN, E. L., NKRUMAH, J. D., MURDOCH, B. M. & MOORE, S. S. 2008. Identification of polymorphisms influencing feed intake and efficiency in beef cattle. *Animal Genetics*, 39, 225-231.
- SHI, W., MOON, C. D., LEAHY, S. C., KANG, D., FROULA, J., KITTELMANN, S., FAN, C., DEUTSCH, S., GAGIC, D., SEEDORF, H., KELLY, W. J., ATUA, R., SANG, C., SONI, P., LI, D., PINARES-PATINO, C. S., MCEWAN, J. C., JANSSEN, P. H., CHEN, F., VISEL, A., WANG, Z., ATTWOOD, G. T. & RUBIN, E. M. 2014. Methane yield phenotypes linked to differential gene expression in the sheep rumen microbiome. *Genome Res*, 24, 1517-25.
- SHI, Y. & WEIMER, P. J. 1997. Competition for cellobiose among three predominant ruminal cellulolytic bacteria under substrate-excess and substrate-limited conditions. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 63, 743-748.
- SILBERBERG, M., CHAUCHEYRAS-DURAND, F., COMMUN, L., MIALON, M. M., MONTEILS, V., MOSONI, P., MORGAVI, D. P. & MARTIN, C. 2013. Repeated acidosis challenges and live yeast supplementation shape rumen microbiota and fermentations and modulate inflammatory status in sheep. *Animal*, 7, 1910-20.
- SNELLING, T. J. & WALLACE, R. J. 2017. The rumen microbial metaproteome as revealed by SDS-PAGE. *BMC Microbiology*, 17, 9.
- SOERGEL, D. A., DEY, N., KNIGHT, R. & BRENNER, S. E. 2012. Selection of primers for optimal taxonomic classification of environmental 16S rRNA gene sequences. *Isme j*, 6, 1440-4.
- SOMMER, F. & BACKHED, F. 2013. The gut microbiota--masters of host development and physiology. *Nat Rev Microbiol*, 11, 227-38.
- SONG, Y., MALMUTHUGE, N., STEELE, M. A. & GUAN, L. L. 2018. Shift of hindgut microbiota and microbial short chain fatty acids profiles in dairy calves from birth to pre-weaning. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, 94, fix179-fix179.
- SOO, R. M., SKENNERTON, C. T., SEKIGUCHI, Y., IMELFORT, M., PAECH, S. J., DENNIS, P. G., STEEN, J. A., PARKS, D. H., TYSON, G. W. & HUGENHOLTZ, P. 2014. An Expanded Genomic Representation of the Phylum Cyanobacteria. *Genome Biology and Evolution*, 6, 1031-1045.

- STEELE, M. A., CROOM, J., KAHLER, M., ALZAHAL, O., HOOK, S. E., PLAIZIER, K. & MCBRIDE, B. W. 2011a. Bovine rumen epithelium undergoes rapid structural adaptations during grain-induced subacute ruminal acidosis. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol*, 300, R1515-23.
- STEELE, M. A., PENNER, G. B., CHAUCHEYRAS-DURAND, F. & GUAN, L. L. 2016. Development and physiology of the rumen and the lower gut: Targets for improving gut health. *J Dairy Sci.*
- STEELE, M. A., VANDERVOORT, G., ALZAHAL, O., HOOK, S. E., MATTHEWS, J. C. & MCBRIDE, B. W. 2011b. Rumen epithelial adaptation to high-grain diets involves the coordinated regulation of genes involved in cholesterol homeostasis. *Physiol Genomics*, 43, 308-16.
- STEWART, C. S., FONTY, G. & GOUET, P. 1988. The establishment of rumen microbial communities. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, 21, 69-97.
- STEWART, R. D., AUFFRET, M. D., WARR, A., WISER, A. H. & PRESS, M. O. 2018. Assembly of 913 microbial genomes from metagenomic sequencing of the cow rumen. 9, 870.
- STUMPFF, F. 2018. A look at the smelly side of physiology: transport of short chain fatty acids. *Pflugers Arch*, 470, 571-598.
- SUN, D. M., MAO, S. Y., ZHU, W. Y. & LIU, J. H. 2018. Effect of starter diet supplementation on rumen epithelial morphology and expression of genes involved in cell proliferation and metabolism in pre-weaned lambs. *Animal*, 1-10.
- SUNAGAWA, S., MENDE, D. R., ZELLER, G., IZQUIERDO-CARRASCO, F., BERGER, S. A., KULTIMA, J. R., COELHO, L. P. & ARUMUGAM, M. 2013. Metagenomic species profiling using universal phylogenetic marker genes. 10, 1196-9.
- SUNIL KUMAR SIROHI, N. S., SUMIT SINGH DAGAR, ANIL KUMAR PUNIYA 2012. Molecular tools for deciphering the microbial community structure and diversity in rumen ecosystem. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 95, 1135-1154.
- SURANA, N. K. & KASPER, D. L. 2017. Moving beyond microbiome-wide associations to causal microbe identification. *Nature*, 552, 244.
- SURLIS, C., MCNAMARA, K., O'HARA, E., WATERS, S., BELTMAN, M., CASSIDY, J. & KENNY, D. 2017. Birth delivery method affects expression of immune genes in lung and jejunum tissue of neonatal beef calves. *BMC Veterinary Research*, 13, 391.
- SYLVESTER, J. T., KARNATI, S. K., YU, Z., MORRISON, M. & FIRKINS, J. L. 2004. Development of an assay to quantify rumen ciliate protozoal biomass in cows using real-time PCR. *J Nutr*, 134, 3378-84.
- TAMATE, H., MCGILLIARD, A. D., JACOBSON, N. L. & GETTY, R. 1962. Effect of Various Dietaries on the Anatomical Development of the Stomach in the Calf<sup>1</sup>. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 45, 408-420.
- TAPIO, I., SHINGFIELD, K. J., MCKAIN, N., BONIN, A., FISCHER, D., BAYAT, A. R., VILKKI, J., TABERLET, P., SNELLING, T. J. & WALLACE, R. J. 2016. Oral Samples as Non-Invasive Proxies for Assessing the Composition of the Rumen Microbial Community. *PLoS One*, 11, e0151220.
- TAPIO, I., SNELLING, T. J., STROZZI, F. & WALLACE, R. J. 2017. The ruminal microbiome associated with methane emissions from ruminant livestock. *J Anim Sci Biotechnol*, 8, 7.
- TEAM., R. D. C. 2008. R: A language and environment for statistical computing.
- THEODOROU MK, B. J., TRINCI APJ 2005. *Methods in gut microbial ecology for ruminants,* Dordrecht: , Springer Netherlands.
- TREVISI, E., ZECCONI, A., COGROSSI, S., RAZZUOLI, E., GROSSI, P., AMADORI, M. 2014. Strategies for reduced antibiotic usage in dairy cattle farms. *Res. Vet. Sci.* 96;2, 229-233.
- TROVATELLI, L. D. & MATTEUZZI, D. 1976. Presence of bifidobacteria in the rumen of calves fed different rations. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 32, 470-473.

- USDA 2010. Dairy 2007, Heifer calf health and management practices on US dairy operations. CEAH. Fort Collins, CO.: USDA:APHIS:VS.
- VAN BOECKEL, T. P., BROWER, C., GILBERT, M., GRENFELL, B. T., LEVIN, S. A., ROBINSON, T. P., TEILLANT, A. & LAXMINARAYAN, R. 2015. Global trends in antimicrobial use in food animals. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 112, 5649-5654.
- VAN DIJK, E. L., AUGER, H., JASZCZYSZYN, Y. & THERMES, C. 2014. Ten years of nextgeneration sequencing technology. *Trends in Genetics*, 30, 418-426.
- VAN GYLSWYK, N. O. 1990. Enumeration and presumptive identification of some functional groups of bacteria in the rumen of dairy cows fed grass silage-based diets. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, 6, 243-261.
- VANHATALO, A. & KETOJA, E. 1995. The role of the large intestine in post-ruminal digestion of feeds as measured by the mobile-bag method in cattle. *Br J Nutr*, 73, 491-505.
- VEIRA, D. M. 1986. The role of ciliate protozoa in nutrition of the ruminant. *J Anim Sci*, 63, 1547-60.
- VENEMAN, J. B., MUETZEL, S., HART, K. J., FAULKNER, C. L., MOORBY, J. M., PERDOK, H. B. & NEWBOLD, C. J. 2015. Does Dietary Mitigation of Enteric Methane Production Affect Rumen Function and Animal Productivity in Dairy Cows? *PLoS One*, 10, e0140282.
- VILLEGAS-RIVERA, G., VARGAS-CABRERA, Y., GONZALEZ-SILVA, N., AGUILERA-GARCIA, F., GUTIERREZ-VAZQUEZ, E., BRAVO-PATINO, A., CAJERO-JUAREZ, M., BAIZABAL-AGUIRRE, V. M. & VALDEZ-ALARCON, J. J. 2013. Evaluation of DNA extraction methods of rumen microbial populations. *World J Microbiol Biotechnol*, 29, 301-7.
- WALLACE, R. J., ROOKE, J. A., DUTHIE, C. A., HYSLOP, J. J., ROSS, D. W., MCKAIN, N., DE SOUZA, S. M., SNELLING, T. J., WATERHOUSE, A. & ROEHE, R. 2014. Archaeal abundance in post-mortem ruminal digesta may help predict methane emissions from beef cattle. *Sci Rep*, 4, 5892.
- WANG, L., XU, Q., KONG, F., YANG, Y., WU, D., MISHRA, S. & LI, Y. 2016a. Exploring the Goat Rumen Microbiome from Seven Days to Two Years. *PLoS One*, 11, e0154354.
- WANG, W., LI, C., LI, F., WANG, X., ZHANG, X., LIU, T., NIAN, F., YUE, X., LI, F., PAN, X., LA, Y., MO, F., WANG, F. & LI, B. 2016b. Effects of early feeding on the host rumen transcriptome and bacterial diversity in lambs. 6, 32479.
- WANG, W., LI, C., LI, F., WANG, X., ZHANG, X., LIU, T., NIAN, F., YUE, X., LI, F., PAN, X., LA, Y., MO, F., WANG, F. & LI, B. 2016c. Effects of early feeding on the host rumen transcriptome and bacterial diversity in lambs. *Scientific Reports*, 6, 32479.
- WANG, Z., ELEKWACHI, C. O., JIAO, J., WANG, M., TANG, S., ZHOU, C., TAN, Z. & FORSTER,
   R. J. 2017. Investigation and manipulation of metabolically active methanogen community composition during rumen development in black goats. *Scientific Reports*, 7, 422.
- WARNER, R. G., FLATT, W. P. & LOOSLI, J. K. 1956. Ruminant Nutrition, Dietary Factors Influencing Development of Ruminant Stomach. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 4, 788-792.
- WATANABE, Y., NAGAI, F. & MOROTOMI, M. 2012. Characterization of Phascolarctobacterium succinatutens sp. nov., an Asaccharolytic, Succinate-Utilizing Bacterium Isolated from Human Feces. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 78, 511-518.
- WEESE, J. S. & JELINSKI, M. 2017. Assessment of the Fecal Microbiota in Beef Calves. *Journal of Veterinary Internal Medicine*, 31, 176-185.
- WEIMER, P. J. 2015. Redundancy, resilience, and host specificity of the ruminal microbiota: implications for engineering improved ruminal fermentations. *Front Microbiol*, 6, 296.
- WEIMER, P. J., STEVENSON, D. M., MANTOVANI, H. C. & MAN, S. L. 2010. Host specificity of the ruminal bacterial community in the dairy cow following near-total exchange of ruminal contents. *J Dairy Sci*, 93, 5902-12.

WILKINSON, T. J., HUWS, S. A., EDWARDS, J. E., KINGSTON-SMITH, A. H., SIU-TING, K., HUGHES, M., RUBINO, F., FRIEDERSDORFF, M. & CREEVEY, C. J. 2018. CowPI: A Rumen Microbiome Focussed Version of the PICRUSt Functional Inference Software. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 9.

WILLIAMS, A. G. 1986. Rumen holotrich ciliate protozoa. *Microbiological Reviews*, 50, 25-49.

- WILLIAMS, A. G. & COLEMAN, G. S. 1992. Metabolism of Entodiniomorphid Protozoa. *The Rumen Protozoa*. New York, NY: Springer New York.
- WILLIAMS, A. G. & COLEMAN, G. S. 1997. The rumen protozoa. *In:* HOBSON, P. N. & STEWART, C. S. (eds.) *The Rumen Microbial Ecosystem*. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands.
- WILLIAMS, Y. J., POPOVSKI, S., REA, S. M., SKILLMAN, L. C., TOOVEY, A. F., NORTHWOOD,
  K. S. & WRIGHT, A. D. 2009. A vaccine against rumen methanogens can alter the composition of archaeal populations. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 75, 1860-6.
- WOESE, C. R. 1987. Bacterial evolution. *Microbiological Reviews*, 51, 221-271.
- WOESE, C. R. & FOX, G. E. 1977. Phylogenetic structure of the prokaryotic domain: The primary kingdoms. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 74, 5088-5090.
- WOESE, C. R., GUTELL, R., GUPTA, R. & NOLLER, H. F. 1983. Detailed analysis of the higherorder structure of 16S-like ribosomal ribonucleic acids. *Microbiological Reviews*, 47, 621-669.
- WOLIN, M. J. 1960. A Theoretical Rumen Fermentation Balance. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 43, 1452-1459.
- WRIGHT, A.-D. G. & LYNN, D. H. 1997. Phylogenetic analysis of the rumen ciliate family Ophryoscolecidae based on 18S ribosomal RNA sequences, with new sequences from Diplodinium, Eudiplodinium, and Ophryoscolex. *Canadian Journal of Zoology*, 75, 963-970.
- WRIGHT, A. D., K. TAJIMA, AND R. I. AMINOV. 2005. 16S/18S ribosomal DNA clone library analysis of rumen microbial diversity, Springer.
- WUBAH, D. A. & KIM, D. S. 1996. Chemoattraction of anaerobic ruminal fungi zoospores to selected phenolic acids. *Microbiol Res*, 151, 257-62.
- XIA, Y., KONG, Y. H., SEVIOUR, R., FORSTER, R. J., KISIDAYOVA, S. & MCALLISTER, T. A. 2014. Fluorescence in situ hybridization probing of protozoal Entodinium spp. and their methanogenic colonizers in the rumen of cattle fed alfalfa hay or triticale straw. *J Appl Microbiol*, 116, 14-22.
- XIONG, H., GUO, B., GAN, Z., SONG, D., LU, Z., YI, H., WU, Y., WANG, Y. & DU, H. 2016. Butyrate upregulates endogenous host defense peptides to enhance disease resistance in piglets via histone deacetylase inhibition. *Scientific Reports*, 6, 27070.
- XU, J., CHEN, X., YU, S., SU, Y. & ZHU, W. 2016. Effects of Early Intervention with Sodium Butyrate on Gut Microbiota and the Expression of Inflammatory Cytokines in Neonatal Piglets. *PLoS One*, 11, e0162461.
- YANEZ-RUIZ, D. R., ABECIA, L. & NEWBOLD, C. J. 2015. Manipulating rumen microbiome and fermentation through interventions during early life: a review. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 6.
- YANEZ-RUIZ, D. R., MACIAS, B., PINLOCHE, E. & NEWBOLD, C. J. 2010. The persistence of bacterial and methanogenic archaeal communities residing in the rumen of young lambs. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol*, 72, 272-8.
- YANG, B., LE, J., WU, P., LIU, J., GUAN, L. L. & WANG, J. 2018. Alfalfa Intervention Alters Rumen Microbial Community Development in Hu Lambs During Early Life. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 9.
- YANG, W. Z., BEAUCHEMIN, K. A. & RODE, L. M. 2002. Effects of particle size of alfalfa-based dairy cow diets on site and extent of digestion. *J Dairy Sci*, 85, 1958-68.

- YEOMAN, C. J. & WHITE, B. A. 2014. Gastrointestinal tract microbiota and probiotics in production animals. *Annu Rev Anim Biosci*, 2, 469-86.
- YOHE, T. T., ENGER, B. D., WANG, L., TUCKER, H. L. M., CEH, C. A., PARSONS, C. L. M., YU,
   Z. & DANIELS, K. M. 2017. Short communication: Does early-life administration of a Megasphaera elsdenii probiotic affect long-term establishment of the organism in the rumen and alter rumen metabolism in the dairy calf? *J Dairy Sci.*
- YOUSUF, S., SUDHA, N., MURUGESAN, G. & ENOCH, I. V. 2013. Isolation of Prunin from the fruit shell of Bixa orellana and the effect of beta-cyclodextrin on its binding with calf thymus DNA. *Carbohydr Res*, 365, 46-51.
- YU, Z. & MORRISON, M. 2004. Improved extraction of PCR-quality community DNA from digesta and fecal samples. *BioTechniques*, 36, 808-812.
- ZHOU, M., CHEN, Y., GRIEBEL, P. J. & GUAN LE, L. 2014. Methanogen prevalence throughout the gastrointestinal tract of pre-weaned dairy calves. *Gut Microbes*, 5, 628-38.
- ZHOU, M., CHEN, Y. & GUAN, L. L. 2015. Rumen Bacteria. *In:* PUNIYA, A. K., SINGH, R. & KAMRA, D. N. (eds.) *Rumen Microbiology: From Evolution to Revolution*. New Delhi: Springer India.
- ZHOU, M., CHUNG, Y. H., BEAUCHEMIN, K. A., HOLTSHAUSEN, L., OBA, M., MCALLISTER, T. A. & GUAN, L. L. 2011. Relationship between rumen methanogens and methane production in dairy cows fed diets supplemented with a feed enzyme additive. J Appl Microbiol, 111, 1148-58.
- ZHOU, M., PENG, Y.-J., CHEN, Y., KLINGER, C. M., OBA, M., LIU, J.-X. & GUAN, L. L. 2018. Assessment of microbiome changes after rumen transfaunation: implications on improving feed efficiency in beef cattle. *Microbiome*, 6, 62.

## **Appendices**

Appendix A: Rarefaction curves of rumen digesta (a) bacterial and (b) archaeal 16S rRNA amplicon sequencing libraries during early life.



**Appendix B:**Details of bacterial phylum abundances and temporal changes in the rumen digesta during early life revealed by<br/>amplicon sequencing. Values are the percentage abundances calculated as a proportion of the total bacterial<br/>population. *P*-values were calculated from temporally adjacent contrasts in DeSeq2.

				Rumen s	olid diges	ta					
		Mea	n Abunda	nces		P-values					
Phylum	Do7	D14	D21	D28	D96	SEM <sup>1</sup>	D7-D14	D14-D21	D21-D28	D28-D96	
Firmicutes	27.89	50.98	49.25	42.91	51.29	3.95	<0.01	0.88	0.99	0.14	
Bacteroidetes	47.36	32.71	29.49	36.37	28.46	3.05	0.15	0.81	0.61	0.74	
Actinobacteria	5.43	9.54	8.05	8.50	6.89	0.63	0.03	0.81	0.99	0.94	
Proteobacteria	11.86	2.98	7.69	6.77	5.73	1.30	0.02	0.38	0.99	0.20	
Fibrobacteres	1.40	1.00	1.12	1.77	2.72	0.28	0.62	1.00	0.99	0.72	
Spirochaetes	0.57	0.76	1.44	1.59	2.11	0.25	0.90	0.81	0.99	0.74	
Cyanobacteria	0.11	0.16	1.17	0.65	0.98	0.19	0.62	0.04	0.99	0.03	
Tenericutes	0.15	0.08	0.14	0.42	0.78	0.12	0.60	0.81	0.99	0.05	
Verrucomicrobia	0.56	0.58	0.46	0.45	0.41	0.03	0.42	0.97	0.99	0.74	
TM7	0.03	0.02	0.03	0.02	0.20	0.03	0.16	0.34	0.37	<0.01	
Synergistetes	0.06	0.19	0.54	0.12	0.16	0.07	0.89	0.31	0.97	0.44	
Planctomycetes	0.02	0.01	0.42	0.32	0.11	0.07	NA	NA	NA	NA	
Elusimicrobia	ND	0.16	0.02	0.04	0.07	0.02	NA	NA	NA	NA	
Lentisphaerae	ND	0.01	0.05	0.02	0.04	0.01	<0.01	0.34	0.99	0.03	
Fusobacteria	4.47	0.82	0.04	0.04	0.02	0.77	0.06	<0.01	0.99	0.08	
Chloroflexi	ND	ND	ND	ND	0.01	<0.01	0.90	0.88	0.99	0.30	

WPS-2	ND	ND	0.07	ND	0.01	0.01	NA	NA	NA	NA
SR1	0.06	ND	ND	ND	ND	0.01	0.38	1.00	0.99	0.94
[Thermi]	0.01	ND	ND	ND	ND	<0.01	0.60	1.00	0.99	0.94
GN02	0.01	ND	ND	ND	ND	<0.01	0.42	1.00	0.99	0.94
			]	Rumen Li	quid Dige	sta				
			Mean abı	indances				P-v	alues	
Phylum	Do7	D14	D21	D28	D96	SEM	D7-D14	D14-D21	D21-D28	D28-D96
Firmicutes	19.05	51.74	42.06	39.49	45.15	4.93	<0.01	0.06	0.99	0.05
Bacteroidetes	51.33	31.41	38.16	38.69	30.91	3.30	0.03	0.94	0.92	0.75
Proteobacteria	19.75	4.01	10.61	10.92	7.59	2.34	<0.01	0.06	0.92	0.49
Cyanobacteria	0.05	0.06	1.59	1.03	4.50	0.73	0.72	<0.01	0.92	<0.01
Actinobacteria	2.80	7.71	4.66	5.49	4.27	0.72	0.01	0.20	0.92	0.48
Spirochaetes	0.27	0.23	0.99	1.23	2.05	0.30	0.70	0.65	0.92	0.48
Tenericutes	0.21	0.10	0.13	0.17	2.00	0.33	NA	NA	NA	NA
Fibrobacteres	0.85	0.52	0.61	1.10	1.37	0.14	0.41	0.76	0.92	0.56
Verrucomicrobia	3.05	2.96	0.43	1.51	0.97	0.47	0.72	<0.01	0.13	0.56
TM7	0.01	ND	ND	ND	0.41	0.07	0.02	0.26	0.92	<0.01
Elusimicrobia	ND	0.50	0.03	0.11	0.28	0.08	<0.01	<0.01	0.92	0.02
WPS-2	ND	ND	0.02	ND	0.18	0.03	0.19	0.02	<0.01	<0.01
Synergistetes	0.06	0.54	0.53	0.13	0.13	0.09	NA	NA	NA	NA
Planctomycetes	0.01	ND	0.12	0.10	0.12	0.02	0.11	0.02	0.92	0.03
Lentisphaerae	ND	0.01	0.04	0.01	0.06	0.01	0.99	0.79	0.92	<0.01
Chloroflexi	ND	ND	ND	ND	0.01	<0.01	0.99	0.85	0.92	0.04
Fusobacteria	2.47	0.20	0.02	0.01	ND	0.43	<0.01	<0.01	0.92	0.08
[Thermi]	0.02	ND	ND	ND	ND	<0.01	<0.01	0.24	0.99	<0.01
SR1	0.05	ND	ND	ND	ND	0.01	0.20	0.65	0.92	0.90

GN02	0.01	ND	ND	ND	ND	<0.01	0.33	0.81	0.92	0.89
<sup>1</sup> SEM = Standard Error of	the Mean									

<sup>1</sup>SEM = Standard Error of the Mean.

Appendix C:Genus-level bacterial composition of the rumen digesta during early life as revealed using amplicon sequencing.<br/>Values are mean abundances calculated from the total number of bacterial reads within each sample. Only genera<br/>contributing  $\geq 1\%$  of total abundance at one timepoint are presented. P-values were calculated from temporally<br/>adjacent comparisons in DeSeq2.

			Rumen S	Solid Dig	esta					
		N	Iean Abund	ances				P-v	alues	
Genus	Do7	D14	D21	D28	D96	SEM	D7-D14	D14-D21	D21-D28	D28-D96
Prevotella	9.90	23.67	24.97	30.13	19.90	3.02	0.06	0.81	1.00	0.12
o. Clostridiales	5.26	1.35	4.92	4.67	10.80	1.35	0.01	0.01	1.00	0.21
Butyrivibrio	0.33	0.41	6.74	3.28	7.00	1.30	0.96	<0.01	1.00	0.83
f. Coriobacteriaceae	0.06	2.27	6.45	6.79	6.30	1.21	<0.01	0.31	1.00	0.93
f. Lachnospiraceae	2.27	5.62	3.67	4.82	5.60	0.57	0.96	0.21	1.00	0.81
f. Ruminococcaceae	1.34	2.02	2.14	2.04	5.30	0.63	0.68	0.72	1.00	0.01
Succiniclasticum	1.56	0.48	3.25	2.56	5.10	0.69	0.04	0.01	1.00	0.53
o. Bacteroidales	2.07	0.26	2.05	3.05	4.80	0.66	0.13	0.13	1.00	0.18
f. Succinivibrionaceae	<0.01	0.20	0.15	0.08	4.20	0.73	0.10	0.44	1.00	0.01
Megasphaera	<0.01	8.31	4.54	5.13	3.00	1.22	<0.01	0.61	1.00	0.25
Fibrobacter	1.44	1.02	1.14	1.81	2.80	0.29	0.68	0.88	1.00	0.58
Ruminococcus	0.73	2.15	4.10	3.06	2.60	0.50	NA	NA	NA	NA
Treponema	0.50	0.69	1.13	1.07	2.00	0.23	0.85	0.63	1.00	0.29
Sharpea	<0.01	<0.01	0.23	0.16	1.60	0.28	0.97	<0.01	1.00	0.02
YRC22	0.01	0.05	0.08	0.08	1.50	0.25	0.67	0.58	1.00	0.06
f. S24-7	<0.01	0.01	1.11	1.65	1.40	0.31	0.02	<0.01	1.00	0.87

Acidaminococcus	<0.01	2.52	2.14	1.94	1.10	0.40	<0.01	0.76	1.00	0.25
Mitsuokella	<0.01	0.17	0.71	0.40	1.10	0.18	<0.01	0.48	1.00	0.65
Shuttleworthia	<0.01	0.04	<0.01	<0.01	1.10	0.20	0.19	0.44	1.00	<0.01
Coprococcus	0.31	0.08	0.12	0.06	1.00	0.16	0.04	0.96	1.00	<0.01
0. YS2	<0.01	<0.01	1.08	0.55	0.90	0.20	0.97	<0.01	1.00	0.12
Succinivibrio	0.03	0.37	5.62	5.49	0.90	1.13	<0.01	0.57	1.00	<0.01
o. RF39	0.11	0.03	0.06	0.35	0.70	0.12	NA	NA	NA	NA
BF311	0.04	0.05	0.07	0.10	0.60	0.10	0.96	0.81	1.00	0.25
Catenibacterium	<0.01	4.14	4.73	4.75	0.60	0.94	<0.01	0.91	1.00	0.01
Bifidobacterium	0.01	5.90	1.31	1.58	0.60	0.93	<0.01	0.06	1.00	0.15
Bulleidia	<0.01	0.04	0.59	0.35	0.60	0.11	<0.01	0.09	1.00	0.86
Lachnospira	0.02	2.39	1.00	1.43	0.50	0.36	<0.01	0.06	1.00	0.19
f. Veillonellaceae	0.49	0.66	1.57	0.28	0.50	0.20	0.42	0.39	1.00	0.52
[Eubacterium]	<0.01	0.24	0.54	0.23	0.50	0.09	<0.01	0.57	1.00	0.52
f. [Mogibacteriaceae]	0.78	0.18	0.44	0.89	0.50	0.11	0.02	0.33	1.00	0.46
f. [Paraprevotellaceae]	0.24	1.13	0.34	0.48	0.50	0.14	0.64	0.98	1.00	0.45
Dialister	0.71	0.30	1.46	1.32	0.30	0.22	0.68	1.00	1.00	0.05
Roseburia	<0.01	4.00	1.83	1.40	0.30	0.63	<0.01	0.57	1.00	0.04
<i>f. RFP</i> 12	<0.01	<0.01	0.33	0.40	0.30	0.08	0.02	<0.01	1.00	0.65
f. Christensenellaceae	0.02	<0.01	0.05	0.01	0.30	0.05	0.25	0.12	1.00	0.01
Desulfovibrio	0.58	0.32	0.29	0.53	0.30	0.06	0.54	0.63	1.00	0.81
Mogibacterium	0.17	0.11	0.14	0.17	0.20	0.02	0.24	0.51	1.00	0.89
Pseudobutyrivibrio	0.19	0.45	0.23	0.04	0.20	0.06	NA	NA	NA	NA
0. <i>RF32</i>	<0.01	0.14	0.02	0.01	0.20	0.04	<0.01	0.25	1.00	0.01
<i>f. F</i> 16	<0.01	<0.01	0.01	<0.01	0.20	0.03	0.41	0.37	0.59	<0.01
Oscillospira	0.93	0.53	0.20	0.36	0.20	0.12	0.04	0.03	1.00	0.51

Pseudoramibacter_Eubacterium	0.01	0.29	0.65	0.39	0.20	0.10	<0.01	0.35	1.00	0.11
Moryella	<0.01	<0.01	0.01	0.05	0.20	0.03	0.87	0.14	1.00	0.07
Sphaerochaeta	0.04	0.04	0.28	0.51	0.20	0.08	0.69	0.10	1.00	0.10
Pyramidobacter	0.05	0.18	0.52	0.09	0.10	0.08	0.97	0.10	1.00	0.46
f. Clostridiaceae	<0.01	<0.01	0.01	0.08	0.10	0.02	NA	NA	NA	NA
Atopobium	0.08	0.04	0.01	<0.01	0.10	0.02	0.54	0.10	0.56	<0.01
f. Pirellulaceae	0.01	<0.01	0.42	0.33	0.10	0.08	<0.01	<0.01	1.00	0.38
Blautia	0.21	1.50	0.91	0.39	0.10	0.23	0.01	0.13	1.00	0.03
[Prevotella]	10.02	0.27	0.22	0.32	0.10	1.75	NA	NA	NA	NA
CF231	5.98	1.81	0.24	0.44	0.10	0.99	NA	NA	NA	NA
Clostridium	0.24	0.19	0.34	0.70	0.10	0.10	0.01	0.57	1.00	0.03
Anaerovibrio	0.14	0.75	0.12	0.49	<0.01	0.12	NA	NA	NA	NA
Ruminobacter	<0.01	0.12	1.02	0.05	<0.01	0.18	NA	NA	NA	NA
o. Streptophyta	0.07	0.10	0.06	0.06	<0.01	0.01	NA	NA	NA	NA
Selenomonas	0.03	0.60	0.05	0.07	<0.01	0.10	0.14	0.13	1.00	0.24
Bacteroides	13.60	4.68	0.50	0.36	<0.01	2.31	<0.01	<0.01	1.00	<0.01
Anaerostipes	0.05	<0.01	0.43	0.16	<0.01	0.07	<0.01	<0.01	1.00	0.86
Campylobacter	0.24	0.50	0.23	0.29	<0.01	0.07	0.25	0.58	1.00	<0.01
Corynebacterium	0.09	0.05	0.07	0.14	<0.01	0.02	0.03	0.99	1.00	<0.01
Lactobacillus	0.12	0.84	0.10	0.17	<0.01	0.13	NA	NA	NA	NA
f. Erysipelotrichaceae	0.55	0.28	0.01	0.04	< 0.01	0.09	0.02	<0.01	1.00	0.25
Streptococcus	3.53	3.46	0.10	0.05	<0.01	0.75	NA	NA	NA	NA
Butyricimonas	0.37	0.18	0.06	0.05	<0.01	0.06	0.10	0.09	1.00	<0.01
Elusimicrobium	<0.01	0.16	<0.01	0.03	<0.01	0.03	0.78	0.35	1.00	0.62
Faecalibacterium	<0.01	0.77	0.10	0.01	<0.01	0.13	<0.01	0.08	1.00	0.24
Dorea	0.04	0.31	0.04	0.02	< 0.01	0.05	0.67	0.01	1.00	<0.01

Actinomyces	4.68	0.21	0.05	0.02	<0.01	0.83	<0.01	0.04	1.00	0.04
f. Neisseriaceae	1.08	0.27	0.13	0.11	<0.01	0.17	NA	NA	NA	NA
Fusobacterium	4.48	0.81	0.02	0.01	<0.01	0.78	<0.01	<0.01	1.00	0.01
Veillonella	3.87	3.57	0.45	0.04	< 0.01	0.78	<0.01	<0.01	1.00	0.01
Gallibacterium	3.25	0.32	0.02	0.01	< 0.01	0.57	NA	NA	NA	NA
[Ruminococcus]	0.44	0.71	0.09	0.06	<0.01	0.12	0.71	<0.01	1.00	<0.01
Porphyromonas	3.51	0.45	0.02	0.01	<0.01	0.61	<0.01	0.01	1.00	<0.01
Haemophilus	0.37	0.04	<0.01	0.01	<0.01	0.06	NA	NA	NA	NA
Acinetobacter	0.36	0.03	0.02	0.01	<0.01	0.06	<0.01	0.96	1.00	<0.01
Bibersteinia	0.92	0.08	0.02	0.01	<0.01	0.16	NA	NA	NA	NA
Comamonas	1.35	0.03	0.02	0.01	<0.01	0.24	<0.01	0.80	1.00	0.05
Parvimonas	0.63	0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	0.11	<0.01	0.14	1.00	0.46
Kingella	0.26	0.02	0.02	0.01	<0.01	0.04	NA	NA	NA	NA
Aggregatibacter	0.19	0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	0.03	NA	NA	NA	NA
Phascolarctobacterium	0.21	0.86	0.19	0.26	<0.01	0.13	NA	NA	NA	NA
Parabacteroides	0.51	0.51	0.08	0.08	<0.01	0.10	0.96	<0.01	1.00	<0.01
Collinsella	0.15	1.16	0.17	0.13	<0.01	0.19	NA	NA	NA	NA
Akkermansia	0.55	0.55	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	0.12	0.39	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01
Filifactor	0.10	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	0.02	<0.01	<0.01	1.00	<0.01
Peptococcus	0.21	0.02	0.01	<0.01	<0.01	0.04	<0.01	0.14	1.00	0.39
Peptostreptococcus	1.03	0.06	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	0.18	< 0.01	0.03	1.00	0.09
f. Enterobacteriaceae	0.74	0.02	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	0.13	NA	NA	NA	NA
f. Alcaligenaceae	1.35	0.19	<0.01	0.04	<0.01	0.23	0.26	<0.01	0.45	<0.01
Adlercreutzia	0.21	0.05	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	0.04	0.03	<0.01	1.00	0.06
Trueperella	0.11	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	0.02	NA	NA	NA	NA
Paludibacter	1.68	<0.01	<0.01	< 0.01	<0.01	0.30	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01

f. [Weeksellaceae]	0.15	0.02	<0.01	0.01	<0.01	0.03	NA	NA	NA	NA
Helcococcus	0.18	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	0.03	<0.01	0.96	1.00	0.83
Desulfotomaculum	0.27	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	0.05	<0.01	0.37	1.00	0.90
Moraxella	0.43	0.04	0.01	0.01	<0.01	0.07	NA	NA	NA	NA
f. Pasteurellaceae	0.18	0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	0.03	NA	NA	NA	NA
	L I		Rumen Li	iquid Dig	gesta					
		N	Iean Abund	ances				P-v	alues	
Genus	Do7	D14	D21	D28	D96	SEM	D7-D14	D14-D21	D21-D28	D28-D96
Prevotella	9.85	22.90	28.54	32.38	21.75	3.42	0.08	0.86	0.92	0.25
f. Lachnospiraceae	2.86	7.86	2.86	6.36	4.73	0.88	<0.01	0.03	0.51	0.45
Bacteroides	13.23	4.53	1.78	1.20	0.11	2.13	0.02	<0.01	0.99	<0.01
o. Clostridiales	2.70	1.15	3.20	2.80	8.71	1.16	0.07	0.14	0.92	0.01
f. Ruminococcaceae	2.85	4.22	3.30	1.80	5.79	0.60	0.91	0.34	0.92	<0.01
o. Bacteroidales	1.50	1.08	5.34	1.83	5.70	0.89	0.48	0.84	0.92	0.02
Succiniclasticum	1.22	0.63	2.96	2.75	5.09	0.70	0.25	0.13	0.96	0.68
[Prevotella]	9.89	0.19	0.62	1.66	0.22	1.67	NA	NA	NA	NA
Butyrivibrio	0.16	0.21	3.81	3.54	4.53	0.84	0.93	<0.01	0.99	0.98
CF231	7.82	1.12	0.34	0.14	0.24	1.33	NA	NA	NA	NA
Ruminococcus	0.50	0.91	2.60	1.60	3.33	0.47	0.82	0.37	0.92	0.15
Fibrobacter	0.85	0.52	0.61	1.10	1.38	0.14	0.59	0.78	0.86	0.75
Dialister	0.45	0.21	1.80	1.41	0.33	0.29	0.93	0.84	0.01	<0.01
f. Veillonellaceae	0.42	0.49	1.96	0.53	0.72	0.26	0.87	0.03	0.64	0.98
Treponema	0.18	0.13	0.30	0.54	1.52	0.23	0.26	0.84	0.99	0.02
Oscillospira	1.04	0.53	0.37	0.32	0.11	0.14	<0.01	0.02	0.92	<0.01
Desulfovibrio	0.54	0.37	0.64	0.51	0.24	0.06	0.51	0.73	0.99	0.19
Anaerovibrio	0.11	0.76	0.22	0.42	0.15	0.11	0.08	0.01	0.64	0.57

f. [Mogibacteriaceae]	0.37	0.30	0.17	0.35	0.34	0.03	0.30	0.84	0.71	0.88
f. [Paraprevotellaceae]	0.17	0.16	0.32	0.22	0.43	0.05	0.95	0.73	0.70	0.81
Succinivibrio	0.05	0.72	6.10	9.45	1.25	1.63	<0.01	0.26	0.71	<0.01
Catenibacterium	0.01	6.30	3.16	5.82	0.37	1.18	<0.01	0.84	0.92	<0.01
Megasphaera	0.01	5.60	4.10	3.21	1.94	0.85	<0.01	0.73	0.92	0.17
f. Coriobacteriaceae	0.08	1.27	2.92	3.96	3.89	0.68	<0.01	0.74	0.92	0.98
Roseburia	0.01	4.30	1.47	2.13	0.53	0.67	<0.01	0.25	0.92	0.03
Bifidobacterium	0.01	5.16	1.33	1.07	0.35	0.83	<0.01	0.19	0.94	0.57
Lachnospira	0.03	2.23	1.28	1.13	0.60	0.33	<0.01	0.29	0.99	0.30
Acidaminococcus	0.01	0.57	1.63	1.49	0.91	0.27	<0.01	0.35	0.92	0.05
Blautia	0.41	1.49	1.12	0.42	0.04	0.24	0.37	0.30	0.82	<0.01
Campylobacter	1.18	0.90	0.77	0.47	0.04	0.17	0.85	0.89	0.94	<0.01
Parabacteroides	1.52	0.93	0.33	0.29	0.01	0.24	0.30	0.03	0.99	< 0.01
Sphaerochaeta	0.09	0.10	0.70	0.69	0.54	0.12	0.99	0.31	0.92	0.89
Mitsuokella	<0.01	0.14	0.62	0.29	0.66	0.12	<0.01	0.49	0.99	0.93
Phascolarctobacterium	0.42	0.57	0.29	0.30	<0.01	0.08	0.07	<0.01	0.04	<0.01
Clostridium	0.09	0.21	0.78	0.39	0.12	0.11	0.85	0.24	0.64	0.36
Pseudoramibacter_Eubacterium	0.01	0.35	0.26	0.23	0.15	0.05	<0.01	0.95	0.92	0.04
[Eubacterium]	0.01	0.24	0.26	0.17	0.23	0.04	<0.01	0.96	0.99	0.99
Mogibacterium	0.09	0.10	0.15	0.22	0.12	0.02	0.77	0.48	0.99	0.55
0. YS2	<0.01	<0.01	1.58	1.03	4.50	0.74	0.40	<0.01	0.95	0.08
f. Succinivibrionaceae	0.02	0.23	0.09	0.14	4.79	0.84	<0.01	<0.01	0.70	<0.01
f. Neisseriaceae	4.01	0.80	0.35	0.05	0.01	0.67	0.02	0.58	0.78	0.02
Veillonella	1.01	3.02	0.27	0.04	<0.01	0.51	0.59	<0.01	0.47	0.03
f. RFP12	<0.01	<0.01	0.39	1.50	0.94	0.26	0.99	0.30	0.70	0.42
o. RF39	0.21	0.09	0.03	0.17	1.87	0.31	0.09	0.03	0.39	<0.01

Sharpea	0.01	0.01	0.31	0.11	1.77	0.30	0.88	0.03	0.99	0.36
f. S24-7	0.01	0.01	0.46	0.80	0.89	0.17	0.85	<0.01	0.82	0.89
Butyricimonas	1.37	0.30	0.28	0.08	0.02	0.22	<0.01	0.58	0.85	0.02
Coprococcus	0.20	0.09	0.11	0.02	1.03	0.17	0.17	0.48	0.51	<0.01
[Ruminococcus]	0.39	0.79	0.14	0.07	<0.01	0.13	0.64	<0.01	0.82	<0.01
Lactobacillus	0.05	1.01	0.14	0.13	0.02	0.17	<0.01	<0.01	0.96	0.03
Bulleidia	<0.01	0.04	0.32	0.49	0.40	0.09	<0.01	0.19	0.92	0.72
Collinsella	0.06	0.47	0.19	0.21	<0.01	0.07	0.08	0.17	0.82	<0.01
p-75-a5	0.12	0.27	0.41	0.05	0.01	0.07	0.09	0.81	0.92	0.09
Pseudobutyrivibrio	0.07	0.20	0.11	0.02	0.25	0.04	0.14	<0.01	0.58	<0.01
Corynebacterium	0.15	0.04	0.11	0.23	0.02	0.03	<0.01	0.84	0.51	<0.01
f. Pirellulaceae	0.01	<0.01	0.12	0.11	0.12	0.02	0.20	0.06	0.92	0.05
Akkermansia	3.06	2.96	<0.01	0.01	<0.01	0.66	0.51	<0.01	0.82	0.43
Streptococcus	1.49	4.38	0.07	0.06	0.01	0.75	0.08	<0.01	0.94	0.01
Gallibacterium	5.30	0.20	0.02	0.01	<0.01	0.94	<0.01	<0.01	0.82	0.01
Porphyromonas	4.62	0.27	0.02	0.02	<0.01	0.81	<0.01	<0.01	0.99	<0.01
Actinomyces	2.23	0.68	0.07	0.01	<0.01	0.38	<0.01	<0.01	0.70	0.12
Fusobacterium	2.43	0.19	0.01	0.01	<0.01	0.43	<0.01	<0.01	0.92	0.07
f. Alcaligenaceae	2.21	0.20	<0.01	0.02	<0.01	0.39	NA	NA	NA	NA
Ruminobacter	<0.01	0.05	2.12	<0.01	0.15	0.37	0.89	0.28	<0.01	<0.01
Pyramidobacter	0.07	0.54	0.53	0.09	0.10	0.10	NA	NA	NA	NA
Anaerostipes	0.03	<0.01	0.82	0.29	0.09	0.14	<0.01	<0.01	0.82	0.02
Faecalibacterium	<0.01	0.79	0.29	0.03	0.01	0.14	NA	NA	NA	NA
0. RF32	<0.01	0.09	0.10	0.02	0.87	0.15	<0.01	0.63	0.82	<0.01
BF311	0.04	<0.01	0.16	0.03	0.42	0.07	0.26	0.95	0.99	0.08
Elusimicrobium	<0.01	0.51	<0.01	0.11	0.03	0.09	NA	NA	NA	NA

f. Erysipelotrichaceae	0.32	0.24	0.01	0.05	0.03	0.06	NA	NA	NA	NA
c. Alphaproteobacteria	0.12	<0.01	0.03	0.01	0.18	0.03	0.02	0.81	0.78	<0.01
Comamonas	3.55	0.04	0.05	0.02	<0.01	0.63	NA	NA	NA	NA
Shuttleworthia	0.01	0.02	0.02	0.02	1.18	0.21	0.14	0.05	0.92	<0.01
YRC22	<0.01	0.10	0.02	0.06	1.00	0.17	0.02	0.30	0.92	0.02
Paludibacter	1.17	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	0.21	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	0.68
Selenomonas	0.03	0.61	0.08	0.07	0.05	0.10	NA	NA	NA	NA
Bibersteinia	0.57	0.08	0.01	0.02	<0.01	0.10	<0.01	<0.01	0.92	<0.01
Acinetobacter	0.46	0.04	0.07	0.03	<0.01	0.08	<0.01	0.70	0.99	<0.01
Dorea	0.08	0.25	0.04	0.08	0.01	0.04	NA	NA	NA	NA
Peptostreptococcus	0.42	0.03	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	0.07	<0.01	<0.01	0.96	0.62
f. Enterobacteriaceae	0.39	0.02	0.01	0.01	<0.01	0.07	NA	NA	NA	NA
f. F16	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	0.41	0.07	0.66	0.92	0.96	<0.01
Moraxella	0.34	0.04	0.01	0.01	<0.01	0.06	<0.01	<0.01	0.99	<0.01
f. RF16	<0.01	<0.01	0.04	<0.01	0.32	0.06	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01
RFN20	0.03	0.06	0.07	0.04	0.13	0.02	0.14	0.62	0.92	0.43
Haemophilus	0.26	0.03	0.01	0.01	<0.01	0.04	<0.01	<0.01	0.99	<0.01
Parvimonas	0.28	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	0.05	<0.01	0.19	0.99	0.68
f. Elusimicrobiaceae	<0.01	<0.01	0.02	<0.01	0.25	0.04	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01
Kingella	0.21	0.02	0.03	0.01	<0.01	0.04	<0.01	0.54	0.82	<0.01
f. Christensenellaceae	0.02	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	0.23	0.04	<0.01	0.96	0.99	<0.01
p. WPS-2	<0.01	<0.01	0.02	<0.01	0.18	0.03	<0.01	0.05	<0.01	<0.01
Enterococcus	0.05	0.13	<0.01	0.02	<0.01	0.02	NA	NA	NA	NA
f. [Weeksellaceae]	0.16	0.02	0.01	<0.01	<0.01	0.03	<0.01	<0.01	0.94	<0.01
Adlercreutzia	0.10	0.08	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	0.02	0.47	<0.01	0.92	0.01
Filifactor	0.18	<0.01	<0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.03	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	0.60

f. Pasteurellaceae	0.17	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	0.03	<0.01	0.22	0.78	0.43
o. ML615J-28	<0.01	<0.01	0.04	<0.01	0.11	0.02	<0.01	<0.01	0.39	<0.01
Peptococcus	0.13	0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	0.02	<0.01	0.11	0.82	0.38

Appendix D:Archaeal species abundance in the rumen digesta during early life. Values presented are percentages of the total<br/>archaeal population at each timepoint. FDR-corrected *P*-values were obtained from temporally adjacent<br/>contrasts in DeSeq2.

		Ru	ımen Se	olid Dig	esta							
		Μ	ean Ab	undanc	es			P-v	alues			
Genus	Do7	D14	D21	D28	D96	SEM	D7-D14	D14-D21	D21-D28	D28-D96		
Methanobrevibacter boviskoreani clade	0.76	0.69	0.03	0.05	22.86	4.02	1.00	0.12	1.00	<0.01		
Methanobrevibacter gottschalkii clade	20.83	49.82	29.73	17.96	8.67	6.23	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.61		
Methanobrevibacter ruminantium clade	53.13	14.09	10.61	25.32	43.53	7.39	0.66	0.30	1.00	1.00		
Methanobrevibacter smithii	18.28	33.22	27.82	9.23	4.70	4.82	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00		
Methanobrevibacter wolinii clade	3.46	0.05	9.25	19.65	5.81	3.00	NA	NA	NA	NA		
Methanosphaera sp. A4	0.32	<0.01	4.58	5.63	4.22	1.04	0.26	<0.01	1.00	1.00		
Methanosphaera sp. Group5	1.25	2.02	2.22	0.22	0.58	0.35	NA	NA	NA	NA		
Methanosphaera sp. ISO3-F5	0.01	0.05	1.75	4.76	1.59	0.77	1.00	<0.01	1.00	0.33		
Methanomassiliicoccaceae Group10 sp.	ND	ND	0.84	10.46	0.34	2.08	NA	NA	NA	NA		
Candidatus Methanomethylophilus alvus	ND	ND	2.57	<0.01	5.55	1.01	0.20	<0.01	1.00	0.71		
Methanomassiliicoccaceae Group12 sp. ISO4-H5	ND	ND	0.50	4.51	1.86	0.74	NA	NA	NA	NA		
Methanomassiliicoccaceae Group4 sp. MpT1	ND	ND	0.29	1.45	0.12	0.26	1.00	<0.01	1.00	1.00		
Methanomassiliicoccaceae Group9 sp. CH1270	ND	ND	4.21	0.09	<0.01	0.88	0.26	<0.01	0.72	0.51		
Methanomassiliicoccaceae Group9 sp. ISO4-G1	ND	ND	5.22	0.05	<0.01	1.10	NA	NA	NA	NA		
Methanobrevibacter boviskoreani clade	0.76	0.69	0.03	0.05	22.86	4.02	1.00	0.12	1.00	<0.01		
		Ru	men Lie	quid Di	gesta							
	Mean Abundances							P-v	alues			
Species	D7	D14	D21	D28	D96	SEM	EM D7 vs D14 D14 vs D21 D21 vs D28 D28 vs I					
Methanobrevibacter boviskoreani clade	0.79	0.67	0.02	0.05	22.93	4.04	0.73	1.00	1.00	<0.01		

217

Methanobrevibacter gottschalkii clade	26.58	57.20	25.51	23.87	22.75	5.85	0.16	1.00	1.00	0.08
Methanobrevibacter ruminantium clade	35.35	10.41	12.06	21.91	33.39	4.64	NA	NA	NA	NA
Methanobrevibacter smithii	30.98	29.34	34.16	10.78	0.30	5.92	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.78
Methanobrevibacter wolinii clade	2.44	0.06	2.11	16.86	7.71	2.71	NA	NA	NA	NA
Methanosphaera sp. A4	0.38	ND	8.48	2.39	2.90	1.34	0.73	<0.01	1.00	1.00
Methanosphaera sp. Group5	0.05	2.11	0.14	0.08	0.33	0.35	0.50	1.00	1.00	1.00
Methanosphaera sp. ISO3-F5	0.21	0.08	0.88	3.76	1.33	0.60	NA	NA	NA	NA
Methanomassiliicoccaceae Group10 sp.	ND	ND	<0.01	9.73	0.43	2.01	<0.01	<0.01	0.03	0.60
Candidatus Methanomethylophilus alvus	ND	ND	7.06	<0.01	0.49	1.44	<0.01	<0.01	1.00	1.00
Methanomassiliicoccaceae Group12 sp. ISO4-H5	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	5.41	5.03	1.14	NA	NA	NA	NA
Methanomassiliicoccaceae Group4 sp. MpT1	ND	ND	0.13	1.03	0.35	0.17	NA	NA	NA	NA
Methanomassiliicoccaceae Group9 sp. CH1270	ND	ND	9.10	0.80	0.02	1.84	<0.01	0.21	1.00	<0.01
Methanomassiliicoccaceae Group9 sp. ISO4-G1	ND	0.07	ND	0.08	0.01	0.01	0.24	1.00	0.28	0.08

Appendix E:Taxonomic profiles of rumen and hindgut microbiota in calves fed milk replacer with or without sodium butyrate.<br/>Values presented are a percentage of total community abundance at phylum or genus level within each<br/>tissue/treatment group as appropriate. FDR-corrected *P*-values were obtained using DeSeq2.

				Colon			
Таха							
	Mean	CO	DN	SB			
Phylum	Overall	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	P-value	FDR
Firmicutes	63.23	66.29	9.41	60.17	10.24	0.45	0.89
Bacteroidetes	20.28	15.33	5.64	25.24	9.11	0.02	0.44
Actinobacteria	3.80	3.95	2.29	3.66	1.80	0.83	0.98
Tenericutes	3.11	3.72	2.10	2.50	1.62	0.32	0.89
Euryarchaeota	2.40	2.93	1.78	1.86	1.15	0.27	0.89
Verrucomicrobia	2.00	1.89	3.48	2.12	2.38	0.81	0.98
Proteobacteria	1.61	2.13	2.05	1.09	0.26	0.41	0.89
Spirochaetes	1.58	1.78	3.48	1.38	1.30	0.62	0.98
Cyanobacteria	1.22	1.01	0.57	1.43	1.13	0.38	0.89
Fibrobacteres	0.36	0.27	0.29	0.44	0.68	0.96	0.98
Elusimicrobia	0.32	0.55	1.21	0.08	0.08	0.98	0.98
Fusobacteria	0.08	0.14	0.24	0.03	0.03	0.17	0.89
	Mean						
Genus	Overall	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	P-value	FDR
[Eubacterium]	0.24	0.27	0.26	0.21	0.11	0.75	0.97
[Prevotella]	1.68	1.55	2.28	1.82	1.10	0.32	0.97
[Ruminococcus]	0.02	0.02	0.03	0.03	0.02	0.19	0.97
5-7N15	0.12	0.05	0.10	0.19	0.31	0.31	0.97
Acidaminococcus	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.38	0.97
Akkermansia	1.36	1.78	3.66	0.93	1.55	0.81	0.97
Anaeroplasma	0.80	0.64	0.34	0.96	1.48	0.16	0.97

Anaerostipes	0.37	0.55	0.87	0.18	0.17	0.92	0.97
Anaerovibrio	0.04	0.03	0.02	0.06	0.08	0.29	0.97
Bacillus	0.64	0.44	0.56	0.85	1.15	0.42	0.97
Bacteroides	4.01	4.13	1.14	3.89	3.04	0.67	0.97
Blautia	0.36	0.25	0.11	0.46	0.29	0.06	0.89
Bulleidia	0.33	0.25	0.12	0.41	0.39	0.27	0.97
Butyricimonas	0.04	0.04	0.05	0.03	0.03	0.95	0.97
Butyrivibrio	0.30	0.46	0.20	0.14	0.09	0.01	0.49
Campylobacter	0.17	0.23	0.26	0.12	0.25	0.69	0.97
Catenibacterium	0.58	0.51	0.41	0.65	0.89	0.44	0.97
CF231	0.95	0.96	1.05	0.94	1.15	0.96	0.97
Clostridium	2.89	3.07	1.04	2.71	0.71	0.88	0.97
Coprobacillus	0.06	0.05	0.05	0.07	0.07	0.41	0.97
Coprococcus	1.47	1.28	0.67	1.67	0.82	0.35	0.97
Corynebacterium	0.02	0.03	0.06	0.01	0.01	0.69	0.97
Desulfovibrio	0.02	0.02	0.04	0.02	0.01	0.48	0.97
Dietzia	0.01	0.01	0.02	<0.01	<0.01	0.26	0.97
Dorea	0.95	1.01	0.54	0.88	0.33	0.91	0.97
Elusimicrobium	0.01	0.01	0.03	<0.01	<0.01	0.44	0.97
Epulopiscium	0.01	0.02	0.03	0.01	0.01	0.66	0.97
Faecalibacterium	0.34	0.19	0.29	0.50	0.50	0.09	0.94
Fibrobacter	0.36	0.28	0.30	0.44	0.69	0.48	0.97
Fusobacterium	0.08	0.14	0.24	0.03	0.03	0.21	0.97
Helicobacter	0.02	0.03	0.07	<0.01	<0.01	0.64	0.97
Lachnospira	0.09	0.06	0.05	0.12	0.09	0.23	0.97
Megasphaera	0.15	0.22	0.30	0.08	0.10	0.16	0.97
Methanobrevibacter	1.66	2.16	1.50	1.15	0.75	0.20	0.97
Methanosphaera	0.78	0.84	0.48	0.73	0.42	0.95	0.97
Mitsuokella	0.02	0.02	0.04	0.01	<0.01	0.13	0.97
Mogibacterium	0.16	0.22	0.14	0.10	0.07	0.09	0.94
Odoribacter	0.16	0.21	0.08	0.12	0.06	0.35	0.97

Oscillospira	1.10	1.08	0.42	1.11	0.22	0.31	0.97
p-75-a5	0.21	0.22	0.14	0.21	0.13	0.76	0.97
Paludibacter	0.22	0.09	0.11	0.36	0.51	0.24	0.97
Parabacteroides	0.38	0.32	0.15	0.44	0.18	0.11	0.97
Peptococcus	0.02	0.03	0.05	0.02	0.04	0.85	0.97
Phascolarctobacterium	1.19	0.94	0.54	1.44	0.37	0.03	0.89
Prevotella	7.37	3.01	1.30	11.72	7.45	<0.01	0.02
Pseudoramibacter_Eubacterium	0.29	0.33	0.15	0.25	0.11	0.63	0.97
Rc4-4	0.31	0.31	0.12	0.31	0.15	0.54	0.97
Roseburia	0.11	0.11	0.07	0.10	0.09	0.62	0.97
Ruminococcus	4.06	3.23	3.19	4.88	2.77	0.31	0.97
Sharpea	0.84	1.41	1.57	0.26	0.24	<0.01	0.26
Shuttleworthia	0.01	0.01	0.02	<0.01	<0.01	0.09	0.94
Sphaerochaeta	0.06	0.06	0.06	0.06	0.03	0.56	0.97
Succiniclasticum	0.03	0.05	0.08	0.01	0.02	0.16	0.97
Succinivibrio	0.66	1.12	2.23	0.21	0.08	0.53	0.97
Sutterella	0.41	0.48	0.25	0.34	0.16	0.54	0.97
Treponema	1.54	1.75	3.52	1.34	1.30	0.71	0.97
Turicibacter	0.13	0.14	0.29	0.12	0.14	0.96	0.97
Und. (c) Alphaproteobacteria	0.02	0.01	0.01	0.04	0.06	0.45	0.97
Und. (f) [Barnesiellaceae]	0.02	0.03	0.04	0.01	<0.01	0.06	0.89
Und. (f) [Mogibacteriaceae]	0.62	0.83	0.41	0.40	0.12	0.08	0.94
Und. (f) Anaeroplasmataceae	0.05	0.08	0.08	0.02	0.02	0.04	0.89
Und. (f) Bifidobacteriaceae	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.58	0.97
Und. (f) Christensenellaceae	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.89	0.97
Und. (f) Clostridiaceae	1.10	1.15	0.67	1.05	0.84	0.92	0.97
Und. (f) Coriobacteriaceae	3.80	3.96	2.30	3.64	1.81	0.86	0.97
Und. (f) Dehalobacteriaceae	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.02	0.02	0.24	0.97
Und. (f) Desulfovibrionaceae	0.05	0.05	0.03	0.05	0.04	0.76	0.97
Und. (f) Elusimicrobiaceae	0.32	0.56	1.27	0.08	0.09	0.44	0.97
Und. (f) Erysipelotrichaceae	0.57	0.82	0.71	0.32	0.18	0.06	0.89

Und. (f) Erysipelotrichaceae gut	0.13	0.13	0.15	0.12	0.22	0.57	0.97
Und. (f) Lachnospiraceae	16.45	18.03	7.29	14.88	6.03	0.78	0.97
Und. (f) p-2534-18B5	0.06	0.07	0.17	0.04	0.09	0.52	0.97
Und. (f) Peptostreptococcaceae	0.45	0.34	0.61	0.56	0.44	0.53	0.97
Und. (f) RF16	0.59	0.67	0.49	0.52	0.44	0.75	0.97
Und. (f) RFP12	0.68	0.16	0.18	1.20	1.93	0.04	0.89
Und. (f) Rikenellaceae	0.60	0.78	0.73	0.42	0.32	0.46	0.97
Und. (f) Ruminococcaceae	16.37	16.92	6.70	15.81	5.39	0.76	0.97
Und. (f) S24-7	2.83	2.37	1.81	3.29	2.08	0.24	0.97
Und. (f) Succinivibrionaceae	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.02	0.93	0.97
Und. (f) Veillonellaceae	0.06	0.05	0.04	0.07	0.03	0.24	0.97
Und. (o) Bacteroidales	1.40	1.29	1.30	1.51	1.33	0.44	0.97
Und. (o) Clostridiales	9.41	10.30	4.68	8.51	3.17	0.92	0.97
Und. (0) ML615J-28	0.23	0.16	0.20	0.30	0.37	0.16	0.97
Und. (o) Natranaerobiales	0.03	0.03	0.07	0.03	0.04	0.95	0.97
Und. (0) RF32	0.24	0.20	0.18	0.29	0.20	0.31	0.97
Und. (o) RF39	2.09	2.93	1.93	1.25	0.63	0.17	0.97
Und. (0) YS2	1.23	1.03	0.57	1.44	1.15	0.15	0.97
YRC22	0.21	0.13	0.10	0.28	0.20	0.08	0.94
Таха				Cecum			
	Mean	CO	ON	S	B		
Phylum	Overall	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	P-value	FDR
Firmicutes	64.98	65.95	0.057	0.64	0.062	0.99	1.00
Bacteroidetes	16.82	13.05	0.046	0.206	0.049	0.01	0.07
Actinobacteria	6.04	8.09	0.027	0.04	0.019	<0.01	0.05
Euryarchaeota	4.99	6.29	0.025	0.037	0.021	0.07	0.33
Tenericutes	2.35	1.83	0.014	0.029	0.019	0.16	0.61
Verrucomicrobia	1.15	1.32	0.016	0.01	<0.018	0.56	0.95
Proteobacteria	1.04	1.14	0.01	<0.019	<0.013	0.59	0.95
Spirochaetes	1.04	0.90	0.015	0.012	0.013	0.61	0.95

Cyanobacteria	1.03	0.70	<0.013	0.014	<0.015	0.01	0.05
Fibrobacteres	0.30	0.29	<0.014	<0.013	<0.015	0.95	1.00
Elusimicrobia	0.18	0.30	<0.017	<0.011	<0.011	0.26	0.62
Fusobacteria	0.07	0.12	< 0.012	ND	ND	0.98	1.00
Deferribacteres	0.01	<0.01	ND	0.02	ND	0.69	0.95
	Mean	CO	ON	S	B		
Genus	Overall	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	P-value	FDR
[Eubacterium]	0.28	0.26	0.15	0.29	0.15	0.94	0.97
[Prevotella]	1.90	1.72	2.21	2.08	2.46	0.75	0.97
[Ruminococcus]	0.03	0.02	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.52	0.91
5-7N15	0.05	0.03	0.06	0.08	0.18	0.88	NA
Acidaminococcus	0.03	0.05	0.11	0.01	0.01	0.96	NA
Adlercreutzia	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.55	NA
Akkermansia	0.77	0.97	1.53	0.57	0.68	0.35	0.85
Anaeroplasma	0.49	0.24	0.10	0.74	0.95	0.03	0.17
Anaerostipes	0.31	0.35	0.46	0.27	0.33	0.62	0.97
Anaerovibrio	0.08	0.07	0.06	0.09	0.12	0.71	0.97
Bacillus	0.20	0.17	0.22	0.24	0.40	0.83	0.97
Bacteroides	2.83	2.41	0.91	3.26	1.77	0.41	0.85
Bifidobacterium	0.01	0.02	0.05	<0.01	<0.01	0.31	NA
Blautia	0.40	0.29	0.14	0.51	0.25	0.12	0.46
Bulleidia	0.49	0.31	0.15	0.67	0.58	0.12	0.45
Butyricimonas	0.02	0.01	0.02	0.02	0.04	0.51	0.91
Butyrivibrio	0.47	0.81	0.43	0.13	0.08	<0.01	<0.01
Campylobacter	0.13	0.12	0.19	0.15	0.27	0.84	0.97
Catenibacterium	0.67	0.86	0.50	0.48	0.58	0.25	0.73
CF231	0.86	0.65	0.69	1.07	0.92	0.54	0.94
Clostridium	4.21	4.27	1.95	4.15	2.00	0.81	0.97
Coprobacillus	0.10	0.06	0.07	0.14	0.13	0.36	0.85
Coprococcus	1.38	0.96	0.30	1.81	1.10	0.09	0.44

Corynebacterium	0.04	0.06	0.08	0.02	0.02	0.12	0.45
Desulfovibrio	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.01	0.01	0.47	NA
Dialister	0.01	0.02	0.02	0.01	0.01	0.39	NA
Dietzia	0.01	0.02	0.03	0.01	0.01	0.39	NA
Dorea	1.05	1.05	0.48	1.05	0.34	0.85	0.97
Epulopiscium	0.02	0.02	0.05	0.02	0.02	0.92	0.97
Faecalibacterium	0.41	0.30	0.46	0.51	0.52	0.48	0.91
Fibrobacter	0.31	0.29	0.39	0.32	0.47	0.89	0.97
Fusobacterium	0.07	0.12	0.24	0.02	0.02	0.94	0.97
Lachnospira	0.07	0.02	0.02	0.13	0.07	<0.01	0.04
Megasphaera	0.56	0.72	0.72	0.40	0.72	0.31	0.84
Methanobrevibacter	3.13	4.18	2.16	2.07	1.19	0.03	0.17
Methanosphaera	2.00	2.33	0.71	1.67	1.17	0.19	0.62
Mitsuokella	0.03	0.04	0.07	0.03	0.03	0.72	0.97
Mobiluncus	0.01	0.01	0.02	<0.01	0.01	0.34	NA
Mogibacterium	0.19	0.26	0.14	0.12	0.06	0.02	0.11
Mucispirillum	0.01	<0.01	<0.01	0.02	0.05	0.68	NA
Odoribacter	0.10	0.12	0.07	0.09	0.06	0.46	0.91
Oscillospira	1.21	1.14	0.31	1.28	0.33	0.77	0.97
<i>p-75-a5</i>	0.21	0.11	0.05	0.31	0.23	0.01	0.11
Paludibacter	0.07	0.04	0.05	0.10	0.20	0.52	0.91
Parabacteroides	0.33	0.31	0.19	0.36	0.14	0.70	0.97
Peptococcus	0.02	0.03	0.03	0.02	0.03	0.64	0.97
Phascolarctobacterium	1.03	0.66	0.26	1.40	0.34	0.01	0.11
Prevotella	6.90	4.31	2.25	9.48	5.38	0.04	0.23
Pseudoramibacter_Eubacterium	0.38	0.45	0.18	0.32	0.08	0.19	0.62
rc4-4	0.43	0.41	0.22	0.45	0.21	0.90	0.97
Roseburia	0.11	0.10	0.09	0.11	0.07	0.98	0.98
Ruminococcus	3.02	2.08	1.53	3.95	1.64	0.11	0.45
Sharpea	0.70	1.09	0.98	0.32	0.42	<0.01	0.01
Shuttleworthia	0.03	0.06	0.10	0.01	0.01	<0.01	0.04

Sphaerochaeta	0.14	0.13	0.14	0.14	0.15	0.91	0.97
Streptococcus	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.02	0.02	0.34	NA
Succiniclasticum	0.08	0.15	0.33	0.02	0.01	0.97	NA
Succinivibrio	0.26	0.34	0.53	0.17	0.10	0.30	0.84
Sutterella	0.34	0.39	0.33	0.30	0.12	0.40	0.85
Treponema	0.91	0.79	1.44	1.04	1.30	0.75	0.97
Turicibacter	0.14	0.15	0.29	0.13	0.13	0.88	0.97
Und. (c) Alphaproteobacteria	0.01	<0.01	<0.01	0.03	0.04	0.02	NA
Und. (f) [Barnesiellaceae]	0.01	0.02	0.04	<0.01	<0.01	0.04	NA
Und. (f) [Mogibacteriaceae]	1.11	1.56	0.84	0.65	0.42	0.01	0.11
Und. (f) Anaeroplasmataceae	0.04	0.05	0.07	0.02	0.03	0.37	0.85
Und. (f) Bifidobacteriaceae	0.04	0.05	0.06	0.03	0.03	0.36	0.85
Und. (f) Christensenellaceae	0.01	0.02	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.67	NA
Und. (f) Clostridiaceae	1.35	1.34	1.17	1.35	0.92	0.87	0.97
Und. (f) Coriobacteriaceae	6.06	8.17	2.80	3.96	1.94	0.01	0.11
Und. (f) Dehalobacteriaceae	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.01	0.02	0.72	NA
Und. (f) Desulfovibrionaceae	0.05	0.06	0.04	0.04	0.03	0.40	0.85
Und. (f) Elusimicrobiaceae	0.19	0.31	0.68	0.06	0.12	0.39	0.85
Und. (f) Erysipelotrichaceae	0.56	0.79	0.96	0.34	0.21	0.09	0.44
Und. (f) Erysipelotrichaceae gut	0.08	0.08	0.12	0.07	0.09	0.89	0.97
Und. (f) Lachnospiraceae	19.03	20.71	7.22	17.34	9.90	0.51	0.91
Und. (f) p-2534-18B5	0.02	0.01	0.03	0.03	0.07	0.63	NA
Und. (f) Peptostreptococcaceae	0.66	0.57	1.14	0.75	0.59	0.73	0.97
Und. (f) RF16	0.32	0.43	0.31	0.21	0.25	0.20	0.62
Und. (f) RFP12	0.41	0.39	0.87	0.43	0.59	0.90	0.97
Und. (f) Rikenellaceae	0.41	0.35	0.26	0.47	0.41	0.64	0.97
Und. (f) Ruminococcaceae	15.55	15.29	4.78	15.82	5.75	0.96	0.97
Und. (f) S24-7	2.16	2.06	0.66	2.27	0.94	0.92	0.97
Und. (f) Succinivibrionaceae	0.06	0.11	0.24	0.01	0.02	0.95	NA
Und. (f) Veillonellaceae	0.11	0.12	0.16	0.10	0.04	0.56	0.95
Und. (o) Bacteroidales	0.97	0.74	0.44	1.21	0.95	0.34	0.85

		•		•			
Und. (o) Clostridiales	7.26	7.03	2.51	7.50	1.69	0.95	0.97
Und. (0) ML615J-28	0.11	0.04	0.03	0.19	0.24	0.01	0.11
Und. (o) Natranaerobiales	0.02	0.01	0.03	0.02	0.03	0.82	NA
Und. (0) RF32	0.15	0.09	0.08	0.21	0.20	0.18	0.62
Und. (o) RF39	1.76	1.56	1.40	1.97	1.77	0.64	0.97
Und. (o) Streptophyta	0.06	0.09	0.21	0.02	0.02	0.70	NA
Und. (o) YS2	0.99	0.63	0.31	1.36	0.46	0.02	0.11
YRC22	0.19	0.19	0.13	0.19	0.08	0.88	0.97
Таха				Rumen			
	Overall	CO	ON	S	B		
Phylum	Mean	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	P-Value	FDR
Firmicutes	49.42	50.72	5.48	48.12	10.53	0.74	0.91
Bacteroidetes	24.62	23.44	3.52	25.81	11.71	0.51	0.91
Proteobacteria	15.62	15.92	3.43	15.32	7.62	0.68	0.91
Actinobacteria	3.81	2.85	1.04	4.76	4.18	0.14	0.83
Cyanobacteria	3.62	4.90	3.52	2.34	1.95	0.28	0.83
Euryarchaeota	2.03	1.22	0.67	2.84	3.57	0.35	0.87
Tenericutes	0.51	0.63	0.59	0.39	0.22	0.57	0.91
Fibrobacteres	0.13	0.05	0.06	0.22	0.50	0.96	0.96
Spirochaetes	0.11	0.14	0.12	0.09	0.10	0.74	0.91
Synergistetes	0.05	0.07	0.04	0.03	0.02	0.23	0.83
TM7	0.04	0.03	0.02	0.05	0.07	0.30	0.83
Verrucomicrobia	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.02	0.02	0.20	0.83
	Overall		DN		B		
Genus	Mean	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	P-value	FDR
[Eubacterium]	0.15	0.08	0.04	0.23	0.39	0.77	0.97
[Prevotella]	0.10	0.11	0.12	0.08	0.18	0.60	0.97
Acidaminococcus	1.81	1.63	0.74	1.99	0.82	0.61	0.97
Bifidobacterium	0.04	0.02	0.04	0.05	0.07	0.28	0.97

Bulleidia	0.40	0.14	0.00	0.70	0.01	<0.01	0.46
	0.43	0.14	0.09	0.72	0.91	< 0.01	0.46
Butyrivibrio	4.91	5.30	3.69	4.52	4.64	0.86	0.98
Campylobacter	0.02	0.02	0.01	0.02	0.02	0.91	0.99
Catenibacterium	0.60	0.40	0.39	0.79	1.25	0.34	0.97
Clostridium	0.02	0.01	0.01	0.03	0.01	0.23	0.97
Coprococcus	0.57	0.30	0.17	0.85	0.83	0.06	0.97
Corynebacterium	0.01	0.01	0.02	0.01	0.01	0.29	0.97
Desulfovibrio	0.07	0.06	0.02	0.07	0.03	0.78	0.97
Dialister	1.26	0.97	0.39	1.54	0.85	0.32	0.97
Fibrobacter	0.13	0.05	0.06	0.22	0.50	0.31	0.97
Lachnospira	0.39	0.42	0.53	0.36	0.65	0.82	0.97
Megasphaera	0.74	0.55	0.38	0.94	0.59	0.25	0.97
Methanobrevibacter	1.47	0.96	0.54	1.98	2.24	0.19	0.97
Methanosphaera	0.53	0.22	0.09	0.83	1.35	0.42	0.97
Mitsuokella	0.36	0.27	0.15	0.45	0.17	0.14	0.97
Mogibacterium	0.10	0.09	0.04	0.11	0.07	0.72	0.97
Oscillospira	0.04	0.04	0.01	0.05	0.03	0.75	0.97
Peptococcus	0.01	0.01	<0.01	0.01	0.01	0.30	0.97
Prevotella	24.19	22.92	3.63	25.46	11.53	0.78	0.97
Pseudoramibacter_Eubacterium	0.52	0.30	0.11	0.75	0.86	0.06	0.97
Pyramidobacter	0.02	0.03	0.02	0.02	0.01	0.26	0.97
RFN20	0.04	0.07	0.07	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.47
Ruminococcus	0.14	0.17	0.14	0.10	0.10	0.22	0.97
Sharpea	4.48	4.43	2.01	4.53	3.08	0.87	0.98
Shuttleworthia	4.24	5.68	2.45	2.80	2.68	0.31	0.97
Sphaerochaeta	0.06	0.09	0.08	0.03	0.03	0.14	0.97
Succiniclasticum	2.85	3.79	2.89	1.90	2.23	0.36	0.97
Succinivibrio	1.21	1.05	1.02	1.38	2.15	0.65	0.97
Treponema	0.05	0.05	0.06	0.06	0.09	0.95	0.99
Turicibacter	0.05	<0.01	<0.01	0.10	0.25	0.64	0.97
Und. (f) [Mogibacteriaceae]	0.78	0.69	0.37	0.86	0.68	0.69	0.97
	1	1			1	1	1

	-						
Und. (f) [Paraprevotellaceae]	0.17	0.17	0.06	0.17	0.13	0.88	0.99
Und. (f) Alcaligenaceae	0.01	<0.01	<0.01	0.01	0.03	0.16	0.97
Und. (f) Bifidobacteriaceae	0.09	0.01	0.01	0.18	0.39	0.09	0.97
Und. (f) Christensenellaceae	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.01	0.01	0.48	0.97
Und. (f) Clostridiaceae	0.39	<0.01	<0.01	0.78	1.91	0.66	0.97
Und. (f) Coriobacteriaceae	3.67	2.82	1.07	4.52	4.20	0.30	0.97
Und. (f) Dehalobacteriaceae	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.02	0.03	0.17	0.97
Und. (f) Erysipelotrichaceae	0.13	0.15	0.10	0.11	0.06	0.70	0.97
Und. (f) F16	0.04	0.03	0.02	0.05	0.07	0.59	0.97
Und. (f) Lachnospiraceae	13.92	13.53	4.33	14.32	10.02	0.89	0.99
Und. (f) p-2534-18B5	0.02	0.03	0.04	0.01	0.01	0.18	0.97
Und. (f) Peptostreptococcaceae	0.07	<0.01	<0.01	0.15	0.36	0.24	0.97
Und. (f) RF16	0.01	0.01	0.03	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	0.22
Und. (f) RFP12	0.01	0.01	<0.01	0.01	0.02	0.62	0.97
Und. (f) Ruminococcaceae	1.16	0.98	0.53	1.34	1.56	0.72	0.97
Und. (f) S24-7	0.19	0.21	0.25	0.17	0.30	0.71	0.97
Und. (f) Succinivibrionaceae	14.33	14.80	3.08	13.86	7.38	0.99	0.99
Und. (f) Veillonellaceae	3.78	4.26	2.52	3.30	1.69	0.72	0.97
Und. (o) Bacteroidales	0.07	0.09	0.07	0.04	0.05	0.23	0.97
Und. (o) Clostridiales	5.11	6.07	2.11	4.16	2.34	0.21	0.97
Und. (0) RF39	0.51	0.63	0.60	0.39	0.22	0.33	0.97
Und. (o) Streptophyta	0.01	0.01	<0.01	0.01	0.01	0.76	0.97
Und. (0) YS2	3.64	4.93	3.56	2.34	1.97	0.22	0.97
vadinCA11	0.04	0.05	0.06	0.03	0.05	0.68	0.97
YRC22	0.03	0.05	0.12	<0.01	0.01	0.76	0.97

## **Appendix F:** Performance data of dairy calves fed milk replacer with or without sodium butyrate during preweaning.



Growth Rate



Milk Replacer Intake

